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We are a supplier 
of technology and 
services.

Net sales by customer industry 

Power generation

Pulp and paper

Recycling

Construction

Mining

Oil and gas

27% (24%)

14% (16%)

13% (11%)

8% (7%)

4% (5%)

34% (37%)

Personnel by area

Other Nordic countries
Other European countries

North America

Rest of the world
Asia-Pacific
South and Central America

Finland

Personnel 27,166 (2008: 29,322)
32% (32%)

11% (11%)

13% (13%)

13% (14%)

10% (10%)

16% (15%)

5% (5%)

Orders received by market area

Other Nordic countries
Other European countries

North America

Rest of the world
Asia-Pacific
South and Central America

Finland

Orders received EUR 4,358 million (2008: EUR 6,384 million)
7% (6%)

7% (7%)

22% (25%)

18% (17%)

12% (16%)

28% (23%)

6% (6%)

Metso is a global supplier of technology and services for the  
mining, construction, power generation, oil and gas, recycling, and 
pulp and paper industries. Today over 40 percent of our net sales 
come from the services business.

We are truly global – we have engineering, production, procure-
ments, services business, sales and other operations in over 300 
units in more than 50 countries. Worldwide we employ about 
27,000 professionals serving customers in more than 100 countries.

Global megatrends support our long-term strategic develop-
ment and profitable growth targets.

Metso in brief

Key figures, EUR million 2008 2009 Change, %

Net sales 6,400 5,016 -22

Services, % of net sales 37 41

Earnings before interest, tax and amortization (EBITA) 680.9 334.3 -51

% of net sales 10.6 6.7

Operating profit 637.2 293.6 -54

% of net sales 10.0 5.9

Profit before taxes 548 222 -59

% of net sales 8.6 4.4

Profit 390 151 -61

% of net sales 6.1 3.0

Gross capital expenditure (excl. business acquisitions) 255 117 -54

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired 44 1 -98

Earnings per share, EUR 2.75 1.06 -61

Dividend per share, EUR* 0.70 0.70* 0

Balance sheet total 5,511 5,715 4

Return on capital employed (ROCE), % 23.2 10.0

Return on equity (ROE), % 26.0 9.8

Equity to assets ratio, % 30.9 35.7

Gearing, % 75.7 32.5

Free cash flow 29 717

Research and development expenses 134 115 -14

Orders received 6,384 4,358 -32

Order backlog, December 31 4,088 3,415 -16

Personnel, December 31 29,322 27,166 -7

* Board's proposal



Paper and Fiber

Technology

28%

Segment’s share of Metso’s net sales in 2009

Energy and Environm
Technology

30%

Mining and Construc
Technology 

41% 

Metso's businesses Share of Metso's net sales

Mining and Construction Technology
We are a global supplier of technology and 

services for the mining and construction industries. 

Our product portfolio covers mining, minerals and 

aggregates processing systems, service solutions,  

and wear and spare parts.

Energy and Environmental Technology
We are a supplier of power generation, 

automation, recycling and waste management 

solutions. Our services offering covers the entire 

life cycle of the products and processes.

Paper and Fiber Technology
We are a supplier of technology for the pulp and 

paper industry. Our offering also covers know-how 

and maintenance services. 



Metso in 2009 

Strong cash flow and satisfactory  
profitability. We released a significant 
amount of working capital from 
inventories.

We strengthened our long-term  
competitiveness through acquisitions,  
investments and by developing our  
operating model. 

We adjusted our capacity and our cost 
structure to correspond with the lower 
demand.

Our operating environment continues 
to be demanding, signs of a gradual  
recovery are visible. 

We are more competitive as the  
markets recover.

Committed and competent personnel  
is a key success factor for us.
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Operating profit and EBITA
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We operate in  
a changing environment 

How to read this report

Our annual reports for 2009 include the Annual Report and Sustainability Report, which together 

describe our operating environment, strategy and operations. Our Sustainability Report includes 

in-depth information about e.g. our global operations, environmental technology solutions, 

research and development activities, personnel and collaboration with stakeholders. 

Read more:
www.metso.com

The world shapes us
ANNUAL REPORT 2009

We shape the world
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2009

Shortcuts
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Strong economic growth and the need 
for new infrastructure investments are 
continuing in emerging markets. The 
prosperity of a growing middle class 
drives changes in consumer behavior. 

Rise of emerging economies

Globalization, i.e. the rapid integration 
of the global economy and societies, 
strengthens economic growth and 
facilitates emerging markets to become 
active players in the global economy.

Globalizing economy

Our operating environment is 
evolving in many ways. The global 
megatrends depicted on the map 
affect us both directly and through 
our customer industries.
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Demographic changes

The world’s population will grow by 
one third and surpass nine billion 
by 2050. The urban population will 
double to 7 billion by the year 2100. 
Source: UN

The adverse impacts of climate change 
and the efforts to mitigate them are 
transforming global energy production, 
which at the moment is not sustainable 
in terms of demand. 

Sustainability and  
climate change
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From the CEO

Despite the turbulence in the global economy, our cash flow in 2009 was strong and our profitability was satisfactory. In the long-term, global 

megatrends support our sustainable, profitable growth.

President and CEO Jorma Eloranta.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDER,

The global downturn that began in late 2008 quickly affected all our 

customer industries all over the world. With the uncertainty of the mar-

ket situation and difficulty in securing external financing, our customers 

delayed their investment decisions. 

In light of the general market situation, I am satisfied with our 

achievements last year. We were able to make quick decisions to secure 

our competitiveness and our profitability. We maintained a strong 

financial position by releasing a significant amount of net working capi-

tal and by keeping our investments at a moderate level. As a result of 

these measures, our free cash flow was our best ever, EUR 717 million, 

and our profitability remained satisfactory. 

A strong financial position is imperative when it comes to growth 

investments and distribution of profits. In the midst of the downturn, 

we have continued our most important long-term development 

programs to further strengthen our product and services portfolio 

and to expand our presence in emerging markets. We also carried out 

acquisitions last year to complement our offering. We have renewed 

our operating model so that we are able to serve our customers even 

better and more efficiently, and we continued our key personnel and 

competence development programs.

Securing our competitiveness has required the closing of some 

of our smaller units and sizable personnel reductions in several of our 

units. The decisions were unpleasant but necessary.

THE CHANGING WORLD BRINGS US PROFITABLE GROWTH

Even though the market situation will remain challenging at least in 

the first half of 2010, we are seeing signs of demand picking up and 

our customers’ capacity utilization rates slowly improving. We estimate 

that the mining industry and the power suppliers that utilize renewable 

energy sources will be our customer industries that experience the fast-

est recovery. Also infrastructure construction seems to be recovering in 

Asia and in parts of South America. 

Our own and our customers’ long-term profitable growth is 

supported by global megatrends: a globalizing economy, the rise of 

emerging economies, demographic changes and sustainability. The 

decline in the global economy doesn’t appear to have impacted the 

advancement of these megatrends. Growing prosperity in emerg-

ing markets and urbanization are increasing the need for e.g. miner-

als, infrastructure and energy, which reflects favorably on our own 

operations.  

COMPETITIVENESS REQUIRES CONTINUOUS RENEWAL

Metso in its current form was a result of the merger of two strong com-

panies in 1999. The world has changed dramatically during the past 

decade. We have aimed to respond to the changes in our operating 

environment by renewing and continuously improving our operational 

efficiency. 

In fact, in ten years Metso has evolved into a truly global company 

with flexible operating models. Our services business has doubled to 

over two billion euros. Close to half of our orders received come from 

emerging markets, compared to less than one fifth in 1999. The envi-

ronmental business – particularly bioenergy and recycling solutions –  

is an important growth area for us.

We will continue developing our operating model and our offer-

ing because we want to be an important cooperation partner for our 

customers also in the future. Satisfied customers are the best guarantee 

for continued profitable growth, which in turn creates value for our 

shareholders. Last year Metso was a good investment for its sharehold-

ers: Total Shareholder Return (TSR) was 197.3 percent. 

A renewing, flexible and profitably growing Metso benefits our 

customers, our shareholders and our personnel.

Jorma Eloranta

President and CEO

Metso Group

In ten years Metso has 
evolved into a truly global 
company with flexible 
operating models.
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MEGATRENDS METSO'S  
STRATEGIC THEMES

METSO'S 
TARGETS

Rise of emerging economies

Demographic changes

Sustainability and  

climate change

Globalizing economy

Profitability

Growth

+ +

Services business

Environmental 

business

Global presence
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The focus of global economic growth is shifting to 
emerging markets. The world’s population is growing 
and urbanization is accelerating. Climate change and 
sustainability are part of life for everyone.

Global megatrends affect the operations of Metso 
and our customers. We strive to adapt to changes 
and, above all, to tap into the opportunities provided 
by the megatrends. 

=

We respond to  
the challenges of  

the changing world

BUILDING A  
SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

At the core of our operations are our strategic 
themes that are essential to our long-term competi-
tiveness: growing the services business, developing 
the environmental business and strengthening our 
presence in emerging markets. Our strategy aims for 
sustainable, profitable growth over the long-term. 

As the market and technology leader in our sector, 
we want to help build a sustainable future.
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Strategy and operating environment
We have a balanced offering of products, projects and services business. Our three business segments – Mining and Construction Technology, 

Energy and Environmental Technology, and Paper and Fiber Technology – offer products and services to a range of customer industries in varying 

phases of development, which balances our growth and fluctuations in our profitability.

OUR CUSTOMERS OPERATE IN SEVERAL INDUSTRIES

We serve customers around the world in the mining, construction, 

power generation, oil and gas, recycling, and pulp and paper industries.

Most of our customers are industrial companies, like mining com-

panies, energy companies, and paper companies. Contractor custom-

ers are mainly in the construction and recycling industries. A large share 

of our customers operate in the process industry and use natural raw 

materials or recycled materials in their production.

Large-scale project deliveries are typical to the mining, power gen-

eration, and pulp and paper industries. Correspondingly, our deliveries 

to the construction and the oil and gas industry consist primarily of 

individual equipment components and smaller package solutions. The 

share of services is significant in all our customer industries.

MARKET OUTLOOK AFFECTS INVESTMENT DECISIONS

Our customers make investment decisions mainly based on long-term 

price development and market outlook for their products. Our custom-

ers typically finance the smaller purchases of services and machine re-

builds with their own cash flows, and bigger project sales are financed 

with a combination of their own cash flows and debt financing. As a 

principal rule, we do not finance customer projects.  

Our customers are emphasizing the return on investment in their 

decision making, thereby aiming to reduce continuously the invest-

ment and operating costs of their production lines. Energy accounts 

for a substantial share of production costs in the mining, recycling, 

and pulp and paper industries, so investments that improve energy ef-

ficiency are becoming increasingly important. Additionally, increasingly 

stricter energy and environmental legislation brings its own challenges 

to our customers’ operating conditions. Alternatives with less envi-

ronmental impact are being pursued to replace fossil fuels. By using 

recycled raw materials and boosting the efficient use of raw materials, 

the aim is to reduce the use of natural resources. The challenges our 

customers face are opportunities for us because we can offer them 

both cost-efficient and environmentally-efficient solutions.

In emerging markets, there is a growing customer base of local 

players who want products that are adapted for local markets and of-

ten more cost-efficient than the products we have traditionally offered 

in developed markets. For us, this means learning new business logic 

and adjusting operations to these new customer needs.

METSO IS A LEADING PLAYER IN ITS INDUSTRIES

We are one of the global market leaders in mining and construction 

technology, metal recycling systems, and paper and fiber technology. 

Additionally, we are among the three biggest suppliers of fluidized 

bed boiler technology for power generation plants. We are a leading 

supplier of solid-waste crushing equipment as well as automation and 

control solutions for the process industry. 

Our main competitors in new machines and comprehensive pro-

duction plants are often global companies whose product and service 

portfolios are somewhat similar to ours. There are relatively few of these 

global suppliers of comprehensive solutions. In individual products, we 

also have smaller regional and local competitors. The competitive arena 

in the services business is significantly more fragmented, and we have 

several competitors, ranging from local companies to global players. 

Our competitors vary by customer industry and by product. There 

have been no significant changes in our competitive arena in recent 

years, but, in light of the tightened economic situation, consolidation 

through e.g. mergers and acquisitions or bankruptcies can be expected. 

OUR CUSTOMER INDUSTRIES

Mining industry

Mining industry customers include global mining giants and smaller, local 

mining companies. The big companies own the majority of the world’s 

mines and mining rights and finance their investments mainly with their 

own cash flows. The smaller companies are often dependent on debt fi-

nancing and focus on smaller mining projects. The focus of mining industry 

investments has been in the Southern Hemisphere. Close to 90 percent of 

our mining industry net sales come from major global or regional players.

We estimate that about 70 percent of the equipment and process-

es we supply are used in the production of iron ore, copper and gold, 

but other mining operations, such as those involving nickel, platinum, 

zinc, silver and diamonds, are also important to us. Our product offering 

consists of e.g. crushers, screens, grinding mills, pelletizing plants, ma-

terials handling equipment and incineration processes as well as expert 

and maintenance services. 
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Services business

Environmental business

Global presence

Main themes in Metso ś strategy

Environmental business accounts for some 60 percent 

of our business, based on the OECD definition. All of our 

businesses offer products and services that reduce the 

environmental impact and improve the quality of our 

customers’ operations. 

Our eco-efficient solutions are related primarily to 

renewable energy sources, the energy efficiency of pro-

duction processes, recycling, the efficient utilization of 

raw materials, reducing emissions and process optimiza-

tions. We carry out environmental technology research 

and development work in cooperation with customers 

and leading research institutes.

We operate globally. Our traditional markets are Western 

Europe, North America, Japan, Australia and New Zea-

land. Emerging markets are Eastern Europe, South and 

Central America, the Middle East and Africa, and Asia-

Pacific, excluding Japan, Australia and New Zealand. 48 

percent of our orders received in 2009 came from emerg-

ing markets, where 31 percent of our personnel work.

We want to operate close to our customers and we 

are continuing to strengthen our local presence in areas 

like China, India and South America. Also the focus of our 

investments is more clearly on emerging markets.

We stand out from our competitors with our services 

business built on an extensive installed base of machines 

and equipment. The services business consists of spare 

and wear parts, preventive maintenance, repairs and pro-

cess optimizations. Our local presence and the availabil-

ity and quality of our spare and wear parts are important 

to our customers.  

Our goal is to grow the share of the services business 

over the economic cycle. In 2009 the net sales of our 

services business were EUR 2,052 million, i.e. 41 percent 

of our net sales. The profitability of the services business 

is clearly better than that of project and equipment sales. 
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Mining industry customers emphasize the return on their invest-

ments. To secure the efficient operation of their existing mines, they 

must make replacement investments and purchase spare and wear 

parts and maintenance services for existing machines and equipment 

also in the economic downturn. The services business accounts for over 

half of our deliveries to the mining industry, which offsets the impact 

that economic fluctuations have on our net sales. 

Also the continuing depletion of ore deposits requires significant 

investments in capacity because increasingly bigger volumes of ore 

must be processed to produce the same amount of mineral. We esti-

mate that there will be gradual recovery in new investments already in 

2010 as the strong economic growth in emerging markets will quickly 

increase the demand for different minerals. 

  

Construction industry

The construction industry customer base is fragmented: The sector con-

sists of a few major players but the majority of our customers are small- 

and mid-sized companies. The net sales of our construction business are 

almost equally divided between quarries and contractors. Quarries are 

either major international companies or local and regional players. Con-

tractors are mainly small- or mid-sized local or regional companies operat-

ing as contract crushers at quarries and construction sites. Construction 

industry customers typically react quickly to a weakening market situation 

and dramatically cut back on new investments as demand decreases. 

We supply our construction industry customers with rock crush-

ers, mobile and stationary crushing plants, screens and conveyors, and 

expert and maintenance services. More than one third of our construc-

tion industry net sales come from the services business. Our customers 

are increasingly interested in energy-efficient mobile solutions that 

generate as little waste, noise and dust as possible. 

Some of the key drivers for construction industry development 

are the rapidly growing need for infrastructure investments in emerg-

ing markets and the modernization and expansion needs of the aging 

infrastructure in industrialized countries. We see the emerging markets, 

particularly the Eastern European countries, India, China and South 

America, as future growth areas. States in these areas have earmarked 

significant sums for road network construction and other transporta-

tion infrastructure development. Many countries have introduced 

stimulus measures relating to infrastructure development. Though 

these measures have not yet had any significant effect, we expect them 

to positively affect the demand in the long-term.

Power generation

Our power generation customers are independent energy companies, 

municipal power plants, and pulp and paper mills. Our strength in pow-

er generation solutions is our technology know-how that enables the 

use of biomass and waste in energy production. Our core competence 

also includes controlling technically demanding combustion processes 

that utilize multiple fuels simultaneously, as well as odor and flue-gas 

cleaning technologies. Our offering for power suppliers includes power 

plant boilers, mid- and small-sized power plants, flue-gas cleaning 

systems, automation systems, and expert and maintenance services.

The long-term market outlook for the energy industry, and particu-

larly for energy production based on renewable fuels like biomass and 

waste, is promising. The sizable need to modernize the aging power 

plants in Europe and the United States during the next two decades 

will further increase demand for power boilers. The International Energy 

Association (IEA) and McKinsey have estimated that about 70 percent 

of the power plant capacity necessary in 2030 has not yet been built, 

and a significant share of that new capacity will be based on renew-

able energy sources. We estimate the demand for power plants using 

renewable energy sources to strengthen as financing availability im-

proves and to be at a good level in Europe and North America in 2010. 

Oil and gas industry

Our oil and gas industry customers are oil and gas refiners. We supply them 

with industrial flow control valves as well as automation systems to control 

and monitor processes. We also provide expert and maintenance services.

The efficiency of the refining process is a key element in the profit-

ability of refineries. Operationally, flow control solutions are a critical 

part of the refining process. The IEA estimates that growth in oil and gas 

industry investments will return during 2010–2011 as energy demand 

and prices rise due to a recovery in the global economy. 

Recycling industry

Our recycling customers are mostly involved in metal recycling. Our 

customers are typically regional operators and the markets are frag-

mented. Through a business acquisition in 2009 we complemented our 

offering with technology designed for solid-waste crushing. We esti-

mate that demand for this technology will grow quickly in the future. 

Solid-waste processing is also needed in conjunction with waste-fired 

power plants.

Trends in the metal recycling industry include sector consolidation and 

expansion of operations from metal recycling to the recycling of other solid 

waste, such as electronics and energy waste. We supply the metal recycling 

industry with crushers, shears, shredders and balers and the related services. 

The metal recycling industry is most developed in Europe, Japan 

and North America. Growth areas include Eastern European countries, 

China and Russia. The reuse and recycling and the combustion of waste 

Our strengths

Eco-efficient solutions 

Strong position in emerging markets 

Profound knowledge of customers’ industrial processes

Strong technology know-how

Long-term customer relationships

Extensive installed equipment base 
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in energy plants will increase over the long-term because of the aim to 

restrict the growth of landfills. Even though the long-term outlook is 

good, we expect the markets to be challenging in the short term due 

to the downturn.

Pulp and paper industry

Our customer base in the pulp and paper industry consists of major, 

regional or global players and a large number of smaller, local companies. 

We are the leading supplier of paper, board and tissue lines, pulping lines, 

the related spare and wear parts, and expert and maintenance services. 

The pulp and paper industry in Europe and the United States is adjust-

ing its operations to the permanent changes in the operating environ-

ment, and excess production capacity has been dramatically decreased. 

Demand for our products and services in these areas primarily targets ma-

chine rebuilds, machine and equipment process improvements, and repair 

and maintenance services. Investments in new machines and equipment 

in Europe are estimated to significantly decrease from the 2004 –2008 level 

and to focus even more clearly on Asia and South America.

We estimate that the demand for board and tissue production 

lines and equipment will return in Asia to the levels seen in previous 

years, once the economy recovers and demand for consumer goods 

picks up. The pulp industry’s new investments focus on South America 

and Southeast Asia, where the raw material used is the fast-growing, 

plantation-grown, short-fiber eucalyptus and acacia. Also Russia has 

planned several pulp mill projects utilizing its forest resources. 

The visibility for the pulp and paper industry in 2010 is weak. De-

mand for new fiber lines will remain weak. We estimate capacity utiliza-

tion rates in the paper and board industry to improve during the year.

Services business
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Project business

Spare and wear parts

35% 

35%

Maintenance & process 

improvements

5% 

Product business25% 

Our target markets in 2009: EUR 35 billion*

Energy & Environment   (Metso market share ~5%)  

Oil and gas (valves)  EUR 5 bn

Power generation  EUR 2.5 bn

Energy and process automation   EUR 4 bn

Recycling  EUR 1.5 bn

EUR 13 bn

Mining & Construction  (Metso market share ~18%)  

Mining   EUR 8 bn 

Construction  EUR 3 bn

EUR 11 bn

Pulp & Paper   (Metso market share ~15%)  

Paper and board  EUR 5 bn

Fiber  EUR 2.5 bn

Paper and board machine clothing  EUR 1.5 bn

Pulp and paper automation and valves  EUR 1.5 bn

EUR 10.5 bn

*   Including services target market  
 EUR 16 billion

Orders received by customer industry 

Power generation

Pulp and paper

Recycling

Construction

Mining

Oil and gas

24% (27%)

14% (16%)

14% (10%)

8% (7%)

3% (4%)

37% (36%)
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Supply chains in change

New players in global markets

Redistribution of economic power

Megatrend: Globalizing economy

In the 2000s, paper and board production has shifted 
to Asia, particularly to China, following the general 
rise in the standard of living and consumer electronics 
production. For Metso the change has quickly opened 
growing markets for new paper- and boardmaking 
lines. It has also resulted in a growing demand for the 
wear and spare parts business and various repair and 
maintenance services.

To strengthen its services business, at the end of 2009 
Metso acquired Tamfelt, a global leader in the production 
of technical textiles. The company’s product portfolio 
includes paper machine clothing and filter fabrics. Metso 

Services for global markets
is unleashing new growth opportunities outside of 
Europe, since so far the main market for Tamfelt’s prod-
ucts have been in Europe. Metso’s global network and 
strong market position also in emerging markets further 
enhance the sales potential for Tamfelt’s products. 

Tamfelt’s products complement Metso’s products and 
services offering not only to the pulp and paper indus-
try, but also to the mining industry. Initially, the prod-
uct offering is estimated to increase Metso’s services 
business by about EUR 140 million a year.
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Globalization and global economic growth are driven by the free and faster movement of capital, information and goods and the development of 

information technology. Global economic growth and focus are shifting more strongly to emerging markets. 

REDISTRIBUTION OF ECONOMIC POWER

The emergence and activity of new markets have propelled the entire 

global economy to strong growth. The rising standard of living and the 

increase in consumption in emerging economies is fueling the growth 

and necessitating significant investments in transportation and energy 

infrastructure. Moving the manufacturing of consumer goods increas-

ingly to China and elsewhere in Southeast Asia increases the consump-

tion of minerals as well as the paper and board needed for packaging 

and marketing in these areas.

While global economic growth has shifted to emerging markets, 

growth has slowed in developed markets, which have entered a 

post-industrial phase: Services are generating more growth than basic 

industry, and significantly fewer investments are being made into new 

production capacity.

For Metso, this has meant a quick shift of new equipment and 

project business to the new, emerging markets. Demand in developed 

markets is more clearly weighted towards the services business and the 

replacement investments, rebuilds, optimizations, preventive mainte-

nance and repairs of existing processes and equipment. 

 

NEW PLAYERS IN THE GLOBAL MARKETS

Emerging markets are bringing new players to the global markets: 

Often they are major, local companies that have successfully competed 

with the world’s leading companies in their home markets and have 

then expanded also to global markets. When the number of competi-

tors in the markets rises, product life cycles become shorter, because 

more companies means more innovations at a faster pace.

Emerging economies have taken a significant position also in the 

national economies of traditional markets. Rapid economic growth 

has led to a surplus in the current accounts of emerging countries, 

and the private equity funds managed by these countries have grown. 

New wealth has been invested in Western countries in e.g. companies, 

financial institutions, insurance companies and government bonds. 

Economic power is shifting to new areas.

As a result of the change, our customer base in emerging markets 

has grown strongly. We have also gained new competitors, particularly 

in smaller equipment and services. In full-scope solution deliveries and 

large capacity equipment, we still compete primarily with the well-

known Western companies.  However, in mining technology, for ex-

ample, Chinese suppliers have expanded their operations also to global 

markets, particularly to the countries that are a target of investments by 

Chinese mining companies.

SUPPLY CHAINS IN CHANGE

The focus of production investments has shifted to emerging markets. 

Low production costs are not the only reason for this; nor are all of the 

products manufactured there exported - also the growth in consumer 

demand in these areas is strongest. Emerging markets are also increas-

ingly a source of procurements.

It is more difficult for companies to gain competitive and cost 

advantages from manufacturing alone; product development, design, 

brand, and life-cycle services have become a new competitive edge. In 

fact, many companies specify e.g. product development and market-

ing as their core competencies; other functions are increasingly being 

outsourced. 

In this kind of market situation many producers of capital goods, 

Metso included, aim to increase the services business for their installed 

equipment base. In new product development, more attention is being 

paid to the needs of the new customer base. The aim is to make prod-

ucts that are more economical and easy-to-use, as many of the new 

customers do not have competent personnel to maintain and service 

the technically advanced equipment and processes.

METSO IS STRENGTHENING ITS LOCAL PRESENCE

During the past five years we have quickly strengthened our local 

presence and the ability to serve our new customers locally. We have 

purposefully increased our capacity in growth markets, e.g. the manu-

facturing of crushers, valves and paper machines in China, the manu-

facturing of mobile crushing plants and pumps and the engineering of 

power boilers in India, and the production and engineering of mining 

equipment in Brazil. 

In traditional markets we have boosted our own operational ef-

ficiency by closing small and unprofitable units and investing in the 

development of the services business. 

Projects advancing the services business and promoting sustain-

ability are a priority in our product development. We adjust our global 

product and services offering to correspond with the needs in the 

growth markets. 

Our goal is to develop our global procurements to correspond with 

the geographical distribution of our net sales. The global enterprise 

resource planning systems to be gradually phased in by 2012 will ac-

celerate this development.

In line with our strategy, we will continue strengthening our local 

presence and know-how particularly in areas where our customers’ 

business is estimated to grow in the long-term, like in China, India and 

South America. We are continuously pursuing new growth opportuni-

ties for our services business, both in traditional and emerging markets. 

In addition to organic growth, we will also make business acquisitions 

to strengthen our services business.

  Read more about our Mining and Construction Technology  

 segment’s services business on page 38. 

Globalizing economy
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Megatrend: Rise of emerging economies

Customers in emerging markets want cost-efficient, 
productive and easy-to-operate solutions that fit their 
production environment and have a quick delivery 
time. Metso’s solution is to flexibly adjust global con-
cepts to meet local needs. 

India is building new roads and repairing its exist-
ing road network. According to some estimates, the 
construction need is 20 kilometers of highway per day. 
Work sites are often in demanding locations and mini-
mal truck traffic is desired. The equipment used in the 
work must be quickly moved to the next job site upon 
completion of a project. Metso’s mobile crushing plants 
meet these customer needs: crushing is done as close 
to the work site as possible.

A convergence of global know-how and local needs 

Metso’s crushers are manufactured in global competence 
centers in Finland, China, Brazil and France. Since 2002, a 
new approach to meet local needs has been taken in In-
dia: Crushers are installed on a Nordwheeler trailer chassis, 
which is modified from a global concept and manufac-
tured in India. The delivery time for the reliable, standard 
solution is short, and the durable, wheeled combination is 
suitable for the needs of a variety of work sites. 

Nordwheeler has been a success in India in road con-
struction as well as in commercial quarries; to date, 600 
units have already been delivered. A significant part of 
the aggregates used in the construction of the Golden 
Quadrilateral highway circling the Indian peninsula is 
produced with the Nordwheeler solution.

Local, cost-efficient solutions

Growing affluence of the middle class

New superpowers in the global economy
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Economic power during the past decade has shifted from north to south and from west to east. Development has been most significant in 

China, which has become a superpower in the global economy alongside the United States. Also development in India and Brazil has been very 

strong. Not even the economic and financial crises of recent years have significantly slowed this development.

Rise of emerging economies

NEW SUPERPOWERS IN THE GLOBAL ECONOMY

The so-called BRIC countries (Brazil, Russia, India and China) account for 

over 50 percent of the world’s gross domestic product growth. China’s 

economy today is bigger than that of the three other BRIC countries 

combined. Growth is expected to accelerate in India. Russia is the only 

BRIC country that has suffered from the global downturn. There are a 

number of other countries emerging alongside BRIC (mainly from Asia, 

the Middle East and Eastern Europe) that are intent on driving their 

own economic growth and, at the same time, changing the global 

rules of the game. 

A functioning infrastructure, particularly a transportation infrastruc-

ture, is an essential factor in accelerating economic growth. Building 

new roads, railroads and airports requires various minerals and aggre-

gates, and that in turn reflects on the demand for our construction and 

mining technology equipment and solutions.

GROWING AFFLUENCE OF THE MIDDLE CLASS 

The rapidly growing new middle class in emerging markets has the 

money to spend on consumer goods and is willing to spend it. They 

want to attain the living standard of Western countries, and it shows 

in the demand for things like household appliances and cars. Produc-

tion of consumer goods has increasingly shifted to these markets, 

which serve both their home markets and the global market. The new 

middle class also wants more spacious homes to live in, and that means 

growth in housing construction.

For Metso, the rising affluence in the emerging markets and the 

shifting of consumer goods production to these countries is seen in 

the growing demand for paper and board machines and for mining 

technology. The rising standard of living also increases the consump-

tion of tissue products and energy. Construction increases the need 

for aggregates and minerals and thus the demand for construction 

machinery and equipment.

LOCAL, COST-EFFICIENT SOLUTIONS

Companies in emerging markets are very cost-conscious and don’t 

necessarily want to pay for the product features that have been de-

veloped for Western customers. Often the customers in these markets 

are just starting their operations, and equipment and processes with a 

smaller capacity are sufficient for them. They want to achieve produc-

tivity and quality targets with low-cost, basic solutions. Furthermore, 

many companies starting out in emerging markets do not have the 

know-how required for the technically advanced solutions designed for 

Western customers.

LOCAL SOLUTIONS BASED ON GLOBAL KNOW-HOW 

We have worked diligently for years to strengthen our operations 

and know-how in China, India and Brazil. In China we have over 2,600 

professionals in 16 locations, including six production facilities; some of 

their production is also exported. In India we have 740 professionals in 

10 locations. In the spring 2010 we will open an industrial park in Rajas-

than, and we estimate that it will eventually employ about 700 people. 

In Brazil we have more than 1,700 employees in production, as well as 

sales and maintenance units in seven locations. 

We have shifted production engineering closer to our customers in 

emerging markets. Meeting the needs of our new customers requires 

strong local know-how and adjusting traditional operating models 

to the new operating environment. For example, we have adjusted 

our product and services offering by removing some of the techni-

cal features that companies in these markets are not willing to pay 

for. However, the fundamental technology is always based on Metso’s 

global know-how.

  Read more about our Paper and Fiber Technology segment’s  

 operations in China on page 46.
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Megatrend: Demographic changes

Urbanization of the world’s population and the rising 
standard of living is not problem-free. More consump-
tion means also bigger volumes of waste. Expanding 
landfill areas is not the solution; what is needed is an 
efficient means to recycle and re-use waste. 

The Danish M&J Industries A/S, which Metso acquired 
in October 2009, is one of the world’s leading suppliers 
of solid-waste recycling equipment and services. Many 
of Metso’s metal recycling customers are expanding 
their operations to solid-waste recycling. Power plants 
that use solid waste for fuel also need waste recycling 

Urbanization requires waste recycling

equipment in the prehandling phase of the waste to 
be incinerated. Solutions based on the use of renew-
able energy sources and integrating Metso’s power 
generation, automation and waste processing know-
how are a future growth area for Metso.

Metso estimates that demand for waste recycling tech-
nology will grow quickly also outside Europe as a result 
of increasing urbanization and growing environmental 
awareness.

Knowledge transfer and training 

Aging workforce in traditional markets

Urbanization
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The world’s population is predicted to surpass 9 billion by 2050. Population growth is fastest in emerging economies. Growth in Europe and North 

America has mostly subsided and the population is aging. Population growth is also associated with strong urbanization. Today already more than 

half of the world’s population lives in urban areas.

Demographic changes

URBANIZATION CREATES NEW DEMANDS ON MOBILITY

It is predicted that about 80 percent of the world’s population will 

live in urban areas by 2100. This means that the urban population will 

double to 7 billion by the year 2100. Rapid urbanization creates new 

demands on the mobility of people and goods and, consequently, 

creates demand for the construction of new infrastructure and the 

modernization of aging infrastructure. Booz & Company has estimated 

that investments of five trillion dollars globally will be required over the 

next five years alone to maintain the current level of infrastructure and 

to meet the growing demand.

During the past two years governments around the world have 

directed sizable stimulus packages to infrastructure construction in an 

effort to accelerate economic recovery. For example, in November 2008 

China decided on a 586 billion dollar stimulus package for 2009-2010. 

A significant portion of the funds will be used to build railroads, roads, 

airports and power plants. India in turn is planning to spend 8 percent 

of its gross domestic product annually on infrastructure construction.

Urbanization and infrastructure construction boost the demand for 

minerals – particularly iron, nickel and copper – as well as aggregates. 

A sufficient supply of energy and water, and waste management and 

recycling are other issues related to urbanization.  

AGING WORKFORCE IN TRADITIONAL MARKETS

In traditional markets the age structure of the workforce is changing; 

eventually there will be a shortage of a skilled workforce. In Japan, for 

example, the trend is clear: According to estimates, the working-age 

population will drop from 65 percent (2007) to 47 percent by 2030. 

The change in the age structure has many implications: Many 

international companies are shifting their labor-intensive functions 

to emerging markets, where there is still strong population growth. 

Companies must also ensure that the know-how and especially the 

tacit knowledge that retiring employees have is transferred to younger 

generations and to new areas. The shortage of a competent workforce 

is also driving companies to specialize: Some companies are choos-

ing product development and marketing as their strategic focus and 

outsourcing their production or maintenance services to companies 

specializing in them. Eventually, skilled personnel will also become a 

way for companies to differentiate from their competitors.

INCREASING NEED FOR KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER AND TRAINING

Emerging markets have an abundance of educated workers. In China, 

for example, the number of university graduates with a technical degree 

in 2005 was five times higher than that in the United States. Nonethe-

less, many global companies consider recruiting in emerging economies 

a demanding task. The reasons for this include e.g. insufficient language 

skills and cultural issues and differences in educational systems. 

Many companies, Metso included, have internal training pro-

grams to supplement the knowledge and skills acquired in the local 

educational facilities of emerging economies. Cooperation with local 

universities and schools is also becoming more common. Job rotation 

between different countries and units is being used in an effort to ac-

celerate the internal transfer of knowledge.

SOLUTIONS AND KNOW-HOW FOR THE EVOLVING WORLD

Strong population growth and urbanization are a challenge for sustain-

ability. Building transportation and other infrastructure, energy issues 

and recycling are urbanization-related factors that offer business op-

portunities for Metso. The solutions we develop and offer for infrastruc-

ture construction are energy-efficient and they reduce waste, noise and 

dust. For the growing energy- and waste-management challenges we 

offer regional electricity and district heat solutions based on the use of 

biomass and waste, and waste recycling equipment. 

The aging workforce in traditional markets affects our own and our 

customers’ operations and future strategies. We estimate that the out-

sourcing of our customers’ repair and maintenance services will offer us 

significant opportunities.

We are strengthening our own operations and know-how in emerg-

ing markets, close to our new customers. We have several programs 

to transfer know-how from our traditional home markets to emerging 

markets. For example, in China, we have launched our own training pro-

grams in supervisory skills and project management. With our compre-

hensive successor planning process, we aim to ensure that the know-

how our retiring professionals have is passed on to other employees.

  Read more on pages 32–37 of our Sustainability Report.
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Megatrend: Sustainability and climate change

Technology is one of the most central means to advance 
sustainability. Developing new, eco-friendly technol-
ogy is often slow and expensive. In fact, more and more 
companies and various research facilities are working  
together across industrial sectors to develop clean tech-
nology and new solutions to mitigate climate change. 

In the beginning of 2009 Metso and Wärtsilä estab-
lished MW Power. The core competence of this joint 
venture is environmentally sound energy production. 
Metso is the leading supplier of boiler technology for 
power plants, and Wärtsilä is the leading supplier of 
modular power plants. The companies’ technologies 

Cooperation for environment

complement each other and enable the use of mul-
tiple fuels in power plants. In 2009 the joint venture 
supplied several small- and mid-sized power plants in 
the Nordic countries and elsewhere in Europe.

At the end of 2009 MW Power supplied a biomass 
power plant for combined heat and power production 
in Belgium. The delivery marks the first time modular 
solutions have been combined with Metso’s bubbling 
fluidized bed boiler technology. The plant is based 
on sophisticated predesign and factory-prefabricated 
modules, which enables a fast delivery schedule, high 
quality and efficient commissioning of the plant.

Increasing regulation 

New energy solutions and energy efficiency

New eco-efficient technologies
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Sustainability has a significant impact on the activities of countries, societies and companies. Economic growth as well as industrialization and growing 

prosperity in emerging economies will boost consumption, although many raw materials are already being used at an unsustainable rate. The green-

house effect necessitates significant changes in energy use and production. Technology development is one of the key solutions to these challenges.

Sustainability and climate change

NEW ECO-EFFICIENT TECHNOLOGIES

The world has more consumers than ever before and less and less con-

sumables – raw materials, energy and clean water. The search is on for 

solutions based on renewable natural resources to replace those based 

on non-renewable natural resources. The use of virgin raw materials is 

being reduced through recycling. At the same time, oil is being drilled 

and minerals quarried from remote and challenging sites to satisfy ris-

ing demand.

Sustainability requires either cutting the current standard of living 

or new solutions and technologies that substantially reduce environ-

mental impacts. Technologies can be used to e.g. reduce the use of raw 

materials or to make their use more efficient. The demand for various 

recycling solutions is also growing. 

The adoption of new technologies is slowed by issues related to 

funding of technology development and the unwillingness to invest in 

new technology that is considered expensive.

NEW ENERGY SOLUTIONS AND ENERGY EFFICIENCY

Today’s energy production and consumption trends are economically, 

environmentally and socially unsustainable. According to the IEA, with-

out purposeful actions, energy-related carbon dioxide emissions will 

more than double by 2050. Stopping climate change requires solutions 

that improve energy efficiency and the development of various renew-

able energy sources.

Improving energy efficiency in energy production and in energy-

intensive industrial processes is the fastest way to slow the green-

house effect. Solutions improving energy efficiency generally can be 

implemented relatively quickly and efficiently – and their adoption also 

allows more time to develop entirely new solutions.

The demand for power plants utilizing bioenergy or other renew-

able energy sources is expected to develop favorably. For example, a 

significant part of the world’s coal-fired power plants will reach the end 

of their technical service life within 10–20 years; it is possible to replace 

or modernize them with carbon dioxide-neutral, multifuel solutions 

fired by biofuels and waste.

INCREASING REGULATION

Tighter environmental legislation around the world calls for the reduction 

of greenhouse gases, more efficient use of energy and raw materials, and 

increases in recycling and in the use of renewable energy sources. 

Environmental legislation is changing our customers’ business and 

cost structures. Energy is the most significant cost factor for a number 

of our customers. We work with our customers to develop solutions 

that significantly reduce energy consumption. 

SOLUTIONS FOR GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL CHALLENGES

Some 60 percent of Metso’s business is classified as environmental busi-

ness, as defined by the OECD: Solutions that either actively improve the 

state of the environment or offer the best available technology (BAT) in 

the sector.  Our solutions are particularly related to renewable energy 

sources, the energy efficiency of our customers’ production processes, 

recycling, the efficient use of water and raw materials, process optimi-

zation, and the reduction of dust, noise, waste, and carbon dioxide and 

particle emissions. We take care of the entire life cycle of our customers’ 

production processes and help to ensure that the solutions are used 

correctly and in an environmentally sustainable manner. 

With Metso’s technology, our pulp and paper industry customers 

have been able to reduce their water consumption, use waste lye from 

pulping processes in energy production and replace virgin fiber with 

recycled fiber. Mining and metal recycling are also energy-intensive, 

and we are developing advanced energy efficient solutions also in 

these areas.

Our goal in environmental technology is to expand our energy and 

recycling solutions offering to new customer segments. We believe that 

we can also offer our existing customers more comprehensive, environ-

mentally sustainable solutions. 

Our target is to turn sustainability issues into successful business for 

Metso by integrating an environmentally-benign life cycle concept through-

out our offering and effectively marketing our environmental solutions. 

Already today about one third of our technology and product 

development investments target projects supporting the environ-

mental business. We engage in development co-operation in open 

innovation networks around the world with our customers, universities, 

and various companies across industrial sectors. In Finland, for example, 

we are working with UPM, VTT (Technical Research Center of Finland) 

and Fortum to develop the production of biomass-based bio-oil as an 

alternative to fossil fuels.

  Read more about our Energy and Environmental Technology  

 segment’s solutions on page 40. 

  Read more on pages 20–29 of our Sustainability Report.
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Growth

Net sales growth     >10% Average annual net sales growth of 

over 10%.

Growth achieved both organically and 

through value-enhancing, complemen-

tary acquisitions.

In 2009 net sales decreased  

by 22%. 

Profitability *

Growth in EBITA (earnings 

before interest, tax and 

amortization) 

EBITA %                                               

Target is to improve EBITA annually.

Target is to exceed a 12% EBITA margin.

In 2009 EBITA decreased to  

EUR 409 million. 

In 2009 EBITA margin was 8.2%.>12%

ROCE %                                              >25% Target is to exceed a 25% return on 

capital employed before taxes  

(ROCE %).

In 2009 ROCE % was 12.4%.  

Cash Flow

Cash conversion                               >100% Cash conversion (free cash flow/profit) 

to exceed 100%.

In 2009 cash conversion 

was 475%. 

Dividend

Annual dividend at least                            

of earnings per share

50% Target is to pay at least 50% of annual 

earnings per share as a dividend or in 

other forms of repatriation of capital 

(share buybacks or redemptions).

Metso’s Board of Directors  

proposes a dividend of 0.70 euros  

per share for 2009, corresponding  

to 66% of earnings per share.  

Capital Structure

Credit rating         Solid Target is to maintain a solid investment 

grade credit rating. 

The key financial indicators, capital 

structure and cash flow, support a solid 

investment grade in credit rating.

Credit rating: Solid

Moody’s: Nov. 16, 2009: Baa2, 

Outlook: Negative

Standard & Poor's: Feb. 13, 2009: BBB, 

Outlook: Negative 

Financial targets

In August 2008 we set the long-term financial targets presented in the chart. We achieved our cash flow and capital structure targets in 2009 but 

fell short in our net sales growth target and in our EBITA and ROCE targets. We believe that the measures to boost operational efficiency imple-

mented during the past year-and-a-half and those currently underway will help us to achieve these targets once market demand is restored.

LONG-TERM TARGET DESCRIPTION FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENT

*  Before non-recurring capacity adjustment expenses.     **  Board's proposal
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In 2009 both credit agencies 

changed the outlook from stable 

to negative; otherwise the long-

term ratings were unchanged. 

Standard & Poor's changed the 

short-term rating from A-3 to A-2.
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Factors that affected us in 2009 

1 GLOBAL ECONOMIC CRISIS

The global economic crisis changed the operating envi-

ronment of industry sectors and affected virtually all companies in 

the world. Economic growth slowed down and several developed 

countries experienced negative economic growth. Despite the eco-

nomic crisis, the economies of the most important emerging markets 

continued to grow. 

2 GLOBAL FINANCIAL CRISIS

Liquidity in the financial markets in 2009 was poor, the price 

of money high and the availability of external financing was tight, al-

though it was somewhat less challenging towards the end of the year. 

Because of the difficult financing situation, many big capital-intensive 

investments were postponed or canceled.  

3 UNCERTAINTY IN RAW MATERIAL MARKETS

The uncertain outlook in the raw material markets undermined 

confidence in the markets. The balance between supply and demand 

was disrupted. The strong fluctuations in demand and prices for e.g. 

steel, oil, paper, and other raw materials led to capacity adjustments 

and affected investment decisions.

4 PROCUREMENTS AND PRODUCTION CHAIN

Demand was high in early 2008, making it a seller’s market 

in procurements for many industries – prices were high and delivery 

times long. The situation turned around in 2009. Companies along the 

entire production chain focused on unloading their inventories.

5 INCREASING PRICE PRESSURES

The weak market demand created price pressures for many 

industry sectors during the latter half of the year. Companies aimed to 

transfer the majority of these price pressures further down the value 

chain.

6 ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The importance of environmental issues escalated, driven 

by the Climate Change Conference in Copenhagen. Despite the 

economic and financial crisis, there was consensus on the need for 

environmentally-benign technology.  

7 NATIONAL STIMULUS PACKAGES

Many countries made decisions on national stimulus packages. 

However, the impact of the stimulus packages remained relatively low 

in 2009. An exception is China’s paper machine markets, which picked 

up as a result of stimulus measures by the Chinese government.  
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Management’s review of 2009
The financial results from our operations in 2009 were at least satisfactory, despite the strong weakening in the global economy. We are now more 

flexible and agile than during the previous downturn. We believe that demand will gradually pick up and we are confident that we will come out 

of this downturn even stronger. 

2009 was an exceptional and challenging year for us and for our 

customer industries. The global economic and financial crisis changed 

the fundamentals of the economic activity and our customers’ way of 

thinking. The crisis also put our profitable growth strategy to the test. 

However, the implications of the crisis went beyond just weakened 

demand: The downturn further accentuated the significance of the envi-

ronmental issues and services business to us. Also the global economy’s 

megatrends are mainly unchanged; we estimate that these trends will 

continue to have a positive impact on Metso over the long-term.

We have worked diligently to adjust to the changed business envi-

ronment and we believe we have succeeded relatively well. During the 

year we asked: What kinds of permanent changes will the downturn 

bring to our operating environment? How can we secure our long-term 

competitiveness? What changes must we make to our operations and 

operating models in order for us to be a stronger company when this 

downturn is over? In response to these questions, we have initiated 

several short- and long-term measures to secure our competitiveness 

and profitability. We estimate that our improved competitiveness and 

strengthened balance sheet give us even better opportunities to reach 

our long-term financial targets. 

During 2009 we focused on winning new orders, adjusting our 

capacity and cost structure to the lower level of demand and strengthen-

ing cash flow by releasing net working capital. In late 2009 we shifted 

again more attention to longer term issues, like developing our product 

and services offering, strengthening our services business, and tapping 

into the new business opportunities offered by environmental issues. 

During the year we also carried out three strategic business acquisi-

tions. Through acquisitions, investments and other measures, we have 

strengthened the key cornerstones of our strategy: our services business, 

our environmental business and our presence in emerging markets. 

OUR STRENGTHS SUPPORT GROWTH

Demand for our products and services decreased strongly already in 

late 2008 when economic uncertainty weakened our customers’ will-

ingness to invest. Our services business has remained at a satisfactory 

level, despite our customers’ lower capacity utilization rates. We believe 

that our technology know-how, our profound understanding of our 

customers’ industrial processes and our long-term customer relation-

ships help us to win orders for replacement investments and process 

optimizations also in the economic downturn. Meanwhile, our strong 

local presence and wide installed base of machinery and equipment 

give us excellent prerequisites for success in the services business mar-

kets in different economic cycles. 

The economic downturn has given emerging markets a stronger 

position in the global economy. We have a strong position in these 

growth areas. The growing requirements for sustainability are boosting 

demand for environmental technology. We share our customers’ goals 

to minimize the environmental impacts of industrial processes. 
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2009 priorities on short-term actions – without forgetting the future

Winning  
new orders

Inspiring  
our people

Adjusting costs 
and capacity to 

demand

Cash flow and 
NWC release

Competitive 
product and  

services offering

New competitive  
operating 
models 

Strengthening  
services business  
and presence  
in emerging  
markets

Maintaining 
and developing 
capabilities and 

competencies

SHORTTERM PRIORITIES

SECURING THE FUTURE

Energy demand is growing both in developed and emerging 

markets. The importance of renewable energy sources, like biomass and 

waste, in satisfying the growing energy need will increase, unlocking 

new opportunities for us as one of the leading suppliers of bioenergy 

solutions. Emerging economies are investing in the construction of new 

infrastructure and developed economies are upgrading aging infrastruc-

ture; both are creating demand for our mining and construction industry 

customers and, consequently, also for us. Our position as the market and 

technology leader in most of our customer industries gives us good op-

portunities to benefit from these demand-strengthening factors.  

FLEXIBILITY BY RENEWING OPERATING MODELS

The downturn put the flexibility of our operating model to the test. We 

began adjusting our capacity and cost structure to the lower demand 

already in early 2008 and continued the measures last year. Our aim 

has been to secure the competitiveness, flexibility and profitability of 

our operations. This has meant reducing the use of external workforce, 

reducing permanent personnel, temporary layoffs and shorter working 

hours, closing down smaller units and tight cost discipline throughout 

the organization. 

In estimating the scope of the adjustment measures, we presumed 

that profitability will remain at least satisfactory despite a decrease in 

net sales. Our net sales decreased by about 20 percent from the 2008 

level; so, to maintain satisfactory profitability, the need to reduce our 

annual capacity costs (all fixed costs related to our operations, includ-

ing personnel costs) is about EUR 400–450 million. Over half of the sav-

ings stem from personnel reductions and the rest from other measures. 

The cost savings yielded by personnel reductions are more permanent 

by nature, while the majority of other costs are expected to gradually 

return to the same level as market activity picks up. 

We estimate that the measures initiated by the end of 2009 almost 

entirely cover the adjustment need and that more than half of the 

savings impacts of these measures materialized already by the end of 

the year. In 2009 we recorded about EUR 75 million in non-recurring 

expenses resulting from these personnel reductions and unit closures. 

Fixed selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by EUR 

140 million compared to 2008. Personnel-related costs recognized in 

cost of goods sold decreased by about EUR 100 million. In addition, we 

have achieved savings in other fixed costs of goods sold items.

These measures have reduced our number of employees by about 

3,850 from mid-2008. Additionally, the decisions we have made will lead 

to the reduction of another 750 positions in 2010. At the end of 2009 

our personnel was about 27,000, including an increase of approximately 

1,600 employees through business acquisitions during the year. The 

majority of the personnel reductions have occurred in Finland and 

Sweden, mainly in the Paper and Fiber Technology segment. The adjust-

ment measures and personnel reductions have been unfortunate but 

necessary to secure our competitiveness. As a result of the measures, the 

geographical distribution of our employees corresponds more closely to 

the geographical distribution of our customers and our demand. 

    Read more: Board of Directors’ Report, on page 54.
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SECURING FINANCING AND LIQUIDITY

Our goal is to safeguard the availability of financing at all times; one 

of our first measures when the economic crisis hit was to maintain a 

strong financial position. In spring 2009 we obtained new long-term 

loans totaling EUR 365 million. As a result of these measures and our 

strong operating cash flow, our liquidity was good the entire year. Our 

investment plans are moderate in the upcoming years, and we don’t 

have any significant ongoing investment projects. 

CASH FLOW AND A STRONG BALANCE SHEET  

PROVIDE A GOOD PLATFORM FOR GROWTH

One of our key targets last year was to release working capital. The strong 

growth in our inventories in particular had increased the amount of working 

capital in 2007–2008. We stepped up internal training in issues related to 

working capital management, we initiated programs to decrease inven-

tories, we negotiated longer payment terms for our purchases, and we 

improved efficiency in the collection of receivables and advance payments 

from our customers. 

As a result of these measures, we released EUR 518 million in net work-

ing capital in 2009 and our free cash flow was EUR 717 million. Our target 

is to keep our net working capital turnover intact when the markets start 

to grow again. Our strong liquidity and healthy balance sheet enables the 

continued development of Metso through complementary acquisitions and 

growth investments. In business acquisitions, we assess targets that comple-

ment our product and services portfolio for our existing customer base, 

strengthen our services business or presence in emerging markets, or add to 

our offering in the area of environmental technology. 

 

A SOLID FOUNDATION FOR PROFITABLE GROWTH 

As a result of the downturn, the short-term, markets for new machines 

and equipment have decreased by about 15–30 percent in virtually 

all industry sectors. In some sectors the drop has been as much as 

50 percent from the 2008 level. The drop in demand for services has 

been more moderate, about 10–20 percent. The recovery of the mar-

kets and demand will vary among the different industry sectors, and it 

will take some time before we reach the level that preceded the crisis. 

The competitive situation has for the most part remained un-

changed. When demand picks up, however, the competitive arena will 

be challenging. The availability of capital has been perhaps permanent-

ly weakened, and that will have an impact on our customers’ invest-

We focused 
on securing 
competitiveness.

ment decisions. The structures of many industrial sectors will change as 

a result of business acquisitions, mergers and bankruptcies. 

The global megatrends we have described in this report (page 

12–19) affect us either directly or through our customer industries. We 

believe that the demand for our products and services will grow in the 

long-term as a result of these megatrends. 

Based on the factors described above, we estimate that in the 

future we will be able to reach the profitable growth targets set forth 

in our strategy. We are building Metso on a foundation of profound 

understanding of the business environment and our customers’ pro-

cesses, and on the vast competence of our personnel. 

Our success depends greatly on the motivation and competence 

of our personnel. Encouraging and motivating personnel has been 

made a priority for all our managers. Communicating the difficult mar-

ket situation and the reasons behind the adjustment measures taken, 

as well as inspiring the personnel have been challenging tasks for our 

leadership. Despite the difficult times, we have continued personnel 

development and training to strengthen the competence that is critical 

to our long-term development.

INVESTMENTS IN THE SERVICES BUSINESS

Development of our services business is based on our extensive 

installed base of machinery and equipment and on our long-term cus-

tomer relationships. In 2009 we developed new service products and 

solutions and further strengthened our presence close to customers. 

We are also continuously improving the availability of wear and spare 

parts as well as our other services offering. We complemented our ser-

vices product portfolio during the year through business acquisitions, 

among them the purchase of Tamfelt. By reorganizing our Mining and 

Construction Technology segment, we aim to better serve our installed 

base of machinery and equipment and our global customer base. 

We have also continued our investments to strengthen the service 

network for paper industry customers in China.

Net sales of our services business decreased by 12 percent 

in 2009; the services business accounts for 41 percent of our net 

sales (2008: 37%) and well over half of our operating profit.  

WE ARE FOCUSING ON THE ENVIRONMENTAL BUSINESS

We continued developing the environmental technology portfolio in 

2009. Development of the environmental technology offering across 
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Even though a recovery from the financial crisis is gradually starting, our operating 
environment will remain demanding at least during the first half of 2010. We believe 
that market demand has bottomed out and our customer industries are slowly re-
covering, each at their own pace. Our position as the market and technology leader 
in our sector creates good prerequisites for long-term profitable growth. Also the 
global megatrends are favorable for us. We have purposefully invested in our com-
petitiveness and the cornerstones of our strategy: the services and environmental 
business and our presence in emerging markets. Our product and services portfolio, 
our know-how and our global presence are at a level that allows us to support our 
customers where they are. We estimate that the measures we have implemented to 
boost our operational efficiency give us good prerequisites to achieve our long-
term financial targets. 

We estimate our net sales in 2010 to remain at about the same level as in 2009 and 
our profitability to remain satisfactory. Our order backlog at the end of 2009 was 
EUR 3.4 billion, of which EUR 2.7 billion is estimated to be delivered in 2010. We es-
timate that our services business will gradually begin to grow when our customers’ 
capacity utilization rates improve.
 

Going forward 
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our business lines has clearly gained momentum. In an effort to further 

enhance our expertise in environmental technology, we cooperate 

with our customers and leading international research institutes, and 

we participate in international cooperation and innovation projects. In 

2009 we announced a number of new bioenergy-related technology 

solutions. One example is the order we received from Lahti Energia 

for an environmentally-friendly waste gasification process. We will 

continue to direct an increasing share of our research and product 

development investments into the development of environmental 

technology solutions.  

  Read more: Sustainability Report on pages 20–29.



RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

26    Metso Annual Report 2009

REACTIVE PROTECTIVE

PREVENTIVEPROACTIVE

Risk management implementation 

Risk map

We categorize our risks on 
the risk map and define risk 
management tools, principles 
and responsible parties. We 
update the map 
at least once a year.

Insurance programs

We have prepared for prop-
erty, business interruption, 
transport and liability risks 
through local and global 
insurance schemes. Liability 
risks include damage caused 
by our operations and prod-
ucts as well as management 
liabilities. Metso’s total risk-
bearing capacity is taken into 
consideration when defining 
deductible amounts.

Risk assessment

All our businesses conduct 
an annual risk assessment to 
identify key risks. In the as-
sessment, the significance of 
the risk (probability and im-
pact on Metso) and the need 
for measures are evaluated.

Crisis management

The primary goal of our crisis 
management is to secure the 
safety of people involved. 
We also aim to reduce 
the adverse financial and 
reputation impacts, rectify 
damages and restore opera-
tions to normal. Our Crisis 
Management Team comprises 
representatives from, among 
others, the crisis manage-
ment function, finance, HR 
and communications.

Corrective measures

The businesses’ operative 
management and the Risk 
Management Team ensure 
that our businesses initiate 
measures based on the re-
sults of the risk assessment.

Other control  
processes

Our internal control systems 
aim to ensure the reliability 
of our financial reporting. 
In the maintenance and 
development of our ways of 
operating and controls, we 
take into consideration the 
related general guidelines 
and legislative requirements. 
We systematically monitor 
factors that potentially affect 
our reputation. 

Risk management 
evaluation

Our businesses work with an 
external insurance broker 
to evaluate the functional-
ity of risk management at 
their key units in accordance 
with a 3-year plan. The 
results are reported to the 
Metso Executive Team.

Quality systems

Our quality and environmen-
tal management systems 
are based on ISO 9001 and 
ISO 14001 standards and 
our occupational health and 
safety systems on OHSAS 
18001 standards. Our units 
use these systems as tools in 
correcting issues defined in 
the risk assessment.

INSTRUC-
TIONS

Risk management is an integral part of  
our strategy and business management 

Risk management supports our strategy and the achievement of our objectives by anticipating potential threats to and opportunities for our 

business. The risks related to the global economic cycle and financing, and the management of them, were accentuated in 2009. Effective risk 

management ensures continuity of our operations also in changing circumstances.
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We define risks as events or circumstances, which, if 

materialized, can either positively or negatively affect 

our chances of achieving our goals. We assess the 

significance of the risk as a combination of probabil-

ity and consequences of the occurrence. By taking 

calculated strategic, operational or finance related 

risks, we can strengthen our business opportuni-

ties. In contrast, hazard risks that materialize have a 

negative effect on our operations. We can manage 

some risks on our own, while other risks are beyond 

our control. 

Our risk management focus is on proactive mea-

sures, protecting our operations, limiting adverse 

impacts and utilizing opportunities. We map and 

assess risks systematically and adjust our opera-

tions when needed. In risk mapping we analyze the 

potential positive and negative impacts that the risks 

we have identified may have on our net sales and 

operating result during the assessment year and the 

three subsequent years. Risk assessment is done as a 

part of our annual strategy process.

However, if threats materialize, they can have a 

significant adverse impact on our business, financial 

situation and operating result or the value of our 

shares and other securities. In that case, we aim to 

reduce the adverse financial impacts of any damage 

and restore operations to normal. In addition, we 

have prepared for possible risks through insur-

ance schemes. We estimate that our level of risks 

is currently at a manageable level in proportion to 

the scope of our operations and to the practical 

measures available.

 

RISK MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES

Our risk management principles are approved by the 

Board of Directors. The Board also oversees that the 

planning, information and control systems in place 

for risk management are sufficient and support 

our business objectives. The Board’s Audit Com-

mittee assesses the adequacy of risk management 

and ensures that it is consistent with our Corporate 

Governance Principles. 

The Risk Management Team is comprised of rep-

resentatives of our businesses and our Executive Vice 

President and CFO. The team annually confirms the 

risk management programs of our businesses and 

ensures that they focus on relevant issues in terms 

of our operations. The Group’s Risk Management 

function oversees the implementation of the risk 

management program and principles and develops 

common risk management procedures and guide-

lines. Our businesses’ management is responsible for 

identifying and managing risks in their own area as 

part of their operations. Group Treasury manages our 

financial risks and secures the availability of equity 

and debt financing with competitive terms. It works 

in cooperation with the businesses and centrally 

manages external funding. Additionally, Group Trea-

sury is responsible for managing financial assets and 

for financial risks-related hedging. 

STRATEGIC RISKS

Business development risks

Our business can be affected by risks related to new 

markets, business acquisitions and investments as 

well as by business development risks related to new 

products and services and risks related to brand and 

reputation.

An important part of our business development 

is the expansion of our operations in emerging 

markets. We aim to increase our local presence and 

procurements in e.g. China, India and Brazil. In addi-

By taking calculated 
strategic, operational or 
finance related risks,  
we can strengthen our  
business opportunities.

tion to opportunities, there are also threats related 

to emerging markets, such as risks associated with 

the protection of our intellectual property and our 

reputation as an ethical corporate citizen.

In business acquisitions we aim to manage risks 

by applying the Metso Acquisition Process (MAP) and 

a thorough due diligence process. All businesses to be 

acquired must meet our strategic and financial criteria. 

Business environment risks

Business cycles in the global economy and in our 

customer industries influence the demand for our 

products and services as well as our financial posi-

tion. The slowdown in global economic growth and 

the uncertainty of financial markets has emphasized 

the significance of managing business environment 

risks. We estimate that our business environment 

remains challenging even though the turbulence 

on the financial markets has calmed down and the 

markets are showing the first signs of a gradual 

recovery in the global economy. Global economic 

uncertainty can have adverse effects on projects in 

our order backlog. The uncertainty related to our 
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order backlog has diminished during the year, and about 14 percent of 

the orders in our order backlog on December 31, 2009 were subject to 

uncertainties relating to delivery schedules.

Geographically, China is the main market for new paper and board 

machines, and therefore a significant decrease in demand there would 

have a negative impact on new equipment sales for the paper and 

board industry in particular. 

In the long-term, the effects of business cycles are offset by the 

geographical scope of our operations, the high share of the services 

business and the range of customer industries we serve. We are ac-

tively aiming to increase our services business, which is less affected by 

business cycles than new equipment sales.  

Market risks

Changes in the demand of our customer industries affect our opera-

tions. Such changes may be related to, among other things, general 

economic cycles, strategy changes in our customer companies, prod-

uct requirements, or environmental aspects. 

We aim to differentiate ourselves from our competitors by offering 

advanced technological know-how, local presence, a comprehensive 

services offering and a long-term commitment to our customers. In 

addition, we aim to operate flexibly and cost-efficiently in an effort to 

ensure our competitiveness. Our goal is to increase our component 

manufacturing and assembly capacity in emerging markets, such as 

China, India and Brazil. 

Slow global economic growth could lead to tighter price competi-

tion. To secure our competitive position, we have adjusted our cost struc-

ture, developed our operating models, and strived to shift some of the 

price pressures to our subcontractors. There were no significant changes 

in our competitor field during the year. However, changes may occur as 

a result of bankruptcies, mergers and acquisitions, and new players.

Technology risks

Our technology risks are related to our technological competen-

cies and research and product development. The introduction of new 

technology may temporarily increase our quality-related costs. In 

research and product development we utilize our Metso Innovation 

Process (MIP), a project management model that guides the develop-

ment process during its different phases. As part of the process, we also 

aim to determine the intellectual property aspects and environmental 

impacts related to products. 

Political, economic, cultural and legislative trends

Our own and our customers’ operations are geographically wide-

spread. Political and social unrest, terrorism and armed conflicts may 

represent threats to our operations. Our operations are also affected by 

legislation, particularly the environmental legislation of different coun-

tries. We monitor laws that are under preparation and try to anticipate 

their impact on our own and our customers’ business.

We have our own manufacturing and supplier networks in many 

emerging countries. The threats related to these emerging countries 

are reduced by the wide geographical scope of our operations and 

our many different customer industries. However, sudden political, 

economic and/or legislative changes could have an adverse effect on 

our business and financial position.

Phenomena related to climate change and the environment

Emissions from our own production are within the permit limits set by 

authorities. When planning our energy needs, we take into account the 

threats related to climate change. Our main tools for environmental 

management are processes seeking to ensure compliance with envi-

ronmental legislation, like the environmental systems compliant with 

the ISO 14001 standard.

Environmental requirements are becoming tighter both in emerg-

ing markets and developed markets. Stricter environmental legislation 

can create opportunities to offer our customers new solutions that 

meet the new tighter requirements, but it can also make it more dif-

ficult to sell the products or it can increase our costs. 

Approximately 60 percent of Metso’s business is classified as envi-

ronmental business, as defined by the OECD, either solutions actively 

improving the state of the environment or the best available technol-

ogy in the sector. Our goal is to expand our environmental offering 

solutions for existing and new customer segments.

FINANCIAL RISKS

Continuity of our operations requires that we secure sufficient fund-

ing in all circumstances. With the economic and financial crisis, the 

availability and cost of financing have become considerable threats. 

We continuously assess our customers’ and suppliers’ creditworthi-

ness and ability to fulfill their obligations. As a principal rule, we do not 

finance our customers’ projects or suppliers’ operations. If a customer 

or a supplier is experiencing financial difficulties, we negotiate possible 

changes to project delivery schedules, the cost effects of the changes 

and other measures necessary. 

Currency risks

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates can be a risk significantly af-

fecting our financial result. They can affect our business, although the 

geographical scope of our operations decreases the significance of any 

individual currency. The impact of exchange rate fluctuations is visible 

most directly in transactions in which the invoicing currency is different 

Slow global economic 
growth could lead to  
tighter price competition.
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from the currency of the manufacturing costs. In such cases, changes 

in exchange rates may also affect the cost competitiveness of our prod-

ucts compared to competitor products manufactured in other currency 

areas. In addition to the euro, the most important currencies we use in 

our invoicing include the U.S. dollar, the Swedish krona, the Canadian 

dollar and the Brazilian real.  

The indirect effect of exchange rate fluctuations is visible when 

translating the net sales and financial results of our subsidiaries outside 

the euro zone into euros. Changes in the exchange rates may increase 

or decrease net sales or results, even though no real change has oc-

curred. Our units hedge in full the currency exposures that arise from 

firm delivery and purchase agreements. In addition, they can hedge 

anticipated foreign currency denominated cash flows by taking into ac-

count the significance of such cash flows, the competitive situation and 

other possibilities to adjust. Hedging operations are handled centrally 

through Group Treasury. Upper limits, calculated on the basis of their 

potential impact on profits, have been set for Group Treasury’s open 

currency exposures. These limits cover net exposures from transfers by 

operating units and items arising from financing activities. 

  For more information about our financial risk management:  

 see Note 2 to the Financial Statements on pages 74–76.

OPERATIONAL RISKS

Organizational and management risks

We continuously assess the human resources and organizational 

structures of our businesses. By doing so we aim to insure organiza-

tional efficiency and competence and to avoid misguided recruiting, an 

imbalance in the age structure of our personnel and a high personnel 

turnover rate. We aim to anticipate these problems with successor and 

recruiting planning. We have improved our recognition among poten-

tial recruits in recent years. 

To manage risks related to our business growth, we need to transfer 

the competence from developed markets to emerging markets, where 

our operations and resources have grown strongly in recent years. 

Information security risks

Our operations are dependent on external, internal and embedded in-

formation technology services and solutions. We aim to use reliable in-

formation technology solutions and information security management 

to avoid interruptions in service, exposure to data loss or compromised 

confidentiality or usability of information.  

Production, process and productivity risks

We are improving our productivity e.g. by ensuring the performance of 

our entire supply chain and by focusing on issues in our operations that 

are most critical in terms of our competitiveness. Efficient sales manage-

ment and a comprehensive sales network are prerequisites for success-

ful sales operations. We are continuously developing our operations in 

emerging markets: We are consolidating our procurements to the most 

competitive suppliers, and developing procurements, research and 

development activities, manufacturing, engineering and maintenance 

close to our customers. A competitive cost structure requires also the 

adjustment of resources and costs to correspond with demand.

Risk management in 2009 

We focused on managing risks related to business 
fluctuations in the global economy. The downturn 
decreased demand for our products and services and 
weakened the functionality of the financial markets. 
We adjusted our capacity and cost structure to the new 
situation and secured our financial position.

We developed our risk management model and risk man-
agement tools. We strengthened the local perspective in 
the practical risk management work, increased resources 
for IT risk management, and used our intranet and IT tools 
to improve risk management-related communications.

We stepped up risk management-related auditing 
activities. Our property insurance company conducted 
audits in 19 of our units, and we worked with our insur-
ance broker to assess the risk management functional-
ity in 10 of our units.

We set a new occupational safety target: Less than 10 
accidents resulting in absences per million working 
hours. All of our units must reach the target by 2012.  
A new occupational health and safety monitoring 
system, OHS Monitor, was adopted in part of the Group. 
The goal is to implement the system throughout Metso 
by the end of 2010.

We launched a systematic, Group-wide process to 
identify and manage issues that potentially affect our 
reputation. 

We continued risk management cooperation and the 
development of best practices with Finnish and inter-
national organizations.
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We improve production safety and productiv-

ity by applying ISO 9001 quality management and 

ISO 14001 environmental management systems or 

similar processes in our key production units.

Business interruption risks

The risks associated with our supply network are 

significant for our operations. 62 percent of our 

procurements still come from our established sup-

pliers in Finland, Sweden, Germany and the United 

States. During recent years, the largest increase in 

our procurement volumes has been in South and 

Central America and in Asia, corresponding with our 

customers’ significant investments in these areas. 

There are quality and delivery schedule risks related 

to new suppliers, we aim to manage these risks with 

improved monitoring of the suppliers. 

We decrease the availability risk for our key 

raw materials and components by using several 

suppliers, we decrease risks related to sudden price 

changes with longer-term delivery agreements and 

with price hedging when possible.

The manufacturing, or at least the final assem-

bly, of the key products we have specified takes 

place primarily at our own production facilities. With 

efficient risk management, we aim to shorten pro-

duction interruptions caused by fire or some other 

hazardous situation and to offset the impacts caused 

by the interruptions with interruption insurance. 

Project activity risks

A significant part of our operations consists of large 

project deliveries. These deliveries can include 

project-specific risks related to, for example, delivery 

schedules, equipment start-up, production capac-

ity and end-product quality. In some projects, risks 

may also arise from new technology included in the 

deliveries. When making contracts, we aim to pro-

actively limit the projects’ risks. Therefore, the risks of 

individual projects do not generally become signifi-

cant in the light of the entire scope of our business. 

Large-scale projects and equipment transactions are 

subject to the risk that we fail to estimate the actual 

costs of the transaction accurately enough at the 

offer stage in order to determine the appropriate 

transaction price. We manage risks related to delays 

in project implementation schedules and possible 

cancellations with advance payments. A customer’s 

advance payment is typically about 10–30 percent, 

in addition to which the customer makes payments 

based on milestones during the project execution. 

Our goal is for the customer’s payments to cover the 

capital we have invested into the project. 

Continue focusing on managing risks related to 
business fluctuations in the global economy.
Enforce a centralized and systematic assessment 
of business interruption risks.
Evaluate our risk management practices based on 
the forthcoming ISO standard for risk management.
Assess and develop our own operations in rela-
tion to best practices. 

We assessed our business risks in early of 2010. 
Compared to the risk assessment made in late 2008, 
we see more opportunities in our business environ-
ment that support our growth over the next three 
years. We are more confident that our management, 
organization and production resources can meet the 
expectations set for us. However, we estimate the 
competitive situation to intensify worldwide. Our 
ability to manage demanding customer projects and 
to ensure the quality of our products and services 
require more attention from us in the future. 

Brand and reputation: Maintaining our position 
as one of the leading companies in the sector
Emerging markets’ impact on our business: 
Strengthening global presence 
Organization and management: Supporting the 
achievement of targets 
Impacts of business acquisitions
Tighter competition 
Opportunities for global management of supply 
chains and production
Continuous development of technologies and 
securing the intellectual property rights of 
our products 
Impact of global economic business cycles and 
banking sector’s functionality on our operations
Services business growth opportunities
Business opportunities created by changes in 
environmental legislation 
Impacts of global and regional unrest and  
possible pandemics

Targets in 2010 

Metso’s most significant risks 
and opportunities 
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Read more about our risk management:
www.metso.com/investors > Governance 
> Risk management

Product liability risks

From time to time, we are involved in product liabil-

ity claims that are typical for companies operating 

in comparable industries. The possible risks related 

to any claims for compensation based on product 

liability are covered by an insurance policy with 

coverage of up to EUR 150 million per year, subject 

to applicable insurance conditions. We aim to reduce 

product liability risks with sales contract terms, start-

up training for customers, comprehensive instruction 

manuals, and investments in product safety develop-

ment and automation.  

Crisis situations

We have a flexible crisis and hazard management 

organization. The primary goal in our crisis manage-

ment is to secure the safety of the people involved. 

Because our own resources are limited and poten-

tial global catastrophes can exceed our ability to 

respond effectively enough to a threat, we use the 

services of external crisis management specialists for 

crisis situations. 

Illegal activities

We strive to operate in compliance with laws and 

regulations, but illegal activities, such as fraud, mis-

conduct or criminal acts, can present a risk for us. To 

prevent illegal activities, our values and code of con-

duct have been a central focus area in our personnel 

training. Internal procedures, supervision, audits and 

other practical tools are used to reduce our exposure 

to these risks. One of the practical tools is a report-

ing channel that enables anonymous reporting of 

financial misconduct directly to our management via 

the Internet, email or by telephone.  

 

HAZARD RISKS

Hazard risks include occupational health and safety 

risks, environmental risks, risks related to fire and 

other catastrophes, natural phenomenon risks and 

risks to premises security. We have taken precautions 

against these risks through occupational health and 

safety guidelines, certification principles, travel safety 

guidelines, rescue planning and premises security 

instructions. We prepare for the materialization of 

hazard risks through the Group’s insurance program.  

OTHER KEY RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Internal controls

Effective internal controls are necessary to provide 

reliable financial reports and to prevent fraud. If we 

were not able to provide reliable financial reports or 

prevent fraud, this could have negative effects on 

our financial result and our share price. Internal con-

trol, particularly for financial reporting, is reviewed in 

more detail in the Corporate Governance section on 

pages 141–156. 

Impact of the largest shareholder

Our largest shareholders can have a significant 

impact on matters voted on in Metso’s General 

Meeting of Shareholders. According to our informa-

tion, Solidium Oy, a company which is 100-percent 

owned by the State of Finland, held more than ten 

percent of our share capital on December 31, 2009. 

Significant matters to be voted on in the Annual 

General Meeting include approval of the financial 

statements, releasing management from liability, 

deciding on the use of distributable funds and pay-

ment of dividends, capital increases, amendments to 

our Articles of Association as well as electing Board 

members and auditors.  

Distribution of dividends

Our ability to distribute dividends in the future 

depends on a number of factors, such as our financial 

condition and capital needs. Ultimately, the distribu-

tion of dividends is dependent on the amount of dis-

tributable funds in the most recent approved financial 

statements, our liquidity, and our Annual General 

Meeting’s resolution on the distribution of dividends.

http://www.metso.com/corporation/ir_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041109-2256F-C9876?OpenDocument&mid=F1C81F2282885A53C22575AE00496D60
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Metso's risk map

Category Examples

Strategic risks

Business development risks
New markets and business opportunities. Ownership structure. Life cycle of products and production facili-
ties. Competence of employees. Natural resources, raw material and energy supply and availability. Mergers 
and acquisitions. Global sourcing, partners. Tax strategies. Brand and values.

Business environment risks Cycles in the global economy and customer industries.

Market risks
Changes in customers and customer demand. Customer mergers and acquisitions. Changes in customer 
product management, product requirements and environmental factors. Competition. Business intelligence 
and competitor analyses.

Technology risks
Technology vision, R&D capability and future competence requirements. Management of patents and 
trademarks.

Political, economic, cultural and

legislative development
Global political development, political unrest, terrorism, wars. Cultural and religious factors. Economic, 
financial and environmental legislation.

Climate and environmental phenomena Changes within regional climate. Epidemics.

Financial risks

Liquidity Short-term liquidity, availability and cost of financing. Credit ratings.

Interest rate risks
Changes in market interest rates and interest margins influencing financing costs, returns on financial 
investments and valuation of derivative contracts.

Currency risks
Exchange rate fluctuations affecting the prices of raw materials and production commodities purchased 
in non-domestic currencies. Exchange rate fluctuations affecting the prices of end products for export and 
cost competitiveness of the products. Currency risks related to equity of subsidiaries outside the euro zone.

Credit and counterparty risks Credit risks pertaining to trade activities. Counterparty liquidity and reliability.

Operational risks

Organization and management related risks
Organizational effectiveness, key persons, competence, resources and management. Misguided recruiting. 
Excessive personnel turnover.

Information security risks Loss of data. Confidentiality, integrity, availability, source, non-repudiation and accountability of data.

Production, process and productivity risks
Production, sales, marketing, innovation, delivery and process risks. Environmental and risk management, 
efficiency and follow-up of deliveries.

Business interruption risks
Machinery and equipment breakdowns. Subcontractor and supplier network risks, account management 
and logistics risks.

Profitability risks Profitability assessments and quotation calculation risks.

Project activity risks Risks related to delivery schedules and payment terms, project teams and suppliers.

Contract and liability risks Quality, contract and payment terms. Product technology risks and product safety. Product liability risks.

Crisis situations Crisis management capacity, operational capacity, emergency services and effective collaboration.

Illegal acts Fraud, misconduct and crimes.

Hazard risks

Occupational health and safety related risks Work-related illness, accidents and occupational well-being-related risks.

Personnel security risks Kidnapping, theft, violence.

Environmental risks Leak, spill and explosion.

Fire and other disasters Fire, explosion and traffic/cargo accident.

Natural events Storm, drought, wild fire, flood, earthquake, mudslide, tsunami etc.

Premises security risks Break-in, theft, arson and vandalism.
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In assessing the impact of risks, we take into consideration the probability of the risk as well as 
the impact on our net sales and results.

HIGHHIGH

Risk profile Guidelines and principles Responsibility

Metso’s strategy and business plans, corpo-
rate governance, internal controls, patents 
and intellectual property rights, intellectual 
property policy, Metso’s values and Code 
of Conduct, principles of sponsorship, 
accounting principles, risk management 
policy.

Group and business management, Group 
Finance and Treasury, risk management 
organization.

Group treasury policy, internal controls. Group management, Group Finance and 
Treasury, Group Legal Matters.

Corporate governance, internal controls, 
information security principles, production 
guidelines, business interruption risk analy-
ses, treasury policy, project activity safety 
guidelines, safety manuals, contractual 
guidelines, Code of Conduct, guidelines 
on preventing misconduct, guidelines on 
compliance with antitrust legislation, Group 
insurance program, crisis management 
instructions.

Group and business management, HR 
organization, production management, 
risk management organization, internal 
audit, IT.

Occupational health and safety guide-
lines, certification principles, travel safety 
guidelines, rescue plans, premises security 
guidelines, Group insurance program.

Business management, HR and occupa-
tional health and safety organization, risk 
management organization, environmental 
function, rescue organization, real estate 
management organization.

THREATS | OPPORTUNITIES

MEDIUMMEDIUM LOWLOW
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Metso's businesses at a glance
The services business currently accounts for over 40 percent of our net sales.

Mining and Construction 
Technology

Energy and Environmental 
Technology

Paper and Fiber Technology 

Business lines Mining:  
Net sales EUR 1,363 million

Construction:   
Net sales EUR 706 million

Services:  
Net sales EUR 1,008 million

Equipment and systems:  
Net sales EUR 1,067 million

Power:   
Net sales EUR 654 million

Automation:   
Net sales EUR 675 million

Recycling:   
Net sales EUR 199 million

Paper:   
Net sales EUR 974 million

Fiber:   
Net sales EUR 341 million

Tissue:   
Net sales EUR 122 million

Services EUR 967 million 

47% of net sales 

EUR 516 million 

35% of net sales

EUR 569 million 

41% of net sales

Products and services Grinding mills, crushing and 
materials-handling equipment, 
process equipment

Stationary and mobile crushers, 
screens and conveyors

Know-how and maintenance 
services

Complete systems, wear and spare 
parts and service solutions

Process technology and process 
optimization services

Boiler plants, biomass power 
plants and environmental  
protection equipment

Energy and process industry auto-
mation and information manage-
ment application networks and 
systems

Production process measurement 
systems and analyzers

Control valves and smart shut-off 
valves

Metal and solid-waste recycling 
equipment

Knowledge-based services

Production lines, machinery and 
equipment

 
  production and finishing

 
  pulp production

Know-how and maintenance 
services

 
  clothing

Customers Mining industry

Construction industry:  
Quarries and contractors

Power generation industry

Oil and gas industry

Pulp and paper industry

Recycling industry

Paper, tissue and board producers

Mechanical and chemical pulp 
producers

Main competitors Construction industry: Terex, 
Sandvik, Astec

Mining industry: FLSmidth,  
Outotec, ThyssenKrupp

Energy industry and pulp and 
paper industry equipment:  
Foster Wheeler, Austrian Energy 
and Environment, Andritz,  
Babcock & Wilcox

Automation systems: ABB,  
Honeywell, BTG

Valves: Emerson Process Manage-
ment, Dresser, Flowserve

Metal recycling: Lefort, Akros 
Henschol, Harris, The Shredder 
Company (Newel)

Solid-waste recycling: Komptech, 
Lindner, SID

Paper and board: Voith

Pulp: Andritz

Global market position Grinders (1)

Mining crushers (1)

Construction industry crushing 
and screening plants (1–2)

Biomass-fired fluidized bed boiler 
technology for the energy industry 
(1–3)

Pulp and paper industry: spe-
cial analyzers and consistency 
transmitters (1), control valves (1), 
recovery systems (1–2),  
automation solutions (3)

Oil and gas industry valves (5)

Power plant automation (<10)

Metal recycling systems (1)

Waste recycling pre-shredders (1)

Paper and board making lines (1)

Pulping lines (1–2)

Tissue machines (1)

 
* Mining and Construction Technology´s business lines were reorganized as of July 1, 2009 into the Services business line and the Equipment and Systems business line (Mining business 

line and Construction business line until June 30, 2009.) The change had no effect on external reporting in 2009.  
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Orders received by market area 

Other Nordic countries

Other European countries

North America

Rest of the world

Asia-Pacific

South and  
Central America

Finland3% (3%)

7% (5%)

20% (22%)

15% (19%)

20% (19%)

23% (21%)

12% (11%)

Orders received by market area

Other Nordic countries
Other European countries
North America

Rest of the world
Asia-Pacific

South and  
Central America

Finland14% (12%)

9% (10%)

34% (31%)

22% (18%)

7% (11%)

11% (14%)

3% (4%)

Orders received by market area 

Other Nordic countries
Other European countries
North America

Rest of the world
Asia-Pacific

South and  
Central America

Finland6% (7%)

6% (6%)

12% (21%)

18% (13%)

6% (16%)

51% (34%)

1% (3%)

Personnel by area 

Other Nordic countries

Other European countries

North America

Rest of the world

Asia-Pacific

South and  
Central America

Finland10% (11%)

10% (10%)

16% (17%)

15% (15%)

23% (23%)

15% (14%)

11% (10%)

Personnel by area

Other Nordic countries

Other European countries

North America

Rest of the world

Asia-Pacific

South and  
Central America

Finland40% (41%)

10% (9%)

19% (19%)

16% (17%)

4% (4%)

10% (9%)

1% (1%)

Personnel by area 

Other Nordic countries

Other European countries

North America

Rest of the world

Asia-Pacific

South and  

Central America

Finland42% (41%)

14% (16%)

9% (7%)

9% (10%)

2% (2%)

22% (22%)

2% (2%)

Net sales by customer industry

Mining

Construction

66% (61%)

34% (39%)

Net sales by customer industry 

Power generation

Pulp and paper

Recycling

Oil and gas

43% (40%)

26% (24%)

13% (18%)

18% (18%)

Net sales by customer industry

Paper

Pulp

76% (70%)

24% (30%)

Mining and Construction Technology Energy and Environmental Technology Paper and Fiber Technology 
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Mining and Construction Technology 

2009 was a challenging year for the mining and construction technology sector. Our customers responded to the decrease in demand caused by 

the global downturn by cutting their investments and production capacity. We have taken advantage of the period of slower demand by develop-

ing our own operations and processes so that we can serve our customers more flexibly when the markets recover.

The main focus of deliveries in developed markets is on repair investments and the services business. We service and optimize the processes supplied to customers for the entire life cycle. 

Photo taken at KCGM´s Kalgoorlie gold mines in Australia.
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Key figures, EUR million 2008 2009

Net sales 2,586 2,075

EBITA 361.2 202.8

% of net sales 14.0 9.8

Operating profit 358.4 198.8

Capital employed, Dec 31 1,230 1,072

Gross capital expenditure 109 40

Research and development expenses 19 12

Orders received 2,709 1,660

Order backlog, Dec 31 1,492 1,041

Personnel, Dec 31 11,259 9,541

FOCUS ON STRENGTHENING  

COMPETITIVENESS AND PROFITABILITY  

Due to the the global downturn, our customers decreased their own 

production capacity and cut investments, which reflected strongly on 

demand of our products and services  in 2009. Orders received both 

from our mining and our construction customers were down. The share 

of orders received from emerging markets remained at about the same 

level as in the previous year and was 51 percent. 

Our order backlog decreased by 30 percent from the previous year 

to EUR 1,041 million (2008: EUR 1,492 million). In 2009 orders valued at 

about EUR 112 million, were canceled. The order backlog at the end of 

the year included EUR 150 million worth of mining equipment orders 

that are subject to uncertainties related to delivery schedule. 

The segment´s net sales decreased 20 percent from the previous 

year, and were EUR 2,075 million.  Our earnings before interest, tax and 

amortization (EBITA) in 2009 were EUR 202.8 million, or 9.8 percent of 

net sales (2008: EUR 361.2 million and 14.0 percent). The EBITA includes 

about EUR 22 million non-recurring expenses related to capacity 

adjustment. On the other hand, the financial result includes one-time 

capital gain of EUR 23 million on the sale of shares in Talvivaara Mining 

Company Plc.

To maintain and strengthen our competitiveness, we have adjusted 

our capacity and cost structure to the prevailing market situation, dis-

continued unprofitable operations, centralized our production capacity, 

laid-off employees permanently and temporarily, and improved our op-

erational efficiency. We have also initiated measures to further develop 

our already strong services business. 

RECOVERY EXPECTED IN THE MINING INDUSTRY

Requests for quotations in the mining industry increased clearly during 

the last quarter of the year, and we expect 2010 to bring a gradual 

recovery in demand. 

We estimate that a recovery in the construction equipment market 

will start in our main markets in Europe and North America in 2011 at 

the earliest. The infrastructure investments in emerging markets or eco-

nomic stimulus measures relating to infrastructure development are 

estimated to have a favorable impact on the demand for construction 

industry products in the long-term, but so far the stimulus measures 

have not had a significant impact on our operations.

Orders received and order backlog
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In economically challenging times we build on our strengths, which, 

along with our global presence and strong services business, include 

long-term customer relations, global technology leadership in several 

key product groups, product brand recognition and a solid reputation. 

Environmental solutions will become more and more important 

for our business. Our customers are increasingly looking for equipment 

and processes that have a smaller environmental impact, use less water 

and are more energy efficient.  

NEW WAYS OF OPERATING BOOST INVENTORY TURNOVER

At the beginning of 2009 our inventories were at an exceptionally high 

level. This was caused by stagnant demand and order cancellations in 

the last quarter of 2008. We initiated focused measures to attack the 

issue and, as a result, we released EUR 360 million worth of goods from 

our inventory and this work will continue  in 2010. We believe that the 

new processes and ways of operating will enable us to keep inventory 

turnover at a much better level across business cycles. 

Our goal is to  
serve our customers 
through the entire  
product life cycle.

Reliable pumps are essential for successful mineral pro-
cessing. This is no secret to Vedanta Aluminium Ltd’s alu-
minum refinery located in Lanjigarh, in the state of Orissa 
in eastern India, which has been relying on Metso’s slurry 
pump technology since 2004. Over the years, cooperation 
between the two companies has evolved into a partner-
ship, fueled by good experience gained from deliveries 
and installations. Vedanta has entrusted Metso with the 
overall service and maintenance of all of its pumps – the 
beating hearts of the company’s operations, as they put it. 
The maintenance contract is in force until 2012. 

To add to the challenge, Metso’s local service team of 
23 also takes care of the maintenance of other manu-
facturers’ pumps. Working in three shifts, Metso’s team 
monitors the condition of the machinery and regularly 
reports their findings back to the customer. 

In March 2009 Vedanta acknowledged the performance 
of the service team by granting it a safety award. Ac-
cording to Vedanta, Metso’s team has been successful 
in abiding by the company’s high safety standards and 
increasing the safety level at the plant by reporting any 
safety risks discovered. 

The number of pumps at the aluminum refinery is 
constantly on the rise. In 2009, Vedanta raised its pro-
duction capacity from 1.4 to 2 million metric tons to 
respond to growing demand and now plans to reach 5 
million metric tons following the start-up of new pro-
duction lines. Metso has again been chosen to supply 
the slurry pumps for the new lines. Once the expansion 
is completed, Vedanta’s aluminum refinery will have 650 
slurry pumps supplied by Metso in operation – which is 
more than at any other single location in India.

Metso makes the heart of an Indian aluminum refinery beat

Results delivered
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How significant is the services  
business for you?

Why is global presence important?

What is the significance of  
environmental technology in the 
mining and construction industry?

We are pursuing cost savings also by streamlining and centralizing 

our supply and procurement chain. With global procurements and 

manufacturing management, we believe we can negotiate more com-

petitive prices with our services and raw materials suppliers.

LOCAL SERVICE, GLOBALLY

Because the focus of growth in the mining and construction industry 

has shifted to emerging markets, it is increasingly important for us to 

be a local supplier operating close to our customers globally. Demand 

in emerging markets is mainly for new capital equipment. At the same 

time, our growing installed base will create a good platform for services 

business growth: for maintenance agreements and for deliveries of 

spare and wear parts. In developed markets, the main focus of our busi-

ness is on rebuilds and the services business, particularly on spare and 

wear parts, and on maintenance and process optimization of installed 

equipment and systems.

We are focusing on the development of our services business, 

customer service and our product offering. The new organization we 

introduced in July 2009 supports these goals. The Services business 

forms a separate business line with a mission to further develop our al-

ready strong services offering for the mining and construction industry. 

The Equipment and Systems business line is responsible for com-

plete production processes and for deliveries of new equipment and 

rebuilds. The business line’s key goals include globalizing our operating 

procedures and strengthening our technology leadership. 

Our goal is to serve our customers over the entire product life cycle 

– from the initial process or equipment delivery to the continuous op-

timization and maintenance of the customer’s process. The know-how 

and expertise that support the customer´s business are decentralized 

into teams working close to our customers. We will continue strength-

ening the network of experts in the years ahead.

Our global presence is supported by the construction of Metso Park 

in Alwar, in the state of Rajasthan, India. The industrial center will be 

completed in phases from 2010 onward. The products manufactured 

at Metso Park will be primarily delivered for our customers in India and 

neighboring areas. Some of the products will also be transported to our 

other manufacturing units to be adapted for local needs. 

The emerging markets, particularly India and China, have an 

increasingly central role for our business in the future. Our mining and 

construction industry customers are investing in these areas, and that 

supports also our growth opportunities.

Matti Kähkönen  
President  

Mining and Construction Technology

3 views   
to every 
business

– The services business is extremely important both now and in 

the future. One example of our increasing focus is our new or-

ganizational structure that enables us to develop our operations 

around the world as efficiently and systematically as possible. 

– The focus of global economic growth has shifted to emerging 

markets, and so has more and more of the business of our min-

ing and construction industry customers. In order to offer the 

best and most flexible services possible, we must strengthen our 

presence close to our new customers. This is particularly impor-

tant in the services business.

– Our customers want us to supply products and services that are 

economically competitive in the long run. Also legislation and 

international agreements are driving mining and construction 

industries to minimize the environmental impacts of their pro-

cesses. Our equipment and processes represent environmentally 

best available technologies. They help our customers to reduce 

the energy consumption, emissions, noise and dust of their 

production processes.

Additional information: 
www.metso.com/miningandconstruction
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Energy and Environmental Technology

After a couple  years of strong growth, demand for our products and services decreased in 2009 as the general economic trend weakened in our 

main markets. Rising environmental awareness and tougher environmental legislation will create favorable longer-term growth prospects for 

bioenergy solutions, automation solutions that enhance energy efficiency and recycling technology.

We are actively engaged in research related to bioenergy at our test facility in Tampere, Finland. We are participating in collaborative research to develop bio-mass based bio-oil from 

forest industry residue to replace fossil fuels in heating and power generation.
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DEMAND WEAKENED IN 2009

Demand for our energy and environmental technology products and 

services grew strongly in 2007–2008. The growth in demand became 

stagnant and in some cases even decreased in 2009 as a result of 

the deepening global downturn. Our customers were cautious in 

their investment decisions, which particularly affected the demand 

for our recycling equipment. The segment’s net sales in 2009 were 

EUR 1,523 million, a decrease of 14 percent from the previous year. The 

segment´s earnings before interest, tax and amortization (EBITA) were 

EUR 136.3 million, i.e. 8.9 percent of net sales (2008: EUR 198.3 million 

and 11.2 percent). EBITA includes about EUR 11 million in non-

recurring expenses relating to capacity adjustment measures. The 

order backlog was 14 percent lower than in 2008 and at year end was 

EUR 1,032 million. The net sales of our services business decreased by 

6 percent from the previous year and accounted 35 percent of the 

segment´s net sales.

The short-term outlook for our power generation solutions is good. 

Several European and North American countries have set targets to in-

crease the use of renewable energy sources. Additionally, rising energy 

consumption is expected to support the demand for biomass- and 

waste-fueled power plants using local energy sources. 

The demand for our automation solutions is affected the most by in-

vestments in the oil and gas industry and power generation. Investments 

are expected to increase gradually in 2010 as a result of favorable develop-

ment in oil and gas prices. In the pulp and paper industry, investments in 

boiler plants and automation are estimated to remain low in 2010.    

Demand for our recycling products and services was very weak in 

2009. Due to the low production volumes in the steel industry and the 

low price for recycled metals, global demand for new metal crushing 

equipment and the related aftermarket services was low globally. We 

estimate the demand for metal recycling equipment to remain weak 

because of the low steel production volumes, and we estimate the 

demand for solid-waste recycling equipment to be satisfactory. We es-

timate the demand for the metal recycling services business to remain 

weak in 2010. 

CAPACITY ADJUSTMENTS TO ENSURE COMPETITIVENESS 

We adjusted our capacity to correspond with the weakened demand 

in the Automation, Recycling and Power business lines. Additionally, in 

several units we implemented temporary lay-offs, shorter workweeks, and 

other locally agreed adjustment measures in line with each country’s labor 

laws. The adjustments we implemented will improve our competitiveness 

also in the longer term. 

Key figures, EUR million 2008 2009

Net sales 1,775 1,523

EBITA 198.3 136.3

% of net sales 11.2 8.9

Operating profit 176.0 118.1

Capital employed, Dec 31 647 524

Gross capital expenditure 41 25

Research and development expenses 46 45

Orders received 1,658 1,297

Order backlog, Dec 31 1,204 1,032

Personnel, Dec 31 6,357 6,060
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STRENGTHENING OUR OPERATIONS GLOBALLY

We are currently building a new technology center in Shanghai, China. 

The facilities will be completed in the first half of 2010. We have also 

decided to move the Finnish valve manufacturing operations from 

Helsinki to a new facility in Vantaa. The factory will be commissioned in 

the first part of 2011. 

In 2008 we established a unit in Chennai, India, to focus primarily 

on power boiler engineering. The unit currently employs 80 people 

and is growing rapidly. In the beginning of 2009 the unit received its 

first significant recovery boiler order from Thailand, and the unit’s en-

gineers also have been engaged in the engineering work for several 

global projects.

In the beginning of 2009 we combined our know-how related to 

small and mid-sized bioenergy plants with Wärtsilä, a power solutions 

provider for the marine and energy markets, and established MW 

Power, a joint venture in which Metso owns 60%. We believe that small 

As emissions restrictions became tighter, European 
power companies are replacing coal-fired boilers with 
eco-friendlier biofuel boilers. The old technology no 
longer meets today’s standards for emissions and en-
ergy efficiency. Investing in energy-efficient technology 
mitigates climate change and brings economic benefits 
to electricity and heat producers. For Metso, it opens 
interesting markets and opportunities.

Poland, for instance, has close to 50 coal-fired boilers 
that are nearing the end of their useful service life. The 
goal in upcoming years is to increase energy produc-
tion from renewable energy sources and reduce emis-
sions. Rebuilding an old coal boiler into a biofuel-fired 
boiler is feasible when the location of the plant, the fuel 
supply and the price are right. One such plant is the 
Czechnica combined heat and power plant owned by 
KOGENERACJA S.A, near Wroclaw, in the Silesia region. 
Metso is converting the 80-megawatt capacity steam 

boiler into a modern, bubbling fluidized bed boiler fu-
eled by wood chips and agro biomass. The delivery also 
covers e.g. the fuel silo, fuel feeding system, an automa-
tion solution and emissions reporting application. 

When the modernized boiler plant is commissioned 
in June 2010, it will produce enough energy to meet 
the electricity and heat needs of 60,000 households. 
Modernizing the old power plant will reduce the city of 
Wroclaw’s carbon footprint by about 243,200 tons every 
year, which is the equivalent to the emissions of 147,000 
mid-sized passenger cars driven 10,000 kilometers a 
year. Czechnica and other power suppliers facing the 
same challenges benefit from Metso’s comprehensive 
energy and environmental technology know-how and 
experience.

 

Demand for bioenergy technology on the rise in Europe

Results delivered

and mid-sized bioenergy plants intended for regional heat and power 

generation offer growth opportunities particularly in Europe.

In October 2009 we expanded our offering of recycling solutions 

for solid-waste processing by acquiring the Danish M&J Industries A/S. 

The company manufactures solid-waste shredding equipment, and it 

employs about 100 people. 

ENERGY-EFFICIENT SOLUTIONS FOR OUR CUSTOMERS 

Tougher environmental legislation requires our customer industries to 

reduce the impact of their operations on the environment. We help 

our customers meet tougher emissions requirements, diversely utilize 

various energy sources, improve their competitiveness and reduce 

the adverse environmental impacts of their operations. We develop 

cost-efficient bioenergy solutions, recycling technology, automation 

solutions that boost the energy efficiency of e.g. the pulp and paper 

industry’s production processes, and maintenance services. 
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The targets to increase the use of renewable energy sources 

around the world and the change in the general attitude regarding CO₂ 

emissions from fossil fuels support the demand for our power plants 

that utilize CO₂ neutral biomass and waste. A significant share of the 

coal-fired power plants in Europe and North America is reaching the 

end of their service life. We believe that converting them into bio- and 

multi-fuel boilers utilizing modern process automation offers business 

opportunities for us. 

Last year we made several agreements around the world to supply 

bioenergy solutions. One of the most significant was an order for a 

biomass boiler plant and the related automation solution for the Nacog-

doches Generating Facility in Texas, in the United States. Upon comple-

tion, the plant will be one of the largest in the world and will produce 

renewable electric power using forest residue from the forest industry 

and wood waste from trade and industry as the main fuel source.

We are a significant supplier of automation systems for the oil and 

gas industry. We expect industry investments to pick up and to create 

growth opportunities for us, particularly in the Middle East.

We have developed new, more environmentally compatible tech-

nology for waste gasification which enables our customers to efficiently 

convert solid waste or biomass into energy and significantly reduce the 

use of fossil fuels. Our first waste gasification plant, including the auto-

mation solutions, will be delivered to Lahti Energia Oy in Lahti, Finland. 

In cooperation with Fortum, UPM and the VTT (Technical Research 

Centre of Finland), we are also developing biomass-based bio-oil 

production to provide an alternative to fossil fuels. Our test plant in Tam-

pere, Finland, has successfully produced test oil since summer 2009. Bio-

oil is an alternative fuel for bioenergy plants and oil boilers, and it can be 

used also as a raw material for the chemical industry and biodiesel.

We believe that our ability to supply full-scope solutions combining 

bioenergy know-how, automation solutions and waste processing gives 

us strong opportunities for growth in the upcoming years.

Pasi Laine  
President 

Energy and Environmental Technology

How significant is the services  
business for you?

How do you meet the growing environ-
mental technology demand?

Why has the business focus so far been 
on Europe and North America?

– The services business already accounts for a large share of our 

business. In addition to technology, we offer our customers life 

cycle services for products and production processes as well as 

in-depth application know-how. We want to further strengthen 

our position as a supplier of knowledge-based services close to 

our customers.

– We offer our customers integrated, full-scope solutions for 

producing bioenergy. Our solutions encompass biofuel boilers, 

automation solutions to boost energy efficiency, optimized 

components and processing know-how for producing energy 

from solid waste. We are also the leading supplier of metal 

recycling equipment. 

– We have a strong customer base in these areas. The main 

markets for our renewable energy-producing solutions are still 

in Europe and North America. We are actively expanding our 

business to Asia and South America, where we already have 

a strong market position in automation solutions. We are cur-

rently building a technology center in Shanghai, China, and we 

have opened new sites in India and South America.

More information:
www.metso.com/power  |  www.metso.com/automation  |  www.metso.com/recycling

3 views   
to every 
business
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Paper and Fiber Technology
Demand for Paper and Fiber Technology products and services decreased in 2009 due to the low production capacity utilization rates of our cus-

tomers and the uncertain short-term outlook. In Asia and South America the growth in the pulp and paper industry will continue over the long-

term, but in Europe and North America the structural change in the sector will permanently reduce investments in new capacity. We are adjusting 

by allocating resources on the services business and by strengthening our presence in Asia and South America. 

The focus of Paper and Fiber Technology´s product development has shifted to research supporting services business growth. Our customers in our traditional market areas aim to optimize 

their existing capacity with process improvements.
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EVOLVING TO MEET THE CHANGING MARKET ENVIRONMENT 

For Paper and Fiber Technology, 2009 was a challenging year. The 

global downturn accelerated the structural change in our customer 

industry in developed markets. Low demand and prices for pulp and 

paper kept our customers’ production utilization rates low. New equip-

ment and project orders clearly decreased and, consequently, our 

production and engineering units had low utilization rates.  

The segment´s net sales decreased in 2009 by 31 percent and were 

EUR 1,408 million (2008: EUR 2,044 million). Net sales of our services 

business also decreased, but its relative share of the segment’s net sales 

increased to 41 percent. The earnings before interest, tax and amortiza-

tion (EBITA) were EUR 16.5 million and 1.2 percent of net sales (2008 

EUR 146.1 million and 7.1 percent). EBITA includes about EUR 42 million 

in non-recurring expenses resulting from capacity adjustment mea-

sures. These measures targeted primarily the Nordic countries and the 

United States. In emerging markets we have strengthened our expert 

resources in recent years. 

The stimulus measures implemented by the Chinese government 

fueled our Chinese customers’ investments. Nevertheless, our order 

backlog decreased by 4 percent and totaled EUR 1,380 million. Around 

EUR 240 million of this relates to the pulp mill project for Fibria in Brazil, 

where the delivery schedule is open. The fierce competition for the scanty 

business in the sector has heated up the competitive situation. On the 

other hand, our procurement prices have also clearly dropped due to the 

downturn. The market development for 2010 is still uncertain. We don’t 

expect a recovery to start in e.g. the fiber industry until 2011. 

GROWING DEMAND FOR PAPER AND BOARD  

IN EMERGING MARKETS

Global demand for wood fiber-based products is expected to return 

to a growth path once the downturn ends. Increased demand for 

consumer goods and changes in consumer habits in emerging markets 

are boosting the consumption of paper, board and tissue, as well as 

the investments in new production capacity, particularly in China. Also 

focus of pulp production is shifting from the Northern Hemisphere to 

lower-cost areas in South America and Southeast Asia, where there is 

an abundant supply of low-cost raw materials. 

We are currently the largest supplier of paper and board machines 

and the related maintenance and expert services in China. The compet-

itiveness of Chinese suppliers is expected to intensify, particularly in the 

supply of individual pieces of equipment and maintenance services. 

Key figures, EUR million 2008 2009

Net sales 2,044 1,408

EBITA 146.1 16.5

% of net sales 7.1 1.2

Operating profit 130.1 0.8

Capital employed, Dec 31 532 636

Gross capital expenditure 97 42

Research and development expenses 69 56

Orders received 2,021 1,384

Order backlog, Dec 31 1,434 1,380

Personnel, Dec 31 10,544 10,459

Orders received and order backlog

EUR million
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We estimate that investments in new paper and 

board machines and in pulp production plants will 

decrease in our traditional market areas in Europe. 

In Europe and North America we are focusing more 

strongly on developing our spare and wear parts 

services and other repair and maintenance services 

for the installed equipment base there. 

We believe that demand for our maintenance 

and expert services will pick up also in developed 

markets once the global economic downturn 

subsides: Our customers will strive to optimize 

their remaining production capacity with process 

improvements and machine rebuilds to correspond 

with market demand. Developing the services 

We are currently 
the largest supplier 
of paper and board 
 machines in China.

There is plenty of demand for paper and board in China, 
in spite of the global recession and slower development 
of paper and board production elsewhere in the world. 
Manufacturers in China have invested in high-speed, 
wide paper and board machines since the late 1990. 
They expect the high productivity and competitiveness 
that they get from these machines to give them a fast 
return on their investments. But even new machines 
age and require spare parts and regular maintenance to 
keep their performance up to par or to even improve it.

Metso supports China’s paper and board manufactur-
ers in their goals – and, at the same time, is growing its 
own business. Over the past decade, presence and local 
maintenance services in China have been systemati-
cally increased with good results. Metso opened its first 
service center in 2001 in Wuxi, about 120 kilometers 
northwest of Shanghai. High demand for services led 
to an expansion in 2007 that doubled the roll service 

capacity. Today the center employs 130 maintenance 
professionals.

The Guangzhou Service Center in Guangdong Province 
started operating in January 2009. Its 30 employees 
provide services for large paper machines in southern 
China. Metso’s third service center in China is under 
construction and will open in 2010 in Zibo, Shandong 
Province, in northern China.

The service centers offer maintenance and process de-
velopment services to China’s pulp and paper industry. 
Their service offering ranges from spare parts to full-
scope process solutions and maintenance at the mills 
to modern roll services at the service center. 

Local maintenance services for Chinese paper manufacturers

Results delivered
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business – both through business acquisitions and 

through product development – offers us new, 

profitable growth opportunities globally.  

STRENGTHENING THE SERVICES BUSINESS IS 

CRITICAL TO OUR SUCCESS

We are strengthening our services business-related 

offering and know-how also through strategic busi-

ness acquisitions. At the end of 2009 we acquired 

Tamfelt Corporation, which is a Finnish manufacturer 

of technical textiles for paper and board machine 

clothing, wet and dry filtration media for the pulp 

and paper, mining, chemical and energy industries, 

and industrial laundry felts. The acquisition expands 

our product and services portfolio and opens new 

growth opportunities for Tamfelt’s products and 

services, particularly outside Europe. Product devel-

opment for technical textiles will be conducted as 

part of our Paper and Fiber Technology research and 

development. In autumn 2009 we expanded our 

product offering by acquiring new coating, creping 

and doctor blade technology from the American 

Pacific/Hoe Saw&Knife Company. 

We are strengthening our global service 

center network, and we started construction of our 

third service center in China in the city of Zibo, in 

Shandong Province. The center is expected to be 

completed in the second half of 2010. 

We have also shifted our product development 

focus from new products to support for services 

business growth. In our product development, we 

are focusing particularly on solutions that reduce 

our customers’ investment and production costs. So-

lutions supporting eco-efficiency are another critical 

area of development. These solutions reduce the 

consumption and boost the efficient use of water, 

energy and chemicals in pulp and paper production 

and minimize production-related emissions. The 

goal is to create innovative products and services 

that meet our customers’ needs while improving our 

competitive position and profitability. 

Bertel Langenskiöld  
President  

Paper and Fiber Technology

What prospects do the emerging 
markets offer for business?

How does the structural change  
in the customer industry affect  
operations?

Why is the services business important?

– Customers in our traditional market areas are clearly investing 

less in new capacity. Instead, they are looking to optimize the 

productivity of their existing capacity by investing in process 

improvements and expert services. In emerging markets we 

aim to offer our customers maintenance and other services 

for the entire life cycle of the product or process, already in 

conjunction with new projects.

– In emerging markets, the formation of a middle class with more 

purchasing power and changing consumer habits will advance 

the demand for pulp and paper industry products. This trend 

supports sales of new paper and board machines as well as our 

maintenance and expert services. 

– The decreased demand for new machines in our traditional mar-

ket areas affects the focus areas of our business. In these areas 

we are channeling more resources and product development 

into the development of our services business. We will increase 

our expert personnel strength in emerging markets where the 

demand for our products and services continues to grow.

Read more:
www.metso.com/pulpandpaper

3 views   
to every 
business



Read more about our global operations, 
our environmental technology solutions and 
factors influencing well-being at work in our 
Sustainability Report.

The world shapes us –
We shape the world
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Operating environment and demand for products in 2009

Our operating environment continued to be demanding through-

out the year. As a result of the decline in the global economy and 

uncertainty in the financial markets, our customers were cautious 

in their investment decisions. However, the first signs of a recovery 

in demand in some of our customer industries were visible during 

the fourth quarter. The demand situation was particularly tough for 

our new equipment and project business. As a consequence of our 

customers’ low capacity utilization rates, demand for our services 

business also declined, but remained satisfactory thanks to our large 

installed equipment base. Economic stimulus measures launched in 

many countries, mostly aimed at developing infrastructure, have so 

far, with the exception of China, had little effect on the demand for 

our products.

Low demand for new equipment and the decline in suppliers’ order 

backlogs led to increased price competition in the latter half of the 

year in all customer segments. This was partly offset by the reduction in 

procurement costs caused by the intensified competition among raw 

materials and components suppliers and subcontractors.

In the first half of 2009, most mining companies cut their investment 

plans significantly and curtailed their production. The positive develop-

ment in demand for and prices of minerals and metals during the year, 

however, improved the situation towards the end of the year and led 

to an increase in requests for quotations on mining equipment during 

the fourth quarter. In the construction industry, demand for equipment 

used in aggregates production was weak throughout the year.

The demand for power plants fuelled by biomass and waste has 

been boosted as several countries have announced plans to increase 

the use of renewable energy sources. However, the limited availability 

of financing has delayed the implementation of these projects. Towards 

the end of the year, however, the availability of financing improved, 

which led to several new orders during the fourth quarter. The oil and 

gas industry, which is important for Metso’s automation solutions, 

made considerable cuts to their investment plans early in the year. 

Those cuts, coupled with the very low level of pulp and paper industry 

investments, clearly decreased demand for our automation solutions 

from the previous year. Signs of gradual improvement in the demand 

in the oil and gas industry were visible by the end of the year. Demand 

for metals recycling equipment continued to be weak due to low scrap 

metal prices and the clear decrease in steel production, particularly in 

Europe and North America. Demand in our services business for power 

generation and automation solutions was satisfactory and for metal 

recycling weak.

Economic stimulus measures in China and the subsequent new 

orders contributed to a mini-boom in demand for paper and board 

production lines during the second and third quarter. Elsewhere in the 

world, demand for paper and board lines remained weak throughout 

the year. Demand for complete fiber lines remained low all year, but 

by the end of the year demand for fiber line rebuild projects improved, 

Board of Directors’ Report

leading to several small and mid-sized orders in the fourth quarter. 

Demand for tissue machines was satisfactory. Capacity utilization rates 

in the pulp and paper industry remained low for all of 2009. As a conse-

quence, the demand for services business was low but showed some 

improvement towards the end of the year.

Orders received and order backlog

In 2009, we received new orders worth EUR 4,358 million, i.e. 32 per-

cent less than in the comparison period. Orders increased towards 

the end of the year and the final quarter was clearly the strongest 

in terms of new orders. During the year, previously received orders 

worth some EUR 335 million were cancelled. These cancellations 

were booked off directly from our order backlog and therefore had 

no impact on reported new orders in 2009 or on the comparison 

period. Almost EUR 200 million of the cancellations related to the 

Zhanjiang Chenming pulp project, around EUR 65 million to our 

Construction business line, some EUR 48 million to our Mining busi-

ness line and some EUR 28 million to our Recycling business line.

Regarding the value of new orders, the most important countries 

were China, the United States and Finland. When combined, these 

countries accounted for 39 percent of all orders received. As a result 

of the global economic downturn, the value of new orders was 

down on the comparison period in all reporting segments and in all 

geographical areas. The share of emerging markets in orders received 

was 48 percent (48% in 2008).

At the end of December, our order backlog was EUR 3,415 mil-

lion, which is 16 percent less than at the end of 2008. Uncertainties 

in the order backlog decreased by approximately EUR 100 million 

during the fourth quarter as customers restarted previously sus-

pended projects. Around EUR 2.7 billion of the deliveries in our end-

of-December order backlog are expected to be completed in 2010, 

and around EUR 700 million of these are services business orders. 

The order backlog includes some EUR 500 million in projects with 

somewhat uncertain delivery schedules and which will, according to 

present estimates, be delivered after 2010. The pulp mill project for 

Fibria, Brazil, is included in these projects.

Net sales

Our net sales for 2009 declined by 22 percent on the comparison 

period and stood at EUR 5,016 million (EUR 6,400 million in 2008). Net 

sales decreased in all reporting segments: in Mining and Construction 

Technology by 20 percent, in Energy and Environmental Technology by 

14 percent and in Paper and Fiber Technology by 31 percent. The net 

sales of our services business declined by 12 percent and its share of 

total net sales was 41 percent (37% in 2008).

Measured by net sales, the largest countries were the United States, 

China and Germany, which together accounted for about 29 percent of 

our total net sales.
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Financial result

Our earnings before interest, tax and amortization (EBITA) for 2009 weak-

ened from the comparison period and were EUR 334.3 million, or 6.7 

percent of net sales (EUR 680.9 million and 10.6% in 2008). Our financial 

result includes non-recurring expenses of some EUR 75 million resulting 

from capacity adjustment measures, of which around EUR 42 million are 

related to Paper and Fiber Technology, some EUR 22 million to Mining 

and Construction Technology and some EUR 11 million to Energy and 

Environmental Technology. EBITA before these non-recurring capacity 

adjustment expenses was EUR 409.0 million, i.e. 8.2 percent of net sales. 

Other significant non-recurring items included in our result were some 

EUR 23 million in capital gains from the sale of Talvivaara Mining Com-

pany Plc’s shares, EUR 9 million in non-recurring expenses from dissolving 

hedging arrangements related to the cancellation of our Chinese cus-

tomer Zhanjiang Chenming’s pulp mill project and EUR 4 million credit 

loss reserve related to the initiation of the debt restructuring proceedings 

of two of our paper industry customers. 

The EBITA of Mining and Construction Technology before non-

recurring capacity adjustment expenses was EUR 224.7 million in 2009, 

i.e. 10.8 percent of net sales, down 38 percent from the year before. The 

reduced profitability is mainly attributed to the 20 percent decrease in 

delivery volumes, low capacity utilization rates of production units and 

tougher price competition towards the end of the year. 

The EBITA of Energy and Environmental Technology before non-

recurring capacity adjustment expenses was EUR 147.5 million, i.e. 9.7 

percent of net sales, representing a decrease of 26 percent on the pre-

vious year. The weakened profitability was due to the decrease in deli-

very volumes and the low capacity utilization rate of some production 

units and tougher pricing environment towards the end of the year. 

The EBITA of Paper and Fiber Technology before non-recurring 

capacity adjustment expenses was EUR 58.2 million, i.e. 4.1 percent of 

net sales, representing a decrease of 60 percent on the previous year. 

The lower profitability was due to a 31 percent decline in net sales and 

low capacity utilization rates. 

Our operating profit in 2009 was EUR 293.6 million, or 5.9 percent of 

net sales (EUR 637.2 million and 10.0% in 2008). Operating profit before 

non-recurring expenses related to capacity adjustment measures was 

EUR 368.3 million or 7.3 percent of net sales. 

Our net financing expenses in 2009 were EUR 72 million (EUR 89 

million in 2008). Although our cash situation was strong throughout the 

year, our gross debt level was higher than in 2008 and this increased our 

interest expenses to EUR 75 million (EUR 71 million in 2008). 

Our profit before tax was EUR 222 million (EUR 548 million) and our tax 

rate for 2009 was 32 percent (29% in 2008). Our taxes include a EUR 6 mil-

lion tax charge related to the taxation of our Brazilian operations in 1995 – 96, 

which increased our tax rate by approximately 3 percentage points. 

The profit attributable to shareholders in 2009 was EUR 150 million 

(EUR 389 million), corresponding to earnings per share (EPS) of EUR 1.06 

(EUR 2.75 per share). 

The return on capital employed (ROCE) before taxes was 10.0 per-

cent (23.2%) and the return on equity (ROE) was 9.8 percent (26.0%). 

Financial indicators for the years 2005 – 2009 are presented on 

pages 124 –125.

Cash flow and financing

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2009 was EUR 770 million 

(EUR 137 million in 2008). 

One of our main goals has been to release at least EUR 500 million 

from our net working capital during 2009 – 2010. Our efforts paid off 

and we managed to release EUR 518 million already in 2009. EUR 530 

million of this release came from inventories and EUR 272 million from 

trade receivables. Simultaneously, trade payables decreased by EUR 

173 million and advances received by EUR 160 million. As a result of the 

special inventory control initiative in Mining and Construction Technol-

ogy, its inventories had decreased by EUR 360 million during 2009 by 

the end of the year. 

As a result of the strong decrease of net working capital and the 

low level of capital expenditure, our free cash flow in 2009 was a strong 

EUR 717 million (EUR 29 million in 2008).

Net interest bearing liabilities decreased considerably and were EUR 

583 million at the end of the year (December 31, 2008: EUR 1,099 million). 

The decrease was mainly due to the strong release of net working capital. 

The total amount of short-term debt maturing over the next 12 

months was EUR 242 million at the end of December. EUR 17 million of 

the short-term debt consisted of commercial papers issued in the Finn-

ish markets, EUR 173 million were current portions of long-term debt 

and the remainder was local working capital financing of subsidiaries, 

mainly in Brazil. 

We obtained EUR 365 million of new long-term debt with maturity 

of 4  –  5 years. The largest single transaction was a EUR 200 million five-

year funding arrangement under the Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) 

program. New loans were primarily meant for the refinancing of our 

existing debt and for the extension of the debt maturity structure. The 

amount of this new long-term debt exceeds the repayments of our 

earlier long-term loans from 2009 until mid 2011. At the end of the year, 

our total cash assets amounted to EUR 976 million. Out of this EUR 249 

million has been invested in instruments with initial maturity exceeding 

three months and the remaining EUR 727 million is being accounted 

for as cash and cash equivalents. The syndicated EUR 500 million revolv-

ing loan facility is available until late 2011, and it is currently undrawn. 

Metso’s liquidity position is good. 

In April, following the Annual General Meeting, we paid EUR 99 mil-

lion in dividends for 2008. 

As a result of strong operating cash flow and low level of capital 

expenditure, our gearing clearly improved in 2009 and was at the end 

of December 32.5 percent (75.7%). The equity-to-assets ratio was at the 

year-end 35.7 percent (30.9%). The Tamfelt acquisition, which was car-
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ried out as a share exchange, strengthened our equity to assets ratio by 

2 percentage points and lowered our gearing by 3 percentage points. 

Capital expenditure

Our gross capital expenditure in 2009, excluding business acquisitions, 

decreased by 54 percent on the comparison period, to EUR 117 million 

(EUR 255 million in 2008). The share of maintenance investments was 

52 percent, i.e. EUR 61 million. We maintained strict criteria for new cap-

ital expenditure and postponed spending in some projects approved in 

2007  –  2008. We will continue strict criteria for new capital expenditure 

in 2010 and estimate them to be about on par with the 2009 level. 

We are constructing new plant and office premises for the Automa-

tion business line in Shanghai, China. The Metso Park industrial facility, 

designed especially to serve the mining and construction industry, is 

under construction in Rajasthan, India. In Finland, we are upgrading 

a pilot machine at the Paper Technology Center in Jyväskylä. In Zibo 

we are establishing our third service center in China for the pulp and 

paper industry. We have extended the implementation schedules of 

our Metso Park and Zibo Service Center investments due to slowdown 

in global economic growth. Investment projects in global enterprise 

resource planning systems are underway in Mining and Construction 

Technology and in the Automation business line. 

Acquisitions, divestments and joint ventures

In November, we purchased the American Pacific/Hoe Saw&Knife 

Company’s coater and doctor blade business, consumables for pulp 

and paper industry. The annual net sales of the purchased business are 

about USD 5 million. 

In October we purchased the Danish M&J Industries A/S, a manu-

facturing company of mobile and stationary products for solid-waste 

crushing. The debt-free acquisition price was approximately EUR 15 

million. M&J Industries employs some 100 people and the company’s 

annual net sales are approximately EUR 30 million. 

In May, we sold Metso Paper Turku Works Oy, a manufacturer of air 

systems for the pulp and paper industry, to Stairon Oy. The air system 

technology and the related business remained in Metso’s ownership. 

Metso Paper Turku Works Oy employed 91 people. 

In January, we sold our composites manufacturing business, part of 

our Paper business line, and related assets in Oulu, Finland, to xperion Oy. 

The annual net sales of the divested business were less than EUR 5 mil-

lion and the number of personnel was 21. 

The joint venture MW Power Oy, the result of a combination of 

Wärtsilä’s Biopower business and Metso’s Heat & Power business, began 

operations on January 1, 2009. We own 60 percent of the company, and 

as of January 1, 2009, it has been entirely consolidated into our Power 

business line. An order backlog of approximately EUR 116 million was 

transferred with Wärtsilä Biopower Oy to the joint venture. The net sales 

of the company in 2009 were approximately EUR 100 million and the 

number of employees about 100. 

Tamfelt acquisition

In November, we concluded a combination agreement with Tamfelt, 

one of the world’s leading suppliers of technical textiles, and subse-

quently made a public exchange offer for all of Tamfelt’s shares. The 

acquisition strengthened our services business, particularly in the pulp 

and paper industry. The acquisition creates new growth opportunities 

for Tamfelt products, especially outside of Europe, where Metso has an 

extensive installed base and a wide sales and services network. 

The exchange offer, in which Metso offered three new shares in 

Metso for every ten Tamfelt shares, was carried out in November – 

 December of 2009 and successfully completed on December 23, 2009. 

The shares tendered in the share exchange offer represent 95.2 percent 

of all shares and votes in Tamfelt. Metso held 2.8 percent of Tamfelt’s 

shares worth EUR 4 million already before the offer. The remainder of 

Tamfelt’s shares, 2.0 percent, will be redeemed with cash in the spring 

of 2010 as per the Finnish Companies Act. A total of 8,593,642 new 

Metso shares were subscribed for in the share issue relating to the 

share exchange offer and were registered with the Trade Register on 

December 28, 2009. The share issue totaling EUR 206 million, cor-

responding to EUR 23.98 per share, was recorded into the invested 

non-restricted equity fund. 

The value of the Tamfelt transaction was EUR 215 million, and when 

assuming net interest bearing debt of EUR 17 million transferred in the 

transaction, the debt free transaction value was EUR 232 million. The 

transaction value exceeded the net assets of Tamfelt by EUR 117 mil-

lion, of which EUR 53 million was allocated to acquired customer base, 

order backlog and technology, and EUR 10 million to acquired build-

ings. We recorded deferred tax liability of EUR 16 million resulting from 

these allocations. The goodwill from the acquisition is EUR 70 million. 

The allocated values to intangible assets and buildings are amortized 

We released EUR 518 

million net working capital 

and the free cash flow  

was our best ever,  

EUR 717 million.
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during their economically useful lives. The amortization is about EUR 

15 million in 2010, EUR 7 million in 2011 and 2012, and EUR 4 million 

thereafter. Tamfelt’s balance sheet and personnel were consolidated 

into Metso as of December 31, 2009, and as of January 1, 2010, Tamfelt 

is functionally and administratively a part of our Paper and Fiber Tech-

nology segment. 

Research and development

Our research and development activities focus on environmental 

technology, such as energy and raw material efficiency, utilization of 

recycled raw materials, process control technology and, increasingly, 

on new services business solutions, which also play a role in supporting 

sustainable development. As a result of the global economic downturn, 

we have concentrated our R&D work on projects that offer the best 

potential for capitalizing on our future growth opportunities. 

Our R&D expenses were EUR 115 million in 2009, i.e. 2.3 percent of 

Metso’s net sales (EUR 134 million and 2.1% in 2008). In addition to this, 

expenses for intellectual property rights amounted to EUR 15 million 

(EUR 14 million). R&D employed 763 people (905) in 2009. Our R&D 

resources are spread throughout 40 networked units in Europe, North 

America, South America and Asia. Our personnel made approximately 

620 invention disclosures (900), which led to more than 200 priority 

patent applications (230). At the end of the year, approximately 3,000 

Metso inventions were protected by patents (3,000). 

During 2009, we launched about 80 new products. One example, 

DNAmachineAssessor, a product that complements our automation 

solutions, helps to predict equipment maintenance needs and prevent 

disruptions in production. We have also developed new crushing and 

screening solutions that provide higher capacity utilization and eco-

efficiency through improved process optimization. We strengthened 

our offering for the pulp and paper industry by introducing several new 

solutions and services that improve the energy and process efficiency 

of production lines.

Environment and environmental technology

The environmental impact of our own production is minor and relates 

mainly to the consumption of raw materials and energy, emissions to air, 

water consumption and waste. We are continuously improving our envi-

ronmental management practices and the eco-efficiency of our produc-

tion facilities, as well as developing our co-operation, aiming at environ-

mental efficiency with our subcontractors and the entire supply chain.

In 2009, we set global energy savings and carbon dioxide emissions 

targets for our production operations in an effort to reduce our energy 

consumption and emissions by 15 percent by 2015 and 20 percent by 

2020, in line with the EU goals.

Many of Metso’s environmental technology solutions have been 

developed in close co-operation with our customers. The solutions are 

related to renewable energy solutions, energy efficiency of our custom-

ers’ production processes, waste management, recycling, efficient utili-

zation of raw materials and water, reducing dust, noise, carbon dioxide 

and particle emissions, and process optimization, to name a few. About 

60 percent of Metso’s net sales can be classified as environmental busi-

ness, according to the OECD definition.

During the year, we launched several co-operation projects with 

our partners like UPM, Fortum and VTT (Technical Research Center of 

Finland). These projects cover, for example, the manufacture of bio-oil 

from biomass and the utilization of bio-oil as an alternative to fossil 

fuels and exploring oxyfuel combustion technology. Oxyfuel combus-

tion enables carbon capture in power and heat generation.

We also provide training, maintenance and other services related 

to our technology. We take care of the entire life-cycle of production 

processes and promote the optimal and environmentally sustainable 

way to use our solutions.

Risks and business uncertainties

Our operations are affected by various strategic, financial, operational 

and hazard risks. We take measures to manage and limit the potential 

adverse effects of these risks. If such risks materialized, they could have 

material adverse effects on our business, financial situation, and operat-

ing result or on the value of Metso shares and other securities. 

Our risk assessments take into consideration the probability of the 

risks and the estimated impact of them on our net sales and financial 

results. The management estimates that the overall risk level of the 

company is currently manageable in proportion to the scope of our 

operations and the practical measures available to manage these risks. 

Due to the uncertainty in the financial markets and the slowdown 

of global economic growth, our operating environment was demand-

ing in 2009, and in particular the risks related to cyclical fluctuations 

and financing were in focus. We estimate that the operating environ-

ment will continue to be demanding, even though financial markets 

have stabilized and there are first signs of gradual recovery in the global 

economy and in demand.

Uncertainty surrounding projects in our order backlog has 

decreased, and about 14 percent of our order backlog had uncertain 

delivery schedules at the end of the year. We apply the percentage-of-

completion method to long-term delivery agreements, meaning that 

we recognize revenue on long-term delivery agreements according to 

the progress of the delivery. The customer advance payment is typically 

10 – 30 percent of the value of the project, in addition to which the cus-

tomer makes progress payments based on the milestones during the 

project execution, which significantly decreases risk related to projects 

as well as our need for financing. We continually assess our customers’ 

creditworthiness and ability to meet their obligations. If a customer 

faces liquidity problems, we will discuss the possibility of changing 

project delivery schedules and terms of payment and any other mea-

sures needed. As a rule, we do not finance customer projects. 

We have adjusted our capacity and cost structure to correspond 

with the current demand, in order to maintain our competitiveness. The 
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slowdown in global economic growth has led to tougher price compe-

tition, which we are partly able to compensate in lower procurement 

costs. Although there have been no major changes in our competitive 

field in 2009, the situation might change due to bankruptcies, acquisi-

tions and the arrival of new players. 

The levels of net working capital and capital expenditure have a 

fundamental effect on the adequacy of financing. We have successfully 

released cash from net working capital in 2009. Although we have de-

veloped our net working capital management practices, there is a risk 

that working capital will start to grow again when economic activity 

picks up. We do not have any large-scale investment projects under-

way, and we estimate that we are well positioned to keep our capital 

expenditure at a moderate level in the coming years. 

Securing the continuity of our operations requires that sufficient 

funding is available under all circumstances. The financial crisis, which is 

still affecting the financial markets, could make the availability of debt 

financing more difficult and/or raise the cost thereof. We estimate that 

our cash assets, totaling EUR 976 million in December 31, 2009, and 

available credit facilities are sufficient to secure short-term liquidity. 

Our committed credit facilities available for withdrawal amounted at 

the year-end to EUR 500 million. The average repayment period for our 

long-term loan capital is 3.4 years and more than half of our long-term 

debt will mature after 2011. There are no prepayment covenants in 

our debt facilities that would be triggered by changes in credit ratings. 

Some of our debt facilities include financial covenants related to capital 

structure. Currently we fully meet the covenants and other terms 

related to our financing agreements and we consider our flexibility in 

relation to these to be adequate. 

Changes in the prices of raw materials and components could affect 

our profitability. However, the risk of increased direct procurement costs 

typically diminishes during an economic downturn. On the other hand, 

some of our customers are raw material producers, whose ability to 

operate and invest may be hampered by declining raw material prices. 

We had EUR 863 million of goodwill on our balance sheet at the 

end of 2009, which was related to business acquisitions made over the 

last 10 years. Following the significant changes in our business environ-

ment, we have conducted impairment testing reviews at the end of ev-

ery quarter since September 2008, and have not found any impairment 

necessary. The quarterly testing reviews have been conducted with the 

same principles as the annual tests and the discount rates have been 

adjusted when appropriate.  

Around EUR 350 million of the goodwill on our balance sheet arises 

from the acquisition of Svedala in 2001, and is thereby related to the 

Mining and Construction Technology segment and the Recycling busi-

ness line. EUR 260 million of our goodwill stems from the Aker Kvaerner 

Pulping and Power business operations, which were acquired at the 

end of 2006. This is allocated to our Power and Fiber business lines. 

EUR 50 million of our goodwill arises from the Beloit paper machine 

maintenance operations acquired in 2000, which is allocated to our 

Paper and Fiber Technology segment. EUR 70 million of the goodwill is 

the result of our acquisition of Tamfelt’s technical textile business at the 

end of 2009. The remainder of our goodwill stems from several smaller 

acquisitions. In proportion to net sales and profitability, the largest 

share of goodwill is held by our Power business line. Its outlook is good 

due to the favorable growth outlook for power generation based on 

renewable energy sources. Goodwill related to the Tamfelt business is 

relatively high, as a consequence of the increase in Metso’s share price 

between the launch of the share exchange offer in November 2009 and 

the completion of it towards the end of December 2009. 

Currency exchange rate risks are among the most substantial finan-

cial risks. Exchange rate changes can affect our business, although the 

wide geographical scope of our operations decreases the impact of any 

individual currency. The general uncertainty in the economy is likely to 

increase exchange rate fluctuations. We hedge the currency exposures 

that arise from firm delivery and purchase agreements. In addition, our 

units can hedge anticipated foreign currency denominated cash flows 

by taking into account the significance of such cash flows, the competi-

tive situation and other opportunities to adapt.

Subpoena from the United States Department  

of Justice requiring Metso to produce documents

In November 2006, Metso Minerals Industries, Inc., our U.S. subsidiary, 

received a subpoena from the Antitrust Division of the United States 

Department of Justice calling for Metso Minerals Industries, Inc. to 

produce certain documents. The subpoena relates to an investigation 

of potential antitrust violations in the rock crushing and screening 

equipment industry. We are co-operating fully with the Department of 

Justice. We recognized about EUR 1.5 million in expenses resulting from 

the inquiry in 2009. No separate provision relating to the investigation 

has been recognized in the 2009 financial statements.

Adjusting capacity to demand

We began adjusting our capacity and cost structure to the lower de-

mand already in early 2008 and continued the measures during 2009. 

Our aim has been to secure the competitiveness, flexibility and profit-

ability of our operations. This has meant reducing the use of external 

work force, reducing permanent personnel, temporary lay-offs, and 

shorter work time, closing down smaller units and tight cost discipline 

throughout the organization. 

We estimated originally that if our net sales would come down 

25 – 30 percent during this down cycle from the 2008 level and we 

would target satisfactory profitability we would need to reduce our 

annual capacity cost (all fixed costs related to our operations, includ-

ing personnel costs) by about EUR 500 – 600 million. As the actual 

decline in our net sales has been about 20 percent, and we do not 

foresee currently further deterioration of net sales, the capacity cost 

adjustment need is reduced to EUR 400 – 450 million. We estimate 

that the measures we have initiated by the end of 2009 almost 
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entirely cover the EUR 400 – 450 million adjustment need, and that 

more than half of the savings impacts of these measures materialized 

already in 2009. Over half of the savings stem from personnel reduc-

tions and the rest from other measures. The cost savings yielded by 

personnel reductions are more permanent by nature, while the ma-

jority of other costs are expected to come back gradually, as market 

activity recovers. 

From the end of June 2008 to the end of 2009 we have reduced the 

number of our permanent personnel by 3,848. Additionally, decisions 

have already been made or negotiations are ongoing to further reduce 

the number of personnel by 760 during the first half of 2010. Altogeth-

er, we estimate that our personnel will be reduced by approximately 

4,600 people between June 2008 to mid-2010. About 3,000 of them are 

from Finland and Sweden. 

During 2009, we recorded about EUR 75 million in non-recurring 

expenses resulting from these personnel reductions and unit closures. 

In 2009, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 

by about EUR 140 million on a comparable basis from 2008 and our 

personnel related costs recognized in cost of goods sold decreased by 

about EUR 100 million. In addition to personnel-related costs there has 

also been a reduction in other fixed costs of goods sold items. 

The number of personnel decreased in Mining and Construc-

tion Technology by 15 percent, the most in Finland, Brazil and the 

United States. The number of personnel in Energy and Environmental 

Technology declined primarily in Finland and the United States. The 

number of personnel in Paper and Fiber Technology decreased espe-

cially in Finland and Sweden. 

Personnel

At the end of the year, Metso had 27,166 employees, which was 2,156 

less than at the end of 2008 (29,322 employees on December 31, 2008). 

The number of employees declined in all reporting segments and 

especially in Finland and Sweden, as a result of capacity adjustment 

measures. The acquisitions concluded during the year brought about 

1,600 new employees to Metso and when excluding this, personnel 

reduction was about 3,750. The share of our personnel working in 

the emerging markets stayed on par with the previous year and was 

31 percent. During January – December, we had an average of 27,813 

employees. 

Mining and Construction Technology employed 35 percent of our 

personnel, the Energy and Environmental Technology 22 percent, and 

the Paper and Fiber Technology 39 percent, while Valmet Automotive, 

service centers and Group Head Office employed 4 percent of the 

personnel. The countries with the largest numbers of personnel were 

Finland, the United States, Sweden, China and Brazil. These countries 

employed 69 percent of Metso’s total personnel. 

Despite the demanding environment, we continued renewing our 

global HR management practices and the supporting processes, sys-

tems and organization. We also carried out our key training programs 

and continued developing work safety. 

During 2009, we decided to set new Metso-wide targets for occu-

pational health and safety. We set a common, global target to decline 

the amount of lost time incidents in our units. Our goal for every Metso 

unit is less than 10 lost time incidents per million working hours from 

2012 onwards. 

Personnel reductions related to the capacity adjustment  measures

Mining and
Construction

Technology

Energy and
Environmental

Technology

Paper and
Fiber

Technology Metso

Personnel as of June 30, 2008 10,503 6,311 10,089 28,069

Acquisitions, July 2008 – December 2009 590 223 2,421 3,234

Divestitures, July 2008 – December 2009 – – -289 -289

Comparable personnel amount 11,093 6,534 12,221 31,014

Personnel as of December 31, 2009 9,541 6,060 10,459 27,166

Actual reduction July 2008 – December 2009 1,552 474 1,762 3,848

Estimated additional reductions decided and underway 200 170 390 760

Total personnel reductions decided 1,752 644 2,152 4,608

Temporary lay-offs in man years 600
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The salaries and wages of Metso employees are determined on the 

basis of local collective and individual agreements, employee perfor-

mance and job evaluations. Basic salaries and wages are complement-

ed by performance-based compensation systems. In 2009, altogether 

EUR 991 million were paid in salaries and wages (EUR 1,066 million in 

2008).

 

Corporate Governance Statement

We have prepared a separate Corporate Governance Statement 

which follows the recommendations of the Finnish Corporate Gover-

nance Code for listed companies. It also covers other central areas of 

corporate governance. The statement is included in our Annual Report 

(pages 141–156), and it is published separately from the Board of Direc-

tors’ Report.

Changes in top management

Perttu Louhiluoto was appointed Senior Vice President, EMEA market 

area, Mining and Construction Technology in July. In his new position 

he renounced his membership of the Metso Executive Team and Metso 

Executive Forum. 

In July, the Group’s Senior Vice President, HR Merja Kamppari was 

appointed as a member of the Metso Executive Forum. Heinz Gerdes, 

former President of our Recycling business line, retired at the end of 

2009 and renounced his membership in the Metso Executive Forum. 

Mr. Celso Tacla, the President of Paper and Fiber Technology in 

South America, was appointed as a new member to our Metso Execu-

tive Forum from January 22, 2010 onwards. 

Financial targets and dividend policy

In connection with our annual strategy round in August, our long-term 

financial targets were evaluated and kept unchanged.

Decisions of our Annual General Meeting

Our Annual General Meeting on March 31, 2009 approved the accounts 

for 2008 and decided to discharge the members of the Board of Directors 

and the President and CEO from liability for the financial year 2008. In ad-

dition, the Annual General Meeting approved the proposals of the Board 

of Directors to authorize the Board of Directors to resolve of a repurchase 

of Metso’s own shares, to issue new shares and to grant special rights. 

The Annual General Meeting decided that a dividend of EUR 0.70 

per share will be paid for the financial year which ended on December 

31, 2008. The dividend was paid on April 15, 2009. In addition, the An-

nual General Meeting authorized the Board of Directors to decide, at its 

discretion and when the economic situation of Metso favors it, on the 

payment of a dividend of no more than EUR 0.68 per share in addition 

to the above-mentioned dividend. In July 2009, the Board of Direc-

tors decided not to pay any additional dividends. At the time, Metso’s 

financial result and position were stable and had developed according 

to the expectations of Metso’s management, but the market outlook for 

2010 continued to be uncertain.

The Annual General Meeting elected Jukka Viinanen Chairman of 

the Board and Jaakko Rauramo Vice Chairman of the Board. Pia Ruden-

gren was elected as a new member of the Board. The Board members 

re-elected were Maija-Liisa Friman, Christer Gardell, Arto Honkaniemi and 

Yrjö Neuvo. Our long-term Chairman of the Board, Matti Kavetvuo, had 

announced that he is not available for re-election. The term of office of 

Board members lasts until the end of the next Annual General Meeting.

The Annual General Meeting decided that the annual remunera-

tions for Board members would be EUR 92,000 for the Chairman, EUR 

56,000 for the Vice Chairman and EUR 45,000 for the members and that 

the meeting fee including committee meetings be EUR 600 for each 

meeting they attend. 

The auditing company, Authorized Public Accountants Pricewater-

houseCoopers Oy, was re-elected as our Auditor until the end of the 

next Annual General Meeting. 

The Annual General Meeting decided to establish a Nomination 

Committee of the Annual General Meeting to prepare proposals for the 

following Annual General Meeting regarding the composition of the 

Board of Directors and director remuneration.

Members of Metso Board Committees  

and personnel representatives

Our Board of Directors elected members from among the Board for the 

Audit Committee and Remuneration and HR Committee at its assembly 

meeting on March 31, 2009. The Board’s Audit Committee consists of 

Maija-Liisa Friman (Chairman), Arto Honkaniemi and Pia Rudengren. The 

Board’s Remuneration and HR Committee consists of Jukka Viinanen 

(Chairman), Christer Gardell, Yrjö Neuvo and Jaakko Rauramo. 

Metso’s personnel groups in Finland have elected Jukka Leppänen 

as the personnel representative. He participates in the meetings of our 

Board of Directors as an invited external expert, and his term of office is 

the same as the Board members’ term.

Shares and share capital

At the end of 2009, our share capital was EUR 240,982,843.80 and the 

number of shares was 150,348,256. The number of shares includes 

Personnel by area

Dec 31, 2008 Dec 31, 2009 Change %

Finland 9,252 8,746 -5

Other Nordic countries 3,332 2,995 -10

Other European countries 3,842 3,678 -4

North America 3,964 3,428 -14

South and Central America 2,991 2,618 -12

Asia-Pacific 4,469 4,316 -3

Other countries 1,472 1,385 -6

Total 29,322 27,166 -7
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409,617 Metso shares held by the Parent Company, which represent 

0.27 percent of all the shares and votes. The average number of shares 

outstanding in 2009, excluding Metso shares held by the Parent Com-

pany, was 141,477,476. 

In December 2009, 8,593,642 new Metso shares were issued and 

entered in the trade register. The new shares were related to the execu-

tion of Metso’s share exchange offer for Tamfelt Corporation. The new 

shares carry the right to dividend and other distribution of assets as 

well as other shareholder rights in Metso as of the registration date. 

In December 2009, MEO1V Incentive Ky, a limited partnership es-

tablished to manage Metso’s share ownership plans, was dissolved and 

the remaining 48,776 Metso shares it had were transferred to Metso 

Corporation’s direct ownership. 

In February 2009, we executed a repurchase of 300,000 of our own 

shares relating to our share-based management incentive program 

decided on in October 2008 (Metso Share Ownership Plan 2009 – 2011). 

The average purchase price of the shares was EUR 8.28 and the total 

amount EUR 2,483,495.48. 

Our market capitalization, excluding Metso shares held by the Par-

ent Company, was EUR 3,693 million on December 31, 2009. 

Metso Board members and their interest parties held altogether 

15,600 shares on December 31, 2009, which is 0.01 percent of the paid 

up share capital and votes in Metso. The Metso Executive Team and their 

interest parties held altogether 75,251 Metso Corporation shares at the 

end of December, which is 0.05 percent of the paid up share capital and 

votes. The holdings of the Board of Directors and Metso Executive Team 

equaled 0.06 percent of the paid up share capital and votes in Metso. 

Metso is not aware of any valid shareholders’ agreements regarding 

the ownership of Metso shares or voting rights.

Share-based incentive plans

Metso’s share ownership plans are part of the remuneration and commit-

ment program for the management of the Group and the businesses.

Share ownership plan 2006 – 2008

In March 2009, we distributed the rewards from the 2008 share owner-

ship plan according to the earnings criteria determined by the Board 

of Directors. Shares amounting to 34,265 were distributed as rewards, 

corresponding to approximately 0.02 percent of all Metso shares. Mem-

bers of the Executive Team received 6,996 shares, i.e. 25 percent of the 

maximum amount.

Share ownership plan for 2009  –  2011

In October 2008, the Board of Directors approved a new share owner-

ship plan for the years 2009  –  2011. The plan includes one three-year 

earnings period and required participants’ personal investment in Met-

so shares at the beginning of the program. Any possible reward from 

the plan requires continued employment with Metso and reaching 

the financial targets set for the plan. 89 key persons are participating in 

the program and the rewards paid may correspond with a maximum 

of 373,175 Metso shares. The shares for the plan are acquired in public 

trading and therefore the plan will not have diluting effect on the share 

value. Members of the Executive Team may receive a maximum of 

77,400 shares as share rewards in the 2009 – 2011 plan.

Share ownership plan for 2010  – 2012

In October 2009, the Board of Directors approved a similar share owner-

ship plan for the years 2010 – 2012. The plan includes one three-year 

earnings period and requires participants’ personal investment in Metso 

shares. Any possible reward from the plan requires continued employ-

ment with Metso and reaching the financial targets set for the plan. 

92 key persons are participating in the program and the rewards paid 

may correspond with a maximum of 343,000 Metso shares. The shares 

for the plan are acquired in public trading and therefore the plan will 

not have diluting effect on the share value. Members of the Executive 

Team may receive a maximum of 77,400 shares as share rewards in the 

2010 – 2012 plan.

Reporting Segments

Mining and Construction Technology

EUR million 2008 2009

Net sales 2,586 2,075

Net sales of services business 1,078 967

% of net sales 42 47

Earnings before interest, tax and 
amortization (EBITA) 361.2 202.8

% of net sales 14.0 9.8

Operating profit 358.4 198.8

% of net sales 13.9 9.6

Orders received 2,709 1,660

Order backlog, Dec 31 1,492 1,041

Personnel, Dec 31 11,259 9,541

Net sales of Mining and Construction Technology decreased by 20 percent 

on the comparison period and were EUR 2,075 million in 2009. The Mining 

business line’s net sales declined by about 12 percent, while the net sales of 

the Construction business line were down by about 31 percent. While the 

services business net sales decreased by 10 percent on the comparison pe-

riod, they accounted for 47 percent of the segment’s net sales (42% in 2008). 

Mining and Construction Technology’s operating profit for 2009 

was EUR 198.8 million, i.e. 9.6 percent of net sales (EUR 358.4 million 

and 13.9%). Operating profit was burdened by about EUR 22 million 

in non-recurring expenses relating to capacity adjustment measures 

that were carried out in several units. The operating profit included also 

about EUR 23 million in capital gains relating to the sale of shares in 

Talvivaara Mining Company Plc. The profitability of the Mining business 

line weakened, but remained good. The profitability of the Construc-
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tion business line, on the other hand, weakened clearly from 2008 due 

to the low delivery volumes and capacity utilization rates in the manu-

facturing units and non-recurring expenses relating to the capacity 

adjustment measures. Towards the end of the year, the profitability was 

also negatively affected by tougher price competition and the use of 

promotional pricing to de-stock equipment and parts from inventories. 

The value of orders received decreased by 39 percent on the 

comparison period and was at the end of the year at EUR 1,660 million 

(EUR 2,709 million in 2008). The value of new orders received declined 

in both business lines, and in all geographical areas. The relative share 

of orders received from emerging markets remained on par with the 

previous year, amounting to 51 percent (50% in 2008). About EUR 112 

million worth of previously received orders were cancelled during the 

year. Among the biggest new orders of the year was a fine crushing 

and screening system for Norsk Stein in Norway. We also signed a multi-

year service agreement with AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Mine in 

Ghana including the maintenance management services and technical 

support as well as hands-on training. 

At the end of December, the order backlog was 30 percent lower 

than at the end of December 2008, amounting to EUR 1,041 million 

(EUR 1,492 million at December 31, 2008). When eliminating the impact 

of cancelled orders, the order backlog was 23 percent lower than the 

year before. Around EUR 150 million of the mining equipment orders in 

the order backlog have open delivery schedules.

Energy and Environmental Technology

EUR million 2008 2009

Net sales 1,775 1,523

Net sales of services business 548 516

% of net sales 32 35

Earnings before interest, tax and 
amortization (EBITA) 198.3 136.3

% of net sales 11.2 8.9

Operating profit 176.0 118.1

% of net sales 9.9 7.8

Orders received 1,658 1,297

Order backlog, Dec 31 1,204 1,032

Personnel, Dec 31 6,357 6,060

The net sales of Energy and Environmental Technology declined by 

14 percent on the comparison period and were EUR 1,523 million. 

Net sales decreased the most in the Recycling business line, by 34 

percent. Net sales of the Power business line fell by 6 percent and the 

Automation business line 14 percent. The net sales of services business 

decreased by 6 percent on the comparison period and accounted for 

35 percent of the segment’s net sales (32% in 2008). 

Energy and Environmental Technology’s earnings before interest, 

tax and amortization (EBITA) weakened from the comparison year and 

were EUR 136.3 million, or 8.9 percent of net sales (EUR 198.3 million 

and 11.2% in 2008). EBITA includes about EUR 11 million in non-recur-

ring expenses relating to capacity adjustment measures before which 

the EBITA margin was 9.7 percent. 

The Power business line’s EBITA-margin improved slightly over the 

previous year and in the Automation business line it weakened but 

remained good. The profitability of the Recycling business line fell to a 

weak level, due to low delivery volumes, tight price competition and 

low capacity utilization rates. 

The value of orders received fell by 22 percent from the com-

parison period and totaled EUR 1,297 million. Orders received by the 

Power business line stayed at about the same level as the year be-

fore. In the Automation business line, new orders declined by about 

one fourth from 2008. In the Recycling business line new orders 

dropped to a clearly lower level than in the previous year.  EUR 96 

million worth of orders previously received by the Energy and Envi-

ronmental Techno logy segment were cancelled. The biggest single 

cancelled order was Zhanjiang Chenming recovery boiler, worth 

about EUR 60 million. The remaining cancellations were related to 

the Recycling business line. Energy customers in particular account-

ed for the largest new orders such as a new waste-to-energy power 

boiler for Industrias Celulosa Aragonesa (SAICA) in Spain, a power 

boiler and automation system for PGE Zespół Elektrowni Dolna Odra 

S.A. in Poland, a biomass boiler with automation system to Nacogdo-

ches in the United States and a waste gasification plant and automa-

tion system for Lahti Energy Oy in Finland. We also received a large 

automation package order for Shandong Huatai Paper’s new paper 

machine line in China. 

The order backlog at the end of the year, EUR 1,032 million, was 

14 percent lower (or 6 percent lower when eliminating the impact of 

cancelled orders) than at the end of 2008. The order backlog includes 

projects worth approximately EUR 100 million with uncertain delivery 

schedules. These include, among others, the deliveries of power boiler 

and automation technology for Fibria’s pulp mill project in Brazil.

Paper and Fiber Technology

EUR million 2008 2009

Net sales 2,044 1,408

Net sales of services business 718 569

% of net sales 35 41

Earnings before interest, tax and 
amortization (EBITA) 146.1 16.5

% of net sales 7.1 1.2

Operating profit 130.1 0.8

% of net sales 6.4 0.1

Orders received 2,021 1,384

Order backlog, Dec 31 1,434 1,380

Personnel, Dec 31 10,544 10,459
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The net sales of Paper and Fiber Technology decreased by 31 percent 

in 2009 and were EUR 1,408 million. Net sales of the services business 

declined by 21 percent in 2009 due to the overall slowdown in the 

markets and low capacity utilization rates in our customer industries. 

However, services business accounted for 41 percent of net sales (35% 

in 2008), and the increase was mainly due to low equipment sales. 

Paper and Fiber Technology’s EBITA was EUR 16.5 million, i.e. 

1.2 percent of net sales (EUR 146.1 million and 7.1% in 2008). EBITA 

includes about EUR 42 million in non-recurring expenses resulting from 

capacity adjustment measures. EBITA before the above-mentioned 

capacity adjustment expenses was EUR 58.2 million, i.e. 4.1 percent of 

net sales. Other non-recurring items affecting the financial result were 

EUR 9 million in hedging arrangement dissolution costs related to the 

cancellation of the Zhanjiang Chenming pulp mill project, and a credit 

loss provision of around EUR 4 million due to the initiation of the debt 

restructuring proceedings of two of our U.S. customers. The Paper 

business line’s EBITA before capacity adjustment expenses remained 

satisfactory, while the Fiber business line’s EBITA before capacity adjust-

ment expenses was negative, mainly due to the dramatic decrease in 

volumes. The segment’s profitability was also weakened by the lower 

capacity utilization rates of our production and engineering units. 

Demand for new production lines and machinery for the paper 

and board and the tissue industries remained satisfactory. Demand for 

machinery and equipment for the pulp industry was weak, although it 

improved in the fourth quarter. Overall, the value of orders received by 

Paper and Fiber Technology decreased by 32 percent on the com-

parison period and was EUR 1,384 million. Among the largest orders 

received were a fine paper production line for Zhanjiang Chenming, 

a coated fine paper line for Shandong Huatai Paper and a coated fine 

paper production line for Shouguang MeiLun Paper Co. Ltd. 

The order backlog at the end of December was EUR 1,380 million and 

around EUR 240 million of this relates to the pulp mill project for Fibria, 

where the delivery schedule is open. When eliminating the impact of 

cancelled orders, the order backlog was 5 percent higher than year before. 

Valmet Automotive

Valmet Automotive’s net sales in 2009 totaled EUR 56 million (EUR 65 

million in 2008). The operating loss was EUR 8.2 million (EUR 3.5 million 

loss in 2008). During the year, Valmet Automotive’s production volumes 

decreased dramatically and it produced an average of 63 vehicles a day 

(87 vehicles a day in 2008). At the end of December, Valmet Automotive 

employed 679 people (783 employees on December 31, 2008).

In August, Valmet Automotive signed an agreement with the Norwe-

gian company THINK Global AS for manufacturing and engineering the 

THINK City electric car. Planned production volumes amount to several 

thousand cars annually. The series production began at the end of 2009. 

In January, Valmet Automotive signed an agreement with the 

Danish company Garia A/S for the engineering and manufacturing of 

an electric golf car. The agreement spans several years and involves 

the production of a few thousand Garia golf cars annually. The series 

production started at the end of 2009. 

At the end of 2008, Valmet Automotive and the U.S. company Fisker 

Automotive Inc. signed a long-term co-operation agreement on the engi-

neering and manufacturing of Fisker Karma plug-in hybrid cars in Finland. 

The first Fisker Karma hybrid vehicles will be delivered in 2010. The annual 

production is projected to reach 15,000 cars in full production. 

Valmet Automotive’s current assembly contract with Porsche AG 

will continue until 2012.

Metso’s Nomination Committee proposes  

seven members to the Board

The Nomination Committee established by Metso’s Annual General 

Meeting proposes to the next Annual General Meeting, which will be 

held on March 30, 2010, that the number of Board members is seven. 

The Nomination Committee proposes that from the current Board 

members Maija-Liisa Friman, Christer Gardell, Yrjö Neuvo, Pia Ruden-

gren and Jukka Viinanen be re-elected. Jukka Viinanen is proposed to 

be elected as Chairman of the Board and Maija-Liisa Friman as Vice 

Chairman. The Nomination Committee also proposes that Mr. Erkki 

Pehu-Lehtonen and Mr. Mikael von Frenckell shall be elected as the 

new members of Metso Board. 

The Nomination Committee proposes that the annual remunera-

tion payable to the members of the Board to be elected at the Annual 

General Meeting for the term until the close of the Annual General 

Meeting in 2011 be equal to the remuneration payable to for the term 

until the close of the Annual General Meeting in 2010: EUR 92,000 for 

the Chairman, EUR 56,000 for the Vice Chairman, and EUR 45,000 for 

each member. Additional compensation of EUR 600 shall be paid for 

the meetings attended including the meetings of the committees of 

the Board of Directors. The Nomination Committee proposes that 40% 

of the fixed annual remuneration be paid in Metso shares purchased 

from the market. The shares will be purchased directly on behalf of the 

members of the Board within two weeks from the release of the Interim 

Review January 1−March 31, 2010 of Metso Corporation. 

The Nomination Committee notes that a personnel representative 

will participate as an external expert in the Metso Board meetings also 

in the next Board term within the limitations imposed by the Finnish 

law. The new Board will invite the personnel representative as its exter-

nal expert in its organizing meeting after the Annual General Meeting. 

The members of the Nomination Committee were Kari Järvinen 

(Chairman), Lars Förberg, Matti Vuoria and Harri Sailas. Jukka Viinanen 

and Jaakko Rauramo were the Committee’s expert members. 

Short-term outlook

In the fourth quarter of 2009 we began to see the first signs of gradual 

recovery in the global economy and in the demand of some of our 

customer industries. Nevertheless, we estimate that our operating envi-

ronment will continue to be demanding at least in the first half of 2010. 



60    Metso Financial Statements 2009

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Our customers are still cautious in their investment decisions, 

which will affect our equipment and project businesses in particular. 

We estimate that our customers’ capacity utilization rates will slowly 

improve, assuming that the general positive development of the global 

economy continues. We expect this to have a gradual positive effect on 

our services business. 

There have been signs of improvement in mining companies’ 

demand for equipment and projects. We expect that this will gradually 

have a positive impact on orders in 2010. Due to our strong product 

and services offering, as well as our large installed equipment base, we 

expect the demand for our mining equipment spare and wear parts as 

well as related services to gradually improve from the current level. 

We anticipate that demand for equipment used in aggregates 

production by the construction industry will continue to be weak, with 

the exception of the Asia-Pacific and Brazilian markets, where infrastruc-

ture construction projects are maintaining demand. Many countries 

have introduced stimulus measures relating to infrastructure develop-

ment. Though these measures have not yet had any significant effect, 

we expect them to positively affect the demand in the long-term. We 

estimate that demand for our services business for the construction 

industry will remain satisfactory. 

Demand for power plants that utilize renewable energy sources is 

expected to strengthen in Europe and North America and to be good 

as the availability of financing improves. Several countries have pub-

lished targets to increase the use of renewable energy. This is expected 

to support demand for our power plant solutions fuelled by biomass 

and waste. Demand for services business is expected to be satisfactory. 

We estimate that demand for our automation products will gradu-

ally increase in 2010, as the oil, gas and petrochemical industries in-

crease their investments due to the improvement in energy prices and 

demand. Demand for our services business for automation solutions is 

expected to be satisfactory. 

We expect the demand for metal recycling equipment to be weak 

due to the low production volumes of steel, and demand for solid-

waste recycling equipment to be satisfactory. Demand for services in 

metal recycling is expected to remain weak in 2010. 

We estimate that demand for new fiber lines will continue to be 

weak, but demand for rebuilds and services will strengthen during the 

year. Demand for paper, board and tissue lines is expected to be satis-

factory. We expect the capacity utilization rates of the paper and board 

industry to improve during the year, which should gradually increase 

the demand for our services business. 

We estimate our net sales in 2010 to remain at about the same EUR 

5 billion level as in 2009, and profitability to remain satisfactory. Our 

estimate is based on our order backlog, which contains about EUR 2.7 

billion worth of deliveries for 2010, and on the expectation of contin-

ued gradual recovery of global economy. 

The net sales and profitability estimates are based on Metso’s cur-

rent market outlook and business scope.

Board of Director’s proposal for the distribution of profit

The Parent Company’s distributable funds totaled EUR 1,373,256,006.77 

on December 31, 2009, of which the net profit for the year was 

EUR 252,714,943.24. 

The Board proposes to the Annual General Meeting that the 

dividend of EUR 0.70 per share be distributed for the year ended on 

December 31, 2009 and that the rest be retained and carried further. It 

is proposed that the record date for the payment of the dividend will 

be April 6, 2010 and that the dividend will be paid on April 13, 2010. 

All the shares outstanding on the dividend record date will be 

entitled to a dividend, except for the own shares held by the Parent 

Company.

Annual General Meeting 2010

The Annual General Meeting of Metso Corporation will be held 

at 3:00 p.m. on Tuesday, March 30, 2010 at the Helsinki Fair Centre 

 (Messuaukio 1, FI-00520 Helsinki).

Helsinki, February 8, 2010

Metso Corporation’s Board of Directors
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Year ended December 31,

EUR million Note 2007 2008 2009

Net sales 32 6,250 6,400 5,016

Cost of goods sold 6, 7 -4,702 -4,733 -3,808

Gross profit 1,548 1,667 1,208

Selling, general and administrative expenses 4, 6, 7 -972 -1,043 -938

Other operating income and expenses, net 5, 32 1 11 24

Share in profits and losses of associated companies 14, 32 3 2 0

Operating profit 32 580 637 294

% of net sales 9.3% 10.0% 5.9%

Financial income and expenses, net 8 -33 -89 -72

Profit before tax 547 548 222

Income taxes 9 -163 -158 -71

Profit 384 390 151

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the company 381 389 150

Minority interests 3 1 1

Profit 384 390 151

Earnings per share

Basic, EUR 12 2.69 2.75 1.06

Diluted, EUR 12 2.69 2.75 1.06

Consolidated Statements of Income

Consolidated Statements 
of Comprehensive Income

Year ended December 31,

EUR million Note 2007 2008 2009

Profit 384 390 151

Cash flow hedges, net of tax 21, 30 -2 -33 14

Available-for-sale equity investments, net of tax 15, 21 22 -19 -1

Currency translation on subsidiary net investments 21 -29 -49 74

Net investment hedge gains (+) / losses (-), net of tax 21 -2 -11 0

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (+) / losses (-), net of tax 27 -1 -22 -2

Other 2 0 0

Other comprehensive income (+) / expense (-) -10 -134 85

Total comprehensive income (+) / expense (-) 374 256 236

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the company 371 255 235

Minority interests 3 1 1

Total comprehensive income (+) / expense (-) 374 256 236
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Assets
           As at December 31,

EUR million Note 2008 2009

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 13

Goodwill 778 863

Other intangible assets 254 312

1,032 1,175

Property, plant and equipment 13

Land and water areas 58 62

Buildings and structures 239 261

Machinery and equipment 366 449

Assets under construction 63 47

726 819

Financial and other assets

Investments in associated companies 14 14 13

Available-for-sale equity investments 15, 19 18 15

Loan and other interest bearing receivables 18, 19 8 9

Available-for-sale financial investments 18, 19 5 130

Financial instruments held for trading 18, 19 - 40

Derivative financial instruments 19, 30 - 0

Deferred tax asset 9 174 171

Other non-current assets 18, 19 26 44

245 422

Total non-current assets 2,003 2,416

Current assets

Inventories 17 1,606 1,172

Receivables

Trade and other receivables 18, 19 1,146 938

Cost and earnings of projects under construction in excess of advance billings 16 362 312

Loan and other interest bearing receivables 18, 19 9 8

Available-for-sale financial investments 18, 19 - 79

Derivative financial instruments 19, 30 48 21

Income tax receivables 23 42

1,588 1,400

Cash and cash equivalents 20 314 727

Total current assets 3,508 3,299

Total assets 5,511 5,715

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
           As at December 31,

EUR million Note 2008 2009

Equity 21

Share capital 241 241

Share premium reserve - -

Cumulative translation adjustments -136 -62

Fair value and other reserves 490 710

Retained earnings 849 894

Equity attributable to shareholders 1,444 1,783

Minority interests 9 9

Total equity 1,453 1,792

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Long-term debt 19, 23 1,089 1,334

Post-employment benefit obligations 27 191 190

Provisions 24 36 52

Derivative financial instruments 19, 30 8 5

Deferred tax liability 9 45 56

Other long-term liabilities 19 4 4

Total non-current liabilities 1,373 1,641

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt 19, 23 101 173

Short-term debt 19, 25 245 69

Trade and other payables 19, 26 1,189 1,065

Provisions 24 218 235

Advances received 479 363

Billings in excess of cost and earnings of projects under construction 16 323 330

Derivative financial instruments 19, 30 82 21

Income tax liabilities 48 26

Total current liabilities 2,685 2,282

Total liabilities 4,058 3,923

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 5,511 5,715
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Year ended December 31,

EUR million Note 2007 2008 2009

Cash flows from operating activities:

Profit 384 390 151

Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 7 148 138 143

Gain (-) / loss (+) on sale of fixed assets 5 -2 -2 -4

Gain (-) / loss (+) on sale of subsidiaries and associated companies 11 -4 -4 1

Gain on sale of available-for-sale equity investments 5 -7 -2 -23

Share of profits and losses of associated companies 14 -3 -3 0

Dividend income and interests, net 8 32 57 58

Income taxes 9 163 158 71

Other non-cash items 12 45 44

Change in net working capital, net of effect from business acquisitions and disposals -286 -437 518

Interest paid -45 -64 -68

Interest received 14 13 16

Dividends received 2 2 1

Income taxes paid -114 -154 -138

Net cash provided by operating activities 294 137 770

Cash flows from investing activities: 

Capital expenditures on fixed assets 13 -159 -255 -116

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 16 10 8

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired 10 -55 -44 -1

Proceeds from sale of businesses, net of cash sold 11 9 12 2

Investments in available-for-sale equity investments 0 0 -1

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale equity investments 3 7 24

Investments in available-for-sale financial investments 0 - -204

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial investments 10 - 0

Investments in financial instruments held for trading - - -40

Increase in loan receivables -2 -8 -3

Decrease in loan receivables 2 1 4

Net cash used in investing activities -176 -277 -327

Cash flows from financing activities: 

Redemption of own shares 21 - - -2

Dividends paid -212 -425 -99

Hedging of net investment in foreign subsidiaries 15 13 -4

Net borrowings (+) / payments (-) on short-term debt -37 163 -200

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 122 486 402

Principal payments of long-term debt -87 -25 -141

Principal payments of finance leases -3 -3 -2

Other items - 2 -2

Net cash provided by (+) / used in (-) financing activities -202 211 -48

Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents -84 71 395

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents -2 -24 18

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 20 353 267 314

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 267 314 727

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Change in net working capital, net of effect from business acquisitions and disposals:  

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in assets and increase (+) / decrease (-) in liabilities:

Inventory -335 -230 530

Trade and other receivables -64 58 339

Percentage of completion: recognized assets and liabilities, net 31 -7 33

Trade and other payables 82 -258 -384

Total -286 -437 518

Breakdown of business combinations is presented in note 10.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in 
Shareholders’ Equity

EUR million

Balance at December 31, 2006 241 77 -45 432 739 1,444 6 1,450

Other comprehensive income (+) / expense (-) - - -31 20 1 -10 - -10

Profit - - - - 381 381 3 384

Total comprehensive income (+) / expense (-) - - -31 20 382 371 3 374

Dividends - - - - -212 -212 0 -212

Share-based payments, net of tax - - - 5 - 5 - 5

Other - - - -1 1 0 -2 -2

Balance at December 31, 2007 241 77 -76 456 910 1,608 7 1,615

Other comprehensive income (+) / expense (-) - - -60 -52 -22 -134 - -134

Profit - - - - 389 389 1 390

Total comprehensive income (+) / expense (-) - - -60 -52 367 255 1 256

Dividends - - - - -425 -425 -2 -427

Share-based payments, net of tax - - - 4 - 4 - 4

Decrease and transfer of share premium and legal reserve - -77 - 77 - - - -

Other - - - 5 -3 2 3 5

Balance at December 31, 2008 241 - -136 490 849 1,444 9 1,453

Other comprehensive income (+) / expense (-) - - 74 13 -2 85 - 85

Profit - - - - 150 150 1 151

Total comprehensive income (+) / expense (-) - - 74 13 148 235 1 236

Dividends - - - - -99 -99 -1 -100

Share issue - - - 206 -2 204 - 204

Redemption of own shares - - - -2 - -2 - -2

Share-based payments, net of tax - - - 1 - 1 - 1

Other - - - 2 -2 0 - 0

Balance at December 31, 2009 241 - -62 710 894 1,783 9 1,792
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1 Accounting principles

Description of businesses

Metso Corporation (the “Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (together with 

the Parent Company, “Metso” or the “Group”) form  a global supplier of sustain-

able technology and services, which designs, develops and produces systems, 

automation solutions, machinery and equipment for process industries. The 

main customer industries are mining and construction, energy, metal recycling 

as well as pulp and paper industries. Metso Corporation was formed in 1999 as a 

result of the merger of Rauma Corporation and Valmet Corporation. The merger 

was consummated on July 1, 1999 and is accounted for by the pooling-of-

interests method.

Metso Corporation is a public listed company and the shares have been 

listed on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki (OMXH:MEO1V) since July 1, 1999. The add-

ress of the Group Head Office is Fabianinkatu 9A, 00130 Helsinki.

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the 

Board of Directors on February 8, 2010.

Basis of preparation and changes in accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU, include the 

financial statements of Metso Corporation and its subsidiaries. There are no 

differences between IFRS standards and interpretations as adopted by the EU, as 

applied in Metso, and IFRS as written by the IASB.

Amendments to IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, which was issued 

in March 2009, require enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements and 

liquidity risk. The extended disclosure requirements have been applied to the 

financial statements of December 31, 2009.

From January 1, 2009 onwards Metso has applied IFRS 8 ‘Operating Seg-

ments’ requiring the company to adopt a ‘management approach’ to reporting 

on the financial performance of its operating segments. Thus, the information 

to be reported is the same management uses internally for evaluating segment 

performance. IFRS 8 had no effect on the reported segments as Metso’s seg-

ment information has already been published in accordance with the internal 

reporting structure.

From January 1, 2009 onwards Metso has applied IAS 1 (Revised) ‘Presenta-

tion of Financial Statements’. The revised standard is aimed at improving users’ 

ability to analyze and compare the information provided in financial statements. 

It requires all non-owner changes in equity (comprehensive income) to be pre-

sented in one statement of comprehensive income or in two statements, a sepa-

rate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income. However, 

components of total comprehensive income are not permitted to be presented 

separately in the statement of changes in equity. Metso presents separately the 

income statement and the statement of comprehensive income.

From January 1, 2009 onwards Metso has applied the amendment to IAS 23 

‘Borrowing Costs’, which requires an entity to capitalize borrowing costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 

as part of the cost of that asset. A qualifying asset can be intended for own use 

(self-constructed asset) or for sale. The option of immediately expensing these 

borrowing costs was removed. As Metso capitalizes interest costs on self-con-

structed long-lived assets, the amendment had no impact on Metso’s financial 

statements. 

From January 1, 2009 onwards Metso has applied an amendment to IFRS 

2 ‘Share-based payments‘ clarifying the accounting of vesting conditions and 

cancellations. Vesting conditions are limited to service and performance condi-

tions, other features are not vesting conditions and only impact the grant date 

fair value. Cancellations whether by Metso or by other parties are accounted for 

in similar manner. The amendment did not have any effect on Metso’s financial 

statements.

From January 1, 2009 onwards Metso has applied an amendment to IAS 39 

‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’. The amendment clarifies 

among other things the classification of derivative instruments where there is 

a change in the hedge accounting, the definition of financial asset or financial 

liability at fair value through profit or loss and requires use of a revised effective 

interest rate to remeasure the carrying amount of a debt instrument on cessa-

tion of fair value hedge accounting. The amendment had no effect on Metso’s 

financial statements.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with IFRS, requires mana-

gement to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 

dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates.

Accounting convention

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, 

except for assets and liabilities classified as fair valued through profit and loss, 

available-for-sale investments, financial instruments held for trading and deriva-

tive instruments, which are recognized at fair value. 

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the 

Parent Company and each of those companies in which it owns, directly or 

indirectly through subsidiaries, over 50 percent of the voting rights or in which 

it is in a position to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity. The 

companies acquired during the financial period have been consolidated from 

the date Metso acquired control. Subsidiaries sold have been included up to 

their date of disposal.

All intercompany transactions, balances and gains or losses on transactions 

between subsidiaries are eliminated as part of the consolidation process. Minor-

ity interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheets within equity, 

separate from the equity attributable to shareholders. Minority interests are 

separately disclosed in the consolidated statements of income.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Acquisitions of companies are accounted for using the purchase method. 

The cost of an acquisition is measured at fair value over the assets given up, 

shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of acquisition includ-

ing any costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The excess acquisition 

cost over the fair value of net assets acquired is recognized as goodwill (see 

also intangible assets). If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the 

Group’s share of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognized directly 

through profit and loss.

Associated companies and joint ventures

The equity method of accounting is used for investments in associated 

companies in which the investment provides Metso the ability to exercise 

significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the investee 

company. Such influence is presumed to exist for investments in companies 

in which Metso’s direct or indirect ownership is between 20 and 50 percent of 

the voting rights. Investments in associated companies are initially recognized 

at cost.

Investments in joint ventures in which Metso has the power to jointly gov-

ern the financial and operating activities of the investee company are accounted 

for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the share of profits and losses of associated 

companies and joint ventures is presented separately in the consolidated state-

ments of income. Metso’s share of post-acquisition retained profits and losses of 

associated companies and joint ventures is reported as part of investments in 

associated companies in the consolidated balance sheets.

Segment reporting

Metso’s operations are divided into three reporting segments: Mining and 

Construction Technology, Energy and Environmental Technology, and Paper and 

Fiber Technology. 

Mining and Construction Technology provides equipment and services for 

quarrying, aggregates production, construction, civil engineering and mining 

and minerals processing. The segment consists of Services as well as Equipment 

and Systems business lines.

Energy and Environmental Technology consists of Power, Automation and 

Recycling business lines. Through Energy and Environmental Technology Metso 

supplies power generation, automation, field controls as well as recycling and 

waste management solutions for power, oil and gas, metals recycling, and pulp 

and paper industries.

Paper and Fiber Technology supplies processes, machinery, equipment and 

services for the pulp and paper industry. The offering covers the entire process 

life-cycle and includes new lines, rebuilds and the services business. The seg-

ment consists of Paper, Fiber and Tissue business lines and of the in December 

2009 acquired Tamfelt specializing in technical textiles.

Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in euros, which is the Parent Company’s 

functional currency and Metso’s presentation currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange 

prevailing at the date of the transaction. At the end of the accounting period, 

unsettled foreign currency transaction balances are valued at the rates of 

exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Trade flow related foreign cur-

rency exchange gains and losses are recorded in other operating income and 

expenses, net, unless the foreign currency denominated transactions have been 

subject to hedge accounting, in which case the related exchange gains and 

losses are recorded in the same line item as the hedged transaction. Foreign ex-

change gains and losses associated with financing are entered as a net amount 

under financial income and expenses, net.

The statements of income of subsidiaries with a functional currency dif-

ferent from the presentation currency are translated into euro at the average 

exchange rates for the financial year and the balance sheets are translated at the 

exchange rate of the balance sheet date. The resulting translation differences are 

recorded in the cumulative translation adjustment line item in equity. The result-

ing translation differences from subsidiary net investments and comparable 

loans are recognized through the Consolidated Statement of Other Compre-

hensive Income (OCI) to the cumulative translation adjustments. When Metso 

hedges the equity of its foreign subsidiaries with foreign currency loans and with 

financial derivatives, the translation difference is adjusted by the currency effect 

of hedging instruments and recorded through the OCI in equity, net of taxes. 

When a foreign entity is disposed of the accumulated translation difference is 

reversed through OCI and recognized in the consolidated statements of income 

as part of the gain or loss on the sale.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognized in the balance sheet at fair value and subse-

quently measured at their fair value at each balance sheet date. Derivatives are 

designated at inception either as hedges of firm commitments or forecasted 

transactions (cash flow hedge), or as fair value hedges of assets or liabilities, or 

as hedges of net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge), or 

as derivatives at fair value through profit and loss that do not meet the hedge 

accounting criteria.

In case of hedge accounting, Metso documents at inception the relation-

ship between the hedging instruments and hedged items according to its risk 

management strategy and objectives. Metso also tests the effectiveness of the 

hedge relationships at hedge inception and quarterly both prospectively and 

retrospectively.

Derivatives are classified as non-current assets or liabilities when the 

remaining maturity is more than 12 months and as current assets or liabilities 

when the remaining maturity is less than 12 months. 

Cash flow hedge

Metso applies cash flow hedge accounting to certain interest rate swaps, foreign 

currency forward contracts and for electricity forwards.

Metso designates only the currency component of the foreign currency 

forward contracts as a hedging instrument. Both at hedge inception and at each 

balance sheet date an assessment is performed to ensure the continued effec-

tiveness of the designated component of the derivatives in offsetting changes in 

the fair values of the cash flows of hedged items.

Metso assesses the effectiveness of the fair value changes of the electricity  

forwards to offset the changes in the fair value changes of the underlying fore-

casted electricity purchases in different countries on an ongoing basis. 

The effective portion of the derivatives is recognized through OCI in the 

hedge reserve of equity and reversed through OCI to be recorded through profit 

and loss concurrently with the underlying transaction being hedged. The gain 

or loss relating to the ineffective portion of the derivatives or to a portion, which 

has not been designated as a hedging instrument, is reported under other 

operating income and expenses, net. Should a hedged transaction no longer 

be expected to occur, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognized under 

equity is reversed through OCI to profit and loss.
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Net investment hedge

Metso hedges its net foreign investments in certain currencies to reduce the 

effect of exchange rate fluctuations. The hedging instruments are mainly foreign 

currency loans and foreign currency forward contracts. Both realized and unreal-

ized exchange gains and losses measured on these instruments are recorded, 

net of taxes, through OCI in a separate component of equity against the transla-

tion differences arising from consolidation to the extent that these hedges are 

effective. The interest portion of derivatives qualifying as hedges of net invest-

ment is recognized under financial income and expenses, net.

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair 

value hedges are recorded in financial income and expenses, net, together with 

the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable 

to the hedged interest rate risk.

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. These instru-

ments, which have been contracted to mitigate risks arising from operating 

activities, comprise foreign currency forward contracts, currency and interest 

rate options, interest rate swaps and swap agreements for nickel. Changes in the 

fair value of interest rate swaps are recognized in interest expenses, and changes 

in the fair value of other derivative instruments are recognized in other operat-

ing income and expenses, net. 

Fair value estimation of derivative instruments

The fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts is determined using 

forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet date. The fair value of the 

interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future 

cash flows. The fair value of the commodity forwards and swaps are based on 

quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The fair value of options is 

determined using Black-Scholes valuation model.

Employee benefits

Share-based payments

Metso has share-based incentive plans for its key personnel. 

The equity-settled share awards are valued based on the market price 

of Metso’s share as of the grant date, and recognized as an employee benefit 

expense over the vesting period with corresponding entry in other reserves of 

the equity. The liability resulting from the cash-settled transactions is measured 

based on the fair value of Metso’s share as of the balance sheet date and ac-

crued as an employee benefit expense with corresponding entry in the current 

liabilities until the settlement date. 

Non-market vesting conditions (such as operating profit and earnings per 

share targets) are included in assumptions about the amount of share-based 

payments that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, Metso revises its 

estimates of the amount of share-based payments that are expected to vest. The 

impact of the revision to previous estimate is recognized through profit and loss 

with corresponding adjustment to equity and current liabilities, as appropriate. 

Pensions and coverage of pension liabilities

Metso has several different pension schemes in accordance with local regula-

tions and practices in countries where it operates. In certain countries, the 

pension schemes are defined benefit plans with retirement, disability, death, and 

other post retirement benefits, such as health services, and termination income 

benefits. The retirement benefits are usually based on the number of service 

years and the salary levels of the final service years. The schemes are generally 

funded through payments to insurance companies or to trustee-administered 

funds as determined by periodic actuarial calculations.

In addition, certain companies within Metso have multi-employer pension 

arrangements and defined contribution pension schemes. The contributions 

to defined contribution plans and to multi-employer and insured plans are 

charged to profit and loss concurrently with the payment obligations.

In the case of defined benefit plans, the liability recognized from the plan is 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation as of the balance sheet date, 

adjusted by the fair value of the plan assets and by the unamortized portion of 

past service cost. Independent actuaries calculate the defined benefit obligation 

by applying the projected unit credit method under which the estimated future 

cash flows are discounted to their present value using the interest rates approxi-

mating the terms of the pension engagement. The cost of providing retirement 

and other post retirement benefits to the personnel is charged to profit and loss 

concurrently with the service rendered by the personnel. Actuarial gains and 

losses arising from experience adjustments, changes in actuarial assumptions 

and amendments to plans are recognized through OCI in shareholders’ equity.

Revenue recognition

Revenues from goods and services sold are recognized, net of sales taxes 

and discounts, when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 

transferred to the buyer, or when legal title of the goods and responsibility 

for shipment has been transferred to the buyer. The transfer of risk takes place 

either when the goods are shipped or made available to the buyer for shipment, 

depending on the delivery terms clause of the contract. The credit worthiness 

of the buyer is verified before engaging into a sale. However, should a risk of 

non-payment arise after revenue recognition, a provision for non-collectability 

is established.

Percentage-of-completion method

Sales and anticipated profits under engineering and construction contracts 

are recorded on a percentage-of-completion basis. The stage of completion is 

determined either by units of delivery, which are based on predetermined mile-

stones and on the realized value added (contract value of the work performed 

to date) or by the cost-to-cost method of accounting. Estimated contract profits 

are recorded in earnings in proportion to recorded sales. In the cost-to-cost 

method, sales and profits are recorded after considering the ratio of accumu-

lated costs to estimated total costs to complete each contract. In certain cases, 

subcontractor materials, labor and equipment, are included in sales and costs 

of goods sold when management believes that Metso is responsible for the 

ultimate acceptability of the project. Changes to total estimated contract costs 

and losses, if any, are recognized in the period in which they are determined.

Service revenue

Revenues from short-term service contracts are recognized once the service has 

been rendered. Revenues from long-term service contracts are recognized using 

the output method.

Sales with repurchase commitments

If the conditions of a sales contract with repurchase commitment indicate that 

the transfer of risks and rewards has not taken place at initial delivery of equip-

ment and transfer of ownership, the revenue is deferred. The monies received for 

the machines, net of the guaranteed amount, are recognized over the contract 
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term as lease income concurrently with the depreciation of the equipment until 

the expiry of the resale right. If the repurchase commitment expires unexercised, 

the remaining deferred revenue is recognized as income. 

Trade-ins

Sales, against which trade-ins are accepted, are recorded at contract price. 

Any reduction between the agreed trade-in price and its recorded value in the 

inventory is recognized in cost of goods sold concurrently with the sale.

Government grants

Government grants relating to acquisition of property, plant and equipment are 

deducted from the acquisition cost of the asset and they reduce the deprecia-

tion charge of the related asset. Other government grants are deferred and 

recognized in profit and loss concurrently with the costs they compensate.

Emission Rights and Trading

Metso has received emission rights under the European Emission Trading 

Scheme. These rights, for the recognition of which there are no authoritative 

rules, are recognized as government grants at acquisition price and as they 

have been granted free of charge their acquisition value is nil. They are being 

consumed concurrently with CO
2
 emissions over the compliance period. Any 

excess of rights is disposed of and the gain is recognized under other operat-

ing income. Should the emissions made exceed the initially allocated rights, 

additional rights are acquired at prevailing market price and recognized as cost 

in the costs of goods sold.

Other operating income and expenses, net

Other operating income and expenses, net, comprise income and expenses, 

which do not directly relate to the operating activity of businesses within Metso 

or which arise from unrealized and realized changes in fair value of foreign cur-

rency denominated financial instruments associated with the operating activity, 

including forward exchange contracts. Such items include costs related to 

significant restructuring programs, gains and losses on disposal of assets, except 

for those qualifying as discontinued operations, and foreign exchange gains and 

losses, excluding those qualifying for hedge accounting and those, which are 

reported under financial income and expenses, net. Additionally, non recover-

able foreign taxes, which are not based on taxable profits, are reported in other 

operating income and expenses. These include for example foreign taxes and/or 

suchlike payments not based on Double Tax Treaties in force.

Income taxes

Income taxes presented in the consolidated statements of income consist of 

current and deferred taxes. Current taxes include estimated taxes corresponding 

to the Group companies’ results for the financial year, and adjustments of taxes 

for previous years.

A deferred tax liability or asset has been determined for all temporary 

differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their amounts 

in financial reporting, using the enacted tax rates effective for the future years. 

The deferred tax liabilities are recognized in the balance sheet in full, and the 

deferred tax assets are only recognized when it is probable that there will be suf-

ficient taxable profit against which the asset can be utilized. No deferred income 

tax is accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction other than a business combination.

No deferred tax liability has been recognized for undistributed earnings of 

domestic subsidiaries (i.e. Finnish) since such earnings can be transferred to the 

Parent Company without tax consequences. Metso does not provide deferred 

income taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, except in situa-

tions where Metso has elected to distribute earnings, which become subject to 

additional non-recoverable taxes triggered by a distribution.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to 

equity shareholders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding own shares.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by including the potentially dilut-

ing ordinary shares to the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue. 

The potentially diluting ordinary shares are related to the share ownership plans 

targeted to Metso’s key personnel. 

Fixed assets

Fixed assets comprise intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, which comprise mainly goodwill, trademarks, patents and 

licenses, are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization and impair-

ment loss, if any. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, such 

as trademarks, are not amortized, but tested annually for impairment.

Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of intangible assets with a definite useful life is calculated on a 

straight-line basis over the expected economic lives of the assets as follows:

Patents and licenses 5 – 10 years

Computer software 3 – 5 years

Technology 3 – 15 years

Customer relationships 3 – 12 years

Other intangibles (incl. order backlog) < 1–15 years

Expected useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date and if they differ 

significantly from previous estimates, the remaining amortization periods are 

adjusted accordingly.

The carrying value of intangible assets subject to amortization is reviewed 

for impairment whenever events and changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. A previously recognized 

impairment loss may be reversed if there is a significant improvement to the 

circumstances having initially caused the impairment, however not to a higher 

value than the carrying amount, which would have been recorded had there 

been no impairment in prior years.

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
The carrying value of goodwill for each segment and of other intangible assets 

with indefinite useful lives are reviewed annually or more frequently for impair-

ment, if the facts and circumstances, such as declines in sales, operating profit or 

cash flows or material adverse changes in the business climate, suggest that its 

carrying value may not be recoverable. The testing of goodwill is performed at 

the cash generating unit level, whereas the testing of other intangible assets with 

an indefinite useful life is either performed as part of a cash generating unit or 

separately if the asset generates independent cash flows. The annual testing may 

be performed using previous year’s recoverable amounts of the cash generating 

units if there has not been any significant changes to the assets and liabilities of 
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the cash generating unit, if in the previous testing the recoverable value clearly 

exceeded the carrying values tested, or if the likelihood that the current recover-

able value would be less than the current carrying value of the cash generating 

unit is remote. Metso uses a discounted cash flow analysis to assess the fair value 

of goodwill or of another intangible asset subject to testing. A previously recog-

nized impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed even if there is a significant 

improvement in circumstances having initially caused the impairment, whereas 

an impairment loss on another intangible asset with an indefinite life may be 

reversed should there be a significant improvement to cash flows compared to 

the projections having generated the impairment loss in the first place. However, 

the impairment loss may not be reversed to exceed the carrying amount, which 

would have been recorded had there been no impairment in prior years.

Research and development
Research and development costs are mainly expensed as incurred. Research 

and development costs comprise salaries, administration costs, depreciation 

and amortization of tangible and intangible fixed assets. Development costs 

meeting certain capitalization criteria under IAS 38 are capitalized and amortized 

during the expected economic life of the underlying technology.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated de-

preciation and impairment loss, if any. Land and water areas are not depreciated.

Depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 

expected useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings and structures 15 – 40 years

Machinery and equipment 3 – 20 years

Expected useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date and if they differ 

significantly from previous estimates, the remaining depreciation periods are 

adjusted accordingly.

Subsequent improvement costs related to an asset are included in the car-

rying value of such asset or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 

when the future economic benefits associated with the costs are probable and 

the related costs can be separated from normal maintenance costs.

Metso reviews property, plant and equipment to be held and used by the 

company for impairment whenever events and changes in circumstances indi-

cate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment 

of property, plant and equipment and capital gains and losses on their disposal 

are included in other operating income and expenses, net. Previously recog-

nized impairment on property, plant and equipment is reversed only if there has 

been a significant change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 

amount, however not to exceed the carrying value, which would have been 

recorded had there been no impairment in prior years.

Capitalization of interest expenses
The interest expenses of self-constructed investments are capitalized in Metso’s 

financial statements. The capitalized interest expense is amortized over the 

estimated useful life of the underlying asset.

Leases
Leases for property, plant and equipment, where Metso has substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. Finance leases 

are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the 

leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each 

lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The cor-

responding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in long-term 

debt, and the interest element is charged to profit and loss over the lease period. 

Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated 

over the useful life of the asset or over the lease period, if shorter.

Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the lessor retains a signifi-

cant portion of the risks and rewards, are classified as operating leases. Payments 

under operating leases are expensed as incurred.

Financial assets

Metso classifies its financial investments into the following categories: assets 

and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, loans and receivables and 

available-for-sale financial assets. The classification is determined at the time of 

the acquisition depending on the intended purpose. Assets and liabilities at fair 

value through profit and loss comprise derivatives and financial instruments 

held for trading.

Available-for-sale financial assets are further classified into available-for-

sale equity investments and available-for-sale financial investments. Loans and 

receivables are classified into loans and other interest bearing receivables and 

other receivables, which are not interest bearing.

Purchases and sales of assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and 

loss, and loans and receivables are recognized or derecognized on the trade 

date, i.e. the date Metso commits to purchase or sell the asset. Purchases and 

sales of available-for-sale financial assets are recognized on the transaction date 

at fair value including transaction costs. 

Financial assets are presented as non-current when their maturity exceeds 

one year.

At each balance sheet date, Metso assesses whether there is objective 

evidence of an available-for-sale financial asset or of a group of assets under 

this category being impaired. In case of prolonged significant decline in the fair 

value of such an asset compared to its acquisition value, the accumulated net 

loss is reversed from equity and recognized in the income statement.

Assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss

Financial instruments held for trading, which are fair valued through profit and 

loss, comprise investments in financial instruments, e.g. bonds. The instruments 

are fair valued quarterly and the change in fair value is recognized through profit 

and loss. Gains and losses at disposal and impairment, if any, are recorded in 

profit and loss.

Derivatives that are not designated as hedges do not meet the hedge ac-

counting criteria, and are fair valued quarterly through profit and loss. Gains and 

losses at disposal and impairment, if any, are recorded in profit and loss.

Available-for-sale equity investments

Available-for-sale equity investments include mainly shares in listed companies. 

Available-for-sale equity investments are carried at fair value, based on quoted 

closing prices as of the respective balance sheet date. Unrealized gains and 

losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized through OCI in the fair 

value reserve of equity. Gains and losses at disposal and impairment, if any, 

are recorded in the profit and loss and the accumulated change in fair value 

previously recorded in the fair value reserve of equity is reversed through OCI. 

Unlisted shares, for which fair values cannot be measured reliably, are recog-

nized at cost less impairment, if any.



72    Metso Financial Statements 2009

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Available-for-sale financial investments

Non-current available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments, which are reported under non-current 

assets and which have been contracted as part of the cash management of 

Metso, comprise investments in financial instruments, e.g. bonds, commercial 

papers and time deposits with maturities exceeding one year at acquisition or 

with an undefined maturity and which Metso plans to hold for more than one 

year. The instruments are fair valued quarterly and the change in fair value is 

recognized through OCI in the fair value reserve of equity. Gains and losses at 

disposal and impairment, if any, are recorded in profit and loss and the accumu-

lated change in fair value previously recorded in the fair value reserve of equity is 

reversed through OCI.

Current available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments, which are reported under current assets, 

comprise highly liquid investments, which have been contracted as part of the 

cash management of Metso and which do not qualify as cash and cash equiva-

lents. They are fair valued quarterly and the change in fair value is recognized 

through OCI in the fair value reserve of equity. Gains and losses at disposal and 

impairment, if any, are recorded in profit and loss and the accumulated change 

in fair value previously recorded in the fair value reserve of equity is reversed 

through OCI.

Loans and receivables 

Loan and other interest bearing receivables comprise interest bearing trade and 

loan receivables.

Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value including trans-

action costs. Subsequently they are recognized at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. They are subject to regular and systematic review as 

to collectability. If a loan receivable is estimated to be partly or totally unrecover-

able, an impairment loss is recognized for the shortfall between the carrying 

value and the present value of the expected cash flows. Interest income on 

loan and other interest bearing receivables is included in financial income and 

expenses, net.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of historical cost calculated on average cost 

basis or net realizable value. Costs include purchase costs as well as transporta-

tion and processing costs. The costs of finished goods include direct materials, 

wages and salaries plus social costs, subcontracting and other direct costs. In 

addition, production costs include an allocable portion of production and pro-

ject administration overheads. Net realizable value is the estimated amount that 

can be realized from the sale of the asset in the normal course of business after 

allowing for the costs of realization.

Inventories are shown net of a reserve for obsolete and slow-moving in-

ventories. A reserve is established and a corresponding charge is taken to profit 

and loss in the period in which the loss occurs based upon an assessment of 

technological obsolescence and related factors.

Trade-in equipment received is recorded as inventory at the lower of cost or 

net realizable value.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognized at original invoice amount to customers and 

reported in the balance sheet, net of provision for doubtful receivables. The 

provision, which is expensed under selling, general and administrative expenses, 

is recorded on the basis of periodic reviews of potential non-recovery of receiv-

ables by taking into consideration individual customer credit risk, economic 

trends in customer industries and changes in payment terms. Bad debts are writ-

ten off when official announcement of receivership, liquidation or bankruptcy is 

received confirming that the receivable will not be honored.

If extended payment terms, exceeding one year, are offered to customers, 

the invoiced amount is discounted to its present value and interest income is 

recognized over the credit term.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in banks and other liquid investments 

with original maturity of three months or less.

Assets classified as held-for-sale

Non-current assets and discontinued operations are classified as held-for-sale 

and stated at the lower of carrying value and the fair value less cost to sell, if 

their carrying value is recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 

than through a continuing use.

A discontinued operation results from the management’s decision and 

commitment to dispose of a separate business for which the related assets, 

liabilities and operating results can be distinguished both operationally and 

for financial reporting purposes. When specific criteria for the held-for-sale 

classification has been met, the non-current assets are recorded at the lower 

of carrying value or fair value less cost to sell, and non-current assets subject to 

depreciation or amortization are no longer amortized. The assets and liabilities 

of a disposal group classified as held-for-sale are presented in the balance 

sheet separate from assets and liabilities related to continuing operations as of 

the date the operation qualified as discontinued. The results of discontinued 

operations, net of taxes and the gain or loss on their disposal are presented for 

all periods separate from continuing operations in the consolidated statements 

of income. Balance sheet data from periods preceding the qualifying disposal 

decision is not reclassified.

Issue of new shares and own shares

Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 

shown net of their tax effect in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Own shares, valued at historical acquisition price, are deducted from equity. 

Should such shares be subsequently sold or reissued, the consideration received, 

net of any directly attributable transaction costs and related income tax, is 

recorded in the equity.

Dividends

Dividends proposed by the Board of Directors are not recognized in the financial 

statements until they have been approved by the shareholders in the Annual 

General Meeting.

Long-term debt

Long-term debt is initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs 

incurred. Debt is classified as current liability unless the Group has an uncon-

ditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 

balance sheet date.
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Capitalization of transaction costs  

related to issuance of debt instruments

Transaction costs arising from issuance of debt instruments are included in the 

carrying value of the debt, and amortized using the effective interest method 

over the period of the respective liability.

Capitalization of transaction costs  

related to exchange of debt instruments

Transaction costs arising from exchange of debt instruments are included in the 

carrying value of the debt and amortized using the effective interest method 

over the remaining period of the modified liability provided that the new condi-

tions obtained through the exchange do not substantially differ from those of 

the original debt. The assessment of whether the conditions are substantially 

different is based on a comparison of the discounted present value of the cash 

flows under the new terms and the present value of the remaining cash flows of 

the original financial liability. 

Provisions

Provisions, for which settlement is expected to occur more than one year after 

the initial recognition, are discounted to their present value and adjusted in 

subsequent closings for the time effect.

Restructuring costs

A provision for restructuring is recognized only after management has 

developed and approved a formal plan to which it is committed. Employee 

termination benefits are only recognized when the representatives of employ-

ees or individual employees have been informed of the intended measures in 

detail and the related compensation packages can be reliably measured. The 

costs included in a provision for restructuring are those costs that are either 

incremental or incurred as a direct result of the plan or are the result of a con-

tinuing contractual obligation with no continuing economic benefit to Metso or 

a penalty incurred to cancel the contractual obligation. Restructuring expenses 

are recognized in either cost of goods sold or selling, general and administrative 

expenses depending on the nature of the restructuring expenses. Should there 

be a Metso or segment wide restructuring program, the related costs are recog-

nized in other operating income and expenses, net. Restructuring costs can also 

include other costs incurred as a result of the plan, which are recorded under 

other operating income and expenses, net, such as asset write-downs. 

Environmental remediation costs

Metso accrues for losses associated with environmental remediation obliga-

tions when such losses are probable and can be estimated reliably. Accruals 

for estimated losses from environmental remediation obligations generally 

are recognized no later than completion of the remedial feasibility study. Such 

accruals are adjusted as further information develops or circumstances change. 

Recoveries of environmental remediation costs from other parties are recorded 

as assets when their receipt is deemed virtually certain.

Warranty costs

An accrual is made for expected warranty costs. The adequacy of this accrual is 

reviewed periodically based on an analysis of historical experience and antici-

pated probable warranty liabilities.
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As a global company, Metso is exposed to a variety of business and financial 

risks. Financial risks are managed centrally by the Group Treasury under annually 

reviewed written policies approved by the Board of Directors. Treasury operations 

are monitored by the Treasury Management Team chaired by CFO. Group Treasury 

functions as counterparty to the operating units, manages centrally external 

funding and is responsible for the management of financial assets and appropriate 

hedging measures. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in 

close co-operation with the operating units. The objective of financial risk manage-

ment is to minimize potential adverse effects on Metso’s financial performance.

Liquidity and refinancing risk and capital structure management

Liquidity or refinancing risk arises when a company is not able to arrange fund-

ing at terms and conditions corresponding to its creditworthiness. Sufficient 

cash, short-term investments and committed and uncommitted credit facilities 

are maintained to protect short-term liquidity. Diversification of funding among 

different markets and adequate number of financial institutions is used to 

safeguard the availability of liquidity at all times. Group Treasury monitors bank 

account structures, cash balances and forecasts of the operating units and 

consolidates cash resources.

At the end of 2009 (end of 2008 respectively) cash and cash equivalents 

amounted to EUR 727 million (EUR 314 million), available-for-sale financial 

investments to EUR 209 million (EUR 5 million), financial instruments held for 

trading EUR 40 million (-) and committed undrawn credit facilities to EUR 500 

million (EUR 500 million). The five year revolving credit facility matures in 2011.

Liquidity risk management as described here excludes trade receivables 

(both interest and non interest bearing) and similar financial instruments, as they 

are not considered active risk management tools within the responsibility of 

Group Treasury. Similarly, non-interest bearing liabilities such as trade and other 

payables are not included in liquidity management. 

Metso’s refinancing risk is managed by balancing the proportion of short-

term and long-term debt as well as the average remaining maturity of long-term 

debt. The tables below analyze the repayments and interests on Metso’s liabili-

ties by the remaining maturities from the balance sheet date to the contractual 

maturity date. Subsequent to changes in IFRS 7, the maturity analysis no longer 

includes other derivative cash flows than those connected to interest rate swaps.

Detailed information of balance sheet items is presented in other notes to 

consolidated financial statements.

Capital structure management in Metso comprises both equity and interest 

bearing debt. As of December 31, 2009 the equity attributable to shareholders 

was EUR 1,783 million (EUR 1,444 million) and the amount of interest bearing 

debt was EUR 1,576 million (EUR 1,435 million). The objectives are to safeguard 

the ongoing business operations and to optimize the cost of capital. Metso has 

a target to maintain a solid investment grade credit rating.

The credit ratings are currently:

Moody’s Baa2

Standard & Poor’s  BBB / A-2

There are no prepayment covenants in Metso’s financial contracts which would 

be triggered by changes in credit rating. Financial covenants included in some 

loan agreements refer to Metso’s capital structure. Metso is in compliance with 

all covenants and other terms of its debt instruments. 

Capital structure is assessed regularly by the Board of Directors and man-

aged operationally by Group Treasury. 

Capital structure ratios are included in financial indicators for years 

2005–2009 on pages 124 –125 in these financial statements. The formulas for 

calculating the financial indicators are presented on page 126.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises when changes in market interest rates and interest 

margins influence finance costs, returns on financial investments and valuation 

of interest bearing balance sheet items. Interest rate risks are managed through 

balancing the ratio between fixed and floating interest rates and duration of 

debt and investment portfolios. Additionally, Metso may use derivative instru-

ments such as forward rate agreements, swaps, options and futures contracts to 

mitigate the risks arising from interest bearing assets and liabilities. The interest 

rate risk is managed and controlled by the Group Treasury and measured using 

sensitivity analysis and duration of long term debt. The Macaulay Duration of 

long term debt was 2.0 years on December 31, 2009 (2.0 years).

At the end of 2009 the balance sheet items exposed to interest rate risk 

were interest bearing assets of EUR 993 million (EUR 336 million) and interest 

bearing debt of EUR 1,576 million (EUR 1,435 million). Of the total of the interest 

bearing debt 77 percent (74%) was denominated in EUR.

December 31, 2008 

EUR million <1 year 1–5 years >5 years

Long-term debt

Repayments 101 774 315

Interests 59 141 43

Short-term debt

Repayments 245 - -

Interests 10 - -

Trade payables 733 - -

Other liabilities 456 - -

Interest rate derivatives 1 2 2

Total 1,605 917 360

Financial guarantee contracts 7

December 31, 2009

EUR million <1 year 1–5 years >5 years

Long-term debt

Repayments 173 1,103 231

Interests 65 158 27

Short-term debt

Repayments 69 - -

Interests 1 - -

Trade payables 605 - -

Other liabilities 460 - -

Interest rate derivatives 4 5 2

Total 1,377 1,266 260

Financial guarantee contracts 3

2 Financial risk management
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The basis for the interest rate risk sensitivity analysis is an aggregate group 

level interest rate exposure, composed of interest bearing assets, interest bear-

ing debt and financial derivatives, such as interest rate swaps, which are used 

to hedge the underlying exposures. For all interest bearing debt and assets 

to be fixed during next 12 months a one percentage point (100 basis points) 

move upwards or downwards in interest rates with all other variables held 

constant would have an effect on Metso’s net interest expenses, net of taxes, of 

EUR -/+ 2.9 million (EUR +/- 2.1 million).

A one percentage point (100 basis points) move upwards or downwards 

in all interest rates with all other variables held constant would have following 

effects, net of taxes, in income statement and equity:

EUR million 2008 2009

Effects in

+/- 1.2 +/- 0.9

+/- 1.6 -/+ 0.1

The effect in the income statement comprises the changes in the fair value of 

financial instruments which are directly recognized through profit and loss. The 

effect in the equity is comprised of the changes in the fair value of available-

for-sale financial assets and derivatives qualifying as effective cash flow hedge 

instruments for long-term floating rate debt.

Foreign exchange risk

Metso operates globally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk in several 

currencies, although the geographical diversity of operations decreases the 

significance of any individual currency. Almost 60 percent of Metso’s net sales 

originate from outside euro zone; the main currencies being  EUR, USD, SEK, BRL, 

AUD and CNY.

 

Transaction exposure

Foreign exchange transaction exposure arises when an operating unit has com-

mercial or financial transactions and payments in other than its own functional 

currency, and when related cash inflow and outflow amounts are not equal or 

concurrent. 

In accordance with the Treasury Policy, operating units are required to 

hedge in full the foreign currency exposures arising from firm sales and pur-

chase commitments. Future cash flows denominated in a currency other than 

the functional currency of the unit are hedged with internal foreign exchange 

contracts with the Group Treasury for periods, which do not usually exceed two 

years. The majority of the hedged future currency cash flows relate to foreign 

currency denominated order backlog. In addition, units can hedge anticipated 

foreign currency denominated cash flows.

Group Treasury monitors the net position of each currency and decides 

to what extent a currency position is to be closed. Group Treasury is however 

responsible for entering into external forward transaction whenever an operat-

ing unit chooses to apply hedge accounting. Upper limits have been set on the 

open currency exposures managed by the Group Treasury; limits have been 

calculated on the basis of their potential profit impact. To manage the foreign 

currency exposure Group Treasury may use forward exchange contracts, foreign 

exchange swaps and options.

Total foreign exchange transaction exposure on December 31 was as follows:

EUR million 2008 2009

Operational items 508 418

Financial items -178 -172

Hedges -359 -243

Total exposure -28 3

This aggregate group level currency exposure is the basis for the sensitivity  

analysis of foreign exchange risk. This exposure, net of respective hedges, 

is composed of all assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, 

projected cash flows for unrecognized firm commitments, both short- and long-

term sales and purchase contracts and anticipated operational cash flows to the 

extent their realization has been deemed highly probable and therefore hedged. 

This analysis excludes net foreign currency investments in subsidiaries together 

with instruments hedging these investments. Assuming euro to appreciate or 

depreciate ten percent against all other currencies, the impact on cash flows, net 

of taxes, derived from the year-end net exposure as defined above,  would be 

EUR -/+ 0.3 million (EUR -/+ 0.4 million). 

Transaction exposure is spread in 30 currencies and as of December 31, 2009 

the biggest open exposures were in USD (35%), CNY (9%) and RUB (6%). A 10 per-

cent appreciation of USD would have an effect, net of taxes, of EUR +2.4 million. A 

corresponding effect on any other currency would be less than EUR 1 million.

A sensitivity analysis of financial instruments as required by IFRS 7, excludes 

following items: projected cash flows for unrecognized firm commitments, ad-

vance payments, both short- and long-term purchase contracts and anticipated 

operational cash flows. The table below presents the effects, net of taxes, of a 

+/- 10 percent change in EUR foreign exchange rates:

2008        2009

EUR million total USD SEK others total

Effects in

+/- 27.1 +/- 6.0 -/+ 2.0 +/- 0.3 +/- 4.3

+/- 4.7 +/- 22.1 +/- 2.2 +/- 0.5 +/- 24.8

Effect in equity is the fair value change in derivatives contracts qualifying as cash 

flow hedges for unrecognized firm commitments. Effect in income statement 

is the fair value change for all other financial instruments exposed to foreign 

exchange risk including derivatives, which qualify as cash flow hedges, to the 

extent the underlying sales transaction, recognized under the percentage of 

completion method, has been recognized as revenue.

Translation or equity exposure

Foreign exchange translation exposure arises when the equity of a subsidiary 

is denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the parent 

company. The major translation exposures are in USD, BRL and CNY. Metso is 

not extensively hedging equity exposure. As of December 31, 2009 Metso had 

hedged 82 percent (74%) of USD denominated net investments to reduce the 

effect of exchange rate fluctuations. Currently hedging instruments are foreign 

currency loans.

A sensitivity analysis of financial instruments includes foreign currency loans 

qualified as net investment hedges. A 10 percent change in EUR/USD foreign 

exchange rates would have an effect of EUR 17.2 million (EUR 14.8 million), net 

of taxes, in equity.
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Commodity risk

Metso is exposed to variations in prices of raw materials and of supplies includ-

ing energy. Metso units identify their commodity price hedging needs and 

hedges are executed through the Group Treasury using approved counterpar-

ties and instruments. For commodity risks separate overall hedging limits are 

defined and approved. Hedging is done on a rolling basis with a declining 

hedging level over time. 

Electricity exposure in the Scandinavian units has been hedged with 

electricity forwards and fixed price physical contracts, which are designated 

as hedges of highly probable future electricity purchases. Hedging is focused 

on the estimated energy consumption for the next twelve-month period with 

some contracts extended to approximately three years. Execution of electricity 

hedging has been outsourced to an external broker. As of December 31, 2009 

Metso had outstanding electricity forwards amounting to 640 GWh (635 GWh). 

To reduce its exposure to the volatility caused by the surcharge for certain 

metal alloys (Alloy Adjustment Factor) comprised in the price of stainless steel 

charged by its suppliers, Metso has entered into average-price swap agreements 

for nickel. The Alloy Adjustment Factor is based on monthly average prices of its 

components of which nickel is the most significant. As of December 31, 2009 

Metso had outstanding nickel swaps amounting to 252 tons (258 tons).

The following table on the sensitivity analysis of the commodity prices 

based on financial instruments under IFRS 7 comprises the net aggregate 

amount of commodities bought through forward contracts and swaps but 

excludes the anticipated future consumption of raw materials and electricity. 

A 10 percent parallel change upwards or downwards in commodity price 

curves would have following effects, net of taxes:

EUR million 2008 2009

Electricity – effect in equity +/- 1.5 +/- 1.7

Electricity – effect in income statement +/- 0.3 +/- 0.2

Nickel – effect in income statement        +/- 0.1 +/- 0.2

As cash flow hedge accounting is applied, the effective portion of electricity 

forwards is recognized in equity. The ineffective portion is recognized through 

profit and loss. Hedge accounting is not applied to nickel agreements, and the 

change in the fair value is recorded through profit and loss.

Other commodity risks are not managed using financial derivative instru-

ments.

Credit and counterparty risk

Credit or counterparty risk is defined as the possibility of a customer or a 

financial counterparty not fulfilling its commitments towards Metso. Metso’s 

operating units are primarily responsible for credit risks pertaining to sales and 

procurement activities. The units assess the credit quality of their customers, 

by taking into account their financial position, past experience and other rel-

evant factors. When appropriate, advance payments, letters of credit and third 

party guarantees are used to mitigate credit risks. Group Treasury provides 

centralized services related to customer financing and seeks to ensure that 

the principles of the Treasury Policy are adhered to with respect to terms of 

payment and required collateral. Metso has no significant concentrations of 

credit risks.

The maximum credit risk equals the carrying value of trade and loan 

receivables. The credit quality is evaluated both on the basis of aging of the 

trade receivables and also on the basis of customer specific analysis. The aging 

structure of trade receivables is presented in note 18. 

Counterparty risk arises also from financial transactions agreed upon with 

banks, financial institutions and corporates. The risk is managed by careful 

selection of banks and other counterparties, by counterparty specific limits and 

netting agreements such as ISDA (Master agreement of International Swaps and 

Derivatives Association). The compliance with counterparty limits is regularly 

monitored. 

The maximum amount of financial counterparty risk is calculated as the fair 

value of available-for-sale financial assets, derivatives and cash and cash equiva-

lents on the balance sheet date.

Fair value estimation

For those financial assets and liabilities which have been recognized at fair 

value in the balance sheet, the following measurement hierarchy and valuation 

methods have been applied:

Level 1 Quoted unadjusted prices at the balance sheet date in active markets. 

The market prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, 

dealer, broker, market information service system, pricing service or 

regulatory agency. The quoted market price used for financial assets 

is the current bid price. Level 1 financial instruments include debt and 

equity investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets. 

Level 2 The fair value of financial instruments in Level 2 is determined using 

valuation techniques.  These techniques utilize observable market data 

readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, market 

information service system, pricing service or regulatory agency. Level 

2 financial instruments include:

fair value through profit and loss or qualified for hedge accounting. 

or at fair value through profit and loss.

Level 3 A financial instrument is categorized into Level 3 if the calculation of 

the fair value cannot be based on observable market data. Metso had 

no such instruments in 2009.

The following table presents Metso’s financial assets and liabilities that are mea-

sured at fair value at December 31, 2009.

EUR million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets    

Financial assets at fair value through profit 
and loss

   

 - 14 - 

-  40 - 

Derivatives qualified for hedge accounting  - 7 - 

Available-for-sale investments    

9 - - 

130 79 - 

Total assets 139 140 - 

Liabilities    

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
and loss

   

- 10 - 

Derivatives qualified for hedge accounting - 17 - 

Total liabilities - 26 -
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The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires manage-

ment to make estimates and judgments affecting the amounts reported in the 

consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates 

and judgments, based on historical evidence and plausible future scenarios, are 

continually evaluated. Following assets and liabilities include a high degree of 

management estimate and assumptions and their carrying value can therefore 

materially differ from current value in the next financial year.

Trade receivables

Metso’s policy is to maintain a provision for bad debt based on the best estimate 

of the amounts that are potentially uncollectable at the balance sheet date. The 

estimates are based on a systematic, on-going review and evaluation performed 

as part of the credit-risk evaluation process. As part of this evaluation, Metso 

takes into account the history of collections, the size and compositions of the re-

ceivable balances, current economic events and conditions and other pertinent 

information.

Inventory

Metso’s policy is to maintain a provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventory 

based on the best estimate of such amounts at the balance sheet date. The es-

timates are based on a systematic, on-going review and evaluation of inventory 

balances. As part of this evaluation, Metso also considers the composition and 

age of the inventory as compared to anticipated future needs.

Revenue recognition

Metso delivers complete installations to its customers, where the moment of 

signing a sales contract (firm commitment) and the final acceptance of a deliv-

ery by the customer may take place in different financial periods. In accordance 

with its accounting principles, Metso applies the percentage of completion 

method (“POC method”) for recognizing such long-term delivery contracts. In 

year 2009, approximately 35 percent of the net sales were recognized under 

the POC method, which is based on predetermined milestones and where the 

revenue is recognized based on the estimated realized value added or on the 

cost-to-cost method. A projected loss on a firm commitment is recognized 

through profit and loss, when it becomes known. The estimated revenue, the 

costs and profit, together with the planned delivery schedule of the projects 

are subject to regular revisions as the contract progresses to completion. Revi-

sions in profit estimates are charged through profit and loss in the period in 

which the facts that give rise to the revision become known. Although Metso 

has significant experience using the POC method, the total costs estimated to 

be incurred on projects may change over time due to changes in the underly-

ing project cost structures, which may ultimately affect the revenue recognized. 

Therefore, the POC method is not applied for recognizing sales commitments 

where the final outcome of the project and related cost structure cannot be 

pre-established reliably. 

Hedging of foreign currency denominated firm commitments

Under Metso hedging policies units have to hedge their foreign currency risk 

when they become engaged in a firm commitment denominated in a currency 

different of their functional currency, the commitment can be either internal to 

Metso or external. When a firm commitment qualifies for recognition under the 

percentage of completion method, the unit applies cash flow hedge accounting 

and recognizes the effect of the hedging instruments in OCI until the commit-

ment is recognized. Though Metso has defined the characteristics triggering a 

firm commitment, the final realization of the unrecognized commitment de-

pends also on factors beyond management control, which cannot be foreseen 

when initiating the hedge relationship. Such factors can be a change in the 

market environment causing the other party to postpone or cancel the com-

mitment. To the extent possible management tries to include in the contracts 

clauses reducing the impact of such adverse events to its results. 

Accounting for income taxes

As part of the process of preparing its consolidated financial statements, Metso 

is required to estimate the income taxes in each of the jurisdictions and coun-

tries in which it operates. This process involves estimating the actual current tax 

exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing 

treatment of items, such as deferred revenue and cost reserves, for tax and ac-

counting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, 

which are included in the consolidated balance sheet. The likelihood for the 

recovery of deferred tax assets from future taxable income is assessed, and to 

the extent the recovery is not considered likely the deferred asset is adjusted in 

accordance.

Significant management judgment is required in determining the provision 

for income taxes and the deferred tax assets. Metso has recorded net deferred 

tax assets of EUR 115 million as of December 31, 2009, adjusted by EUR 16 

million for uncertainties related to its ability to utilize some of the deferred tax 

assets, primarily consisting of operating losses carried forward and deductible 

temporary differences for certain foreign subsidiaries and the final outcome of 

tax audits in some subsidiaries. The adjustment is based on Metso’s estimates 

of taxable income by country in which it operates, and the period over which 

the deferred tax assets will be recoverable based on estimated future taxable 

income and planned tax strategies to utilize these assets. In the event that actual 

results differ from these estimates, the deferred tax asset needs to be adjusted 

in coming financial years. The final outcome may also be affected by future 

changes in tax laws applicable in the jurisdictions where Metso operates.

Allocation of purchase price to acquired assets 

In accordance with the accounting principles, the purchase price is allocated 

to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities the excess being recognized as 

goodwill in the balance sheet. Whenever feasible, Metso has used as a basis for 

such allocations readily available market values to determine the fair value to 

be recognized. However, when this has not been possible, as often is the case 

with non-current intangible assets and certain assets with no active markets or 

available price quotations, the valuation has been based on past performance of 

such asset and expected future cash generating capacity. The appraisals, which 

have been based on current replacement costs, discounted cash flows and 

estimated selling prices depending on the underlying asset, require manage-

ment to make estimates and assumptions of the future performance and use of 

these assets and their impact on the financial position. Any change in our future 

business priorities and orientations may affect the planned outcome of initial 

appraisals.

3 Critical accounting estimates and judgments
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Impairment testing

The carrying value of identifiable intangible assets with indefinite economic life 

such as goodwill is tested annually or more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that such carrying value may not be recoverable. The car-

rying values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, subject to 

depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever there are 

indications that their carrying values could exceed their value in use or disposal 

value if disposal is considered as a possible option. Triggering events for impair-

ment reviews include the following:

Material permanent deterioration in the economic or political environment 

of the customers’ or of own activity.

Significant under-performance relative to historical or projected future 

performance.

Significant changes in Metso’s strategic orientations affecting the business 

plans and previous investment policies.

The accounting policy related to the impairment tests is based on numerous 

estimates. The valuation is inherently judgmental and highly susceptible to 

change from period to period because it requires Metso to make assumptions 

about future supply and demand related to its individual business units, future 

sales prices and achievable cost savings. The value of the benefits and savings 

expected from the efficiency improvement programs are inherently subjec-

tive. The fair value of the cash generating units is determined using a derived 

weighted average cost of capital as the rate to discount estimated future cash 

flows. This rate may not be indicative of actual rates obtained in the market. In 

the annual impairment test, a two percentage point increase in the discount 

rates applied for determining the fair values of the cash generating units would 

have reduced the total fair value of units tested by little over 15 percent and 

would not have caused impairment. A second sensitivity test using these higher 

discount rates together with a 30 percent reduction in the terminal growth rate 

assumption would have reduced the fair values by a further two percent indicat-

ing no impairment as the present values of the discounted cash flows exceeded 

the carrying values of the units being tested.

Reserve for warranty and guarantee costs

The warranty and guarantee reserve is based on the history of past warranty 

costs and claims on machines and equipment under warranty. The typical 

warranty period is 12 months from the date of customer acceptance of the 

delivered equipment. For larger projects, the average warranty period is two 

years. For sales involving new technology and long-term delivery contracts, ad-

ditional warranty reserves can be established on a case by case basis to take into 

account the potentially increased risk. 

Pensions 

In accordance with IAS 19, the pension benefit expense is based on assump-

tions that include the following:

A weighted average expected return assessed in the beginning of the 

financial year on plan assets. Actual return on plan assets may differ signifi-

cantly based on market activity.

An assumed discount rate based on rates observed in the beginning of 

the financial year to be used in the calculation of the current year pension 

expense and pension liability balance. This rate may not be indicative of 

actual rates realized in the market.

Estimated rates of future pay increases. Actual increases may not reflect 

estimated future increases. Due to the significant change in the Group’s 

structure and the uncertainty of the global market place, these estimates 

are difficult to project.

The actuarial experience that differs from the assumptions and changes in the 

assumptions results in gains and losses, which are recognized in OCI. A one 

percentage point increase in the expected return on plan assets would have 

reduced pension benefit expense by approximately EUR 2 million, and a one 

percentage point decrease in the expected return on plan assets would have 

increased pension benefit expense by approximately EUR 2 million for the year 

ended December 31, 2009.

Share-based payments

Share-based payment plans and related incentive programs include vesting 

conditions such as targets for operating profit, earnings per share and total 

shareholder return, and service year requirements subsequent to the grant date. 

The maximum share reward is in relation to each participant’s annual salary. At 

each balance sheet date, the management revises its estimates for the number 

of shares that are expected to vest. As part of this evaluation, Metso takes 

into account the changes in the forecasted performance of the Group and its 

reporting segments, the expected turnover of the personnel benefiting from the 

incentive plan and other pertinent information impacting the number of shares 

to be vested.

Financial instruments 

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of financial instruments, the 

management is obliged to make certain assumptions of the future cash in- and 

outflows arising from financial instruments and of the calculation of the sensitiv-

ity of such instruments:

It is impossible to predict the movements of different currencies in relation 

to one another, hence the realized cash in- and outflows of a foreign curren-

cy denominated financial instruments and their impact to the consolidated 

bank and cash can materially differ from the forecasted flows as calculated 

at the balance sheet date.

The sensitivity is calculated by assuming a change in one of the risk factors 

of a financial instrument, such as interest or currency. It is not likely that 

the future volatility of a risk factor will develop in accordance with the test 

assumptions and that only one factor would be impacted. The sensitivity 

analysis does not either take into account the timing of the change.

Sensitivity analysis is based on the risk exposures at the balance sheet 

date. The final outcome can be affected by other factors, such as future 

profitabili ty and its impact to borrowing costs, which are not included in 

sensitivity analysis.

The management has also had to assume that the fair values of derivatives, 

especially foreign currency denominated derivatives at balance sheet date 

materially reflect the future realized cash in- or outflow of such instruments. 

When calculating the sensitivity, Metso has chosen to use market conventions 

in assuming a 100 basis point variation in interest rates, 10 percent change 

in currency parities and in commodity prices because this provides better 

comparability from one period to another and information on the volatility to 

users of financial statements. Metso is aware that such assumptions may not be 

realistic when compared to past volatility; they are not intended to reflect the 

future development of the volatility. The management has chosen not to use 

past volatility as this could mislead the users of financial statements to assume 

the analysis reflect management’s view on the future volatility of the financial 

instruments. 
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4 Selling, general and administrative expenses 

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Marketing and selling expenses -521 -543 -480

Research and development expenses, net -112 -127 -105

Administrative expenses -339 -373 -353

Total -972 -1,043 -938

Research and development expenses, net, consist of following:

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Research and development expenses, total -117 -134 -115

Capitalized development costs 0 0 0

Capital expenditure 5 7 9

Grants received 6 5 5

Depreciation and amortization -6 -5 -4

Research and development expenses, net -112 -127 -105

5 Other operating income and expenses, net

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Gain on sale of subsidiaries and businesses 1) 4 4 0

Gain on sale of fixed assets 3 2 4

Gain on sale of available-for-sale equity investments 7 2 23

Rental income 3 3 2

Foreign exchange gains 2) 19 28 34

Change in fair value of derivatives 3) 2 15 21

Other income 11 9 9

Other operating income, total 49 63 93

Loss on sale of subsidiaries and businesses 0 0 -1

Write-downs on fixed assets -5 -4 -5

Foreign exchange losses 2) -19 -22 -36

Change in fair value of derivatives 3) -6 -19 -19

Other expenses -18 -7 -8

Other operating expenses, total -48 -52 -69

Other operating income and expenses, net 1 11 24

1)  Gain on sale of the assets of panelboard operations in Hannover, Germany, for the year ended December 31, 2007, and gains on sale of panelboard operations in Nastola, Finland and Sundsvall, Sweden, 

as well as spreader roll manufacturing business (Finbow) and shares in Sweden-based Metso Foundries Karlstad AB for the year ended December 31, 2008.
2)  Includes foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from trade receivables and payables and related derivatives.
3) For more information on derivative financial instruments, see note 30.
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6 Personnel expenses and the number of personnel

Personnel expenses:

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Salaries and wages -1,033 -1,064 -989

Pension costs, defined contribution plans -89 -86 -84

Pension costs, defined benefit plans 1) -8 -10 -13

Other post-employment benefits 1) -3 -3 -3

Share-based payments -3 -2 -2

Other indirect employee costs -203 -208 -203

Total -1,339 -1,373 -1,294

1) For more information on pension costs, see note 27.

Board remuneration:

Year ended December 31,

EUR thousand 2007 2008 2009

Serving Board members December 31, 2009:

Jukka Viinanen - -44 -88

Jaakko Rauramo -56 -67 -64

Maija-Liisa Friman -59 -58 -53

Christer Gardell -48 -56 -53

Arto Honkaniemi - -46 -53

Yrjö Neuvo -48 -56 -53

Pia Rudengren - - -40

Jukka Leppänen1) -7 -7 -7

Former Board members:

Matti Kavetvuo -89 -105 -25

Svante Adde -50 -12 -

Eva Liljeblom -38 -12 -

Satu Huber -12 - -

Total -407 -463 -436

1) Has attended meetings as a personnel representative, no voting right.

According to the resolution of the Annual General Meeting held on March 31, 2009, the annual fees of the Board members are as follows: Chairman EUR 92,000, Vice 

Chairman EUR 56,000, and other members EUR 45,000 each. In addition, an attendance fee of EUR 600 per meeting is paid to all members for meetings of the Board 

and its Committees. Compensation for traveling expenses and daily allowances are paid in accordance with Metso’s travel policy.
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Additionally, in 2010 a bonus of about EUR 180,000 will be paid to President 

and CEO Jorma Eloranta and a bonus of about EUR 144,000 to Executive Vice 

President and CFO Olli Vaartimo based on year 2009 performance. 

Metso has subscribed pension plans for senior management for retire-

ment at the age of 60, the beneficiaries include some members of the Metso 

Executive Team. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, the 

pension insurance premium payments totaled approximately EUR 1.8 million, 

EUR 2.3 million and EUR 3.0 million, respectively.

Remuneration paid to President and CEO Jorma Eloranta is presented in the 

table above. The fringe benefits comprised a company car and a telephone. Mr. 

Eloranta participates in the remuneration and commitment program for Metso’s 

management, the remuneration of which consists of Metso shares and a cash-

settled portion. For more information on share-based payments, see note 22.

According to his executive contract, Jorma Eloranta is eligible to retire at 

the age of 60 (February 2011) and his retirement pension is 60 percent of his 

pensionable compensation during the past four or ten service years, whichever 

results in a greater amount. In case of termination of contract, he is entitled to 

compensation equal to 24 months’ salary.

Remuneration paid to Executive Vice President and CFO Olli Vaartimo is 

presented in the table above. The fringe benefits comprised a company car, an 

apartment and a telephone. Mr. Vaartimo participates in the remuneration and 

commitment program for Metso’s management, the remuneration of which 

consists of Metso shares and a cash-settled portion. For more information on 

share-based payments, see note 22.

According to his executive contract, Olli Vaartimo is eligible to retire at the 

age of 60 (September 2010) and his retirement pension is 60 percent of his 

pensionable compensation during the past four or ten service years, whichever 

results in a greater amount. In case of termination of contract, he is entitled to 

compensation equivalent to 24 months’ salary. 

Board share ownership in Metso as at December 31, 2009:

Jukka Viinanen 1,000

Jaakko Rauramo 6,000

Maija-Liisa Friman 1,500

Christer Gardell -

Arto Honkaniemi -

Yrjö Neuvo 7,100

Pia Rudengren -

Jukka Leppänen1) 520

Total 16,120

1) Has attended meetings as a personnel representative, no voting right.

Remuneration paid to Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other Executive Team members:

EUR
Annual basic

salary

Performance
bonus from

previous year
Fringe

benefits
Share-based

payment Total

Number  
of shares  
granted

2007

President and CEO 512,096 249,530 13,172 415,848 1,190,646 5,000

Executive Vice President and CFO 361,185 175,173 22,071 401,709 960,138 4,830

Other Executive Team members 908,142 386,174 54,207 1,329,494 2,678,017 15,985

Total 1,781,423 810,877 89,450 2,147,051 4,828,801 25,815

2008

President and CEO 546,034 232,283 13,604 254,453 1,046,374 3,717

Executive Vice President and CFO 382,999 159,448 21,776 181,752 745,975 2,655

Other Executive Team members 1,207,033 385,852 72,182 642,874 2,307,941 9,391

Total 2,136,066 777,583 107,562 1,079,079 4,100,290 15,763

2009

President and CEO 525,232 133,178 13,999 32,831 705,240 1,668

Executive Vice President and CFO 367,951 74,445 23,847 23,140 489,383 1,192

Other Executive Team members 1,222,041 299,330 56,466 79,843 1,657,680 4,136

Total 2,115,224 506,953 94,312 135,814 2,852,303 6,996
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Depreciation and amortization expenses consist of the following:

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Intangible assets -56 -44 -41

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings and structures -19 -20 -21

Machinery and equipment -73 -74 -81

Total -148 -138 -143

Depreciation and amortization by function are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Cost of goods sold -91 -80 -82

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Marketing and selling -14 -14 -15

Research and development -6 -5 -4

Administrative -37 -39 -42

Total -148 -138 -143

7 Depreciation and amortization

Average number of personnel during the period:

2007 2008 2009

Mining and Construction Technology 9,259 10,481 10,397

Energy and Environmental Technology 5,716 6,160 6,254

Paper and Fiber Technology 10,109 10,256 10,085

Valmet Automotive 852 744 670

Group Head Office and other 333 369 407

Group Head Office and others total 1,185 1,113 1,077

Metso total 26,269 28,010 27,813

Executive Team share ownership in Metso as at December 31, 2009:

Jorma Eloranta 32,185

Olli Vaartimo 11,621

Matti Kähkönen 10,728

Pasi Laine 7,837

Bertel Langenskiöld 8,854

Kalle Reponen 3,155

Total 74,380

Number of personnel at end of year:

2007 2008 2009

Mining and Construction Technology 9,754 11,259 9,541

Energy and Environmental Technology 5,857 6,357 6,060

Paper and Fiber Technology 10,093 10,544 10,459

Valmet Automotive 789 783 679

Group Head Office and other 344 379 427

Group Head Office and others total 1,133 1,162 1,106

Metso total 26,837 29,322 27,166
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The components of income taxes are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Current tax expense -109 -145 -96

Deferred taxes -54 -13 25

Income taxes, total -163 -158 -71

The differences between income tax expense computed at Finnish statutory rate and income tax expense provided on earnings are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Income before taxes 547 548 222

Income tax expense at Finnish statutory rate -142 -142 -58

Income tax for prior years 4 11 -9

Difference between Finnish and foreign tax rates -31 -25 -13

Benefit of operating loss carryforward 5 0 0

Operating losses with no current tax benefit -1 -2 -2

Non-deductible expenses -2 -2 -1

Other 4 2 12

Income tax expense -163 -158 -71

9 Income taxes

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Financial income

Dividends received 1 0 0

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 14 14 15

Income on financial investments 0 0 2

Other financial income 3 2 3

Financial income total 18 16 20

Financial expenses

Interest expenses from financial liabilities at amortized cost -46 -70 -74

Interest expenses on financial leases -1 -1 -1

Other financial expenses -11 -10 -13

Net gain (+) / loss (-) from foreign exchange 7 -24 -4

Financial expenses total -51 -105 -92

Financial income and expenses, net -33 -89 -72

8 Financial income and expenses, net
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Reconciliation of deferred tax balances:

EUR million

Balance at  
beginning  

of year

Charged to 
 income  

statement

Charged to  
shareholders’ 

 equity
Translation 

 differences
Acquisitions 

 and disposals
Balance at  

end of year

2008

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses carried forward 41 -19 14 -1 - 35

Fixed assets 14 - - - - 14

Inventory 29 5 - - - 34

Provisions 22 -1 6 - - 27

Accruals 29 3 - - - 32

Pension related items 23 -3 13 - - 33

Other 40 -3 8 -3 - 42

Total deferred tax assets 198 -18 41 -4 - 217

Offset against deferred tax liabilities 1) -54 11 - - - -43

Net deferred tax assets 144 -7 41 -4 - 174

Deferred tax liabilities

Purchase price allocations 54 -4 - - 4 54

Fixed assets 11 4 - - - 15

Other 30 -5 -7 - 1 19

Total deferred tax liabilities 95 -5 -7 - 5 88

Offset against deferred tax assets 1) -54 11 - - - -43

Net deferred tax liabilities 41 6 -7 - 5 45

Deferred tax assets, net 103 -13 48 -4 -5 129

2009

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses carried forward 35 14 -9 1 - 41

Fixed assets 14 2 - - 1 17

Inventory 34 -1 - - - 33

Provisions 27 6 -4 - - 29

Accruals 32 -3 - - - 29

Pension related items 33 0 -1 - - 32

Other 42 -1 -3 5 - 43

Total deferred tax assets 217 17 -17 6 1 224

Offset against deferred tax liabilities 1) -43 -10 - - - -53

Net deferred tax assets 174 7 -17 6 1 171

Deferred tax liabilities

Purchase price allocations 54 -4 - - 19 69

Fixed assets 15 1 - - 10 26

Other 19 -5 -1 - 1 14

Total deferred tax liabilities 88 -8 -1 - 30 109

Offset against deferred tax assets 1) -43 -10 - - - -53

Net deferred tax liabilities 45 -18 -1 - 30 56

Deferred tax assets, net 129 25 -16 6 -29 115

1)  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. 

A deferred tax liability on undistributed profits of subsidiaries located in coun-

tries where distribution generates tax consequences is recognized when it is 

likely that earnings will be distributed in the near future. For the years ended 

December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively, earnings of EUR 137 million and EUR 

196 million would have been subject to recognition of a deferred tax liability, 

had Metso regarded a distribution in the near future as likely.
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Acquisition of Tamfelt in 2009

Metso acquired Tamfelt Corporation, a Finnish corporation listed in the NASDAQ 

OMX Helsinki exchange, through a public share exchange offer that was com-

pleted at the end of December 2009. The total transaction value was EUR 215 

million whereof EUR 206 million was compensated by offering 8,593,642 new 

Metso shares representing 95.2% of Tamfelt’s shares and votes. Prior to the trans-

action, Metso held Tamfelt shares worth EUR 4 million i.e. 2.8% of Tamfelt’s shares 

and votes. The remaining 2.0% of Tamfelt’s shares, estimated to amount to about 

EUR 4 million, will be redeemed with cash in 2010 as per the Finnish Companies 

Act. The transaction value includes EUR 5 million in expenses and transfer taxes 

related to the acquisition.

The transaction value, together with the shares already held, exceeded the 

net assets of Tamfelt by EUR 117 million, whereof EUR 53 million was allocated to 

Preliminary details of the acquired net assets and goodwill are as follows:

EUR million Carrying value
 Fair value  

allocations Fair value

Intangible assets 4 53 57

Property, plant and equipment 87 10 97

Inventories 30 - 30

Trade and other receivables 30 - 30

Deferred tax liabilities, net -9 -16 -25

Other liabilities assumed -22 - -22

Non-interest bearing net assets 120 47 167

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 19

Debt assumed -36

Transaction value -215

Pre-acquisition holding of Tamfelt shares -4

Costs related to acquisition -1

Goodwill 70

Transaction value settled in cash -4

Costs related to acquisition -1

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 19

Net cash inflow on acquisition 14

Metso recognized intangible assets relating to the acquired business as follows: 

EUR million Amortization periods  Fair value

Technology 8 years 1

Customer relationships 9 to 10 years 36

Customer agreements 1 to 3 years 9

Order backlog 12 months 7

Other intangible assets 1 to 9 years 4

Total 57

10 Acquisitions

intangible assets, representing the fair values of acquired customer base, order 

backlog and technology. Furthermore, EUR 10 million was allocated to the prop-

erty, plant and equipment, to reflect their appraisal to fair values. The deferred 

tax liability resulting from these allocations was EUR 16 million. The remain-

ing EUR 70 million represents goodwill, which reflects the value of assembled 

workforce, significant synergy benefits and widened business portfolio offering 

Metso potential to expand its operations into new markets and customer seg-

ments.

Had the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2009, Metso’s net sales would 

have increased by EUR 130 million. The calculation of pro forma net income 

of the acquired business would be impractical considering the effects of the 

acquisition cost.
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Other acquisitions in 2009

In November Metso acquired Kromatek (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., a Chinese company 

in the chromium plating business. The purchase price was less than EUR 1 mil-

lion and the company was combined into Metso’s Paper and Fiber Technology 

segment from December 1, 2009 onwards.

In November Metso also acquired the coater, creping and doctor blade busi-

ness of Pacific International, a division of Pacific/Hoe Saw&Knife Company, located 

in Portland, Oregon, USA. The acquisition amounted to EUR 1 million. The unit was 

combined into the Paper and Fiber Technology segment on November 12, 2009.

In October Metso acquired M&J Industries A/S, a Danish manufacturer of mo-

bile and stationary products for solid-waste crushing, The company was integrated 

into the Recycling business line of Metso’s Energy and Environmental Technology 

segment on October 7, 2009. The net debt free acquisition price was EUR 15 mil-

lion, of which EUR 6 million was allocated to intangible assets, representing the fair 

values of the acquired customer base, technology, and order backlog. EUR 3 million 

was allocated to property, plant and equipment representing their appraisal to fair 

values. The excess purchase price of EUR 4 million represents goodwill associated to 

Metso’s improved market position in new and rapidly growing industrial markets.

Summary information on other acquisitions made 2009 is as follows:

EUR million Carrying value
 Fair value  

allocations Fair value

Intangible assets 1 8 9

Property, plant and equipment 5 3 8

Inventories 28 - 28

Trade and other receivables 21 - 21

Deferred tax liabilities -1 -3 -4

Other liabilities assumed -44 - -44

Non-interest bearing net assets 10 8 18

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 9

Debt assumed -20

Purchase price -19

Goodwill 12

Purchase price settled in cash -19

Deferred payments on prior year acquisitions -5

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 9

Net cash outflow on acquisitions -15

Metso recognized intangible assets relating to the acquired businesses as follows:

EUR million Amortization periods Fair value

Technology 3 to 10 years 2

Customer relationships 5 years 4

Order backlog 12 months 2

Other intangible assets 5 years 1

Total 9

In January Metso and Wärtsilä finalized the combination of Metso’s Heat 

& Power business with Wärtsilä’s Biopower business into a new company MW 

Power Oy, of which Metso owns 60% and Wärtsilä 40%. In this non-cash transac-

tion Wärtsilä contributed its business into MW Power Oy in exchange of the 

shares in the company. The company is fully consolidated into the Energy and 

Environmental Technology segment’s Power business line from January 1, 2009 

onwards. Goodwill of EUR 7 million arose from this transaction, representing 

Metso’s increased potential to offer competitive solutions for the markets utiliz-

ing renewable energy sources through complementing technologies of the two 

businesses.

In January Metso also acquired Oktokon Oy, a Finnish engineering com-

pany, into its Power business line.

The acquired businesses contributed net sales of EUR 115 million and net 

profit of EUR 6 million for the period from their acquisition to December 31, 2009. 

Had these acquisitions taken place on January 1, 2009, Metso’s net sales for 2009 

would have increased by EUR 20 million and net profit would have decreased by 

EUR 1 million.
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Acquisitions in 2008

In October Metso acquired G & F Beltline Services Pty Ltd, a provider of conveyer 

belt line installations and maintenance services based in Australia. The acquisition 

price was approximately EUR 6 million and EUR 2 million thereof was allocated to 

intangible assets being the fair value of Beltline’s customer base. Goodwill of EUR 3 

million arose from the acquisition. The company was integrated into Metso’s Min-

ing and Construction Technology segment on October 15, 2008.

In September Metso acquired PSP Slévárna a.s. in Czech Republic. The 

company is a producer of finished manganese wear parts. The transaction was 

valued at about EUR 6 million whereof EUR 2 million was allocated to property, 

plant and equipment representing their fair values. The company was trans-

ferred into Metso’s ownership on October 1, 2008 and was integrated into the 

Mining and Construction Technology segment.

In September Metso also acquired from Finnish Fastpap Oy Ab its paper 

quality control business comprising the manufacturing and final assembly of 

measuring scanners used in Metso’s Quality Control Systems as well as after sales 

services. The unit was combined into the Energy and Environmental Technology 

segment  on October 1, 2008.

In September Metso increased its ownership in associated company Valmet-

Xi’an Paper Machinery Co. Ltd in China. Metso’s holding increased from 48.3% to 

75% and the company was consolidated into Metso’s balance sheet in Septem-

ber. The cash paid for the incremental portion was EUR 5 million and the value of 

the previously held investment in associated companies was EUR 6 million. The 

company held a cash balance of EUR 13 million. A goodwill of EUR 1 million was 

recognized from the transaction.  

Metso acquired in June Mapag Valves GmbH, a German manufacturer of 

butterfly valves which was combined into the Energy and Environmental Tech-

nology segment. The debt-free acquisition price was EUR 36 million, of which 

EUR 10 million was allocated to intangible assets, representing the fair values of 

the acquired technology, customer base and order backlog. The excess purchase 

price of EUR 10 million represents goodwill associated to Metso’s improved 

market position in new and rapidly growing industrial markets.

In May, Metso acquired Kemotron A/S, a Danish manufacturer of advanced 

measurement systems mainly to the pulp, paper and chemical industry. The 

purchase price was about EUR 3 million and the company was combined into 

the Energy and Environmental Technology segment. 

The acquired businesses contributed net sales of EUR 32 million and net 

profit of EUR 0 million for the period from their acquisition to December 31, 

2008. Had these acquisitions taken place on January 1, 2008, Metso’s net sales 

and net profit would have increased by EUR 55 million and EUR 1 million, 

respectively.

Summary information on acquisitions made in 2008:

EUR million Carrying value
 Fair value  

allocations Fair value

Intangible assets 0 12 12

Property, plant and equipment 10 3 13

Inventories 24 - 24

Trade and other receivables 18 - 18

Deferred tax liabilities -1 -4 -5

Minority interest -3 - -3

Other liabilities assumed -24 - -24

Non-interest bearing net assets 24 11 35

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 13

Pre-acquisition investment in associated companies (Valmet-Xi'an) -6

Debt assumed -11

Purchase price -48

Goodwill 17

Purchase price settled in cash -48

Settlement of acquired debt -9

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 13

Net cash outflow on acquisitions -44

Metso recognized intangible assets relating to the acquired businesses as follows:

EUR million Amortization periods  Fair value

Technology 10 years 3

Customer relationships 5 to 7 years 7

Order backlog 12 months 2

Total 12
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Acquisitions in 2007

Metso acquired North American metal recycling provider, Bulk Equipment 

Systems and Technologies Inc (B.E.S.T. Inc), on March 30, 2007 and it was consoli-

dated into the Energy and Environmental Technology segment. The acquisition 

price was approximately EUR 9 million, of which EUR 3 million was allocated to 

intangible assets, representing the fair values of the acquired customer base, 

brands, technology and order backlog. The excess purchase price of EUR 7 mil-

lion represents goodwill associated to Metso’s improved position in the North 

American metal recycling market.

On June 27, 2007, Metso acquired Mecanique et Dépannage Industries 

s.a.r.l. (MDI), a French company supplying maintenance services to the paper 

industry. The purchase price was less than EUR 1 million. The company became 

part of Metso’s Paper and Fiber Technology.

Metso’s Paper and Fiber Technology acquired on July 18, 2007 a UK based 

service provider Bender Holdings Limited with its subsidiaries. The purchase 

price was EUR 16 million, net of cash acquired. EUR 10 million was allocated to 

intangible assets, representing the fair values of acquired technology, customer 

base and existing long-term contracts. The excess purchase price of EUR 6 mil-

lion is goodwill related to Metso’s improved position in the worldwide market for 

services to pulp and paper industry.

Metso strengthened its metal recycling business by acquiring Mueller Engi-

neering Inc. in the USA on October 31, 2007 when the company was consolidated 

into the Energy and Environmental Technology. Mueller Engineering is a shredder 

plant service provider specializing in servicing the drive motors and related 

equipment critical to the functioning of the shredder. The purchase price was EUR 

6 million, of which EUR 3 million was allocated to intangible assets representing 

the fair values of acquired customer base, technology and order backlog and the 

remaining EUR 4 million represents goodwill arising from the leading market posi-

tion gained on metal recycling plant services in North America.

The acquired businesses contributed net sales of EUR 17 million and net 

profit of EUR 2 million for the period from their acquisition to December 31, 

2007. Had these acquisitions taken place on January 1, 2007, Metso’s net sales 

and net profit would have increased by EUR 26 million and EUR 3 million, 

respectively.

Summary information on acquisitions made in 2007:

EUR million Carrying value
 Fair value  

allocations Fair value

Intangible assets 0 16 16

Property, plant and equipment 2 - 2

Inventories 2 - 2

Trade and other receivables 8 - 8

Deferred tax liabilities -1 -5 -6

Other liabilities assumed -7 - -7

Non-interest bearing net assets 4 11 15

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 4

Debt assumed -1

Purchase price -36

Goodwill 18

Purchase price settled in cash -36

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 4

Net cash outflow on acquisitions -32

Metso recognized intangible assets relating to the acquired businesses as follows:

EUR million Amortization periods  Fair value

Technology  3 to 10 years 4

Customer relationships 3 to 8 years 8

Order backlog 10 to 12 months 2

Brands not amortized 1

Other intangible assets  2 to 3 years 1

Total 16
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The business disposals were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 1 0 2

Intangible assets 0 1 0

Property, plant and equipment 0 5 2

Goodwill - 1 -

Other assets 8 5 4

Liabilities sold -3 -4 -3

Net assets of disposed businesses 6 8 5

Gain (+) / loss (-) on disposal 4 4 -1

Total consideration 10 12 4

Consideration received in cash 10 12 4

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of -1 0 -2

Net cash inflow on disposals 9 12 2

11 Disposals of businesses

In May 2009, Metso sold Metso Paper Turku Works Oy in Finland to Stairon Oy. 

The company manufactures air systems for the pulp and paper industry and it 

was part of Metso’s Paper business line. The sale had no significant impact on 

Metso.

In January 2009, Metso sold the composites manufacturing business and 

related assets in Oulu, Finland, to xperion Oy for a consideration of EUR 2 million. 

The unit was part of Metso’s Paper business line. 

In September 2008, Metso divested the shares in Sweden-based Metso 

Foundries Karlstad AB to a group of financial investors represented by Primaca 

Group Oy. Metso will continue as a minority owner with a 16.7 percent holding 

in Heavycast Oy, a new company to which the Primaca Group transferred the 

acquired shares. The value of the transaction was approximately EUR 15 million, 

and Metso recognized a small tax-free capital gain from the sale. The divested 

business was part of Paper and Fiber Technology segment.

In May 2008, Metso sold its spreader roll manufacturing business and 

related assets located in Nokia, Finland to a group of Finnish investors. They 

continued the business under the name of Finbow Oy. The divestment was 

not material for Metso. The divested business was part of Paper and Fiber 

Technology.

In January 2008, Metso concluded the divestment of its Panelboard busi-

ness. The panelboard operations in Nastola, Finland and Sundsvall, Sweden were 

divested to the German company Dieffenbacher GmbH + Co. KG. The transac-

tion price was EUR 2 million. The assets of the Panelboard business in Hannover, 

Germany, were sold to Siempelkamp Energy Systems GmbH in September 2007. 

The transaction price was EUR 7 million.

Metso sold the majority of Metso Paper AG in Delémont, Switzerland, in 

March 2007. Metso remained as a minority shareholder in the company. The 

transaction price net of cash sold was EUR 2 million.

None of these businesses qualified as separate business line within Metso, 

hence was not classified as discontinued operations. The gains on these dispos-

als are reported under other operating income and expenses, net.
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Year ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009

Profit attributable to equity shareholders, EUR million 381 389 150

Weighted average number of shares issued and outstanding (in thousands) 141,460 141,595 141,477

Adjustment for potential shares distributed (in thousands) - - 49

Weighted average number of diluted shares issued and outstanding (in thousands) 141,460 141,595 141,526

Diluted earnings per share, EUR 2.69 2.75 1.06

Year ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009

Profit attributable to equity shareholders, EUR million 381 389 150

Weighted average number of shares issued and outstanding (in thousands) 141,460 141,595 141,477

Basic earnings per share, EUR 2.69 2.75 1.06

Earnings per share are calculated as follows:

Basic

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares in issue during the year, excluding own shares.

Diluted

The shares to be potentially issued in the future are treated as outstanding 

shares when calculating the “Diluted earnings per share” if they have a diluting 

effect. The own shares held by Metso are reissued within the terms of the share 

ownership plan to the key personnel if the targets defined in the plan are 

met. The diluted earnings per share are calculated by increasing the weighted 

12 Earnings per share

average number of outstanding shares with the number of those shares, which 

would be distributed to the beneficiaries based on the results achieved, if the 

conditional earning period ended at the end of the financial period in question. 

As at December 31, 2009, Metso held 348,776 own shares intended for the share 

ownership plans.
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13 Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

EUR million Goodwill

Patents  
and 

 licences
Capitalized 

software

Other  
intangible  

assets

Intangible  
assets 
 total

2008

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 772 71 52 269 1,164

Translation differences -8 0 -1 -9 -18

Business acquisitions 17 - 0 12 29

Disposals of businesses -1 -1 0 - -2

Capital expenditure - 1 4 41 46

Reclassifications -2 1 31 -30 0

Decreases - -2 -1 -2 -5

Acquisition cost at end of year 778 70 85 281 1,214

Accumulated amortization at beginning of year - -38 -28 -75 -141

Translation differences - 0 1 0 1

Business acquisitions - 0 0 - 0

Disposals of businesses - 0 0 - 0

Reclassifications - 4 -9 5 0

Decreases - 1 1 0 2

Amortization charges for the year - -7 -9 -28 -44

Accumulated depreciation at end of year - -40 -44 -98 -182

Net book value at end of year 778 30 41 183 1,032

2009

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 778 70 85 281 1,214

Translation differences 3 0 1 4 8

Business acquisitions 82 3 6 65 156

Disposals of businesses - - - 0 0

Capital expenditure - 3 8 21 32

Reclassifications - 4 23 -26 1

Decreases - -6 -3 -3 -12

Acquisition cost at end of year 863 74 120 342 1,399

Accumulated amortization at beginning of year - -40 -44 -98 -182

Translation differences - 0 -1 0 -1

Business acquisitions - -1 -4 -3 -8

Disposals of businesses - - - 0 0

Reclassifications - 0 0 0 0

Decreases - 3 3 2 8

Amortization charges for the year - -7 -11 -23 -41

Accumulated depreciation at end of year - -45 -57 -122 -224

Net book value at end of year 863 29 63 220 1,175

Metso participated in the European Emissions Tradings Scheme (EU ETS) and 

was granted CO
2
 emission rights of 93,839 units for the current compliance 

period of 2008 –2012 against greenhouse gases emitted by its power plant. As 

of December 31, 2008, the remaining emission rights amounted to 75,068 units, 

the market value of which was roughly EUR 1 million. No value has been recog-

nized in the balance sheet. In 2009, Metso sold the power plant and transferred 

the remaining rights to the buyer.
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EUR million
Land and  

water areas

Buildings  
and  

structures

Machinery 
 and 

 equipment

Assets 
 under  

construction

Property,  
plant and 

 equipment 
 total

2008

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 54 489 1,170 49 1,762

Translation differences -1 -9 -47 0 -57

Business acquisitions 2 4 15 0 21

Disposals of businesses 0 -2 -4 -1 -7

Capital expenditure 4 24 105 76 209

Reclassifications 0 22 39 -61 0

Decreases -1 -6 -54 0 -61

Acquisition cost at end of year 58 522 1,224 63 1,867

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year - -273 -855 - -1,128

Translation differences - 6 34 - 40

Business acquisitions - 0 -8 - -8

Disposals of businesses - 0 2 - 2

Reclassifications - 0 0 - 0

Decreases - 4 43 - 47

Depreciation charges for the year - -20 -74 - -94

Accumulated depreciation at end of year - -283 -858 - -1,141

Net book value at end of year 58 239 366 63 726

2009

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 58 522 1,224 63 1,867

Translation differences 1 8 40 0 49

Business acquisitions 1 71 189 1 262

Disposals of businesses - - -7 - -7

Capital expenditure 2 5 37 40 84

Reclassifications 0 9 47 -57 -1

Decreases 0 -20 -28 0 -48

Acquisition cost at end of year 62 595 1,502 47 2,206

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year - -283 -858 - -1,141

Translation differences - -4 -25 - -29

Business acquisitions - -39 -118 - -157

Disposals of businesses - - 5 - 5

Reclassifications - 0 0 - 0

Decreases - 13 24 - 37

Depreciation charges for the year - -21 -81 - -102

Accumulated depreciation at end of year - -334 -1,053 - -1,387

Net book value at end of year 62 261 449 47 819

For information on pledged assets, see note 28.
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Intangible assets arising from fair value allocations relating to acquired businesses

A follow-up on all business combinations that Metso has recognized in accordance with IFRS 3 is presented in the table below.

EUR million
Order  

backlog Technology Patents

Customer 
relation -

ships Brands
Other  

intangibles

Acquired  
intangible  

assets total

2008

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 8 59 6 77 16 1 167

Translation differences -1 -4 - -4 0 0 -9

Business acquisitions 2 3 - 7 - - 12

Decreases -6 - - - - - -6

Acquisition cost at end of year 3 58 6 80 16 1 164

Accumulated depreciation and amortization at beginning of year 0 -7 -4 -6 - - -17

Translation differences - 0 - 0 - 0 0

Decreases 6 - - - - - 6

Depreciation and amortization charges for the year -8 -8 0 -8 - 0 -24

Accumulated depreciation at end of year -2 -15 -4 -14 - 0 -35

Net book value at end of year 1 43 2 66 16 1 129

2009

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 3 58 6 80 16 1 164

Translation differences 0 1 - 2 0 0 3

Business acquisitions 8 3 - 40 - 10 61

Decreases - - - - - - -

Acquisition cost at end of year 11 62 6 122 16 11 228

Accumulated depreciation and amortization at beginning of year -2 -15 -4 -14 - - -35

Translation differences 0 0 - 0 - 0 0

Decreases - - - - - - -

Depreciation and amortization charges for the year -1 -7 -1 -9 - -1 -19

Accumulated depreciation at end of year -3 -22 -5 -23 - -1 -54

Net book value at end of year 8 40 1 99 16 10 174

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful life, i.e. brands, amounted to EUR 

16 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively. They 

relate to Mining and Construction Technology as well as Energy and Environ-

mental Technology segments, and have been recognized in connection with 

business acquisitions. As no economic useful life can be determined for these 

brands, the management has assessed them to have indefinite useful lives 

based on their continuous competitive advantage to the business. The brands 

are actively used in promoting the products. They are subject to annual impair-

ment test concurrently with that of the goodwill.

For the year ended December 31, 2009 the amortization expense related 

to the intangible assets recognized through business acquisitions was EUR 19 

million. The future amortization expense is expected to amount to EUR 33, EUR 

24, EUR 20, EUR 17 and EUR 13 million for the years 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 

2014, respectively.
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Assets leased under financial lease arrangements are included in property, plant and equipment as follows:

EUR million
Buildings and 

structures
Machinery and 

equipment

Property, plant  
and equipment 

 total

2008

Acquisition cost at end of year 27 6 33

Accumulated depreciation at end of year -14 -5 -19

Net book value at end of year 13 1 14

2009

Acquisition cost at end of year 22 6 28

Accumulated depreciation at end of year -15 -5 -20

Net book value at end of year 7 1 8

Capitalization of interest expenses

EUR million 2008 2009

Net capitalized interest at beginning of year 1 1

Capitalization of interest expenses 0 0

Amortization of capitalized interest expense 0 -1

Net capitalized interest at end of year 1 0

Goodwill and impairment tests

In the year ended December 31, 2009, the total amount of goodwill was EUR 863 

million equal to 48% of the equity. As at December 31, 2008, the goodwill amount-

ed to EUR 778 million being equal to 54% of the equity.

The goodwill arising from business acquisitions is allocated as of the acquisi-

tion date to cash generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the 

combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 

assigned to those units. The goodwill from business combinations concluded in 

2009 were allocated as follows:

Acquisition EUR million Allocated to

Biopower in Finland 7 Power business line

M&J Industries A/S in Denmark 4 Recycling business line

Tamfelt Corporation in Finland 70
Paper and Fiber  

Technology

Other 1
Principally Power  

business line

Total 82

When Metso reorganizes its reporting structure by changing the composi-

tion of one or more cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated, 

the goodwill is reallocated to the units affected based on their relative fair val-

ues, which correspond to the present values of the cash generating units’ cash 

flows at the time of the reorganization. Mining and Construction Technology 

segment was organized into two new business lines from July 1, 2009 onwards: 

the Services business line and the Equipment and Systems business line. 

Due to the way the segment is now managed and organized it is not 

feasible to calculate independent cash flows for the business lines, therefore 

subsequent to the organizational change Mining and Construction Technol-

ogy segment comprises only one cash generating unit carrying the goodwill 

allocated to the segment.  

Except for the reorganized Mining and Construction Technology, the cash 

generating units of the other reporting segments are the same as their business 

lines, which are described in note 32.

Metso assesses the value of its goodwill for impairment annually or more 

frequently, if facts and circumstances indicate a risk of impairment. The assessment 

is done using fair value measurement techniques, such as the discounted cash flow 

methodology. The testing is performed on the cash generating unit level to which 

the goodwill has been allocated. The recoverable amount of a cash generating unit 

is based on value-in-use calculations. In the discounted cash flow method, Metso 

discounts forecasted performance plans to their present value.

The performance plans, which include four years of projection, are calculated 

in the annual strategy process and subsequently approved by Metso’s manage-

ment and the Board of Directors. In addition to the projection period, the discount-

ed cash flows include an additional year, which is extrapolated from the perfor-

mance of the projection period adjusted for cyclicality of each cash generating unit. 

The growth rate reflecting the long-term average growth rate of businesses subject 

to testing, was estimated to be 1.7% in 2008 and 2009. The forecasted sales and 

production volumes are based on current structure and existing property, plant 

and equipment used by each cash generating unit. The assumptions requiring 

most management judgment are the market and product mix. Values assigned 

to key assumptions reflect past experience. Data on growth, demand and price 

development provided by various research institutions are utilized in establishing 

the assumptions for the projection period.

The discount rates used in testing are derived from the weighted average 

cost of capital based on comparable peer industry betas, capital structure and 

tax rates. The impact of the tax is eliminated to obtain pre-tax discount rates.  

In the September 2009 annual test, the average EBITDAs (earnings before 

interest, tax, depreciation, amortization and goodwill impairment) of the 

tested units for the projection period 2009 – 2013 were following: Mining and 
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Management believes that no reasonably possible change of the key assumptions used would cause the carrying value of any cash generating unit to exceed its 

recoverable amount.

*) Sensitivity numbers represent the weighted average impact to segments and the total represents the impact to the combined carrying goodwill of all segments.

Construction Technology 14%, Energy and Environmental Technology 10% and 

Paper and Fiber Technology 8% of net sales.

The sensitivity to impairment of each cash generating unit is tested 

by applying a change both in the discount and terminal growth rate. The 

discount rate is increased by 200 basis points and the terminal growth rate is 

dropped from 1.7% to 1.2%. The combined effect of these two assumptions 

decreased the fair value of the cash generating units by about 17% (19% 

in 2008) but did not indicate need for impairment. From time to time the 

sensitivity tests include several cash projections based on reasonable change 

in the future performance of a unit. However, the impact to the fair value 

obtained is limited as long as there is no permanent change expected in the 

business, which would affect the terminal value. These projections have not 

led to impairment. 

As a result of the annual impairment tests, no impairment losses were recog-

nized in 2008 and 2009. Since the unexpected weakening of the market prospects 

in the last quarter of 2008 Metso has been performing quarterly tests with updated 

cash projections to ensure the carrying values of its cash generating units do not 

exceed the discounted present values obtained through tests. The discount rates 

applied have been updated quarterly when material changes in rates have been ob-

served. The sensitivity analysis performed has been the same as in the annual impair-

ment test, and no indication of goodwill impairment has been detected. The fourth 

quarter test in 2009 was performed excluding impact of the Tamfelt acquisition.

A summary of changes in Metso’s goodwill by reporting segment is as follows: 

EUR million
Balance at  

beginning of year

Translation  
differences  

and other changes Acquisitions
Balance  

at end of year
As percent  

of total goodwill

2008

Mining and Construction Technology 356 -2 3 357 46%

Energy and Environmental Technology 267 1 12 280 36%

Paper and Fiber Technology 149 -10 2 141 18%

Total 772 -11 17 778 100%

2009

Mining and Construction Technology 357 1 - 358 41%

Energy and Environmental Technology 280 0 12 292 34%

Paper and Fiber Technology 141 2 70 213 25%

Total 778 3 82 863 100%

Apart from Mining and Construction Technology, which forms one single 

cash generating unit, no other cash generating unit has a significant amount 

of goodwill in comparison with the total amount of goodwill in Metso. The 

second biggest goodwill allocated to a cash generating unit, the Power business 

line, represents 24% of the total of EUR 863 million at December 31, 2009, the 

remainder being evenly spread over the other cash generating units. Valmet 

Automotive carries no goodwill. The amount of other intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives is insignificant.

Changes in assumptions  
Reduction of present values *)

EUR million
Derived weighted average cost 

of capital applied
Terminal  

growth rate 1.2%

Increase  
of discount rate by 200 bp,  
terminal growth rate 1.2%

2008

Mining and Construction Technology 11.2–11.3% 4% 18%

Energy and Environmental Technology 10.9–11.3% 3% 22%

Paper and Fiber Technology 11.2–11.4% 3% 18%

Total 10.9–11.4% 4% 19%

2009

Mining and Construction Technology 12.0% 3% 17%

Energy and Environmental Technology 11.4–12.6% 3% 17%

Paper and Fiber Technology 10.5–11.5% 4% 19%

Total 10.5–12.6% 3% 17%

Summary of assumptions and impacts of change in assumptions to present values:
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14 Investments in associated companies

                            As at December 31,

2008 2009

Carrying
value

Carrying
valueEUR million Ownership Ownership

Allimand S.A. 35.8% 5 35.8% 4

Shanghai Neles-Jamesbury Valve Co. Ltd 50.0% 6 50.0% 7

Others 3 2

Total investments in associated companies and joint ventures 14 13

Shanghai Neles-Jamesbury Valve Co. Ltd is classified as joint venture because Metso has, together with the other shareholder, joint power to govern the company.

The amounts representing Metso’s share of the assets and liabilities, net sales and results of the associated companies and joint ventures, which have been 

 accounted for using the equity method are presented below:

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Assets 52 37 40

Liabilities 33 22 27

Net sales 55 51 34

Profit 3 3 0

Related party transactions

The following transactions were carried out with associated companies and joint ventures and the following balances have arisen from such transactions:

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Net sales 4 2 1

Purchases 13 7 6

Receivables 2 3 1

Payables 1 0 1

EUR million 2008 2009

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 6 3

Translation differences 0 0

Increases - -

Disposals and other decreases -3 -

Acquisition cost at end of year 3 3

Equity adjustments in investments in associated companies and joint ventures

Equity adjustments at beginning of year 13 11

Share of results 3 0

Translation differences 0 -1

Dividend income -2 0

Disposals and other changes -3 -

Equity adjustments at end of year 11 10

Carrying value of investments in associated companies and joint ventures at end of year 14 13

                            As at December 31,
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As at December 31,

2008 2009

EUR million (except for number of shares)
Number 
of shares Ownership

Carrying
value

Number 
of shares Ownership

Carrying
value

Tamfelt Corporation 726,300 2.6% 5 - - -

Talvivaara Mining Company Plc. 7,116,535 3.2% 9 1,392,330 0.6% 6

Other shares and securities 4 9

Total available-for-sale equity investments 18 15

The available-for-sale equity investments have changed as follows: 

EUR million 2008 2009

Carrying value at beginning of year 45 18

Additions 1 4

Changes in fair values -24 22

Disposals and other changes -4 -29

Carrying value at end of year 18 15

15 Available-for-sale equity investments
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Information on balance sheet items of uncompleted projects at December 31 is as follows:

EUR million

Cost and earnings
of uncompleted

projects
Billings of

projects Net

2008

Projects where cost and earnings exceed billings 1,754 1,392 362

Projects where billings exceed cost and earnings 968 1,291 323

2009

Projects where cost and earnings exceed billings 1,721 1,409 312

Projects where billings exceed cost and earnings 1,257 1,587 330

Net sales recognized under the percentage of completion method amounted to EUR 2,280 million, or 36 percent of net sales, in 2008 and EUR 1,733 million, or 35 

percent of net sales, in 2009. The percentage was highest in the Paper and Fiber Technology segment, where it accounted for 51 percent in 2008 and 46 percent in 

2009. 

16 Percentage of completion

           As at December 31,

EUR million 2008 2009

Materials and supplies 361 286

Work in process 706 478

Finished products 539 408

Total inventory 1,606 1,172

The cost of inventories recognized as expense was EUR 4,652 million and EUR 3,726 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

Provision for inventory obsolescence has changed as follows:

EUR million 2008 2009

Balance at beginning of year 57 67

Impact of exchange rates -3 2

Additions charged to expense 14 29

Increase from business acquisitions 3 6

Realized reserve -3 -5

Deductions / other additions -1 -5

Balance at end of year 67 94

For additional information on provisions, see also note 3.

17 Inventory
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18 Interest bearing and non-interest bearing receivables

As at December 31,

2008 2009

EUR million Non-current Current Total Non-current Current Total

Interest bearing receivables

Loan receivables 7 2 9 8 1 9

Available-for-sale financial investments 5 - 5 130 79 209

Financial instruments held for trading - - - 40 - 40

Trade receivables 1 7 8 1 7 8

Total 13 9 22 179 87 266

Non-interest bearing receivables

Loan receivables 0 3 3 - 0 0

Trade receivables 1 930 931 0 738 738

Prepaid expenses and accrued income - 71 71 - 78 78

Other receivables 25 142 167 44 122 166

Total 26 1,146 1,172 44 938 982

Metso actively manages its cash by investing in financial instruments with vary-

ing maturities. Instruments exceeding maturity of three months are classified as 

available-for-sale financial investments or financial instruments held for trading.

As of December 31, 2009, other non-interest bearing receivables comprised 

EUR 84 million of various federal and state tax receivables of Brazilian subsidiaries 

Provision for doubtful notes and receivables has changed as follows:

EUR million 2008 2009

Balance at beginning of year 36 40

Impact of exchange rates -2 1

Additions charged to expense 16 12

Increase from business acquisitions 0 0

Realized reserve -6 -3

Deductions / other additions -4 -11

Balance at end of year 40 39

For additional information on provisions, see also note 3.

Analysis of non-interest bearing trade receivables by age:

As at December 31,

EUR million 2008 2009

Trade receivables, not due at reporting date 632 529

Trade receivables 1–30 days overdue 136 121

Trade receivables 31– 60 days overdue 66 28

Trade receivables 61– 90 days overdue 37 22

Trade receivables 91–180 days overdue 35 13

Trade receivables more than 180 days overdue 25 25

Total 931 738

of which EUR 28 million of state tax receivables were classified as long-term. As 

of December 31, 2008, the Brazilian tax receivables amounted to EUR 69 million 

of which EUR 16 million of state tax receivables were classified as long-term.  
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19 Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities divided by categories were as follows as of December 31:

EUR million

Financial assets/liabilities  
at fair value through  

profit and loss 
and derivatives

Loans
and

receivables

Available- 
for-sale

financial
assets

Financial
liabilities

measured at  
amortized 

 cost
Carrying

value
Fair

value

2008

Non-current assets

Available-for-sale equity investments - - 18 - 18 18

Loan receivables - 7 - - 7 7

Available-for-sale financial investments - - 5 - 5 5

Financial instruments held for trading - - - - - -

Trade receivables - 2 - - 2 2

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - -

Other receivables - 25 - - 25 25

Carrying value by category - 34 23 - 57 57

Current assets

Loan receivables - 5 - - 5 5

Available-for-sale financial investments - - - - - -

Trade receivables - 937 - - 937 937

Derivative financial instruments 48 - - - 48 48

Other receivables - 213 - - 213 213

Carrying value by category 48 1,155 - - 1,203 1,203

Non-current liabilities

Bonds - - - 710 710 747

Loans from financial institutions - - - 368 368 376

Pension loans - - - 0 0 0

Finance lease obligations - - - 9 9 9

Other long-term debt - - - 2 2 2

Derivative financial instruments 8 - - - 8 8

Other liabilities - - - 4 4 4

Carrying value by category 8 - - 1,093 1,101 1,146

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt - - - 101 101 101

Loans from financial institutions - - - 104 104 104

Other short-term debt - - - 141 141 141

Trade payables - - - 733 733 733

Derivative financial instruments 82 - - - 82 82

Other liabilities - - - 456 456 456

Carrying value by category 82 - - 1,535 1,617 1,617
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EUR million

Financial assets/liabilities  
at fair value through  

profit and loss 
and derivatives

Loans
and

receivables

Available- 
for-sale

financial
assets

Financial
liabilities

measured at  
amortized 

 cost
Carrying

value
Fair

value

2009

Non-current assets

Available-for-sale equity investments - - 15 - 15 15

Loan receivables - 8 - - 8 8

Available-for-sale financial investments - - 130 - 130 130

Financial instruments held for trading 40 - - - 40 40

Trade receivables - 1 - - 1 1

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - -

Other receivables - 44 - - 44 44

Carrying value by category 40 53 145 - 238 238

Current assets

Loan receivables - 1 - - 1 1

Available-for-sale financial investments - - 79 - 79 79

Trade receivables - 745 - - 745 745

Derivative financial instruments 21 - - - 21 21

Other receivables - 200 - - 200 200

Carrying value by category 21 946 79 - 1,046 1,046

Non-current liabilities

Bonds - - - 865 865 948

Loans from financial institutions - - - 390 390 403

Pension loans - - - 50 50 50

Finance lease obligations - - - 5 5 5

Other long-term debt - - - 24 24 24

Derivative financial instruments 5 - - - 5 5

Other liabilities - - - 4 4 4

Carrying value by category 5 - - 1,338 1,343 1,439

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt - - - 173 173 173

Loans from financial institutions - - - 52 52 52

Other short-term debt - - - 17 17 17

Trade payables - - - 605 605 605

Derivative financial instruments 21 - - - 21 21

Other liabilities - - - 460 460 460

Carrying value by category 21 - - 1,307 1,328 1,328

For more information on derivative financial instruments, see note 30.
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20 Cash and cash equivalents

           As at December 31,

EUR million 2008 2009

Bank and cash 146 226

Commercial papers and other investments 168 501

Total cash and cash equivalents 314 727

Metso completed on December 23, 2009 the share exchange offer for all issued 

and outstanding shares of Tamfelt Corporation and a total of 8,593,642 new 

shares were subscribed. The share issue of EUR 206,075,535.16 has been recog-

nized in the invested non-restricted equity fund of the Parent Company.

During 2009, Metso Corporation repurchased 300,000 of company’s own 

shares to be used as a payment for possible rewards related to Metso Share 

Ownership Plan 2009 – 2011. In December 2009, MEO1V Incentive Ky, a limited 

partnership consolidated in Metso’s financial statements and established to 

manage Metso’s Share Ownership Plan for 2006 – 2008, was dissolved. The 

48,776 Metso shares owned by it were transferred to the ownership of the Par-

ent Company. As of December 31, 2009, the acquisition price of 409,617 own 

shares held by the Parent Company was EUR 4,932,631 and was recognized in 

the treasury stock.

Dividends

Metso Corporation’s Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting 

to be held on March 30, 2010 that a dividend of EUR 0.70 per share be distrib-

uted for the year ended December 31, 2009. These financial statements do not 

reflect this dividend payable of EUR 105 million.

Fair value and other reserves

Hedge reserve includes the fair value movements of derivative financial instru-

ments which qualify as cash flow hedges.

Fair value reserve includes the change in fair values of assets classified as 

available-for-sale. Shares granted are presented in fair value reserve.

Legal reserve consists of restricted equity, which has been transferred from 

distributable funds under the Articles of Association, local company act or by a 

decision of the shareholders.

The share issue related to the acquisition of Tamfelt Corporation was en-

tered to the trade register on December 28, 2009.

Other reserves consist of the distributable fund and the invested non-

restricted equity fund held by the Parent Company. 

21 Equity

Share capital and number of shares

Metso Corporation’s registered share capital, which is fully paid, was EUR 240,982,843.80 as at December 31, 2008 and 2009.

2008 2009

Number of outstanding shares, January 1 141,487,234 141,623,642

Share issue - 8,593,642

Redemption of own shares by the Parent Company - -300,000

Shares granted from share ownership plans 65,459 21,355

Own shares sold by partnership (MEO1V Incentive Ky) 70,949 -

Number of outstanding shares, December 31 141,623,642 149,938,639

Own shares held by the Parent Company 60,841 409,617

Shares administered by partnership (MEO1V Incentive Ky) 70,131 -

Total number of shares, December 31 141,754,614 150,348,256
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Changes in fair value and other reserves:

EUR million
Treasury

stock
Hedge 
reserve

Fair value
reserve

Legal 
reserve

Other 
reserves Total

Balance as of December 31, 2006 -12 9 4 229 202 432

Cash flow hedges

Fair value gains (+) / losses (-), net of taxes - 4 - - - 4

Transferred to profit and loss, net of taxes

Net sales - -8 - - - -8

Cost of goods sold / Administrative expenses - 2 - - - 2

Available-for-sale equity investments

Fair value gains (+) / losses (-), net of taxes - - 28 - - 28

Transferred to profit and loss, net of taxes - - -6 - - -6

Share-based payments, net of taxes 4 - 1 - - 5

Other - - - 7 -8 -1

Balance as of December 31, 2007 -8 7 27 236 194 456

Cash flow hedges

Fair value gains (+) / losses (-), net of taxes - -42 - - - -42

Transferred to profit and loss, net of taxes

Net sales - 10 - - - 10

Cost of goods sold / Administrative expenses - -1 - - - -1

Available-for-sale equity investments

Fair value gains (+) / losses (-), net of taxes - - -17 - - -17

Transferred to profit and loss, net of taxes - - -2 - - -2

Share-based payments, net of taxes 3 - 1 - - 4

Decrease and transfer of share premium and legal reserve - - - -215 292 77

Other 2 - - 3 - 5

Balance as of December 31, 2008 -3 -26 9 24 486 490

Cash flow hedges

Fair value gains (+) / losses (-), net of taxes - -5 - - - -5

Transferred to profit and loss, net of taxes

Net sales - 14 - - - 14

Cost of goods sold / Administrative expenses - 5 - - - 5

Available-for-sale equity investments

Fair value gains (+) / losses (-), net of taxes - - 16 - - 16

Transferred to profit and loss, net of taxes - - -17 - - -17

Share issue - - - - 206 206

Redemption of own shares -2 - - - - -2

Share-based payments, net of taxes 0 - 1 - - 1

Other - - - 2 - 2

Balance as of December 31, 2009 -5 -12 9 26 692 710

Foreign currency translation included in the shareholders’ equity:

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Cumulative translation adjustment as of January 1 -45 -76 -136

Currency translation on subsidiary net investments -29 -49 74

Hedging of net investment denominated in foreign currency -5 -15 0

Tax effect 3 4 0

Cumulative translation adjustment as of December 31 -76 -136 -62
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22 Share-based payments

Share ownership plan 2006–2008

The Board of Directors of Metso decided in December 2005 upon a share owner-

ship plan for the 2006 –2008 strategy period. The share ownership plan was 

part of the remuneration and commitment program of the management and 

covered a maximum of 360,000 own shares. The share ownership plan covered 

three earnings periods i.e. calendar years 2006, 2007 and 2008. The incentives 

consisted of both shares and cash. The cash-settled portion was dedicated to 

cover taxes and tax-related payments of the beneficiaries. The main earnings 

triggers were the operating profit targets and four years of service subsequent 

to grant date. The operating profit targets and potential personal earnings trig-

gers were set separately for each year.

A maximum share price was determined annually for the share ownership plan. 

Share ownership plan during earnings period 2006

The equity-settled portion for the earnings period 2006 is recognized over 

the vesting period i.e. from 2006 until March 2010 based on the average share 

price on the grant dates of EUR 29.71. The final amount of the granted shares 

was based on the average share price during the first two full weeks of March 

2007. If the share price exceeded the maximum, the number of shares awarded 

would have been reduced by a corresponding ratio. The maximum share price 

determined for the plan was EUR 38. The average price for the Metso share was 

EUR 37.66 during the first two full weeks of March 2007.

Share ownership plan during earnings period 2007

The equity-settled portion for the earnings period 2007 is recognized over 

the vesting period i.e. from 2007 until March 2011 based on the average share 

price on the grant dates of EUR 39.94. The final amount of the granted shares 

was based on the average share price during the first two full weeks of March 

2008. If the share price exceeded the maximum, the number of shares awarded 

would have been reduced by a corresponding ratio. The maximum share price 

determined for the plan was EUR 48. The average price for the Metso share was 

EUR 31.49 during the first two full weeks of March 2008.

Share ownership plan during earnings period 2008

The equity-settled portion for the earnings period 2008 is recognized over the 

vesting period i.e. from 2008 until March 2012 based on the average share price 

on the grant dates of EUR 32.36. The final amount of the granted shares was 

based on the share price on the payment date of the reward. The maximum 

reward under the plan was limited to each participant’s annual salary, calculated 

by multiplying 12.5 times the participant’s taxable monthly base salary payable 

in the month when the shares were received. The price for Metso share was EUR 

8.93 on the payment date of the reward.

Share ownership plan for the years 2009 –2011 (SOP 2009–2011)

The Board of Directors of Metso Corporation approved in October 2008 a new, 

share-based incentive plan for Metso’s management for the years 2009–2011. 

The plan includes one three-year earnings period. Participation in the plan 

required a personal investment in Metso shares at the beginning of the earnings 

period. 89 key persons are participating in the plan and their initial investment 

was 55,350 Metso shares, which must be held until the end of the earnings 

period. The rewards to be paid from the plan correspond to a maximum of 

373,175 shares. Earnings criteria are based on Metso's Total Shareholder Return 

(TSR) during three years’ time and on earnings per share in the years 2009–2011. 

The reward will be paid in Metso shares and in cash. The cash-settled portion is 

dedicated to cover taxes and tax-related payments. The maximum share reward 

is capped to each participant’s taxable annual basic salary, excluding perfor-

mance bonuses and share-based payments, multiplied by 1.5.

The equity-settled portion of the plan is recognized over the vesting period 

i.e. from the beginning of 2009 until the end of April 2012 based on calculated 

fair value of the Metso share as of the grant date of EUR 8.64. The historical 

development of the Metso share and the expected dividends have been taken 

into account when calculating the fair value.

Share ownership plan for the years 2010–2012 (SOP 2010–2012)

In October 2009 the Board of Directors of Metso Corporation approved a 

similar new, share-based incentive plan for Metso’s management for the years 

2010–2012. The plan includes one three-year earnings period, which started on 

January 1, 2010. The plan was initially targeted to about 100 Metso’s key persons 

of which 92 decided to participate. The participants committed to invest in 

about 51,000 Metso shares. The rewards to be paid from the plan correspond 

to a maximum of 343,000 shares. Earnings criteria of the plan are based on 

Metso's Total Shareholder Return (TSR) during three years’ time and on earnings 

per share in the years 2010–2012. The reward will be paid in Metso shares and 

in cash. The cash-settled portion is dedicated to cover taxes and tax-related 

payments. The maximum share reward is capped to each participant’s taxable 

annual basic salary, excluding performance bonuses and share-based payments, 

multiplied by 1.5.

The equity-settled portion of the plan is recognized over the vesting period 

from the beginning of 2010.

Costs recognized for the share ownership plans

The compensation expense for the shares, which is accounted for as equity-

settled, is recognized as an employee benefit expense with corresponding entry 

in equity. The cost of the equity-settled portion, which will be evenly recog-

nized during the required service period, is based on the market price of the 

Metso share on the grant date. The compensation expense resulting from the 

cash-settled portion is recognized as an employee benefit expense with a cor-

responding entry in short-term liabilities. The cash-settled portion is fair valued 

at each balance sheet date based on the prevailing share price and accrued until 

the settlement date.

2003 options program

Subsequent to a decision by Metso’s Board of Directors taken in August 2008, 

the remaining 100,000 year 2003A options of the program were cancelled. 

Consequently, there are no options outstanding or available from any of Metso’s 

option programs for subscription of shares in Metso Corporation.
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Beneficiaries and granted shares of the share ownership plan as at December 31, 2009:

Metso Executive 
Team Shares

Other benefi-
ciaries Shares

Beneficiaries 
total Shares total

Plan 2006

Granted 7 25,815 53 74,146 60 99,961

Returned during 2007 -4 -6,500 -4 -6,500

Returned during 2008 -4 -4,500 -4 -4,500

Returned during 2009 -4 -7,508 -4 -7,508

Returning during 2010 - -1,250 - -1,250

At end of year 7 25,815 41 54,388 48 80,203

Plan 2007

Granted 7 15,763 83 55,186 90 70,949

Returned during 2008 -4 -990 -4 -990

Returned during 2009 -4 -5,402 -4 -5,402

Returning during 2010 - -1,800 - -1,800

At end of year 7 15,763 75 46,994 82 62,757

Plan 2008

Granted 6 6,996 95 27,269 101 34,265

Returned during 2009 -1 - -1 -

Returning during 2010 - -629 - -629

At end of year 6 6,996 94 26,640 100 33,636

Total at the end of year 48,574 128,022 176,596

Costs recognized for the share ownership plans:

EUR thousand Plan 2006 Plan 2007 Plan 2008 SOP 2009–2011 Total

2006

Metso Executive Team -1,365 - - - -1,365

Other beneficiaries -3,466 - - - -3,466

Total -4,831 - - - -4,831

2007

Metso Executive Team -187 -685 - - -872

Other beneficiaries -182 -2,059 - - -2,241

Total -369 -2,744 - - -3,113

2008

Metso Executive Team -161 -258 -128 - -547

Other beneficiaries -406 -575 -300 - -1,281

Total -567 -833 -428 - -1,828

2009

Metso Executive Team -161 -143 -82 -184 -570

Other beneficiaries -229 -312 -294 -754 -1,589

Total -390 -455 -376 -938 -2,159

Total -6,157 -4,032 -804 -938 -11,931

From the cash-settled portion of Metso Share Ownership Plan, SOP 2009 –2011, a liability of EUR 706 thousand was recognized as an accrued expense as of the balance 

sheet date. 
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23 Long-term debt

Carrying values Fair values

EUR million 2008 2009 2008 2009

Bonds 793 984 830 1,067

Loans from financial institutions 383 425 391 438

Pension loans 0 64 0 64

Finance lease obligations 12 8 12 8

Other long-term debt 2 26 2 26

1,190 1,507 1,235 1,603

Less current maturities 101 173 101 173

Total 1,089 1,334 1,134 1,430

The fair values of long-term debt are equal to the present value of their future cash flows.

EUR million

Nominal
interest rate

Dec. 31, 2009

Effective
interest rate

Dec. 31, 2009
Original

loan amount

Outstanding carrying value  
at December 31,

2008 2009

Public bond 2004 – 2011 5.125% 6.46% 274 265 238

Public bond 2009 – 2014 7.250% 7.40% 300 1) - 199

Private placements maturing 2010-2018 0.95 – 7.08% 558 528 547

Bonds total 793 984

Less current maturities 83 119

Bonds, long-term portion 710 865

1) Out of this EUR 300 million total Metso Capital Ltd - 100% owned subsidiary of Metso - has subscribed EUR 100 million for potential resale after an 18-month lock-up period.

Metso has a Euro Medium Term Note Program (EMTN) of EUR 1.5 billion, under 

which EUR 793 million and EUR 984 million expressed in carrying value were 

outstanding at the end of 2008 and 2009, respectively. EUR 437 million of the 

outstanding amount were public bonds and EUR 547 million private placements.

Loans from financial institutions consist of bank borrowings with either fixed or 

variable interest rates. A major share of loans is either EUR or USD denominated. The 

interest rates vary from 0.8% to 6.0%. The loans are payable from year 2010 to 2018.

Interest rates of pension loans vary from 2.9% to 3.0% and of finance lease 

obligations from 4.0% to 5.0%.

Metso’s five-year revolving loan facility of EUR 500 million was arranged in 

2006 and includes 14 banks. The facility was undrawn at the end of 2008 and 2009.

EUR million Bonds

Loans from
financial

institutions
Pension

loans

Finance
lease

obligations

Other
long-term

debt Total

Repayments 119 35 14 3 2 173

Interests 55 12 2 0 0 69

Total 2010 174 47 16 3 2 242

Repayments 311 83 14 2 3 413

Interests 51 11 1 0 0 63

Total 2011 362 94 15 2 3 476

Repayments 114 88 14 1 20 237

Interests 31 8 1 0 4 44

Total 2012 145 96 15 1 24 281

Repayments 95 68 14 0 1 178

Interests 28 6 1 0 0 35

Total 2013 123 74 15 0 1 213

Repayments 200 67 7 1 0 275

Interests 22 4 0 0 0 26

Total 2014 222 71 7 1 0 301

Repayments 145 84 1 1 0 231

Interests 26 3 0 0 0 29

Later 171 87 1 1 0 260

The maturities of derivative financial instruments are presented in note 30.

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31:

Bonds:

Contractual maturities of interest bearing debt as at December 31, 2009 are as follows: 
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24 Provisions

As at December 31,

2008 2009

EUR million Non-current Current Total Non-current Current Total

Warranty and guarantee liabilities 16 162 178 19 160 179

Accrued restructuring expenses 3 13 16 11 28 39

Environmental and product liabilities 1 7 8 0 12 12

Other provisions 16 36 52 22 35 57

Total 36 218 254 52 235 287

The provisions, both non-current and current, have changed as follows during the financial year 2009:

EUR million

Balance at
beginning

of year 

Impact of
exchange

rates

Additions
charged to

expense
Realized 
reserve

Reversal of
reserve/

other changes
Balance at

end of year

Accrued restructuring expenses 16 1 47 -23 -2 39

Environmental and product liabilities 8 0 5 -1 0 12

Total 24 1 52 -24 -2 51

Provisions, for which the expected settlement date exceeds one year from the moment of their recognition, are discounted to their present value and adjusted in 
subsequent periods for the time effect.

Accrued restructuring expenses

The costs included in a provision for restructuring are those costs that are either 

incremental and incurred as a direct result of the formal plan approved and 

committed by management, or are the result of a continuing contractual obliga-

tion with no continuing economic benefit to Metso or a penalty incurred to 

cancel the contractual obligation. Provision also includes other costs incurred as 

a result of the plan, such as environmental liabilities and costs to transfer opera-

tions to new locations.

Environmental and product liabilities

Metso accrues for losses associated with environmental remediation obligations 

when such losses are probable and reasonably estimable. The amounts of accru-

als are adjusted later as further information develops or circumstances change. 

As at December 31, 2009, environmental liabilities amounted to EUR 4 million. 

They included clean-up costs for soil and water contamination at various sites in 

the Unites States previously operated by Mining and Construction Technology.

Metso is occasionally involved in product liability claims. As at December 31, 

2009, provisions for product liabilities amounted to EUR 8 million.

Warranty and guarantee provisions

The provisions for warranty and guarantee liabilities have changed as follows:

EUR million 2008 2009

Balance at beginning of year 193 178

Impact of exchange rates -8 6

Increase for current year's deliveries 98 75

Increase for previous years' deliveries 23 23

Increase from business acquisitions 2 2

Realized reserve -82 -77

Reversal of reserve / other changes -48 -28

Balance at end of year 178 179

Metso issues various types of contractual product warranties under which it 

generally guarantees the performance levels agreed in the sales contract, the 

performance of products delivered during the agreed warranty period and 

services rendered for a certain period or term. The warranty liability is based on 

historical realized warranty costs for deliveries of standard products and services. 

The usual warranty period is 12 months from the date of customer acceptance 

of the delivered equipment. For larger projects, the average warranty period is 

two years. For more complex contracts, including long-term projects, the war-

ranty reserve is calculated contract by contract and updated regularly to take 

into consideration any changes in the potential warranty liability.
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25 Short-term debt

Other interest bearing short-term debt consists of the following at December 31:

EUR million 2008 2009

Loans from financial institutions 104 52

Finnish commercial paper financing 141 17

Total 245 69

Trade and other payables consist of the following at December 31:

EUR million 2008 2009

Trade payables 733 605

Accrued interests 16 23

Accrued personnel costs 173 172

Accrued project costs 106 89

Other 161 176

Total 1,189 1,065

26 Trade and other payables

The weighted average interest rate applicable to short-term borrowing at 

December 31, 2008 and 2009 was 5.3% and 5.8%, respectively. In 2010, interest 

amounting to EUR 4 million is expected to be paid concurrently with respective 

principals on the short-term debt presented above.

Metso has established a Finnish commercial paper program amounting to 

EUR 500 million. Finnish commercial papers worth EUR 141 million and EUR 17 

million were outstanding as of December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

The maturities of payables rarely exceed six months. The maturities of trade pay-

ables are largely determined by local trade practices and individual agreements 

between Metso and its supplier.

Accrued project costs may be settled after six months depending on the 

issuance of the supplier invoice when the costs arise from work performed by 

third parties.

The accrued personnel costs, which include holiday pay, are settled in ac-

cordance with local laws and stipulations.
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27 Post-employment benefit obligations

The companies within Metso have various pension schemes pursuant to local 

conditions and practices of the countries in which they operate. Some of these 

programs are defined benefit schemes with retirement, healthcare, death, 

jubilee and termination income benefits. The benefits are generally a function 

of years of employment and salary with Metso. The schemes are mostly funded 

through payments to insurance companies or to trustee-administered funds 

as determined by periodic actuarial calculations. Metso uses December 31 as 

measurement date for its defined benefit arrangements. The discount rates ap-

plied are based on yields available on high quality (“AA” rated) corporate bonds. 

If such reference is not available, the rates are based on government bond yields 

as of the balance sheet date. The terms of corporate and government bonds are 

consistent with the currency and the estimated term of the pension obligations.

The amounts recognized as of December 31 in the balance sheet were following:

Pension benefits, Finnish  Pension benefits, foreign
Other post- 

employment benefits Total Total

EUR million 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

Present value of funded obligations 11 16 245 292 0 - 256 308

Fair value of plan assets -8 -12 -202 -248 0 - -210 -260

3 4 43 44 - - 46 48

Present value of unfunded obligations - - 103 104 36 36 139 140

Unrecognized asset - - 4 1 - - 4 1

Unrecognized past service cost 1 0 - - - 1 1 1

Net liability recognized 4 4 150 149 36 37 190 190

Amounts in the balance sheet:

Liabilities 4 4 151 149 36 37 191 190

Assets - - -1 0 - - -1 0

Net liability recognized 4 4 150 149 36 37 190 190

Movements in the net liability recognized in the balance sheet were as follows:

Pension benefits, Finnish
Foreign pension and other  
post-employment benefits

EUR million 2008 2009 2008 2009

Net liability at beginning of year 3 4 174 186

Acquisitions (+) and disposals (-) - - 4 1

Net expense recognized in the income statement 2 1 11 15

Employer contributions -2 -1 -23 -20

Gain (+) / loss (-) recognized through OCI 1 0 30 0

Translation differences - - -10 4

Net liability at end of year 4 4 186 186
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The amounts recognized in the income statement were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

 Pension benefits, Finnish  Pension benefits, foreign
Other post- 

employment benefits

EUR million 2007 2008 2009 2007 2008 2009 2007 2008 2009

Service cost 1 1 1 6 5 7 1 1 1

Interest cost 0 0 1 20 19 20 2 2 2

Expected return on plan assets 0 0 -1 -18 -16 -15 - - -

Amortization - Past service cost 0 2 0 0 - 0 0 - 0

Gains (-) / losses (+) on immediate settlements -1 -1 0 0 0 0 - - 0

Expense (+) / income (-) recognized in income statement 0 2 1 8 8 12 3 3 3

Actual return (+) / loss (-) on plan assets 0 1 3 17 -26 32 - - -

The amounts recognized through OCI were following:

Year ended December 31,

Pension benefits, 
 Finnish

 Pension benefits, 
 foreign

Other post- 
employment 

benefits Total Total

EUR million 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

Experience gain (-) / loss (+) on assets 0 -2 42 -17 - - 42 -19

Actuarial gain (-) / loss (+) on liabilities due to change in assumptions -1 0 -9 17 -2 2 -12 19

Actuarial gain (-) / loss (+) on liabilities due to experience 2 2 -1 2 -2 -2 -1 2

Gain (-) / loss (+) as result of asset ceiling - - 2 -2 - - 2 -2

Total gain (-) / loss (+) recognized through OCI 1 0 34 0 -4 0 31 0

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognized through OCI amounted to net loss of EUR 35 million, EUR 66 million and EUR 66 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively. The accumulated amount does not include translation differences of previous years.

In certain countries, companies are liable to pay a specific payroll tax on em-

ployee benefits, including defined benefits. To the extent the changes in the 

benefit obligation arise from actuarial gains and losses, the related payroll tax is 

also recognized through OCI. For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009 

the amount of payroll tax recognized through OCI was a loss of EUR 4 million 

and a gain of less than EUR 0.5 million, respectively.   
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The changes in the value of the defined benefit obligation were as follows:

Pension benefits, Finnish  Pension benefits, foreign
Other post- 

employment benefits Total Total

EUR million 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year 9 11 379 348 36 36 424 395

Service cost 1 1 5 7 1 1 7 9

Interest cost 0 1 19 20 2 2 21 23

Plan participant contributions - - 1 1 0 0 1 1

Past service cost (+) / credit (-) 2 - - 0 - 0 2 0

Acquisitions (+) and disposals (-) - - 1 0 3 - 4 0

Adjustment to coverage - - - 12 - 0 - 12

Actuarial gain (-) / loss (+) due to  
change in assumptions -1 0 -9 17 -2 2 -12 19

Actuarial gain (-) / loss (+) due to experience 2 2 -1 2 -2 -2 -1 2

Settlements -2 0 -2 -2 - - -4 -2

Translation differences - - -26 12 0 0 -26 12

Benefits paid - - -19 -21 -2 -2 -21 -23

Defined benefit obligation at end of year 11 15 348 396 36 37 395 448

The changes in the fair value of the plan assets during the year were as follows:

Pension benefits, Finnish
Foreign pension and other  
post-employment benefits

EUR million 2008 2009 2008 2009

Fair value of assets at beginning of year 7 8 243 202

Adjustments for new plans covered - - - 11

Settlements -2 0 -2 -2

Acquisitions - - 0 -

Actual return on plan assets 1 3 -26 32

Plan participant contributions - - 1 1

Employer contributions 2 1 23 20

Benefits paid - - -21 -24

Translation differences - - -16 8

Fair value of assets at end of year 8 12 202 248

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets as at December 31 were as follows:

2008 2009

Equity securities 32% 38%

Bonds 60% 41%

Other 8% 21%

The expected return on plan assets is set by reference to historical returns on each of the main asset classes, current market indicators such as long-term bond yields 
and the expected long-term strategic asset allocation of each plan. 

Summarized information on pension liabilities and plan assets for the five periods is as follows:

EUR million 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Present value of defined benefit obligations at December 31 428 431 424 395 448

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 234 246 250 210 260

Deficit 194 185 174 185 188

Unrecognized asset 1 2 2 4 1

Unrecognized past service cost 2 2 1 1 1
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The life expectancy of the participants is based on regularly updated mortality tables, which reflect the life expectancy of the local population.  

The mortality tables used for the major defined benefit plans are following:

Finland Gompertz’ model with Finnish TEL parameters

Germany Heubeck RT 2005 G

United Kingdom PXA92 year of birth

Canada UP94 projected to 2010/2015

United States of America RP2000 projected to 2015

An increase of one percentage point in the assumed health care cost trend 

would increase the accumulated post-employment benefit obligation by EUR 

2 million at December 31, 2009. It would increase the sum of the service and 

interest cost by EUR 0.2 million for 2009. A decrease of one percentage point in 

the assumed health care cost trend would decrease the accumulated post-

employment benefit obligation by EUR 2 million at December 31, 2009. It would 

decrease the sum of the service and interest cost by EUR 0.2 million for 2009. The 

health care cost trend is assumed to fall to 5% over the next five years by 0.75 

percentage points per annum for members over age 65 and to 5% over the next 

seven years by 0.5 percentage points per annum for members under age 65.

28 Mortgages and contingent liabilities

Mortgages and contingent liabilities consist of the following at December 31:

EUR million 2008 2009

On own behalf

Mortgages 5 22

Pledged assets 0 0

On behalf of associated companies

Guarantees - -

On behalf of others

Guarantees 9 7

Other commitments

Repurchase commitments 3 3

Other contingencies 3 3

Total 20 35

The mortgages given as security for own commitments relate to industrial real 

estate and other company assets. The mortgage amount on corporate debt has 

been calculated as the amount of corresponding loans. The nominal value of the 

mortgages at December 31, 2009 was EUR 27 million higher than the amount of 

the corresponding loans.

The repurchase commitments represent engagements whereby Metso 

agrees to purchase back equipment sold to customer. The conditions triggering 

the buy back obligation are specific to each sales contract. The amounts in the 

above table comprise the agreed value in full of each repurchase commitment.

Metso Corporation has guaranteed obligations arising in the ordinary 

course of business of many of its subsidiaries up to a maximum of EUR 1,271 mil-

lion and EUR 1,211 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

The principal actuarial assumptions at December 31 (expressed as weighted averages): 

Finnish Foreign

2008 2009 2008 2009

Benefit obligation: discount rate 5.50% 5.00% 5.98% 5.67%

Benefit obligation: rate of compensation increase 4.75% 4.41% 3.66% 3.61%

Benefit obligation: rate of pension increase 2.10% 2.10% 1.54% 1.55%

Expense in income statement: discount rate 5.00% 5.50% 5.58% 5.98%

Expense in income statement: rate of compensation increase 4.81% 4.75% 3.79% 3.66%

Expense in income statement: expected return on plan assets 5.82% 5.92% 7.43% 7.70%

Expense in income statement: rate of pension increase 2.10% 2.10% 1.50% 1.54%

The expected contributions in 2010 shall amount to EUR 1 million to Finnish plans and EUR 7 million to foreign plans. The expected benefits to be paid in 2010 shall 

amount to EUR 21 million.
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30 Derivative financial instruments

Notional amounts and fair values of derivative financial instruments as at December 31 were as follows:

           2008

EUR million
Notional  
amount

Fair value,  
assets

Fair value,  
liabilities

Fair value,  
net

Forward exchange contracts 1) 1,460 47 76 -29

Interest rate swaps 168 1 4 -3

Option agreements

Bought 12 0 - 0

Sold 12 - 1 -1

Electricity forward contracts 2) 635 0 7 -7

Nickel swap contracts 3) 258 0 2 -2

Total 48 90 -42

29 Lease contracts

Metso leases offices, manufacturing and warehouse space under various noncancellable leases. Certain contracts contain renewal options for various periods 

of time.

Minimum annual rental expenses for leases in effect at December 31 are shown in the table below:

Operating leases Finance leases

EUR million 2008 2009 2008 2009

Not later than 1 year 46 46 4 3

Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 38 37 2 2

Later than 2 years and not later than 3 years 21 25 2 1

Later than 3 years and not later than 4 years 14 22 2 1

Later than 4 year and not later than 5 years 10 17 2 1

Later than 5 years 23 79 3 2

Total minimum lease payments 152 226 15 10

Future financial expenses -3 -2

Total net present value of finance leases 12 8

Net present value of annual rentals for finance leases in effect at December 31 are shown in the table below:

EUR million 2008 2009

Not later than 1 year 3 3

Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 2 2

Later than 2 years and not later than 3 years 1 1

Later than 3 years and not later than 4 years 1 1

Later than 4 year and not later than 5 years 2 0

Later than 5 years 3 1

Total net present value of finance leases 12 8

Total rental expenses amounted to EUR 40 million, EUR 40 million and EUR 42 million in the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively.  

Annual repayments of principal are presented in the maturities of long-term debt, see note 23.
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Derivative financial instruments recognized in balance sheet as at December 31 are presented below:

         2008                      2009

EUR million Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedges 0 3 0 4

Interest rate swaps – fair value hedges - - - -

Interest rate swaps – non-qualifying hedges 1 1 0 1

1 4 0 5

Forward exchange contracts – cash flow hedges 11 38 7 10

Forward exchange contracts – net investment hedges 0 4 - -

Forward exchange contracts – non-qualifying hedges 36 34 14 8

47 76 21 18

Electricity forward contracts – cash flow hedges 0 7 0 3

Nickel swaps – non-qualifying hedges 0 2 0 0

Options – non-qualifying hedges 0 1 0 0

Total derivatives 48 90 21 26

In the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively, there was no material ineffectiveness related to the cash flow hedges, which would have resulted in 

an immediate recognition of an ineffective portion in the income statement.

As at December 31, 2009, the fixed interest rates of swaps varied from 3.0 percent to 6.1 percent. The main floating rates were Euribor and Libor.

As at December 31, 2009, the maturities of financial derivatives are the following (expressed as notional amounts):

EUR million 2010 2011 2012 2013
2014  

and later

Forward exchange contracts 1,144 245 1 - -

Interest rate swaps 20 63 20 - 25

Option agreements 13 - - - -

Electricity forward contracts 1) 250 201 127 61 -

Nickel swap contracts 2) 252 - - - -

1) Notional amount GWh 
2) Notional amount tons

          2009

EUR million
Notional  
amount

Fair value,  
assets

Fair value,  
liabilities

Fair value,  
net

Forward exchange contracts 1) 1,390 21 18 3

Interest rate swaps 128 0 5 -5

Option agreements

Bought 13 0 0 0

Sold 6 - 0 0

Electricity forward contracts 2) 640 0 3 -3

Nickel swap contracts 3) 252 0 0 0

Total 21 26 -5

1) Some 34 percent and 43 percent of the notional amount at the end of 2008 and 2009, respectively, qualified for cash flow hedge accounting. 
2) Notional amount GWh 
3) Notional amount tons

The notional amounts indicate the volumes in the use of derivatives, but do not indicate the exposure to risk. 
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The following is a list of Metso’s principal subsidiaries ranked by net sales. These companies accounted for 89 percent and 90 percent of total net sales for the years 

ended December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively.

% of net sales

Metso Paper Oy Finland 11.7

Metso Minerals Industries Inc. USA 9.3

Metso Automation Oy Finland 5.0

Metso Power Oy Finland 4.5

Metso Brazil Indústria e Comércio Ltda Brazil 3.9

Metso Minerals Oy Finland 3.9

Metso Minerals (France) SA France 3.7

Metso Paper USA Inc. USA 3.4

Metso Minerals (Australia) Ltd Australia 3.4

Metso Automation USA Inc. USA 2.5

Metso Power AB Sweden 2.5

Metso Paper Sundsvall AB Sweden 2.4

Metso Minerals Canada Inc. Canada 2.4

Metso Minerals (South Africa) Pty. Ltd. South Africa 2.4

Metso Lindemann GmbH Germany 2.0

Metso Paper Karlstad AB Sweden 1.6

MW Biopower Oy Finland 1.6

Metso Minerals (Sala) AB Sweden 1.3

Metso Paper (China) Co. Ltd. China 1.3

Metso Minerals (Tianjin) International Trade Co. Ltd. China 1.2

Metso Minerals (Wear Protection) AB Sweden 1.1

Metso Minerals (Sweden) AB Sweden 1.1

Metso Minerals (Chile) SA Chile 0.9

Valmet Automotive Oy Finland 0.9

MW Power Oy Finland 0.9

Metso Paper Ltd. Canada 0.9

Metso Minerals (India) Private Ltd. India 0.8

Metso Paper France SAS France 0.8

Metso Automation Pte Ltd Singapore 0.8

Metso Minerals (Mexico) SA de CV Mexico 0.7

Metso Automation S.A.S. France 0.7

Metso Paper Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. China 0.7

Metso Automation (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. China 0.7

Metso Fiber Karlstad AB Sweden 0.6

Metso Minerals (Austria) GmbH Austria 0.6

Metso Minerals (Germany) GmbH Germany 0.6

Metso Minerals España SA Spain 0.6

Metso Minerals (Hong Kong) Ltd Hong Kong 0.6

Metso Paper Japan Co. Ltd Japan 0.6

Metso Automation GmbH Germany 0.5

Metso Minerals (Norway) A/S Norway 0.5

Metso (Peru) SA Peru 0.5

Metso Foundries Jyväskylä Oy Finland 0.5

Metso Endress+Hauser Oy Finland 0.5

Metso Paper Sulamericana Ltda Brazil 0.4

Metso Minerals (Singapore) Pte Ltd Singapore 0.4

Metso Minerals Systems AB Sweden 0.4

Metso Paper Limited United Kingdom 0.4

Metso Minerals (Portugal) Lda Portugal 0.4

Metso Minerals (UK) Ltd. United Kingdom 0.4

Metso Minerals (Belux) SA Belgium 0.4

Metso Automation do Brasil Ltda Brazil 0.3

31 Principal subsidiaries
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32 Reporting segment and geographic information

Corporate structure

Metso Group is a global supplier of sustainable technology and services for min-

ing, construction, energy, metal recycling and the pulp and paper industries. 

The Board of Directors has been identified as Metso’s chief operating deci-

sion maker that decides on the strategy, the selection of key employees, major 

development projects, business acquisitions, investments, organization and 

finance. The operating segments in Metso are determined based on the reports 

that are delivered to the Board of Directors and that are used to make strategic 

decisions. The primary segment reporting format is based on the business seg-

ments, and secondary on geographical areas.

The operations are organized into the following three segments:

Mining and Construction Technology is a leading global supplier of technol-

ogy and services for the mining and construction industries. Our customers 

work in quarrying, aggregates production, construction, civil engineering, min-

ing and minerals processing. As of July 1, 2009 the operations are organized in 

two business lines: Services and Equipment and systems.

Energy and Environmental Technology is one of the leading global suppliers 

in power generation, automation as well as recycling solutions and life cycle ser-

vices. Our customers work in the power generation, oil and gas, recycling as well 

as pulp and paper industries. Energy and Environmental Technology comprises 

three business lines: Power, Automation and Recycling.

Paper and Fiber Technology is a leading global supplier of processes, ma-

chinery, equipment and services for the pulp and paper industry. The offering 

extends over the entire process life-cycle, covering new lines, rebuilds and the 

services business. The segment is organized in three business lines: Paper, Fiber 

and Tissue. At the end of December 2009, Metso acquired Tamfelt, a Finnish 

company specialized in technical textiles. Tamfelt’s balance sheet was consoli-

dated to Metso as of December 31, 2009 and as of January 1, 2010 Tamfelt is 

functionally and administratively part of Paper and Fiber Technology segment.

Group Head Office and other is comprised of the Parent Company and hold-

ing companies located in the United States and in Sweden as well as financial 

shared service centers in Finland, Sweden and in Canada. Valmet Automotive is 

reported as a separate holding unit.

Metso’s businesses are global in scope with operations in over 50 countries. 

The main market areas are Europe and North America, which account for over 

half of net sales. However, Asia and South America are becoming increasingly 

important. Metso has production on all continents.  The principal production 

plants are located in Finland, Sweden, France, Germany, Canada, the United 

States, China, India, South Africa and Brazil.

Transfer pricing in intra-Metso transactions is primarily based on market 

prices. In some cases, cost-based prices are used, thereby including the margin 

(cost plus method).

The financial performance of the segments is measured through their ability 

to generate operating profit and earnings before interest, tax and amortization 

(EBITA) both in absolute figures and as percentage of net sales. Financial income 

and expenses, net, and income taxes are not allocated to segments but included 

in the profit (loss) of Group Head Office and other. The treasury activities of Metso 

are coordinated and managed by the Group Treasury in order to utilize the cost 

efficiency benefits retained from pooling arrangements, financial risk manage-

ment, bargaining power, cash management, and other measures. Tax planning 

aims at the minimization of Metso’s overall tax cost and it is based on the legal 

structure and the utilization of holding company structure as applicable.

Segment assets comprise intangible assets, property, plant and equip-

ment, investments in associated companies, joint ventures, available-for-sale 

equity investments, inventories and non-interest bearing operating assets and 

receivables. They exclude interest bearing assets, including also cash and cash 

equivalents, income tax receivables and deferred tax assets, which are included 

in the assets of Group Head Office and other.

Segment liabilities comprise non-interest bearing operating liabilities and 

exclude income tax liabilities and deferred tax liabilities, which are included in the 

liabilities of Group Head Office and other. Interest bearing liabilities are not allo-

cated to segments, but included in the liabilities of Group Head Office and other.

Non-cash write-downs include write-offs made to the value of notes, receiv-

ables, and inventories and impairment and other write-offs recognized to reduce 

the value of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and other assets.

Gross capital expenditure comprises investments in intangible assets, prop-

erty, plant and equipment, associated companies, joint ventures and available-

for-sale equity investments including additions through business acquisitions.

Information about Metso’s reportable segments as of and for the years 

ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 is presented in the following tables.
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EUR million

2007

External net sales 2,317 1,490 2,358 85 - - 6,250

Intra-Metso net sales 13 53 6 - - -72 -

Net sales 2,330 1,543 2,364 85 - -72 6,250

Other operating income and expenses, net 8.1 0.9 -10.4 0.0 2.5 - 1.1

Share in profits and losses of associated companies 0.3 1.7 0.8 - - - 2.8

Operating profit (loss) 319.8 150.3 128.2 8.0 -26.5 - 579.8

% of net sales 13.7 9.7 5.4 9.4 n/a - 9.3

EBITA 323.0 182.4 146.6 8.1 -24.7 - 635.4

% of net sales 13.9 11.8 6.2 9.5 n/a - 10.2

Amortization 3 32 19 0 2 - 56

Depreciation 27 13 41 9 2 - 92

Gross capital expenditure (including business acquisitions) 50 63 91 4 6 - 214

Non-cash write-downs 8 3 13 0 0 - 24

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 574 440 555 50 38 - 1,657

Investments in associated companies 1 6 12 - - - 19

Available-for-sale equity investments 2 1 1 - 41 - 45

Inventories and other non-interest bearing assets 1,346 641 1,097 4 22 - 3,110

Interest bearing assets - - - - 279 - 279

Deferred tax assets - - - - 144 - 144

Total assets 1,923 1,088 1,665 54 524 - 5,254

Non-interest bearing liabilities 919 556 1,207 33 64 - 2,779

Interest bearing debt - - - - 819 - 819

Deferred tax liability - - - - 41 - 41

Total liabilities 919 556 1,207 33 924 - 3,639

Capital employed 1,004 532 458 21 419 - 2,434

Orders received 2,776 1,884 2,293 85 - -73 6,965

Order backlog 1,496 1,337 1,553 - - -45 4,341

Mining and Construction Technology

Energy and Environmental Technology

Paper and Fiber Technology

Valmet Automotive

Group Head Office and other

Eliminations

Metso total
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EUR million

2008

External net sales 2,565 1,731 2,039 65 - - 6,400

Intra-Metso net sales 21 44 5 - - -70 -

Net sales 2,586 1,775 2,044 65 - -70 6,400

Other operating income and expenses, net 3.9 -1.2 2.7 0.0 5.2 - 10.6

Share in profits and losses of associated companies 0.1 1.2 1.2 - - - 2.5

Operating profit (loss) 358.4 176.0 130.1 -3.5 -23.8 - 637.2

% of net sales 13.9 9.9 6.4 -5.4 n/a - 10.0

EBITA 361.2 198.3 146.1 -3.5 -21.2 - 680.9

% of net sales 14.0 11.2 7.1 -5.4 n/a - 10.6

Amortization 3 22 16 0 3 - 44

Depreciation 31 15 39 8 1 - 94

Gross capital expenditure (including business acquisitions) 121 80 90 3 5 - 299

Non-cash write-downs 17 3 10 0 1 - 31

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 637 494 566 45 16 - 1,758

Investments in associated companies 1 7 6 - 0 - 14

Available-for-sale equity investments 2 1 1 0 14 - 18

Inventories and other non-interest bearing assets 1,530 706 893 8 74 - 3,211

Interest bearing assets - - - - 336 - 336

Deferred tax assets - - - - 174 - 174

Total assets 2,170 1,208 1,466 53 614 - 5,511

Non-interest bearing liabilities 940 561 935 31 111 - 2,578

Interest bearing debt - - - - 1,435 - 1,435

Deferred tax liability - - - - 45 - 45

Total liabilities 940 561 935 31 1,591 - 4,058

Capital employed 1,230 647 531 22 458 - 2,888

Orders received 2,709 1,658 2,021 65 - -69 6,384

Order backlog 1,492 1,204 1,434 - - -42 4,088

Mining and Construction Technology

Energy and Environmental Technology

Paper and Fiber Technology

Valmet Automotive

Group Head Office and other

Eliminations

Metso total
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EUR million

2009

External net sales 2,061 1,495 1,404 56 - - 5,016

Intra-Metso net sales 14 28 4 - - -46 -

Net sales 2,075 1,523 1,408 56 - -46 5,016

Other operating income and expenses, net 17.8 0.5 -9.6 2.8 11.9 - 23.4

Share in profits and losses of associated companies 0.3 1.4 -1.2 - - - 0.5

Operating profit (loss) 198.8 118.1 0.7 -8.2 -15.8 - 293.6

% of net sales 9.6 7.8 0.0 -14.6 n/a - 5.9

EBITA 202.8 136.3 16.5 -8.1 -13.2 - 334.3

% of net sales 9.8 8.9 1.2 -14.5 n/a - 6.7

Amortization 4 18 16 0 3 - 41

Depreciation 36 19 39 7 1 - 102

Gross capital expenditure (including business acquisitions) 40 39 29 6 4 - 118

Non-cash write-downs 11 12 13 0 0 - 36

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 657 502 776 42 17 - 1,994

Investments in associated companies 1 8 4 - 0 - 13

Available-for-sale equity investments 0 1 4 2 8 - 15

Inventories and other non-interest bearing assets 1,163 571 706 16 74 - 2,530

Interest bearing assets - - - - 993 - 993

Deferred tax assets - - - - 171 - 171

Total assets 1,821 1,082 1,490 60 1,263 - 5,716

Non-interest bearing liabilities 749 558 854 32 99 - 2,292

Interest bearing debt - - - - 0 - 0

Deferred tax liability - - - - 56 - 56

Total liabilities 749 558 854 32 155 - 2,348

Capital employed 1,072 524 636 28 1,108 - 3,368

Orders received 1,660 1,297 1,384 56 - -39 4,358

Order backlog 1,041 1,032 1,380 - - -38 3,415

Mining and Construction Technology

Energy and Environmental Technology

Paper and Fiber Technology

Valmet Automotive

Group Head Office and other

Eliminations

Metso total
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Net sales to unaffiliated customers by destination:

EUR million Finland

Other
Nordic

countries

Other
European
countries

North
America

South and
Central

America
Asia-

Pacific
Rest of

the world
Elimi-

nations
Metso

total

2007 473 517 1,561 1,049 859 1,488 303 - 6,250

2008 461 467 1,752 1,015 770 1,516 419 - 6,400

2009 328 405 1,434 774 609 1,080 386 - 5,016

Metso’s exports, including sales to unaffiliated customers and intra-group sales from Finland, by destination:

EUR million

Other
Nordic

countries

Other
European
countries

North
America

South and
Central

America
Asia-

Pacific
Rest of

the world Total

2007 209 775 144 97 792 40 2,057

2008 172 931 107 121 745 85 2,161

2009 152 800 48 63 367 80 1,510

Long-term assets by location:

EUR million Finland

Other
Nordic

countries

Other
European
countries

North
America

South and
Central

America
Asia-

Pacific
Rest of

the World
Non- 

allocated
Metso

total

2007 424 82 65 123 61 68 8 909 1,740

2008 462 68 74 171 64 114 7 856 1,816

2009 514 68 74 165 93 144 9 999 2,066

Long-term assets comprise intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, investments in associated companies, available-for-sale equity investments and other 

non-current assets. Non-allocated assets include mainly goodwill and other allocated assets deriving from business acquisitions that have not been pushed down to 

the subsidiaries' books.

Gross capital expenditure (excluding business acquisitions) by location:

EUR million Finland

Other
Nordic

countries

Other
European
countries

North
America

South and
Central

America
Asia-

Pacific
Rest of

the world
Elimi-

nations
Metso

total

2007 82 14 14 16 14 17 2 - 159

2008 91 23 19 56 16 47 3 - 255

2009 55 5 9 10 10 27 1 - 117
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Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Audit -2.8 -2.7 -2.5

Tax consulting -1.3 -1.8 -1.7

Other services -1.3 -1.1 -0.8

Total -5.4 -5.6 -5.0

33 Audit fees

34 Lawsuits and claims

Several lawsuits, claims and disputes based on various grounds are pending 

against Metso in various countries, including product liability lawsuits and claims 

as well as legal disputes related to Metso's deliveries. Metso's management does 

not, however, expect that the outcome of these lawsuits, claims and disputes 

will have a material adverse effect on Metso in view of the grounds presented 

for them, provisions made, insurance coverage in force and the extent of Metso's 

total business activities. Metso is also a plaintiff in several lawsuits, e.g. in the 

cases purported to protect its intellectual property rights in the United States 

and in Australia.

Pending asbestos litigation

As of December 31, 2009, there had been a total of 882 complaints alleging 

asbestos injuries filed in the United States in which a Metso entity is one of the 

named defendants. Where a given plaintiff has named more than one viable 

Metso unit as a defendant, the cases are counted by the number of viable Metso 

defendants. Of these claims, 279 are still pending and 603 cases have been 

closed. Of the closed cases, 99 were by summary judgment, 393 were dismissed, 

and 111 were settled. There are additional 5 claims pending, in which Metso 

defends the respondent pursuant to an indemnity clause of a divestment agree-

ment. The outcome of the pending cases is not expected to materially deviate 

from the outcome of the previous claims. Hence, management believes that the 

risk caused by the pending asbestos lawsuits and claims in the United States is 

not material in view of the extent of Metso’s total business operations.

Subpoena from U.S. Department  

of Justice requiring Metso to produce documents

In November 2006, Metso Minerals Industries, Inc., which is Metso’s U.S. sub-

sidiary, received a subpoena from the Antitrust Division of the United States 

Department of Justice calling for Metso Minerals Industries, Inc. to produce 

certain documents. The subpoena relates to an investigation of potential anti-

trust violations in the rock crushing and screening equipment industry.  Metso 

is co-operating fully with the Department of Justice. Metso recognized about 

EUR 1.5 million in costs from the investigation for the year ended December 

31, 2009 and has not made any provision related to this investigation as at 

December 31, 2009.
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35 New accounting standards

IFRS 3 (Revised)

IASB has published IFRS 3 (Revised), ‘Business combinations’, which maintains 

the requirement to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, but 

with some significant changes such as expensing of transaction costs. In addi-

tion, all payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value on the 

acquisition date, with some contingent payments subsequently remeasured at 

fair value through income. Goodwill is calculated based on the parent’s share of 

net assets but it may also include goodwill related to the minority interest. The 

revised standard will affect Metso’s future business combinations.

IFRS 3 (Revised) was endorsed by the European Union in June 2009 and it 

becomes effective for annual financial statements for periods beginning on or 

after July 1, 2009. Metso will apply the standard for the financial year beginning 

on January 1, 2010.

IAS 27 (Revised)

IASB has published IAS 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial 

statements’. The revised standard requires the effects of all transactions with 

non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in 

control. They will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard 

also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the 

entity is remeasured to fair value and a gain or loss is expensed. Metso does not 

expect the standard to affect the financial statements.

IAS 27 (Revised) was endorsed by the European Union in June 2009 and 

it is effective for annual financial statements for periods beginning on or after 

July 1, 2009. Metso will apply the revision for the financial year beginning on 

January 1, 2010.

IFRS 2 (Amendment)

IASB has published an amendment to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payments’. The 

amendment confirms that in addition to business combinations as defined by 

IFRS 3 (revised) ‘Business combinations’, contributions of a business on forma-

tion of a joint venture and common control transactions are excluded from the 

scope of IFRS 2, ‘Share-based payments’. The revised standard may have an effect 

on Metso’s future business combinations. 

Provided that the amendment receives endorsement by the European Union, 

Metso will apply the standard for the financial year beginning on January 1, 2010.

IAS 38 (Amendment)

IASB has published an amendment to IAS 38 ‘Intangible assets’. The amendment 

clarifies the requirements under IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’ regarding the 

accounting for intangible assets acquired in a business combination and allows 

for the combination of intangible assets with equal economic useful life to one 

asset group. The revised standard may have an effect on Metso’s future business 

combinations.

Provided that the amendment receives endorsement by the European Union, 

Metso will apply the standard for the financial year beginning on January 1, 2010.

IFRS 9

IASB has published a new standard IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments: Recognition 

and measurement’. The standard represents the first milestone in the IASB’s 

planned replacement of IAS 39. It addresses classification and measurement of 

financial assets. The next steps involve reconsideration and re-exposure of the 

classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities, impairment 

testing methods for financial assets, and development of enhanced guidance 

on hedge accounting. Metso is currently evaluating the effects on the financial 

statements, and expects the standard to have major impacts on the accounting 

of financial instruments. IFRS 9 becomes effective for the financial statements or 

periods beginning after January 1, 2013. It is still subject to endorsement by the 

European Union, and the endorsement process has been postponed.

Provided that the standard receives endorsement by the European Union, 

Metso will apply the standard for the financial year beginning on January 1, 2013.
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36 Events after balance sheet date

Metso to buy back 300,000 own shares for its Share Ownership Plan

The Board of Directors of Metso Corporation has decided, in accordance with 

the authorization granted by the Annual General Meeting on March, 31 2009, to 

repurchase a maximum number of 300,000 Metso's own shares, which corresponds 

to about 0.2 percent of all the outstanding shares of Metso. The shares shall be 

repurchased as part of the Group's incentive program, Metso share ownership plan, 

to be used as potential reward payments in accordance with the plan criteria.

Own shares will be purchased with the Parent Company's distributable 

funds and thus the repurchases will reduce the Parent Company's distributable 

non-restricted equity. Shares will be purchased at market price in public trading 

on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Exchange.

The repurchase of own shares will start on February 16, 2010 at the earliest 

and it will end on March 26, 2010 at the latest.

Average rates Year-end rates

2007 2008 2009 2007 2008 2009

USD (US dollar) 1.3797 1.4726 1.3960 1.4721 1.3917 1.4406

SEK (Swedish krona) 9.2647 9.6833 10.6092 9.4415 10.8700 10.2520

GBP (Pound sterling) 0.6873 0.8026 0.8948 0.7334 0.9525 0.8881

CAD (Canadian dollar) 1.4663 1.5656 1.5910 1.4449 1.6998 1.5128

BRL (Brazilian real) 2.6623 2.6711 2.7994 2.5949 3.2441 2.5113

Exchange Rates Used
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Financial Indicators 2005 – 2009
EUR million 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Net sales 4,221 4,955 6,250 6,400 5,016

Net sales change, % 17.2 17.4 26.1 2.4 -21.6

Operating profit 335 457 580 637 294

% of net sales 7.9 9.2 9.3 10.0 5.9

Profit on continuing operations before tax 292 421 547 548 222

% of net sales 6.9 8.5 8.8 8.6 4.4

Profit on continuing operations 220 410 384 390 151

% of net sales 5.2 8.3 6.1 6.1 3.0

Profit 237 410 384 390 151

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 236 409 381 389 150

Exports and international operations 3,879 4,652 5,795 5,957 4,706

% of net sales 91.9 93.9 92.7 93.1 93.8

Amortization 16 17 56 44 41

Depreciation 86 88 92 94 102

Depreciation and amortization 102 105 148 138 143

% of net sales 2.4 2.1 2.4 2.2 2.9

Goodwill impairment - 7 - - -

EBITA 351 481 636 681 334

% of net sales 8.3 9.7 10.2 10.6 6.7

EBITDA 437 569 728 775 437

% of net sales 10.4 11.5 11.6 12.1 8.7

Financial income and expenses, net 43 36 33 89 72

% of net sales 1.0 0.7 0.5 1.4 1.4

Interest expenses, net 39 27 33 71 75

% of net sales 0.9 0.5 0.5 1.1 1.5

Interest cover (EBITDA) 10.2x 15.8x 22.1x 8.7x 6.1x

Gross capital expenditure (excl. business acquisitions) 107 131 159 255 117

% of net sales 2.5 2.6 2.5 4.0 2.3

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired 14 277 55 44 1

Net capital expenditure (excl. business acquisitions and disposals) 58 115 140 238 108

% of net sales 1.4 2.3 2.2 3.7 2.2

Cash flow from operations 164 442 294 137 770

Free cash flow 1) 138 364 198 29 717

Cash conversion, % 58 89 52 7 475

Research and development 96 109 117 134 115

% of net sales 2.3 2.2 1.9 2.1 2.3

1) The calculation of free cash flow has been revised: Only capital expenditure related to maintenance investments is deducted from net cash provided by operating activities. FCF for the year ended 

December 31, 2005 has not been restated.
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EUR million 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Balance sheet total 3,917 4,968 5,254 5,511 5,715

Equity attributable to shareholders 1,258 1,444 1,608 1,444 1,783

Total equity 1,265 1,450 1,615 1,453 1,792

Interest bearing liabilities 788 830 819 1,435 1,576

Net interest bearing liabilities 289 454 540 1,099 583

Capital employed 2,053 2,280 2,434 2,888 3,368

Return on equity (ROE), % 21.1 30.9 25.4 26.0 9.8

Return on capital employed (ROCE) before tax, % 18.9 22.5 26.1 23.2 10.0

Return on capital employed (ROCE) after tax, % 15.3 21.9 19.0 17.3 7.7

Equity to assets ratio, % 36.6 35.4 37.7 30.9 35.7

Gearing, % 22.8 31.3 33.4 75.7 32.5

Debt to capital, % 38.4 36.4 33.7 49.7 46.8

Orders received 4,745 5,705 6,965 6,384 4,358

Order backlog, December 31 2,350 3,737 4,341 4,088 3,415

Average number of personnel 22,405 23,364 26,269 28,010 27,813

Personnel, December 31 22,178 25,678 26,837 29,322 27,166

Formulas for calculation of financial indicators are presented on the following page.



126    Metso Financial Statements 2009

FINANCIAL INDICATORS

Formulas for Calculation of Indicators

EBITA:
Operating profit + amortization + goodwill impairment

EBITDA:
Operating profit + depreciation and amortization + goodwill impairment

Return on equity (ROE), %:
Profit

× 100
Total equity (average for period)

Return on capital employed (ROCE) before tax, %:
Profit before tax + interest and other financial expenses

× 100
Balance sheet total – non-interest bearing liabilities (average for period)

Return on capital employed (ROCE) after tax, %:
Profit + interest and other financial expenses

× 100
Balance sheet total – non-interest bearing liabilities (average for period)

Gearing, %:
Net interest bearing liabilities

× 100
Total equity

Equity to assets ratio, %:
Total equity

× 100
Balance sheet total – advances received

Capital employed:
Balance sheet total – non-interest bearing liabilities

Free cash flow:
Operating cash flow – capital expenditures on maintenance investments + 
proceeds from sale of fixed assets

Cash conversion, %:
Free cash flow

× 100
Profit

Debt to capital, %:
Interest bearing liabilities

× 100
Total equity + interest bearing liabilities

Interest cover (EBITDA):
EBITDA
Financial income and expenses, net

Earnings/share:
Profit
Average number of shares during period

Free cash flow/share:
Free cash flow
Average number of shares during period

Equity/share:
Equity attributable to shareholders
Number of shares at end of period

Dividend/share:
Dividend distribution
Number of shares at end of period

Dividend/earnings, %:
Dividend per share

× 100
Earnings per share

Effective dividend yield, %:
Dividend per share

× 100
Share price on December 31

P/E ratio:
Share price on December 31
Earnings per share

Average share price:
Total value of shares traded in euro
Number of shares traded during period

Market capitalization:
Total number of shares × share price at end of period

Total shareholder return (TSR), %:
Change in share price + dividend paid during period

× 100
Share price at end of previous period

Formulas for calculation of financial indicators Formulas for calculation of share-related indicators
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Parent Company Statement of Income,  
in Accordance with Finnish Accounting 
Standards, FAS

Year ended December 31,

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Net sales - - -

Other operating income 3 1 0

Personnel expenses -12 -13 -14

Depreciation and amortization -1 -1 -1

Other operating expenses -17 -18 -13

Operating loss -27 -31 -28

Financial income and expenses, net 393 267 232

Profit before extraordinary items 366 236 204

Group contributions 181 137 44

Profit before appropriations and taxes 547 373 248

Income taxes for the period -1 0 0

Change in deferred taxes -27 -11 5

Profit 519 362 253
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Assets

           As at December 31,

EUR million 2008 2009

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 2 1

Tangible assets 1 1

Investments

Shares in Group companies 2,230 2,503

Other investments 350 407

Total non-current assets 2,583 2,912

Current assets

Long-term receivables 15 19

Short-term receivables 746 368

Securities 121 497

Bank and cash 16 28

Total current assets 898 912

Total assets 3,481 3,824

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

           As at December 31,

EUR million 2008 2009

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 241 241

Invested non-restricted equity fund 367 573

Other reserves 194 194

Retained earnings 456 606

Total shareholders’ equity 1,258 1,614

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities 1,076 1,332

Current liabilities 1,147  878

Total liabilities 2,223 2,210

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 3 481 3,824

Parent Company Balance Sheet, FAS
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Parent Company Statement of Changes  
in Shareholders’ Equity, FAS

EUR million
Share

capital

Share
premium

reserve
Legal

reserve

Invested 
non-restricted 

equity fund
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings Total

Balance at December 31, 2006 241 152 215 - 202 204 1,014

Dividends - - - - - -212 -212

Share options exercised 0 0 - - - - 0

Other - - - - -8 8 -

Profit - - - - - 519 519

Balance at December 31, 2007 241 152 215 - 194 519 1,321

Dividends - - - - - -425 -425

Decrease and transfer of share premium and legal reserve - -152 -215 367 - - -

Profit - - - - - 362 362

Balance at December 31, 2008 241 - - 367 194 456 1 258

Dividends - - - - - -99 -99

Share issue - - - 206 - - 206

Other - - - - - -4 -4

Profit - - - - - 253 253

Balance at December 31, 2009 241 - - 573 194 606 1,614
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Shares and Shareholders

Shares and share capital

On December 31, 2009, Metso Corporation’s share capital, fully paid up 

and entered in the trade register, was EUR 240,982,843.80, and the total 

number of shares 150,348,256. Metso has one share series, and each 

share entitles its holder to one vote at the General Meeting and to an 

equal amount of dividend. Metso’s shares are registered in the Finnish 

book-entry system. During the year there was a change in the number 

of Metso’s shares, when Tamfelt Corporation was acquired as a share 

exchange offer. The number of shares increased on December 28, 2009 

by 8,593,642 and the share capital remained the same. 

Metso’s own shares

In December 2009, MEO1V Incentive Ky, a limited partnership estab-

lished to manage Metso’s share ownership plan for 2006 – 2008, was 

dissolved. It held 48,776 Metso shares, which were transferred to the di-

rect ownership of the Metso Corporation on December 22, 2009. As of 

December 31, 2009, Metso Corporation owned a total of 409,617 own 

shares, which represents 0.27 percent of all Metso shares and votes. 

Board authorizations

On March 31, 2009, the Annual General Meeting authorized the Board 

of Directors to decide on the repurchase of the company’s own shares, 

the share issue and the granting of special rights. 

Authorization to repurchase and convey the Corporation’s own shares

Under the authorization granted by the 2008 Annual General Meet-

ing, Metso decided on February 4, 2009 to repurchase a maximum of 

300,000 of the company’s own shares. The repurchases were com-

pleted by March 2, 2009. The repurchase of the shares was related to 

the Metso Share Ownership Plan 2009 – 2011, which was approved in 

October 2008, to be used as payment for possible rewards, according 

to the criteria of the plan. 

Own shares were repurchased with the company’s non-restricted 

equity thus reducing distributable funds. The shares were purchased 

at market price in public trading on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki. The 

average purchase price per share was EUR 8.28 and the total amount 

EUR 2,483,495.48. 

The 2009 Annual General Meeting authorized the Board of Direc-

tors to decide on the repurchase of a maximum of 10,000,000 of the 

company’s own shares. The company’s own shares are repurchased, 

in a proportion other than shareholders’ holdings, with the company’s 

non-restricted equity at the market price at the time of repurchase from 

NASDAQ OMX Helsinki.

The company’s repurchased shares can be held by the company, 

cancelled, or conveyed. The shares can be used to develop Metso’s 

capital structure, for acquisitions, capital expenditure, to finance or 

implement other arrangements pertaining to the company’s business 

operations or as part of Metso's incentive plans. As of December 31, 

2009, the Board of Directors had not exercised this authorization.

Authorization to issue shares

Under the authorization granted, the Board of Directors is entitled to 

decide on the issue of a maximum of 15,000,000 new shares, and on 

the convey of a maximum of 10,000,000 of Metso’s own shares held by 
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the company. The new shares can be issued, and Metso’s own shares 

held by the company can be conveyed against payment received or 

without payment. 

The Board of Directors can decide on share issue without payment 

to the company as well. A maximum of 10,000,000 shares, including the 

company’s own shares repurchased by the authorization granted, can 

be granted to the company. 

New shares may be issued and the own shares held by the 

company may be conveyed to the company’s shareholders in propor-

tion to their current shareholdings in the company or, by waiving the 

shareholder’s pre-emption right, through a directed share issue, if the 

company has a weighty financial reason to do so. Such reasons may 

include using the shares as payment in potential business acquisitions 

or in other arrangements related to the company’s business operations, 

to finance capital expenditure or as part of Metso’s incentive plans.   

A directed share issue may only be executed without payment if there 

is especially weighty financial reason for the company to do so, taking 

the interests of all shareholders into account. 

Metso’s Board of Directors decided on a directed share issue related 

to the Tamfelt acquisition. The acquisition was carried out as a share 

exchange offer, and a total of 8,593,642 new Metso shares were entered 

in the trade register on December 28, 2009.

Market capitalization and trading

Metso Corporation’s shares are quoted on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki 

(OMXH: MEO1V) since July 1, 1999. Metso’s ADSs (American Depositary 

Shares) are traded in the United States on the OTC market under the 

ticker symbol MXCYY. 

Metso’s share price on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki in 2009 rose by 

189 percent, from EUR 8.52 to EUR 24.63. At the same time, the NASDAQ 

OMX Helsinki portfolio index, OMX Helsinki CAP, increased by 40 per-

cent. The highest quotation of Metso’s share on the NASDAQ OMX Hel-

sinki in 2009 was EUR 24.78, and the lowest EUR 7.03. The share price on 

December 31, 2009 was EUR 24.63 and the average trading price for the 

year was EUR 13.26. Metso's market capitalization at year-end, excluding 

own shares held by the company, was EUR 3,693 million.

In 2009, 321,093,368 Metso shares were traded on the NASDAQ 

OMX Helsinki, equivalent to a turnover of EUR 4,258 million. The aver-

age daily trading volume was 1.3 million shares, which is  10 percent 

less than in 2008. During the year, 214 percent of shares were traded 

(relative turnover in 2008: 254%).

In 2009, the highest trading price for Metso’s ADSs in the United 

States was USD 35.28, and the lowest USD 9.18. The ADS price on the 

OTC market at year-end was USD 35.14. Each ADS represents one share.

Share-based incentive plans

Option programs

There are no options outstanding or available from any of Metso’s 

 option programs for subscription of shares in Metso. 

Share ownership plans

Metso’s share ownership plans are part of the remuneration and com-

mitment programs for the management of the Group and the busi-

nesses. Below is a brief description of the programs. 

Share Ownership Plan 2006 – 2008
The shares distributed as rewards, based on the Share Ownership Plan 

for 2008, were paid in March 2009 according to the earnings criteria 

determined by the Board of Directors. 34,265 shares were distributed 

as rewards, corresponding to approximately 0.02 percent of all Metso 

shares. Members of the Executive Team received 6,996 shares. 

Share Ownership Plan 2009 – 2011
The plan includes one three-year earnings period and required 

participants’ personal investment in Metso shares at the beginning of 

the program. Any possible reward from the plan requires continued 

employment with Metso and reaching the targets set for the plan. 89 

key persons are participating in the program. The rewards paid through 
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the system may correspond with a maximum of 373,175 Metso shares. 

The shares for the plan have been acquired in public trading and there-

fore the plan will not have diluting effect on the share value. Members 

of Metso’s Executive Team may receive a maximum of 77,400 shares as 

share rewards.

Share Ownership Plan 2010 – 2012 
In October 2009, the Board of Directors decided on a new Share Own-

ership Plan for the years 2010 – 2012. The plan includes one three-year 

earnings period and requires participants’ personal investment in Metso 

shares. Any possible reward from the plan requires continued employ-

ment with Metso and reaching the targets set for the plan. 92 key per-

sons are participating in the program and the rewards paid through the 

system may correspond with a maximum of 343,000 Metso shares. The 

shares for the plan are acquired in public trading and therefore the plan 

will not have diluting effect on the share value. Members of the Execu-

tive Team may receive a maximum of 77,400 shares as share rewards. 

More detailed information on the share-based incentive plans is 

presented in the Notes to the Financial Statements (Note 22, on pages 

104 –105).

Holdings of Metso’s Board of Directors and executive  

management on December 31, 2009

At year-end, the members of Metso’s Board of Directors, CEO Jorma 

Eloranta and Executive Vice President and CFO Olli Vaartimo and their 

interest parties held altogether 59,406 Metso shares, which correspond 

to 0.04 percent of the paid up share capital and votes in Metso. 

Up-to-date information concerning the holdings of Metso’s statu-

tory insiders is available on Metso’s website.

Dividend policy

Metso’s dividend policy is to distribute at least 50 percent of earnings per 

share in annual dividends or in other forms of repatriation of capital to 

its shareholders. The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General 

Meeting to be held on March 30, 2010 that the dividend of EUR 0.70 per 

share be distributed for the year ended on December 31, 2009. 

The proposed dividend of EUR 0.70 corresponds to 66 percent of 

the profit attributable to shareholders for the year, and the effective 

dividend yield is 2.8 percent.

Shareholders

At the end of 2009, Metso had 45,227 shareholders in the book-entry 

system, the largest of which was Solidium Oy, with 10.4 percent  (2008: 

11.1%) ownership. Nominee-registered shares and shares in direct 

foreign ownership accounted for 53.4 percent (55.4%) of the total stock. 

Finnish institutions, companies and organizations accounted for 22.0 

percent (20.7%) and Finnish private persons for 14.2 percent (12.8%) of 

Metso’s shares. More information on biggest shareholders can be found 

on Metso’s website.
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Share capital and share data 2005 – 2009

EUR million (except for number of shares, per share data and share prices) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Share capital, December 31 241 241 241 241 241

Number of shares, December 31:

Number of outstanding shares 141,593,773 141,358,773 141,487,234 141,623,642 149,938,639

Own shares held by the Parent Company 60,841 60,841 60,841 60,841 409,617

Shares administered by a partnership (MEO1V Incentive Ky) - 300,000 206,539 70,131 -

Total number of shares 141,654,614 141,719,614 141,754,614 141,754,614 150,348,256

Average number of outstanding shares 139,639,425 141,580,759 141,460,012 141,595,026 141,477,476

Average number of diluted shares 139,665,197 141,600,424 141,460,012 141,595,026 141,526,284

Trading volume, NASDAQ OMX Helsinki 239,282,695 266,774,359 350,168,659 359,378,566 321,093,368

Trading volume, NYSE 1) 7,931,000 4,682,700 6,020,320 - -

  % of shares 2) 174.6 192.0 251.8 253.8 214.1

Earnings/share from continuing operations, basic 1.57 2.89 2.69 2.75 1.06

Earnings/share from discontinued operations, basic 0.12 - - - -

Earnings/share from continuing and discontinued operations, basic 1.69 2.89 2.69 2.75 1.06

Earnings/share from continuing operations, diluted 1.57 2.89 2.69 2.75 1.06

Earnings/share from discontinued operations, diluted 0.12 - - - -

Earnings/share from continuing and discontinued operations, diluted 1.69 2.89 2.69 2.75 1.06

Free cash flow/share 3) 0.76 2.57 1.40 0.20 5.07

Dividend/share 4) 1.40 1.50 3.00 0.70 0.70

Dividend 4) 198 212 425 99 105

Dividend/earnings, % 4) 83 52 112 25 66

Effective dividend yield, % 4) 6.0 3.9 8.0 8.2 2.8

P/E ratio 13.81 13.23 13.88 3.10 23.24

Equity/share 8.89 10.21 11.36 10.19 11.89

Highest share price 24.46 38.65 49.95 38.56 24.78

Lowest share price 11.31 23.21 34.06 7.74 7.03

Average share price 16.85 30.45 41.43 23.66 13.26

Share price, December 31 23.12 38.24 37.33 8.52 24.63

Market capitalization, December 31 5) 3,274 5,406 5,282 1,207 3,693

1) Trading volume until December 14, 2007 
2) Of the total amount of shares for public trading (For the years 2004-2007 trading in both NASDAQ OMX Helsinki and NYSE, for 2008 and 2009 only in NASDAQ OMX Helsinki).   
3) The calculation of free cash flow has been revised: Only capital expenditure related to maintenance is deducted from net cash provided by operating activities. FCF for the year ended December 31, 2005  

     has not been restated. 
4) Proposal by the Board of Directors 
5) Excluding own shares held by the parent company and shares administered by a partnership

Formulas for calculation of share-related indicators are on page 126.
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Metso’s biggest shareholders on Dec 31, 2009

Number of  
shares and votes

% of share capital 
 and voting rights

1 Solidium Oy 15,695,287 10.4

2 Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 4,503,689 3.0

3 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 4,081,552 2.7

4 The State Pension Fund 1,910,000 1.3

5 Svenska litteratursällskapet i Finland r.f. 1,206,706 0.8

6 Odin Funds 982,912 0.7

Odin Norden 722,678 0.5

Odin Finland 226,036 0.2

Odin Norden II 34,198 0.0

7 The Local Government Pension Institution 934,686 0.6

8 Mandatum Life Insurance Company Limited 723,916 0.5

9 Nordea Funds 718,932 0.5

Nordea Fennia Fund 275,000 0.2

Nordea Life Assurance Finland Ltd. 162,500 0.1

Nordea Pro Finland Fund 158,000 0.1

Nordea Finland Index Fund 123,432 0.1

10 OP Funds 567,819 0.4

OP-Delta Fund 260,046 0.2

OP-Focus Non-UCITS Fund 154,658 0.1

OP-Finland Value Fund 100,000 0.1

OP Life Insurance 30,095 0.0

OP-ryhmän Tutkimussäätiö 23,020 0.0

10 largest owner groups in total 31,325,499 20.9

Nominee-registered shares *) 78,426,642 52.2

Other shareholders 40,174,716 26.6

Own shares held by the Parent Company 409,617 0.3

In the issuer account 9,900 0.0

In special accounts 1,882 0.0

Total 150,348,256 100.0

*)  Below is a list of flagging notifications for Metso’s shareholders whose holdings have gone over or below 5 percent of Metso’s voting rights or share capital.  

The list indicate the situation at December 31. 2009. An up-to-date list of all flagging notifications made can be found at www.metso.com/investors.

UBS AG’s announced on March 26, 2009 that on March 24, 2009 the group’s holding in Metso shares exceeded the 5 percent threshold.  

The holding amounted to 7,541,753 shares, which corresponds to 5.32 percent of the paid up share capital and votes in Metso.

UBS AG has announced on March 31, 2009 that on March 27, 2009 the group holding in shares of Metso Corporation fell below the 5 percent threshold.  

The holding amounted to 561,306 shares, which corresponds to 0.40 percent of the paid up share capital and votes in Metso. 

Breakdown by shareholder category on December 31, 2009

Solidium Oy

Finnish private investors

Nominee-registered  

and non-Finnish holders

Finnish institutions,  

companies and foundations

53.4% (55.4%)

14.2% (12.8%)

22.0% (20.7%)

10.4% (11.1%)
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Breakdown of share ownership on December 31, 2009

Number of shares Shareholders
% of  

shareholders

Total number  
of shares  

and votes

% of share 
 capital and 

 voting rights

1–100 17,505 38.7 951,624 0.6

101–1,000 22,996 50.8 8,446,968 5.6

1,001–10,000 4,328 9.6 11,088,671 7.4

10,001–100,000 348 0.8 9,355,771 6.2

over 100,001 50 0.1 41,657,181 27.7

Total 45,227 100.0 71,500,215 47.5

Nominee-registered shares 15 78,426,642 52.2

Own shares held by the Parent Company 1 409,617 0.3

In the issuer account 9,900 0.0

In special accounts 1,882 0.0

Number of shares issued 150,348,256 100.0

Changes in number of shares and share capital, Jan 1, 2001 – Dec 31, 2009

Number  
of shares

Change  
in number 

 of shares
Share capital, 

 EUR

Change in 
 share capital, 

 EUR

2001
New shares subscribed with the Metso 1994 options, which were  
transferred from Valmet Corporation

136,250,545 793,270 231,625,926.50 1,348,559.00

2005 New shares subscribed with the Metso 2000A/B and 2001A/B options 141,654,614 5,404,069 240,812,843.80 9,186,917.30

2006 New shares subscribed with the Metso 2003A options 141,719,614 65,000 240,923,343.80 110,500.00

2007 New shares subscribed with the Metso 2003A options 141,754,614 35,000 240,982,843.80 59,500.00

2008 No changes in number of shares nor in share capital 141,754,614 - 240,982,843.80 -

2009 New shares issued as consideration for Tamfelt acquisition 150,348,256 8 593 642 240,982,843.80 -

Price development of American depository shares

USD 2008 2009

Highest ADS price 56.40 35.28

Lowest ADS price 10.15 9.18

ADS price, Dec. 31 12.19 35.14
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Auditor’s Report

To the Annual General Meeting of Metso Corporation

We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, the report of 

the Board of Directors and the administration of Metso Corporation for the year 

ended on 31 December, 2009. The financial statements comprise the consolidat-

ed income statement, statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, cash 

flow statement, statement of changes in equity and notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income 

statement, cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors  

and the President and CEO

The Board of Directors and the President and CEO are responsible for the prepa-

ration of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors and 

for the fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, 

as well as for the fair presentation of the financial statements and the report of 

the Board of Directors in accordance with laws and regulations governing the 

preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors 

in Finland. The Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate arrangement 

of the control of the company’s accounts and finances, and the President and 

CEO shall see to it that the accounts of the company are in compliance with the 

law and that its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to perform an audit in accordance with good auditing 

practice in Finland, and to express an opinion on the parent company’s financial 

statements, on the consolidated financial statements and on the report of the 

Board of Directors based on our audit. Good auditing practice requires that we 

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-

sonable assurance whether the financial statements and the report of the Board 

of Directors are free from material misstatement and whether the members of 

the Board of Directors of the parent company and the President and CEO have 

complied with the Limited Liability Companies Act.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the report of the 

Board of Directors. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements and of the report of the Board of Directors, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control rel-

evant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

and the report of the Board of Directors in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the ap-

propriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors.

The audit was performed in accordance with good auditing practice in 

Finland. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 

of the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the group in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 

by the EU.

Opinion on the Company’s Financial Statements  

and the Report of the Board of Directors

In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors 

give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and the parent company’s 

financial performance and financial position in accordance with the laws and 

regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report 

of the Board of Directors in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of 

Directors is consistent with the information in the financial statements.

Other Opinions

We support that the financial statements should be adopted. The proposal by 

the Board of Directors regarding the use of the profit shown in the balance 

sheet is in compliance with the Limited Liability Companies Act. We support that 

the Members of the Board of Directors and the President and CEO should be 

discharged from liability for the financial period audited by us.

Helsinki, February 15, 2010

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy

Authorised Public Accountants

Johan Kronberg

Authorised Public Accountant
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Quarterly Information

Consolidated statements of income

EUR million 1– 3/08 4 – 6/08 7– 9/08 10 –12/08 2008 1– 3/09 4 – 6/09 7– 9/09 10 –12/09 2009

Net sales 1,400 1,633 1,528 1,839 6,400 1,220 1,247 1,196 1,353 5,016

Cost of goods sold -1,038 -1,210 -1,114 -1,371 -4,733 -925 -942 -885 -1,056 -3,808

Gross profit 362 423 414 468 1,667 295 305 311 297 1,208

Selling, general and administrative expenses -249 -266 -246 -282 -1,043 -239 -239 -210 -250 -938

Other operating income and expenses, net 6 -2 4 3 11 3 -1 13 9 24

Share in profits and losses of associated companies 1 0 0 1 2 0 1 0 -1 0

Operating profit 120 155 172 190 637 59 66 114 55 294

% of net sales 8.5% 9.5% 11.3% 10.3% 10.0% 4.8% 5.3% 9.5% 4.1% 5.9%

Financial income and expenses, net -9 -10 -35 -35 -89 -22 -14 -23 -13 -72

Profit before taxes 111 145 137 155 548 37 52 91 42 222

Income taxes -33 -43 -39 -43 -158 -11 -15 -28 -17 -71

Profit 78 102 98 112 390 26 37 63 25 151

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the company 78 102 97 112 389 26 37 62 25 150

Minority interests 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 1

Profit 78 102 98 112 390 26 37 63 25 151

Earnings per share, EUR 0.55 0.72 0.69 0.79 2.75 0.18 0.26 0.44 0.18 1.06
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Consolidated balance sheets

EUR million
Mar 31,  

2008
June 30,  

2008
Sep 30,  

2008
Dec 31,  

2008
Mar 31,  

2009
June 30,  

2009
Sep 30,  

2009
Dec 31,  

2009

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 1,005 1,043 1,042 1,032 1,043 1,037 1,036 1,175

Property, plant and equipment 636 663 724 726 731 723 715 819

Financial and other assets 220 221 205 245 249 266 347 422

Total non-current assets 1,861 1,927 1,971 2,003 2,023 2,026 2,098 2,416

Current assets

Inventories 1,510 1,616 1,745 1,606 1,591 1,466 1,316 1,172

Receivables 1,776 1,656 1,589 1,588 1,426 1,411 1,433 1,400

Cash and cash equivalents 389 361 256 314 436 605 612 727

Total current assets 3,675 3,633 3,590 3,508 3,453 3,482 3,361 3,299

Total assets 5,536 5,560 5,561 5,511 5,476 5,508 5,459 5,715

Equity

Share capital 241 241 241 241 241 241 241 241

Other shareholders’ equity 1,403 1,096 1,190 1,203 1,157 1,233 1,308 1,542

Minority interests 7 7 9 9 9 9 10 9

Total equity 1,651 1,344 1,440 1,453 1,407 1,483 1,559 1,792

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities 1,099 1,109 1,138 1,373 1,374 1,614 1,626 1,641

Current liabilities 2,786 3,107 2,983 2,685 2,695 2,411 2,274 2,282

Total liabilities 3,885 4,216 4,121 4,058 4,069 4,025 3,900 3,923

Total shareholders’ equity  
and liabilities 5,536 5,560 5,561 5,511 5,476 5,508 5,459 5,715

Net interest bearing liabilities

Long-term interest bearing debt 860 850 894 1,089 1,080 1,322 1,331 1,334

Short-term interest bearing debt 192 597 425 346 399 357 257 242

Cash and cash equivalents -389 -361 -256 -314 -436 -605 -612 -727

Other interest bearing assets -18 -19 -23 -22 -21 -32 -179 -266

Total 645 1,067 1,040 1,099 1,022 1,042 797 583

Equity to assets ratio, % 36.8 28.9 31.5 30.9 30.3 31.7 33.2 35.7

Gearing, % 39.1 79.5 72.2 75.7 72.6 70.2 51.1 32.5



Metso Financial Statements 2009   139  

QUARTERLY INFORMATION

Net sales by reporting segment

EUR million 1– 3/08 4 – 6/08 7 – 9/08 10 –12/08 2008 1– 3/09 4 – 6/09 7 – 9/09 10 –12/09 2009

Mining and Construction Technology 534 665 670 717 2,586 528 531 492 524 2,075

Energy and Environmental Technology 373 476 423 503 1,775 397 357 350 419 1,523

Paper and Fiber Technology 483 493 441 627 2,044 287 359 356 406 1,408

Valmet Automotive 23 19 10 13 65 21 14 7 14 56

Group Head Office and other - - - - - - - - - -

Group Head Office and others total 23 19 10 13 65 21 14 7 14 56

Intra Metso net sales -13 -20 -16 -21 -70 -13 -14 -9 -10 -46

Metso total 1,400 1,633 1,528 1,839 6,400 1,220 1,247 1,196 1,353 5,016

Operating profit (loss) by reporting segment

EUR million 1– 3/08 4 – 6/08 7 – 9/08 10 –12/08 2008 1– 3/09 4 – 6/09 7 – 9/09 10 –12/09 2009

Mining and Construction Technology 78.2 91.0 97.9 91.3 358.4 54.9 46.0 53.7 44.2 198.8

Energy and Environmental Technology 24.6 44.2 51.2 56.0 176.0 27.7 29.7 32.9 27.8 118.1

Paper and Fiber Technology 24.9 23.8 34.5 46.9 130.1 -18.2 -1.6 27.6 -7.0 0.8

Valmet Automotive 1.0 0.9 -2.9 -2.5 -3.5 -0.3 -2.6 -5.5 0.2 -8.2

Group Head Office and other -9.1 -4.7 -8.4 -1.6 -23.8 -5.5 -5.6 5.4 -10.2 -15.9

Group Head Office and others total -8.1 -3.8 -11.3 -4.1 -27.3 -5.8 -8.2 -0.1 -10.0 -24.1

Metso total 119.6 155.2 172.3 190.1 637.2 58.6 65.9 114.1 55.0 293.6

Operating profit (loss), % of net sales by reporting segment

% 1– 3/08 4 – 6/08 7 – 9/08 10 –12/08 2008 1– 3/09 4 – 6/09 7 – 9/09 10 –12/09 2009

Mining and Construction Technology 14.6 13.7 14.6 12.7 13.9 10.4 8.7 10.9 8.4 9.6

Energy and Environmental Technology 6.6 9.3 12.1 11.1 9.9 7.0 8.3 9.4 6.6 7.8

Paper and Fiber Technology 5.2 4.8 7.8 7.5 6.4 -6.3 -0.4 7.8 -1.7 0.1

Valmet Automotive 4.3 4.7 -29.0 -19.2 -5.4 -1.4 -18.6 -78.6 1.4 -14.6

Group Head Office and other n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Group Head Office and others total n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Metso total 8.5 9.5 11.3 10.3 10.0 4.8 5.3 9.5 4.1 5.9

EBITA by reporting segment

EUR million 1– 3/08 4 – 6/08 7 – 9/08 10 –12/08 2008 1– 3/09 4 – 6/09 7 – 9/09 10 –12/09 2009

Mining and Construction Technology 78.9 91.8 98.6 91.9 361.2 55.6 46.9 54.7 45.6 202.8

Energy and Environmental Technology 32.4 49.7 55.7 60.5 198.3 32.3 34.1 37.1 32.8 136.3

Paper and Fiber Technology 29.9 28.1 36.9 51.2 146.1 -14.0 1.4 32.4 -3.3 16.5

Valmet Automotive 1.0 0.9 -2.8 -2.6 -3.5 -0.3 -2.6 -5.5 0.3 -8.1

Group Head Office and other -8.5 -4.0 -7.7 -1.0 -21.2 -4.8 -5.1 5.9 -9.2 -13.2

Group Head Office and others total -7.5 -3.1 -10.5 -3.6 -24.7 -5.1 -7.7 0.4 -8.9 -21.3

Metso total 133.7 166.5 180.7 200.0 680.9 68.8 74.7 124.6 66.2 334.3
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QUARTERLY INFORMATION

EBITA, % of net sales by reporting segment

% 1– 3/08 4 – 6/08 7 – 9/08 10 –12/08 2008 1– 3/09 4 – 6/09 7 – 9/09 10 –12/09 2009

Mining and Construction Technology 14.8 13.8 14.7 12.8 14.0 10.5 8.8 11.1 8.7 9.8

Energy and Environmental Technology 8.7 10.4 13.2 12.0 11.2 8.1 9.6 10.6 7.8 8.9

Paper and Fiber Technology 6.2 5.7 8.4 8.2 7.1 -4.9 0.4 9.1 -0.8 1.2

Valmet Automotive 4.3 4.7 -28.0 -20.0 -5.4 -1.4 -18.6 -78.6 2.1 -14.5

Group Head Office and other n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Group Head Office and others total n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Metso total 9.6 10.2 11.8 10.9 10.6 5.6 6.0 10.4 4.9 6.7

Orders received by reporting segment

EUR million 1– 3/08 4 – 6/08 7 – 9/08 10 –12/08 2008 1– 3/09 4 – 6/09 7 – 9/09 10 –12/09 2009

Mining and Construction Technology 687 936 747 339 2,709 385 398 420 457 1,660

Energy and Environmental Technology 382 367 568 341 1,658 265 278 250 504 1,297

Paper and Fiber Technology 433 441 940 207 2,021 279 335 369 401 1,384

Valmet Automotive 23 19 10 13 65 21 14 7 14 56

Group Head Office and other - - - - - - - - - -

Group Head Office and others total 23 19 10 13 65 21 14 7 14 56

Intra Metso orders received -16 -23 -19 -11 -69 -8 -5 -15 -11 -39

Metso total 1,509 1,740 2,246 889 6,384 942 1,020 1,031 1,365 4,358

Order backlog by reporting segment

EUR million
Mar 31, 

2008
June 30, 

2008
Sep 30, 

2008
Dec 31, 

2008
Mar 31, 

2009
June 30, 

2009
Sep 30, 

2009
Dec 31, 

2009

Mining and Construction Technology 1,562 1,850 1,964 1,492 1,347 1,196 1,103 1,041

Energy and Environmental Technology 1,331 1,253 1,402 1,204 1,182 1,035 939 1,032

Paper and Fiber Technology 1,494 1,441 1,931 1,434 1,438 1,304 1,330 1,380

Valmet Automotive - - - - - - - -

Group Head Office and other - - - - - - - -

Group Head Office and others total - - - - - - - -

Intra Metso order backlog -47 -50 -53 -42 -33 -23 -32 -38

Metso total 4,340 4,494 5,244 4,088 3,934 3,512 3,340 3,415

Personnel by reporting segment

Mar 31, 
2008

June 30, 
2008

Sep 30, 
2008

Dec 31, 
2008

Mar 31, 
2009

June 30, 
2009

Sep 30, 
2009

Dec 31, 
2009

Mining and Construction Technology 10,063 10,503 10,829 11,259 10,826 10,344 10,014 9,541

Energy and Environmental Technology 5,957 6,311 6,317 6,357 6,387 6,349 6,119 6,060

Paper and Fiber Technology 9,892 10,089 10,661 10,544 10,090 9,858 9,475 10,459

Valmet Automotive 789 779 579 783 618 636 636 679

Group Head Office and other 361 387 376 379 391 421 419 427

Group Head Office and others total 1,150 1,166 955 1,162 1,009 1,057 1,055 1,106

Metso total 27,062 28,069 28,762 29,322 28,312 27,608 26,663 27,166
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Metso 
Corporate Governance Statement 2009

We have prepared this corporate governance statement in accordance with recommendation 51 of the Finnish Corporate Governance Code and 

it also covers other key corporate governance areas that we want to highlight to investors. This corporate governance statement is issued sepa-

rately from the Board of Director’s report. It is also available on our website. We provide detailed and updated information about our governance 

issues on our website www.metso.com.

Metso’s governing bodies

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

The duties of Metso Corporation’s bodies are governed by Finnish law 

and the bodies of its subsidiaries by the laws of their place of business 

as well as the corporate governance principles defined by our Board of 

Directors. Our governance principles are based on the Finnish Compa-

nies Act and the Finnish Securities Markets Act. Since the beginning of 

2009, we adopted the Finnish Corporate Governance code (“the Code”) 

issued by the Securities Market Association. The Code is publicly avail-

able on www.cgfinland.fi. In our decision-making and governance, we 

also comply with other Finnish legislation and regulations, our Articles 

of Association, the guidelines for insiders published by the NASDAQ 

OMX Helsinki Ltd (hereinafter Helsinki Exchange) as well as the Finnish 

Central Chamber of Commerce’s Helsinki Takeover Code.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Nomination Committee

Audit Committee Remuneration and HR Committee

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

GROUP PRESIDENT AND CEO

EXECUTIVE TEAM AND EXECUTIVE FORUM
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As an exception from the Code Metso does not have a nomination 

committee established by the Board of Directors. Instead, the Nomi-

nation Committee established by the 2009 Annual General Meeting 

prepares proposals regarding Board composition and remuneration for 

the 2010 Annual General Meeting.

Metso’s audit committee has reviewed this corporate governance 

statement. Our independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, has 

checked that this statement has been issued and that the description 

of internal control and risk management is consistent with our financial 

statements.

We prepare consolidated financial statements and interim reports 

in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS), as adopted by EU, the Finnish Securities Markets Act as well as 

the appropriate Finnish Financial Supervision Authority’s standards and 

Helsinki Exchange’s rules. The Board of Directors’ report of Metso and 

parent company financial statements are prepared in accordance with 

Finnish Accounting Act and the opinions and guidelines of the Finnish 

Accounting Board.

The auditor’s report, presented on page 136 of the annual 

report, covers the Board of Directors’ report, consolidated finan-

cial statements and the parent company financial statements.

GOVERNING BODIES OF METSO

Metso’s supreme decision-making body is the Annual General Meeting 

of Shareholders. The Board of Directors (Board) and the President and 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) are responsible for the management 

of Metso. Other Metso executives have an assisting and supporting 

role. The Board seeks to ensure good corporate governance principles 

within Metso.

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

Every holder of Metso shares has the right to participate in the Annual 

General Meeting. Each share entitles its holder to one vote. Decisions 

are usually made by a simple majority of votes. Participation in the 

Annual General Meeting requires that the shareholder is registered in 

Metso’s shareholder register on the record date of the meeting, which is 

eight business days before the meeting. The holder of a nominee-reg-

istered share may be notified for a temporary entry in the shareholder 

register, in the event that such holder has had a right to be registered 

on the record date. In addition, the participation requires advance no-

tice of participation at the latest by the date mentioned in the meeting 

notice.

Shareholders are entitled to having an issue put on the Annual 

General Meeting’s agenda, provided that such an issue requires a deci-

sion by the Annual General Meeting according to the Finnish Compa-

nies Act. The request must be submitted in writing to the Board early 

enough (four weeks before publishing the notice) so that the issue can 

be included in the meeting notice.

We publish a notice of the Annual General Meeting no more than 

two months and no less than 21 days before the meeting in at least 

two newspapers published regularly in Helsinki, Finland, and we deliver 

it directly to shareholders when required by law. Additionally, we pub-

lish the notice, agenda and meeting documents on our web site.

The Annual General Meeting is the supreme deci-
sion-making body of Metso. The Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders is held once a year before 
the end of June. It decides on the matters stipulated 
in the Finnish Companies Act and the Articles of As-
sociation. Such issues include:

Adoption of the financial statements
Use of the profit shown on the balance sheet
Election of the Chairman, Vice Chairman and 
members of the Board and the decision on their 
remuneration
Discharging from liability the members of the 
Board and the CEO
Election of the Auditor and the decision on 
compensation
Proposals made by the Board or a shareholder 
(among others amendments of the Articles of 
Association, the repurchase the company’s own 
shares, share issue, giving special rights).

Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders 
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2009

The Annual General Meeting was held in Helsinki on March 31, 2009. 

A total of 974 shareholders representing about 38 percent of the 

company’s votes participated in it either in person or by proxy. All 

members of the Board and the CEO as well as the independent audi-

tor participated in the meeting. 

Annual General Meeting decisions: www.metso.com/investors >  

Governance > Annual General Meeting

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee established by the Annual General Meet-

ing prepares proposals for the following Annual General Meeting with 

regard to the composition of the Board and remuneration to its mem-

bers. We have had this kind of nomination committee procedure in 

place since 2004 as proposed by Metso’s largest shareholder Solidium 

(previously the Finnish State).The committee consists of representatives 

appointed by the four largest shareholders at a pre-determined date 

each year. If a shareholder chooses not to exercise its’ right to appoint, 

the right is transferred to the next largest shareholder. In addition, the 

nomination committee has expert members including either the Chair-

man of the Board alone or together with one other member appointed 

by the Board from among its members who is independent of signifi-

cant shareholders. The Chairman of the Board convenes the committee, 

which elects its chairman from among its members. 

Nomination Committee ahead of 2009 AGM 

Metso’s four largest shareholders as of November 3, 2008 announced 

the following representatives for the Nomination Committee: Pekka Ti-

monen, Director General, Ownership Steering Department, Prime Min-

ister’s Office (State of Finland); Lars Förberg, Managing Partner (Cevian 

Capital); Mikko Koivusalo, Head of Capital Market Investments (Varma 

Mutual Pension Insurance Company) and Harri Sailas, CEO (Ilmarinen 

Mutual Pension Insurance Company). The committee elected Pekka Ti-

monen as its Chairman and Matti Kavetvuo, Chairman of Metso’s Board, 

served as committee’s expert member.

The Nomination Committee convened two times and on Febru-

ary 2, 2009 provided Metso’s Board its proposal on Board members 

and related compensation for the 2009 Annual General Meeting. The 

committee proposed seven members to the Board with Jukka Viinanen 

as a new Chairman of the Board and Pia Rudengren as a new member. 

Further, the committee proposed the annual fees to remain unchanged 

from 2008. The Annual General Meeting approved the Nomination 

Committee’s proposals for Board members and fees with no changes.

Nomination Committee ahead of 2010 AGM

Metso’s four largest shareholders as of November 2, 2009 announced 

the following representatives for Nomination Committee: Kari Järvinen, 

Managing Director (Solidium Oy); Lars Förberg, Managing Partner 

(Cevian Capital); Matti Vuoria, Managing Director, President and CEO 

(Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company) and Harri Sailas, CEO 

(Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company). The Nomination Com-

mittee elected Kari Järvinen as its Chairman. Jukka Viinanen, Chairman 

of the Board and Jaakko Rauramo, Vice Chairman of the Board served as 

committee’s expert members.

The Nomination Committee convened three times and on January 

27, 2010 provided Metso’s Board its proposal for the Annual General 

Meeting to be held on March 30, 2010. The Nomination Committee 

proposes that the number of Board members is seven and that 

from the current Board members Maija-Liisa Friman, Christer Gardell, 

Yrjö Neuvo, Pia Rudengren and Jukka Viinanen be re-elected. Jukka 

Viinanen is proposed to be elected as Chairman of the Board and 

Maija-Liisa Friman as Vice Chairman. It is also proposed that Erkki Pehu-

Lehtonen and Mikael von Frenckell be elected as new members of the 

Board. The Nomination Committee proposes the following annual fees 

to be paid: Chairman EUR 92,000, Vice Chairman EUR 56,000 and other 

Board members EUR 45,000. In addition, a fee of EUR 600 per meeting 

is paid to all members for the Board and Board committee meetings 

they attend. The Nomination Committee proposes that 40 percent 

of the fixed annual remuneration be paid in Metso shares acquired 

from the market. The annual fees are proposed to remain unchanged 

compared to 2009.

Board of Directors

The Board oversees the management and operations of Metso. It also 

decides on significant matters related to strategy, investments, organi-

zation and finances.

Our Board consists of 5 – 8 permanent members, which the Annual 

General Meeting elects for a term that lasts until the end of the next 

Annual General Meeting. Individuals who have reached the age of 68 

years cannot be elected to the Board. Pursuant to the Finnish Act on 

Personnel Representation in the Administration of Undertakings, a per-

sonnel representative participates in the meetings as an invited expert 

with no voting rights or legal liability for the Board’s decisions. There is 

no specific order of appointment of directors.

The Board is convened by the Chairman, or if the Chairman is 

unavailable, by the Vice Chairman. The Board has a quorum when more 

than half of the members are present and one of these is the Chair-

man or the Vice Chairman. A decision of the Board shall be carried by a 

majority of those present or, in the case of a tie, the Chairman shall have 

the casting vote.

The CEO and the Executive Vice President participate in the Board 

meetings as the presenting officers of issues, and the General Counsel 

as the Secretary of the Board. Metso Executive Team members and 

other executives participate in the meetings when needed.

2009 

The Board’s agenda included issues relating to steering Metso under 

economic downturn such as adjusting costs and capacity to lower 

demand, net working capital release and funding options. The agen-

da also covered longer term development issues such as developing 

Metso’s global presence, including a special review on Indian market, 

human resource management and related processes, senior manage-

ment succession planning and acquisitions. The Board carried out a 

self-assessment of its performance. The assessment covered, among 

other things, composition of the Board, efficiency and focus of the 

work, quality of information, material and systems provided to and 

used by the Board and the level and openness of discussions. The 

results of the assessment are used in developing the Board work. The 

2009 Annual General Meeting elected seven members to our Board. 

http://www.metso.com/corporation/ir_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041109-2256F-36FF4?OpenDocument&mid=F16C153BF269B98EC22575AE00496D63
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Jukka Viinanen was elected as Chairman and Jaakko Rauramo as Vice 

Chairman. Pia Rudengren was elected a new member of the Board. 

The Board members re-elected were Maija-Liisa Friman, Christer 

Gardell, Arto Honkaniemi and Yrjö Neuvo. The term of office of Board 

members lasts until the end of the next Annual General Meeting. 

Jukka Leppänen, the personnel representative, participated in the 

meetings as an invited expert. All Board members were independent 

of the company. In addition, with the exception of Honkaniemi, they 

were all independent of Metso’s significant shareholders. The Board 

did not allocate to its members any specific operational focus areas 

to monitor.

The Board met 15 times during 2009, and attendance by its 

members was 98 percent. Additionally, the Board made two unani-

mous resolutions without convening.

Board committees

Our Board has two permanent committees: an Audit Committee and a 

Remuneration and HR Committee. The Board elects the members of the 

committees from among its members at its annual assembly meeting 

and monitors the activities of the committees. Both committees have 

charters approved by the Board.

Audit Committee

The Board’s Audit Committee monitors our financial reporting and 

prepares issues for the Board related to the monitoring of our financial 

situation, financial reporting, auditing and risk management. Among 

other things the Audit Committee:

Assesses Metso’s draft financial statements, draft interim reports, 

accounting policies, accounting of significant or exceptional busi-

ness transactions, management forecasts and statements relating to 

Metso’s short-term outlook

Assesses compliance with laws and provisions and with internal 

instructions, as well as assesses the adequacy of internal control and 

risk management

Approves the audit plans of internal and independent auditors and 

follows up reporting related to these plans

Prepares for the election of independent auditors, assesses and re-

views the auditors’ reports with the auditors, and assesses the quality 

and scope of the audit and the independence of the auditors

Reviews Metso’s Corporate Governance Statement

The Audit Committee convenes at least four times per year. It consists of 

the committee’s chairman and two members, all of whom are elected 

by the Board from among the members independent of the company. 

At least one of the members must be independent of significant share-

holders. The Audit Committee members must have the qualifications 

necessary to perform the responsibilities of the Audit Committee and at 

least one member must have expertise specifically in accounting, book-

keeping or auditing.

2009 

In addition to its regulatory duties, among other things, the Audit 

Committee discussed Metso’s financing situation and funding options 

as well as the measures taken to reduce net working capital, assessed 

Metso’s global tax situation and matters related to tax planning and 

The Board’s main duties include the following: 
To approve Metso’s long-term goals and strategy
To approve annual business and other major 
action plans
To approve Metso’s organizational structure and 
the principles for the incentive systems
To appoint and to dismiss the President and CEO 
and to approve the appointment and dismissal 
of CFO and deputy CEO, Metso Executive Team 
members and the Presidents of the reporting 
segments
To monitor and evaluate the performance of 
the President and CEO and to decide upon his 
remuneration and benefits
To ensure that the supervision of the accounting 
and financial matters is properly organized, and 
to ensure proper preparation of the interim and 
annual financial statements
To ensure the adequacy of planning, information 
and control systems for monitoring the bookkee-
ping and handling of financial matters and risk 
management
To make proposals for and convene the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders
To decide upon other matters that do not be-
long to day-to-day operations or matters that are 
of major importance, such as major investments, 
acquisitions and divestitures, and major joint 
ventures and loan agreements. The Board also 
sets the principles for giving financial guarantees 
by Metso
To approve Metso’s corporate policies in key ma-
nagement areas, like corporate governance, risk 
management, financial control, treasury, internal 
control, information security, corporate commu-
nications, human resources, environment and 
disclosure policy and code of conduct.

Main duties of the Board of Directors
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monitored the progress of global ERP projects. In every meeting, the 

Audit Committee reviewed the impairment tests performed on the 

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. As a result of these tests 

no impairment was recognized. The committee also monitored the 

drafting of Metso’s first Corporate Governance Statement. The com-

mittee did not use any external advisors.

The Audit Committee comprised Maija-Liisa Friman (Chairman), 

Arto Honkaniemi and from March 31 onwards Pia Rudengren (until 

March 31 Jukka Viinanen). Rudengren has been defined as financial 

expert and together with Friman they are independent of significant 

shareholders. 

The Audit Committee convened 5 times, and member at-

tendance was 100 percent. Executive Vice President and CFO 

Olli Vaartimo was the secretary of the Audit Committee. Also the 

CEO Jorma Eloranta and independent auditor Johan Kronberg 

(PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy) participated in the meetings.

Remuneration and HR Committee

Among other things the Remuneration and HR Committee:

Reviews and monitors the competitiveness of our remunera-

tion and incentive systems and the development of the Human 

Resources related issues such as competence and talent develop-

ment and successor planning of Metso’s senior management

Evaluates the performance and compensation of the CEO

Prepares proposals to the Board for the compensation and benefits 

of the CEO

Makes proposals to the Board for the appointment of the Metso 

Executive Team members based on the CEO proposal

Decides upon the remuneration and benefits of the Metso Execu-

tive Team members. The committee may authorize its chairman to 

decide upon the remuneration and benefits of these officers. The 

CEO proposes to the committee chairman for approval the remu-

neration and benefits of the other officers reporting to the CEO

Convening at least twice a year, the committee consists of the commit-

tee chairman and two members. All the members are independent of 

the company. The CEO participates in the meetings, except when the 

agenda includes issues relating to him.

2009 

The main tasks of the Remuneration and HR Committee included 

realization of the 2009 performance bonus plan and planning of the 

2010 plan and planning of the share ownership plan for 2010–2012. 

The Remuneration and HR Committee used external advisors relat-

ing to the share ownership plans and succession planning. The 

Remuneration and HR Committee comprised Jukka Viinanen as 

Chairman (until March 31, 2009 Matti Kavetvuo), Christer Gardell, Yrjö 

Neuvo and Jaakko Rauramo. Senior Vice President, General Counsel, 

Aleksanteri Lebedeff was secretary of the committee. The committee 

convened 5 times during the year, and member attendance was 100 

percent. 

Board member meeting participation

 
Jan. 1 - Dec. 31, 2009

 
Board

Audit
Committee

Remuneration 
and HR

Committee

Jukka Viinanen* 15/15 1/1 4/4

Jaakko Rauramo 15/15 5/5

Maija-Liisa Friman 15/15 5/5

Christer Gardell 15/15 5/5

Arto Honkaniemi 14/15 5/5

Yrjö Neuvo 15/15 5/5

Jukka Leppänen 15/15

Pia Rudengren** 12/13 4/4

Matti Kavetvuo*** 2/2 1/1

In every meeting, the Audit 
Committee reviewed the 
impairment tests.

MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

President and CEO

Our President and CEO, Jorma Eloranta, is responsible for the manage-

ment of Metso’s businesses in accordance with the Finnish Companies 

Act, corporate governance rules and the instructions given by the 

Board. The CEO is appointed – and, if necessary, dismissed – by the 

Board and he reports to the Board about e.g. Metso’s financial situation, 

business environment and other significant issues. The CEO prepares 

the matters on the agenda of the Board and its committees and imple-

ments their decisions. The CEO guides and supervises the operations 

of Metso and its businesses. Additionally, the CEO acts as Chairman of 

the Metso Executive Team and Metso Executive Forum.

Metso Executive Team

The CEO and other members appointed by the Board constitute the 

Metso Executive Team (MET). The MET assists the CEO in the prepara-

tion of matters, such as business plans, strategy, policies and other 

matters of joint importance.

Metso Executive Forum

In 2008 we established the Metso Executive Forum (MEF) to operate 

alongside the MET. It consists of the members of the MET and heads of 

our most significant businesses, market areas and human resources. Its 

task is to assist our CEO in execution and development of our strategy. 

*  Member of Audit Committee until March 31. The committee convened 1 time during 

 January 1- March 31.  Chairman of the Remuneration and HR Committee since March 31.  

 The committee convened 4 times since March 31.

**  Board member since March 31. During March 31-December 31, the Board convened 13 times  

 and the Audit Committee 4 times.

*** Board member until March 31. During January 1- March 31, the Board convened 2 times and   

 the Remuneration and HR Committee 1 time.
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Metso Executive Team’s 
main task was to secure 
short- and long-term  
profitability and 
competitiveness.

MEF focuses on dealing with the most important Metso wide develop-

ment issues and sharing of knowledge within Metso. The Forum  

convenes 2 – 4 times per year to discuss and share best practices, to 

start and follow up Group wide initiatives and to foster synergies be-

tween businesses. 

Business line and reporting segment management

The business operations of Metso are organized into 8 business lines 

which in turn form the 3 reporting segments. The business lines in the 

Mining and Construction Technology reporting segment are Services as 

well as Equipment and Systems (Until July 1, Mining and Construction 

business lines), in the Energy and Environmental Technology reporting 

segment Power, Automation and Recycling, and in the Paper and Fiber 

Technology reporting segment Paper, Fiber and Tissue. The heads of 

Metso’s business lines are responsible for the profitability and the daily 

management of their business lines, and they report to the Presidents 

of the respective segments.

The Presidents of the reporting segments report to Metso CEO 

and provide him with information about the financial and operational 

performance and development of the operating environment of their 

respective businesses. They are also responsible for the development 

of the business line operations and strategy, for implementing Metso’s 

plans, strategies and operating policies within the business lines, and 

for collaboration between the business lines.

Subsidiary boards

The subsidiary boards ensure that operations in all Metso companies 

are managed in accordance with prevailing laws, regulations and 

operating policies. Metso’s CEO, as Chairman, and two to four other 

members appointed by the CEO, generally from Metso executives, 

constitute the boards of the major subsidiaries. The CEO decides on the 

possible additional responsibilities of the boards of holding and other 

similar companies belonging to the Metso Group.

2009 

CEO Jorma Eloranta and Executive Vice President and CFO Olli 

Vaartimo continued in their areas of responsibility. Matti Kähkönen, 

Pasi Laine, Bertel Langenskiöld and Kalle Reponen continued as 

members of MET. Perttu Louhiluoto, Senior Vice President, Opera-

tional Excellence moved in June over to the position of Senior Vice 

President, EMEA market area, Mining and Construction Technology 

and resigned from MET and MEF. 

The Metso Executive Team met 15 times during the year. One of 

its main tasks was to secure Metso’s short and long term profitability 

by adjusting Metso’s capacity and cost structure to lower demand 

environment. It also handled issues related to Metso’s management 

model, Metso-wide development themes and initiatives as well as 

issues related to human resource review and succession planning. It 

also reviewed and updated Metso strategy for the Board review after 

the major changes in our operating environment. The MEF agenda 

included issues related to Metso strategy and communication of 

the strategy, leadership development, sharing of best practices and 

monitoring of the progress in Metso-wide themes and initiatives. 

MEF met 3 times during the year.

Merja Kamppari, Senior Vice President, Human Resources was 

nominated as new member of MEF in June. Heitz Gerdes, former 

president of the Recycling business line retired at the end of 2009 

and renounced his membership in MEF. Celso Tacla, President of the 

South American operations of Metso’s Paper and Fiber Technology, 

has been appointed a new member of MEF as of January 22, 2010.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL  

AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS PERTAINING  

TO THE FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS 

Our internal control mechanism seeks to ensure compliance with 

applicable laws, regulations and our operating principles as well as 

the reliability of financial and operational reporting. Furthermore, the 

internal control mechanism seeks to safeguard our assets and to ensure 

overall effectiveness and efficiency of our operations to meet Metso’s 

strategic, operational and financial targets. Our internal control prac-

tices are aligned with Metso’s risk management process. The goal of risk 

management in Metso is to support our strategy and the achievement 

of our objectives by anticipating and managing potential threats to 

and opportunities for our business. The discussion below focuses on 

internal control and risk management over financial reporting. 

More detailed discussion about our overall risk management, 

see our website on www.metso.com

Annual report: Risks and risk management, pages 26–33.

In Metso, the operating model of internal control and risk management 

related to financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assur-

ance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the prepara-

tion of financial statements in accordance with applicable laws and 

regulations, generally accepted accounting principles (IFRS) and other 

requirements for listed companies. The overall system of internal con-

trol in Metso is based upon the framework issued by the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) and comprises five principal com-

ponents of internal control: the control environment, risk assessment, 

control activities, information and communication, and monitoring. 

Control environment 

Our Board of Directors bears the overall responsibility for the internal con-

trol over financial reporting. The Board has established a written formal 

working order that clarifies the Board’s responsibilities and regulates the 

Board’s and its committees’ internal distribution of work. Furthermore, the 

Board has appointed an Audit Committee, the primary task of which is 
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to ensure that established principles for financial reporting, risk manage-

ment and internal control are adhered to and that appropriate relations 

are maintained with the company’s auditors. The responsibility for 

maintaining an effective control environment and the ongoing work on 

internal control as regards the financial reporting is delegated to the CEO. 

Our internal audit function reports all relevant issues to the Audit Com-

mittee and the CEO. The function focuses on developing and enhanc-

ing internal control over the financial reporting in Metso by proactively 

concentrating on the internal control environment and by monitoring 

the effectiveness of the internal control. Our internal steering instru-

ments for financial reporting primarily comprise Metso Code of Conduct, 

Internal Control Policy, Internal Control Standards, Treasury Policy and 

our accounting policies and reporting instructions which define the 

accounting and reporting rules, and Metso’s definition of processes and 

minimum requirements for internal control over financial reporting. Our 

Audit Committee has also defined a financial expert among its members. 

Risk assessment

Metso’s risk assessment as regards financial reporting aims to identify 

and evaluate the most significant risks affecting the financial reporting 

at the Group, reporting segment, unit, function and process levels. The 

assessment of risk includes for example risks related to fraud and irregu-

larities, as well as the risk of loss or misappropriation of assets. The risk 

assessment results in control targets through which we seek to ensure 

that the fundamental requirements placed on financial reporting are 

fulfilled. Information on development of essential risk areas and ex-

ecuted and planned activities in these areas and measures to mitigate 

them are communicated regularly to the Audit Committee.

Control activities

We have established an internal Metso Compliance Program to ensure 

the correctness and credibility of our financial reporting and compli-

ance with our governance principles in all our units. Its purpose is to 

create a coherent control environment in Metso by implementing 

proper internal control principles for different business processes and 

to share internal control-related best practices. Through the program, 

we seek to ensure that we maintain a high standard of financial report-

ing, internal controls and governance principles even after the Metso 

share was delisted and deregistered from the US in late 2007 and our 

reporting obligations under Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) ended. Metso 

Compliance Program affects all our units and is more flexible and in 

some respects more comprehensive than SOX reporting. In line with 

the SOX requirements, our control standards define the basic level for 

internal controls that all units must achieve. Our internal audit function, 

assisted by trained Metso testers from different parts of our organiza-

tion, is responsible for the testing of the units. Unlike with the SOX 

system, independent auditors do not issue a separate statement on the 

functionality of our internal controls.

Our Internal Control Standards are designed to ensure that main 

control aspects in selected key administration processes are effectively 

designed and implemented by local management in every Metso unit. 

These are complemented with proper segregation of key duties and 

management oversight controls. Properly established internal controls 

safeguard us also from possible misuses. Internal Control Standards list 

the set of control standards by selected business cycles, such as rev-

enue, procurement, payroll, inventory, treasury, financial reporting, fixed 

assets and IT, including list of duties, which need to be segregated from 

each other. Further it outlines control activities by business processes 

that need to be implemented and their performance documented.

2009 

The Metso Compliance Program has proceeded on schedule. We 

made some modifications to our Internal Control Standards and 

trained more testers, especially in Asia-Pacific. During the year, the 

amount of trained testers from our various units increased by some 

20 to more than 50. Since the launch of the program at the end of 

August 2007, we have tested a total of 114 units and IT systems, 67 of 

them during 2009. By the end of the year, 59 units and systems had 

met our requirements. We have initiated corrective measures in 55 

units and systems. Each of non-compliance units will be tested again 

within one year. About 20 of the largest units will be tested every 

two years, the smaller units every three years. The aim is to have all 

our units within the scope of the program by the end of 2010.

 

Information and communication

In order to secure effective and efficient internal control environment 

we seek to ensure that Metso’s internal and external communication is 

open, transparent, accurate and timely. Information regarding internal 

steering instruments for financial reporting i.e. accounting principles, 

financial reporting instructions and disclosure policy, are available on 

Metso’s intranet. We arrange training for our personnel regarding inter-

nal control issues and tools. Metso CFO and the head of internal audit 

report the results of the work on internal control as a standing item on 

the agenda of the Audit Committee’s meetings. The results of the Audit 

Committee’s work in the form of observations, recommendations and 

proposed decisions and measures are reported to the Board after every 

Audit Committee meeting. 

Monitoring

Monitoring to ensure the effectiveness of internal control as regards 

financial reporting is conducted by the Board, the Audit Committee, 

CEO, Group management, the internal audit function and by the Group 

companies and reporting segments. Monitoring includes the follow up 

of monthly financial reports, review of the rolling estimates and plans, 

as well as reports from internal audits and quarterly reports by indepen-

dent auditors. Our internal audit annually assesses the effectiveness 

of Metso’s operations as well as the adequacy and effectiveness of risk 

management and reports risks and weaknesses related to the internal 

control processes. Internal audit compiles an annual audit plan, the 

status and findings of which it regularly reports to Metso management, 

auditors and the Audit Committee. Furthermore our internal audit and 

independent auditor have regular coordination meetings. 

2009

In monitoring we focused on the awareness and effectiveness of net 

working capital management procedures in our units and adequacy 

of the adjustment measures related to cost structure and capacity.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND CODE OF CONDUCT

In all our operations we seek to comply with appli-

cable laws and statutes as well as generally accepted 

practices. Additionally, our operations are guided by 

Metso’s Code of Conduct and values. We require that 

each one of our employees is familiar with the legisla-

tion and operating guidelines of their own areas of 

responsibility. Business management is responsible 

for the internal supervision of their operations. In 

conjunction with internal audits, we strive to ensure 

that everyone in the unit being audited is familiar 

with and complies with the laws, regulations and 

principles relating to their own work. In addition to 

Metso’s management, the due course of operations 

is monitored by the Board’s Audit Committee, which 

reports any misconduct to the Board.

Internal audit

Metso’s internal audit assesses the efficiency and 

appropriateness of our operations and examines the 

functioning of internal controls. It seeks to ensure 

the reliability of financial and operational reporting, 

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, 

and proper management of the company’s assets. 

Additionally, internal audit proactively encourages the 

development of risk management in Metso’s various 

operations. The head of internal audit reports admin-

istratively to the Executive Vice President and CFO, but 

also has direct access to the CEO and to the Chairman 

of the Audit Committee

Internal audit charter

www.metso.com/investors > Governance > 

Internal audit

Annual report: Risks and risk management, 

pages 26–33.

Reporting suspected financial misconduct 

Our guidelines on the prevention of financial miscon-

duct define how a suspicion of misconduct should 

be reported, how it is investigated and how the issue 

proceeds. Metso employees are encouraged to report 

suspected misconduct to their own supervisors, to other 

management or, if necessary, directly to internal audit. 

Additionally, Metso employees and partners can report 

suspicions of financial misconduct confidentially via the 

Whistleblower channel, which is maintained by an inde-

pendent party. The report can be made via the Internet, 

by phone or by email, also anonymously if necessary, 

and in many different languages. Suspected misconduct 

is investigated immediately and confidentially. Internal 

audit decides on how the matter will be investigated 

and, reports the suspicion also to the Audit Committee. 

The legal affairs and HR functions will implement any 

measures consequential to the misconduct. 

2009 

We received 6 reports of suspected financial mis-

conduct via the Whistleblower channel. Addition-

ally, internal audit received 6 direct contacts. Upon 

more careful investigation, 4 of the suspicions 

were classifiable as misconduct. There were no 

cases of misconduct revealed in conjunction with 

internal audits. The cases of misconduct were 

reviewed by the Audit Committee, in line with our 

guidelines on reporting misconduct, and they did 

not have significant impact on the financial results 

we reported.

AUDITORS

According to the Articles of Association, Metso has 

one auditor, which must be a firm of public accoun-

tants certified by the Finnish Central Chamber of 

Commerce. The Board’s Audit Committee prepares 

the auditor selection process. When electing the 

auditor, the aggregate duration of the consecutive 

terms of a principal auditor may not exceed seven 

years. This means that Metso’s principal auditor for 

financial period 2008 can act in that capacity no later 

than for the audit of financial period 2014. There is 

no limitation as to duration of the audit firm’s term.

The auditor’s statutory obligation is to audit the 

company’s accounting, the Board of Directors’ report, 

financial statements and administration for the 

financial year. The parent company’s auditor must 

also audit the consolidated financial statements 

and other mutual relationships between Group 

companies. In conjunction with our annual financial 

statements, the auditor gives Metso’s shareholders 

an Auditor’s Report as required by law. The auditor 

reports primarily via the Audit Committee and at 

least once a year to the Board. The Audit Commit-

tee evaluates the performance and services of the 

independent auditors each year and decides if there 

is a need to arrange an open tender process. 

2009

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, Authorized Public 

Accountants, has been our auditor since 1999. In 

2009, the principal auditor was Johan Kronberg, 

who has been the company’s principal auditor 

since 2005.

Our auditor was last time put out to tender in 

2004. Audit fees in 2009 amounted to EUR 2.5 million.

 

INSIDERS

We comply with the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Guidelines 

for Insiders. Our permanent insiders are not permitted 

to trade in Metso’s issued securities during the 21 days 

immediately prior to the publication of Metso’s interim 

reviews or financial statements release.

http://www.metso.com/corporation/ir_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041109-2256F-E76F6?OpenDocument&mid=241E1DAE2410DEB6C22575AE00496D5F
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For the statutory insiders (insiders with duty to 

declare) and their interest parties, the ownership 

of Metso’s securities is public. Statutory insiders 

include the Chairman, Vice Chairman and members 

of the Board, the CEO and his deputy, the principally 

responsible auditor of a firm of public accountants, 

as well as the Executive Team members. Additionally, 

Metso also has permanent company-specific insid-

ers and project-specific insiders whose securities 

ownership is not public.

We update the register of our statutory insiders 

in the Euroclear Finland Ltd’s Sire system, in which 

information on the ownership of securities can be 

obtained directly from the book-entry system.

Ownership and trading information of 

Metso’s insiders: www.metso.com/investors > 

Governance > Insiders

Metso’s corporate governance principles:

www.metso.com/investors > Governance

 

MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

Remuneration of the Board 

The Annual General Meeting decides on the remu-

neration to the members of the Board for one term 

of office at a time. The Annual General Meeting in 

2009 decided to keep the fees paid to Board mem-

bers unchanged. The annual fees were:

Chairman of the Board EUR 92,000 

Vice Chairman of the Board EUR 56,000 

Other Board members EUR 45,000 

In addition, a fee of EUR 600 per meeting was paid 

to all Board members for each Board and Commit-

tee meeting they attended. Compensation for travel 

expenses and daily allowances was paid in accordance 

with Metso’s travel policy. The entire compensation 

of the Board members was paid in cash. The serving 

members of our Board, none of whom are employees 

of the company, were paid altogether EUR 404,000 

for the financial year that ended December 31, 2009. 

The Board members are not covered by Metso’s bonus 

plans, share-based incentive schemes or pension plans.

For detailed information about the compen-

sation paid to the Board members see note 6 

to the financial statements on pages 80–82.

Remuneration of the CEO  

and other Executive Team members

The Board of Directors decides on the remunera-

tion, benefits and other terms of employment of the 

CEO. The Board’s Remuneration and HR Committee 

decides on the remuneration and benefits of the 

other Executive Team members. The remuneration 

of the Executive Team members comprises total 

base salary (including basic salary and customary 

fringe benefits such as a car, a cell phone and in 

some cases an apartment), and both short- and 

long-term incentives. Short-term incentives are an-

nual performance bonuses decided by the Board. As 

long-term incentive, the Executive Team members 

are included in share ownership plans which are 

decided and implemented by the Board and for 

which share repurchase and share issue authoriza-

tions are obtained from the Annual General Meeting. 

There are no options outstanding or available from 

any of Metso’s prior option programs. Furthermore, 

Metso has subscribed complementary pension plans 

(accounted for as defined benefit plans) for some 

members of the senior management entitling to 

retirement at the age of 60. These plans cover four 

Executive Team members, including the CEO and 

CFO. The Remuneration and HR Committee has out-

lined that no new similar complementary pension 

plans will be introduced.

For detailed information about the remunera-

tion of the CEO, CFO and other Executive 

Team members see note 6 to the financial 

statements on pages 80–82.

Audit fees 

We commit to good corporate 
governance by complying with 
laws and regulations and by 
implementing best practices.

EUR million 2007 2008 2009

Audit -2.8 -2.7 -2.5

Tax consulting -1.3 -1.8 -1.7

Other services -1.3 -1.1 -0.8

Total -5.4 -5.6 -5.0

Year ended December 31,

http://www.metso.com/corporation/ir_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041109-2256F-43757?OpenDocument&mid=E464590CD1B2AA96C22575AE00496D5D
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Performance bonuses

The Board annually confirms the terms and targets upon which the 

performance bonuses are paid. The amount of bonus payment, if 

any, is based on achieving set financial performance targets, such 

as EBITA and cash flow, of Metso and/or business in question and 

individual or team targets of the person in question. For the CEO and 

for other Executive Team members, the maximum amount of the an-

nual performance bonus is 40 – 60 percent of their pre-bonus taxable 

annual earnings.

Share-based incentive plans

The Board decides and implements Metso’s share-based incentive 

plans which are part of the remuneration and commitment program 

for the management of the Group and businesses. The purpose of the 

plans is to align the goals of Metso’s shareholders and key executives 

to enhance the value of the company. The plans also aim to ensure 

commitment of key management and to offer them a competitive, 

ownership-based reward scheme. For years 2006 – 2008 we implement-

ed share-based incentive plans in which Metso shares were allocated 

to the participants based on achieving targets set for operating profit. 

Since then we have implemented share ownership plans, which also 

require personal investment in Metso shares from the participants.

Share ownership plan 2006–2008

In March 2009, Metso distributed the rewards from the 2008 share 

ownership plan amounting to 34,262 shares, i.e. 28.4 percent of the 

maximum amount. The Executive Team’s share of this total was 6,996 

shares, i.e. 25 percent of the maximum amount. Shares earned on the 

basis of the share ownership plan cannot be transferred within three 

years from the reward payment. 

For more details on the share ownership plan in 2006–2008 see 

www.metso.com/investors.

Share ownership plans 2009–2011 and 2010–2012 

In October 2008, the Board approved a new, share-based incentive plan 

for our management, Metso Share Ownership Plan 2009–2011. The 

plan’s purpose is to commit our CEO, Executive Forum members, other 

senior executives and key employees to our company and to enhance 

its value. Participation in the plan requires a personal investment in 

Metso shares. The plan includes one three-year earning period, which 

began on January 1, 2009 and will end on December 31, 2011. The 

Board targeted the plan initially to about 100 key persons, of which 89 

are currently participating.

The participants have in the beginning of the earnings period in-

vested in 55,350 Metso shares (initial investment) and the rewards that 

can be paid on the basis of the plan correspond to a maximum total of 

373,175 Metso shares. The reward from the plan consists of grants of 

the base matching shares and performance shares. The amount of base 

matching shares is based on Metso share price development and it 

can be 2.5 or 1.25 times the number of shares in the initial investment. 

The potential reward in the form of performance shares is based on the 

combination of Metso Total Shareholder Return (TSR) over the three-

year period and on the annual Earnings per Share (EPS) in 2009–2011. 

If TSR is zero or negative over the three-year period, no performance 

shares shall be distributed. The maximum ratio of the performance 

shares for the CEO is six, for the other Executive Team members five and 

for other participants four times of the number of shares in the initial 

investment. In addition to meeting the performance targets, receiving 

the reward requires that the participant holds the initial investment 

until the end of the earning period and is employed by Metso until the 

reward payment. The amount of possible reward earned will be deter-

mined after the 2011 financial statements are published. The rewards 

will be paid in the first half of 2012 in Metso shares. In those countries, 

where the employer has payroll tax withholding obligation, Metso can 

pay a maximum of 60 percent of the reward in cash instead of shares. 

Any shares earned must be held for a minimum of one year after the 

Remuneration paid to CEO, CFO and other Executive Team members

EUR
Annual basic 

salary

Performance
bonus from

previous year Fringe benefits
Share-based

payment
2009
Total

2008
Total

2007
 Total

President and CEO 525,232 133,178 13,999 32,831 705,240 1,046,374 1,190,646

Executive Vice President and CFO 367,951 74,445 23,847 23,140 489,383 745,975 960,138

Other Executive Team members 1,222,041 299,330 56,466 79,843 1,657,680 2,307,941 2,678,017

Total 2,115,224 506,953 94,312 135,814 2,852,303 4,100,290 4,828,801

Additionally, in 2010 a bonus of about EUR 180,000 will be paid to President and CEO Jorma Eloranta and a bonus of about EUR 144,000 to Executive Vice President and CFO Olli Vaartimo based on year 2009 

performance.

Metso has subscribed pension plans for senior management for retirement at the age of 60, the beneficiaries include some members of the Metso Executive Team. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 

2008 and 2009, the pension insurance premium payments totaled approximately EUR 1.8 million, EUR 2.3 million and EUR 3.0 million, respectively. 

We strive for consistent and 
transparent management so 
that shareholders and other 
stakeholders can assess  
Metso’s development reliably.
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Metso’s corporate governance
www.metso.com/investors

reward payment. The shares for the plan are acquired through public 

trading, and therefore the incentive plan will have no diluting effect on 

the share value. 

In October 2009, the Board approved a similar share-based 

incentive plan for our management, Metso Share Ownership Plan 

2010–2012. The criteria for the reward payment and the terms and con-

ditions of the plan are essentially the same as in the plan for 2009–2011 

described above. The plan includes one three-year earning period, 

which began on January 1, 2010 and will end on December 31, 2012. 

The plan was initially targeted to about 100 key persons, of which 92 

decided to participate. The participants have committed themselves to 

investing in about 51,000 shares and the rewards that can be paid on 

the basis of the plan correspond to a maximum total of about 343,000 

Metso shares. The amount of possible reward earned will be deter-

mined after the 2012 financial statements are published. The rewards 

will be paid in the first half of 2013 as Metso shares and possibly partly 

in cash. The shares are acquired through public trading, and therefore 

the incentive plan will have no diluting effect on the share value.

The participant’s annual reward payments (valued at share market 

price at the transfer date) from any or all share ownership plans of 

Metso cannot exceed in any year the participant´s annual total base sal-

ary, defined as taxable annual gross income without bonus and long-

term incentives, multiplied by 1.5 at the time of matching. Currently, we 

do not have guidelines on what portion of the annual total base salary 

executives should invest in Metso shares.

Read more about our share ownership plans: note 22 to the 

financial statements on pages 104–105.

Remuneration of the CEO and Executive Vice President and CFO

In addition to his annual total base salary, the compensation paid to the 

CEO Jorma Eloranta includes a performance bonus (maximum 60 per-

cent) tied to Metso’s EBITA and cash conversion and to personal targets 

possibly set for him by the Board. He is also included in all of Metso’s 

share ownership plans and has a complementary pension plan.

According to his executive contract, Jorma Eloranta is eligible to retire 

at the age of 60 (February 2011) and his retirement pension is 60 percent 

of his pensionable compensation during the past four or ten service 

years, whichever results in a greater amount. If his contract is terminated, 

Eloranta is entitled to compensation equivalent to 24 months’ salary. The 

CEO did not receive a base salary increase in 2009. The amount of his 

performance bonus earned in 2009 and to be paid in 2010 corresponds 

to approximately 4 months of his regular monthly earnings. 

In addition to his annual total base salary, the compensation 

paid to the Executive Vice President and CFO Olli Vaartimo includes a 

performance bonus (maximum 60 percent) tied to Metso’s EBITA and 

cash conversion and to personal targets possibly set for him. He is also 

included in all of Metso’s share ownership plans and has a complemen-

tary pension plan.

According to his executive contract, Olli Vaartimo is eligible to 

retire at the age of 60 (September 2010) and his retirement pension 

is 60 percent of his pensionable compensation during the past four 

or ten service years, whichever results in a greater amount. In case of 

termination of contract, he is entitled to compensation equivalent 

to 24 months’ salary. The CFO did not receive a base salary increase 

in 2009. The amount of his performance bonus earned in 2009 and to 

be paid in 2010 corresponds to approximately 4.5 months of his regular 

monthly earnings.

For detailed information about the remuneration of the CEO, 

CFO and other Executive Team members see note 6 to the 

financial statements on pages 80–82.
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Board of Directors

The information is current as of December 31, 2009. 

Updated information: 
www.metso.com/investors 
 > Governance > Insiders 
www.metso.com > About us 
> Management > Board of Directors 

Jukka Viinanen Pia Rudengren

Maija-Liisa Friman Jaakko Rauramo Yrjö Neuvo

Arto Honkaniemi Christer Gardell Jukka Leppänen

http://www.metso.com/corporation/ir_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041109-2256F-43757?OpenDocument&mid=E464590CD1B2AA96C22575AE00496D5D
http://www.metso.com/corporation/ir_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041109-2256F-278C1?OpenDocument&mid=8FF9CC9663DD4231C22575AE00496D65
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JUKKA VIINANEN born 1948

Metso Board member since 2008. 
Chairman of the Board since 2009. 
Chairman of Metso’s Remuneration and 
HR Committee.

Independent Board member.

Finnish citizen.

M.Sc. Chemical Engineering.

Metso shares Dec 31,2009: 1,000

Jukka Viinanen was Senior Advisor to the 
Board of Directors at Orion Corporation 
from January 2008 until end of February 
2008, after which he retired. He was Presi-
dent and CEO of Orion Corporation from 
2000–2007. From 1990–1999, Viinanen 
held various positions at Neste Corpora-
tion, where he served as President and 
CEO and Vice Chairman of the Board from 
1997–1999. Prior to that, from 1979–1990, 
he was employed by Neste Oy, Chemicals, 
serving as Executive Vice President from 
1988–1990. He held various positions in 
Pekema Oy from 1973–1979.

Key positions of trust:

Vice Chairman of the Board: Kemira Oyj

Member of Supervisory Board: The Finnish 
Medical Foundation

Chairman: Lahti Regional Development 
Company LAKES Oy

ARTO HONKANIEMI born 1946

Metso Board member since 2008. Mem-
ber of Metso’s Audit Committee.

Independent of the company, not inde-
pendent of the significant shareholder

Finnish citizen.

LL.M., B.Sc. Econ.

Senior Financial Counselor, Government 
of Finland, Government Office, Ownership 
Steering Department. 

Metso shares Dec. 31, 2009: -

Arto Honkaniemi has been Senior 
Financial Counselor in the Ownership 
Steering Department, Government Office, 
Government of Finland, since May 2007. 
He was Industrial Counsellor in the State 
Shareholdings Unit, Ministry of Trade and 
Industry, Government of Finland, from 
1998–2007. From 1989–1998 Honkaniemi 
held various positions at Skopbank in 
Luxembourg and Finland. Before that, he 
was Chief Corporate Counsel at Perusyhty-
mä Oy from 1976–1989, Company Lawyer 
at Arila Oy from 1974–1975 and General 
Manager at Kiinteistö Oy Casa Academica 
from 1971–1974.

Key Positions of trust:

Board Member: Alko Inc., Patria Plc

JAAKKO RAURAMO born 1941

Metso Board member since 1999. Vice 
Chairman of the Board since 2004. 
Member of Metso’s Remuneration and HR 
Committee. 

Independent Board member.

Finnish citizen.

M.Sc. in Engineering.

Honorary Doctorate in Engineering, Hel-
sinki University of Technology, 2005.

Metso shares Dec. 31,2009: 6,000

Jaakko Rauramo has been the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of Sanoma Cor-
poration since 2001. He was the President 
and CEO between 1999–2001 and the 
President and COO since 1984.

Key positions of trust:

Chairman of the Board: Sanoma Corpo-
ration.

Board member: The Foundation of the 
Confederation of Finnish Industry and 
Employers

Thomson Reuters Founders’ Share Com-
pany Limited

Paley Center for Media (international 
council member)

Helsingin Sanomat Foundation

Jane and Aatos Erkko Foundation

Svenska Dagbladet Foundation

Chairman: Council for Security of Supply 
and Infrastructure

Expert group of State Ownership steering 
(Finland).

Delegation member: The Research Institu-
te of the Finnish Economy (ETLA)

Finnish Business and Policy Forum (EVA)

YRJÖ NEUVO born 1943

Metso Board member since 2006. 
Member of Metso’s Remuneration and HR 
Committee.

Independent Board member.

Finnish citizen.

Professor, Ph.D. Cornell University.

Metso shares Dec 31,2009: 7,100

Yrjö Neuvo was Chief Technology Officer 
and a member of the Group Executive 
Board in Nokia from1993–2005. He retired 
from Nokia on January 1, 2006. Before joi-
ning Nokia, he was a Professor at Tampere 
University of Technology, National Rese-
arch Professor at the Academy of Finland 
and a visiting professor at University of 
California, Santa Barbara, USA. 

Key positions of trust:

Chairman of the Board: Technological 
Foundation

Board member: Governing Board of the 
European Institute of Innovation and 
Technology

Vice Chairman of the Board: Vaisala Group

Scientific Advisory Board of VTT, Chairman

Nokia Corporation, Technology Advisor

Helsinki University of Technology, Profes-
sor, Research Director

MAIJA-LIISA FRIMAN born 1952

Metso Board member since 2003. Chair-
man of Metso’s Audit Committee.

Independent Board member.

Finnish citizen.

M.Sc. in Chemical Engineering.

Metso shares Dec. 31, 2009: 1,500

Maija-Liisa Friman was President and CEO 
of Aspocomp Group Oyj from 2004–2007. 
Prior to that she was Managing Director of 
Vattenfall Oy from 2000–2004 and Presi-
dent of Gyproc Oy from 1993–2000.

Key positions of trust:

Chairman of the Board: Ekokem

Board member:  TeliaSonera, LKAB

Board member and partner: Boardman Oy

Foundation board member:

Board of Finnish Medical Science Founda-
tion (Vice Chairman)

Helsinki Deaconess Institute Foundation

PIA RUDENGREN born 1965

Metso Board member since 2009. Mem-
ber of Metso’s Audit Committee.

Independent Board member.

Swedish citizen.

M.Sc. (Business Administration and 
Economics).

Board professional. 

Metso shares Dec 31, 2009: -

Pia Rudengren completed her studies 
at the Stockholm School of Economics 
in 1990. From 1990 to 2001 she held a 
variety of positions at Investor AB, ulti-
mately serving as Chief Financial Officer 
and member of the management group 
from 1998–2001. She was Executive Vice 
President of W Capital Management AB 
from 2001 to 2005. Since 2006 she has 
worked as a Board professional, serving 
on the boards of several companies in 
Sweden including Q-MED AB where, 
until February 2009, she was Chairman of 
the Board. Q-MED AB is a publicly listed 
Swedish biotechnology and medical 
device company.

Key positions of trust:

Board Member: Tikkurila Oy 

Biophausia AB

RusForest AB

WeMind Digital Psykologi AB

Social Initiative AB

Duni AB

Swedbank AB

CHRISTER GARDELL born 1960

Metso Board member since 2006. 
Member of Metso’s Remuneration and HR 
Committee.

Independent Board member.

Swedish citizen.

MBA.

Founder and Managing Partner, Cevian 
Capital. 

Metso shares Dec. 31, 2009: -

Christer Gardell founded Cevian Capital, a 
Swedish asset management company, in 
2001 and has since worked as a Managing 
Partner in the company. From 1996–2001 
he was CEO of AB Custos. Previously he 
was Partner at Nordic Capital and  
McKinsey & Company.

REPRESENTATIVE OF PERSONNEL

JUKKA LEPPÄNEN born 1949

Jukka Leppänen participates in the mee-
tings of Metso’s Board of Directors as an 
invited expert, and his term of office is the 
same as the Board members’ term. 

Finnish citizen.

Employee of Metso since 1976.

Testing Engineer. 

Metso shares Dec 31, 2009: 520

Jukka Leppänen works as a Testing Engi-
neer of Metso Group´s Automation busi-
ness line’s  Process Automation Systems 
product development unit in Tampere, 
Finland. He is the shop steward for senior 
clerical employees and an industrial safety 
delegate.

Key positions of trust:

Chairman of the Board: Sickness Fund 
Rollikka 
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Executive Team

The information is current as of December 31, 2009. 

Updated information: 
www.metso.com/investors > Governance > Insiders
www.metso.com > About us  
> Management > Executive Team

Jorma Eloranta

Olli Vaartimo Bertel Langenskiöld  Matti Kähkönen

Pasi Laine Kalle Reponen

http://www.metso.com/corporation/ir_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041109-2256F-43757?OpenDocument&mid=E464590CD1B2AA96C22575AE00496D5D
http://www.metso.com/corporation/about_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041101-2256F-85EF8?OpenDocument&mid=F83AEF344956E802C2256F4000497539
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JORMA ELORANTA born 1951

President and CEO.

Chairman of Metso Executive Team since 
2004 and Metso Executive Forum since 
2008.

Finnish citizen.

M.Sc. in Technology.

Joined the company in 2004.

Metso shares Dec. 31, 2009: 32,185

Jorma Eloranta has been President and 
CEO of Metso since March 1, 2004. He was 
President and CEO of Kvaerner Masa-Yards 
Inc. from 2001–2004. Previously, he was 
President and CEO of Patria Industries 
Group from 1997–2000, Deputy Chief Exe-
cutive of Finvest Group and Jaakko Pöyry 
Group from 1996–1997, and President of 
Finvest Ltd from 1985–1995.

Key positions of trust

Chairman of the Board: Federation of 
Finnish Technology Industries

Vice Chairman of the Board: Confederati-
on of Finnish Industries (EK)

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:   
Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company, Gasum Oy

Board member: Uponor Corporation, 
Research Foundation of the Helsinki Uni-
versity of Technology, Tamfelt Corporation

Member of Supervisory Board: The Finnish 
Fair Corporation

 

BERTEL LANGENSKIÖLD born 1950

President, Fiber and Paper Technology

Member of the Executive Team since 
2003.

Finnish citizen.

M.Sc. in Engineering.

Joined the company in 2003.

Metso shares Dec. 31, 2009: 8,854

Bertel Langenskiöld has been President 
of Paper and Fiber Technology since Dec 
1, 2008. He was President of Metso Paper 
from 2007–2008. Prior to that, he was 
President of Metso Paper’s Fiber Business 
Line and responsible for the integration 
of Aker Kvaerner’s Pulping and Power 
units at Metso. He was President of Metso 
Minerals from 2003–2006. Langenskiöld 
was President and CEO of Fiskars Corpo-
ration from 2001–2003, and President of 
Tampella Power/Kvaerner Pulping, Power 
Division from 1994–2000.

Key positions of trust:

Chairman of the Board: Tamfelt  
Corporation

Board member: Wärtsilä Corporation, 
Luvata International Oy.

  

OLLI VAARTIMO born 1950

Executive Vice President and CFO, Deputy 
to the President and CEO

Vice Chairman of the Executive Team 
since 2004.

Member of the Executive Team since 
1999.

Finnish citizen.

M.Sc. in Economics and Business Admi-
nistration.

Joined the company in 1974.

Metso shares Dec 31, 2009: 11,621

Olli Vaartimo has been Executive Vice Pre-
sident and CFO of Metso since 2003. Olli 
Vaartimo’s area of responsibility covers fi-
nance, internal auditing, investor relations 
and treasury. Vaartimo was President and 
CEO of Metso and Chairman of Metso’s 
Business Area Boards from September 
2003 to March 2004, after which he 
returned to his duties as Metso’s Executive 
Vice President and CFO and Deputy to 
the President. From 1999–2003 Vaartimo 
was President of Metso Minerals and from 
1993–1999 President of Nordberg in the 
Rauma Corporation. From 1991–1998 
he was also Executive Vice President of 
Rauma Corporation.

Key positions of trust:

Board member: Kuusakoski Oy

MATTI KÄHKÖNEN born 1956

President, Mining and Construction 
Technology

Member of the Executive Team since 
2001.

Finnish citizen.

M.Sc. in Engineering.

Joined the company in 1980.

Metso shares Dec. 31, 2009: 10,728

Matti Kähkönen has been President of 
Mining and Construction Technology 
since Dec 1, 2008. He was President of 
Metso Minerals from 2006–2008 and 
President of Metso Automation from 
2001–2006. Kähkönen headed the Metso 
Automation Field Systems business line 
from 1999–2001, and served as Division 
President of Neles Controls in Rauma 
Corporation from 1993–1999.

KALLE REPONEN born 1965

Senior Vice President, Strategy and M&A

Member of the Executive Team since 
2008.

Finnish citizen.

M.Sc. in Economics.

Joined the company in 2006.

Metso shares Dec. 31, 2009: 3,155

Kalle Reponen’s area of responsibility 
covers Group strategy development, cor-
porate acquisitions, technology, corporate 
sustainability, business intelligence, trade 
policy, stakeholder relations and indirect 
procurement.

Kalle Reponen was a Partner with MCF 
Corporate Finance from 2003–2006. He 
worked at Nordea Corporate Finance 
from 2000–2003. From 1995–2000, he 
held several positions with Wärtsilä 
Corporation.

PASI LAINE born 1963

President, Energy and Environmental 
Technology

Member of the Executive Team since 
2006.

Finnish citizen.

M.Sc. in Engineering.

Joined the company in 1998.

Metso shares 31, 2009: 7,837

Pasi Laine has been President of Energy 
and Environmental Technology since 
Dec 1, 2008. He was President of Metso 
Automation from 2006–2008, and 
President of Metso Automation’s Field 
Systems Business Line from 2003–2006. 
He was Senior Vice President of Metso 
Automation’s Paper and Pulp Automation 
Solutions Business Unit from 2002–2003 
and Vice President of Process & Energy Bu-
siness Unit in 1998–2002. From1996–1998 
he was Managing Director of Elsag Bailey 
Hartmann & Braun, and from 1988–1996, 
he held various positions at Valmet 
Automation in Finland, Canada, Germany 
and the UK.

Key positions of trust

Board member: Tamfelt Corporation

GROUP HEAD OFFICE

President and CEO Jorma Eloranta

Communications Kati Renvall

Legal Matters Aleksanteri Lebedeff

Human Resources Merja Kamppari

Executive Vice President and CFO  
Olli Vaartimo

Finance Reijo Kostiainen

Internal Audit Jarmo Kääriäinen

Investor Relations Johanna Henttonen

Treasury Pekka Hölttä

Information Technology Pauli Nuutinen

Metso Shared Services Juha Seppälä

Strategy and Corporate Development 
Kalle Reponen

Stakeholder Relations Jukka Seppälä

Technology, Quality and Environment 
Marko Hakovirta

Indirect procurement Jouni Peltomäki
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The global Metso Executive Forum (MEF) was established to accelerate strategy implementation globally, 

and the members are from Metso’s business lines and geographical regions. Jorma Eloranta is the Chairman 

of Metso Executive Forum and Olli Vaartimo is its Vice Chairman. Metso Executive Forum consists of Metso 

Executive Team members and the following people:

ANDREW BENKO  born 1949

President, Equipment and Systems 
business line

M.Sc. in Engineering

U.S. citizen

Joined the company in 1988

JOÃO NEY COLAGROSSI  born 1955

President, Services business line

M.Sc. in Engineering, M.Sc. in Economics

Brazilian citizen

Joined the company in 1979

HEINZ GERDES  born 1944  
(retired Dec. 31, 2009)

President, Recycling business line

M.Sc. in Engineering

German citizen

Joined the company in 1972

ARI HARMAALA  born 1961

President of Metso operations in China

Engineer (grad.)

Finnish citizen

Joined the company in 1986

PER-ÅKE FÄRNSTRAND  born 1951

President, Fiber business line

M.Sc. in Engineering

Swedish citizen

Joined the company in 2006

MERJA KAMPPARI  born 1958

Senior Vice President, Human Resource 
Management

M.Sc. in Economics

Finnish citizen

Joined the company in 2009

HANNU MÄLKIÄ  born 1952

President, Paper business line

M.Sc. in Engineering

Finnish citizen

Joined the company in 1978

LENNART OHLSSON  born 1952

President, Power business line

M.Sc. in Engineering

Swedish citizen

Joined the company in 2006

SUDHIR SRIVASTAVA  born 1954

Senior Vice President, Asia-Pacific, Mining 
and Construction Technology

Engineer

Indian citizen

Joined the company in 1993

Celso Tacla, President of the South American operations of Metso’s Paper and Fiber Technology, has been appointed a new member of the MEF as of January 22, 2010.

Metso Executive Forum

First row from left to right: Andrew Benko, João Ney Colagrossi, Jorma Eloranta, Per-Åke Färnstrand. Second row from left to right: Heinz Gerdes, Ari Harmaala, Merja Kamppari, Matti Kähkö-

nen. Third row from left to right: Pasi Laine , Bertel Langenskiöld, Hannu Mälkiä, Lennart Ohlsson. Fourth row from left to right: Kalle Reponen, Sudhir Srivastava, Olli Vaartimo.
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Investor Relations

MISSION AND GOALS

The main mission of our Investor Relations function is to support the 

correct valuation of our share by providing information related to our 

operations, operating environment, strategy, objectives and financial 

situation so that capital market participants can form a balanced view 

of Metso as an investment.

Our Investor Relations function is also responsible for gathering and 

analyzing market information and investor feedback for use by our top 

executives and Board of Directors.

The goal is to provide correct, adequate and up-to-date information 

regularly and impartially to all market participants. In our work, we aim 

for promptness, transparency and good service.

MODE OF OPERATION

Our Investor Relations function is responsible for investor communica-

tions as well as for daily contact with investors, in cooperation with 

Group Communications. All investor requests are handled centrally 

through our Investor Relations function. Our investor communications 

include financial reports, our website and investor meetings and semi-

nars in which our top executives actively participate. We also organize a 

Capital Markets Day for investors and analysts.

Metso´s Disclosure Policy lays down our operational models and 

practices in various communications situations. The Disclosure Policy 

can be read in full on our website, www.metso.com/investors.

SILENT PERIOD

During the three-week period prior to publication of the annual or 

interim financial results we are not in contact with capital market repre-

sentatives. At other times, we will answer the enquiries of analysts and 

investors by phone or email or at arranged investor meetings.

INVESTOR RELATIONS IN 2009

In 2009 our top executives met with more than 870 professional inves-

tors and analysts and participated in eight investment seminars around 

the world. 

We held breakfast and lunch functions for analysts and investors 

in Helsinki and London, where attendees had the opportunity to have 

their questions answered by the President and CEO and the Executive 

Vice President and CFO. We also took part in private investor events 

in the Finnish cities of Helsinki, Pori and Tampere. During the year we 

made investor visits to China. 

In connection with the publication of our financial results, we orga-

nized a briefing for investors and analysts, which was held in English in 

Helsinki and could be followed live by teleconference or webcast. On 

our website you can find A/V recordings, audio that can be download-

ed as an mp3 file, and transcripts of our briefing events.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS  

CONTACT INFORMATION

Johanna Henttonen, Vice President,  

Investor Relations

Tel.: +358 20 484 3253

Email:  johanna.henttonen@metso.com

Marja Kortesalo, Investor Relations Manager

Tel.: +358 20 484 3211

Email:  marja.kortesalo@metso.com

Elina Lehtinen, Financial Communicator

Tel.: +358 20 484 3215

Email:  elina.lehtinen@metso.com

Anne-Mari Ylikulppi, Assistant

Tel.: +358 20 484 3117

Email:  anne-mari.ylikulppi@metso.com

North America

Mike Phillips, Senior Vice President,  

Finance and Administration

Metso USA Inc.

Tel.: +1 770 246 7237

Email:  mike.phillips@metso.com

Investor Relations 

metso.ir@metso.com

INVESTMENT ANALYSIS

To our knowledge, the following banks and 

brokerage firms evaluate Metso Corporation 

as an investment. This is not necessarily a 

complete list. Those listed here follow Metso 

on their own initiative, and we are not respon-

sible for any statements they make.

Finland

Carnegie Investment Bank

Danske Markets Equities

Deutsche Bank

Enskilda Securities

eQ Bank

Evli Bank

FIM

Handelsbanken Capital Markets

Ice Capital

Nordea

Pohjola Bank

Sofia Bank

Ålandsbanken Equities

Öhman Equities

Rest of Europe

ABG Sundal Collier

Bank of America Securities – Merrill Lynch

CA Cheuvreux

Citigroup Global Markets

Credit Suisse

Goldman Sachs

HSBC

JP Morgan Securities

Morgan Stanley

Royal Bank of Scotland

Standard & Poor’s

UBS

Contact information on analysts  

following Metso:

www.metso.com/investors >  

Metso share > Analysts

CREDIT RESEARCH

Barclays Capital

Citigroup

Danske Bank

Deutsche Bank

JP Morgan Securities

Nordea Debt Capital Markets

Pohjola Bank

The Royal Bank of Scotland

SEB Merchant Banking

Société Générale

INVESTOR SERVICES ON THE INTERNET

The investor section of Metso’s website con-

tains, among the other investor information, a 

share monitor with 15 minutes delayed data. It 

also includes monthly updated information on 

Metso’s largest shareholders, the company’s In-

sider Register and their holdings, presentation 

and report archives, as well as services such as 

consensus estimates on Metso’s performance 

provided by analysts, a historical price lookup 

and an investment calculator with which you 

can calculate the value of your Metso invest-

ment. You can also find a financial calendar 

where you can verify the publication date of 

our financial reports, as well as the dates and 

times of events planned for investors, such as 

the Annual General Meeting. The calendar also 

contains presentations of past events.

Read more about  
Metso as an investment:
www.metso.com/investors

From left to right Anne-Mari Ylikulppi, Johanna Hentto-

nen, Elina Lehtinen and Marja Kortesalo.

http://www.metso.com/corporation/ir_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041108-2256F-7B8A1?OpenDocument&mid=D0DA2175B22510F2C22575AE0044F0FF
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For shareholders

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2010 Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Metso Corporation will 

be held at 3:00 p.m. on Tuesday, March 30, 2010 at Helsinki Fair Centre 

(Messuaukio 1, 00520 Helsinki, Finland).

Shareholders who are entered as shareholders in the Corporation’s 

shareholder register maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd. by March 18, 

2010 shall have the right to participate in the AGM. The meeting will 

be held in Finnish, but simultaneous interpretation in English will be 

provided.

Registration

Registration of notices to attend Metso’s AGM begins on February 26, 

2010. Shareholders who wish to participate in the meeting should no-

tify the Corporation of their intention to participate by March 25, 2010. 

Shareholders holding nominee-registered shares and wishing to 

participate in the AGM shall be entered into the temporary shareholder 

register, in order to be able to participate in the AGM, by no later than 

10:00 a.m. on March 25, 2010, if the shareholder has the right to be 

entered in the company’s shareholder register on the basis of the same 

shares on the AGM’s record date March 18, 2010.

The shareholders holding nominee-registered shares are urged to 

ask their custodian bank for instructions on registering in the sharehold-

er register, issuing of proxy documents and registering for the AGM.

A notice of participation can be submitted at www.metso.com, by 

phone at +358 10 80 8300 (from Monday to Friday between 7:30 a.m. 

and 10:00 p.m. Finnish time), by fax at +358 20 484 3125, or by mail to 

Metso Corporation, Ritva Tyventö-Saari, P.O. Box 1220, FI-00101 Helsinki, 

Finland. Notice of participation must be received before the above-

mentioned deadline. In connection with the registration, shareholders 

are required to provide their name, personal identification number or 

company identification number, address, telephone number and the 

name of a possible assistant, authorized representative or statutory 

representative. Any proxy documents should also be sent to the above-

mentioned address during the same registration period.

Payment of dividends

The Board of Directors proposes to the AGM that a dividend of EUR 

0.70 per share be paid for 2009. The dividend will be paid to those 

shareholders who are entered in the Corporation’s shareholder register 

maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd. on the record date, April 6, 2010. 

SHARE SYMBOLS AND UNITS USED IN TRADING

Metso Corporation has one share series. Metso’s shares are listed on the 

NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy and are registered in the Finnish Book Entry 

Register maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd. Trading in Metso’s ADSs 

(American Depositary Shares) in the United States is carried out on the over-

the-counter (OTC) market. Each Metso ADS represents one Metso share. 

The Bank of New York Mellon acts as the depository for the Metso ADS.

NASDAQ OMX Helsinki, Finland

Share

Trading code: MEO1V

Trading currency: Euro

OTC trading in the USA

ADS (American Depositary Shares)

Trading code: MXCYY

Trading currency: US Dollar

Payment of dividends

Annual General Meeting March 30, 2010

Dividend ex-date March 31, 2010

Record date April 6, 2010

Date of dividend payment April 13, 2010*

* Board proposal to the AGM.
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INDICES

Metso’s shares are included in several indices, which are listed on our 

website:

www.metso.com > Investors > Metso share > Indices

CREDIT RATINGS

Metso’s credit ratings are:

Standard & Poor’s 

Feb. 13, 2009:

Long-term corporate credit rating: BBB, outlook negative.

Short-term rating: A–3.

Rating for outstanding bonds and EMTN program: BBB.

Moody’s

Nov. 16, 2009:

Long-term rating: Baa2, outlook negative.

PUBLICATIONS

We publish Metso’s Annual Report and Sustainability Report for 2009 

in Finnish and English. The reports will be mailed to those who have 

ordered them. 

The reports are also published on our website. We publish interim 

reviews in Finnish and English on our website. Live webcasts of the 

related news conferences can be viewed in English on our website.

We publish releases in Finnish and English, and they are available 

on our website.

Publication dates of reviews and reports in 2010

Financial statements review 2009  Feb. 8, 2010

Annual Report and Sustainability Report  week of March 8, 2010

Interim review for January–March  April 29, 2010

Interim review for January–June  July 29, 2010

Interim review for January–September  October 28, 2010

Ordering publications and releases 

You can order all of our financial publications on our website:

www.metso.com > Investors > Order publications

You can also order our interim reviews and news releases directly to 

your email address using the form found on the same page.

Our publications can also be ordered from Group Communications:

Metso Corporation, Group Communications

P.O. Box 1220, FI-00101 Helsinki

Tel.: +358 20 484 3276

Fax: +358 20 484 3123

Email: metso.info@metso.com

CHANGE OF ADDRESS

If you are a shareholder and your address changes, we request that you 

send a written notification of this to the bank where your book-entry 

account is held.

If your account is held at Euroclear Finland Ltd.’s account operator, 

please send the change of address notification to:

Euroclear Finland Oy

P.O. Box 1110, FI-00101 Helsinki

Customer Account Services, open Monday to Friday 9 a.m. – 4 p.m.

Address: Urho Kekkosen katu 5C, 8th floor 

Tel.: +358 800 180 500 

Fax: +358 20 770 6656

Email: atp@euroclear.eu  

The change of address notification must include the shareholder’s 

name, book-entry account number or date of birth, and both the old 

and new address.

Metso ADS holders are requested to contact the Bank of New York 

Mellon:

The Bank of New York Mellon, Shareowner Services

P.O. Box 358516

Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8516, USA

Tel. (within the USA): 1 888 269 2377

Tel. (international): +1 201 680 6825

Email: shrrelations@bnymellon.com

Internet: www.bnymellon.com\shareowner

If you are not a shareholder, please report your new address to Group 

Communications or submit a change of address notification using the 

form on our website:

www.metso.com > Investors > Order publications

Read more about Metso share and shareholders on pages 

130–135: Shares and shareholders

http://www.metso.com/corporation/ir_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041108-2256F-3F585?OpenDocument&mid=53F7C81E2DBFA7A3C22575AE0044F0FE
http://www.metso.com/corporation/info_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041112-2256F-4C186
http://www.metso.com/corporation/info_eng.nsf/WebWID/WTB-041112-2256F-4C186


GROUP HEAD OFFICE

Metso Corporation

Fabianinkatu 9 A, FI-00130 Helsinki

PO Box 1220, FI-00101 Helsinki

Tel: +358 20 484 100

Fax: +358 20 484 101

www.metso.com

Metso USA, Inc.

2900 Courtyards Drive

Norcross, Georgia 30071-1554

USA

Tel: +1 770 263 7863

Fax: +1 770 441 9652

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

It should be noted that certain statements herein 

which are not historical facts, including, without 

limitation, those regarding expectations for general 

economic development and the market situation, 

expectations for customer industry profitability and 

investment willingness, expectations for company 

growth, development and profitability and the 

realization of synergy benefits and cost savings, 

and statements preceded by “expects,” “estimates,” 

“forecasts” or similar expressions, are forward-looking 

statements. 

These statements are based on current decisions 

and plans and currently known factors. They involve 

risks and uncertainties which may cause the actual 

results to materially differ from the results currently 

expected by the company.

Such factors include, but are not limited to:

General economic conditions, including fluc-1. 

tuations in exchange rates and interest levels 

which influence the operating environment and 

profitability of customers and thereby the orders 

received by the company and their margins

The competitive situation, especially significant 2. 

technological solutions developed by competitors 

The company’s own operating conditions, such 3. 

as the success of production, product deve-

lopment and project management and their 

continuous development and improvement

The success of pending and future acquisitions 4. 

and restructuring

About this report

METSO’S BUSINESS

Mining and Construction Technology

Fabianinkatu 9 A, FI-00130 Helsinki

PO Box 1220, FI-00101 Helsinki

Tel: +358 20 484 100

Fax: +358 20 484 3216

www.metso.com/miningandconstruction

minerals.info@metso.com

Energy and Environmental Technology

Fabianinkatu 9 A, FI-00130 Helsinki

PO Box 1220, FI-00101 Helsinki

Tel: +358 20 484 100

Fax: +358 20 483 151

www.metso.com/automation

www.metso.com/power

www.metso.com/recycling

energyandenvironmental.info@metso.com

Paper and Fiber Technology

Fabianinkatu 9 A, FI-00130 Helsinki

PO Box 1220, FI-00101 Helsinki

Tel: +358 20 484 100

Fax: +358 20 484 3204

www.metso.com/pulpandpaper

pulpandpaper@metso.com
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The world shapes us
ANNUAL  REPORT  2009

We shape the world
SUSTAINABILITY  REPORT  2009



Global megatrends support our long-term 
strategic development and profitable growth targets. 
We want to be part in building a sustainable future.
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